## UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Electronic Theses and Dissertations

### Title

The Stereoselective Formation and Cleavage of C-F Bonds via Group 11 Catalysis

## Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3cf2d8w9

## Author

O'Connor, Thomas Joseph

## **Publication Date**

2021

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

#### The Stereoselective Formation and Cleavage of C-F Bonds via Group 11 Catalysis

By

Thomas Joseph O'Connor

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Chemistry

in the

Graduate Division

of the

University of California, Berkeley

Committee in charge:

Professor F. Dean Toste, Chair Professor T. Don Tilley Professor Joseph L. Napoli

Summer 2021

#### Abstract

#### The Stereoselective Formation and Cleavage of C-F Bonds via Group 11 Catalysis

By

Thomas Joseph O'Connor Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry University of California, Berkeley Professor F. Dean Toste, Chair

**Chapter 1** – The gold(I)-catalyzed, stereoselective hydrofluorination of electron-deficient alkynes with triethylamine trihydrogen fluoride (Et3N·3HF) is described. Fluorinated  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated aldehydes, amides, esters, ketones, and nitriles were isolated in moderate to good yields as single diastereomers. In all but four cases, the (*Z*)-vinyl fluorides were initially formed in  $\geq$ 97% diastereoselectivity. This work constitutes the first catalytic example of the diastereoselective preparation of a variety of  $\beta$ -alkyl,  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors from alkynes. Additionally, the described work expands access to  $\beta$ -aryl,  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors to the synthesis of  $\beta$ -fluoro- $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated amides and nitriles. The monofluoroalkenes formed through this strategy were readily transformed into other fluorine-containing compounds, and the developed method was applied to the synthesis of a fluorinated analogue of Exoderil, a topical antimycotic.

**Chapter 2** – The copper-catalyzed silvlation of propargylic difluorides to generate axially chiral, tetrasubstituted, monofluoroallenes in both good yields (24 examples >80%) and enantioselectivities (82–98% *ee*). Compared to previously reported synthetic routes to axially chiral allenes (ACAs) from prochiral substrates, a mechanistically distinct reaction has been developed: the enantiodiscrimination between enantiotopic fluorides to set an axial stereocenter. DFT calculations and vibrational circular dichroism (VCD) suggest that  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination from an alkenyl copper intermediate likely proceeds through a *syn-* $\beta$ -fluoride elimination pathway rather than an anti-elimination pathway. The effects of the C1-symmetric Josiphos-derived ligand on reactivity and enantioselectivity were investigated. Not only does this report showcase that alkenyl copper species—like their alkyl counterparts—can undergo  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination can be achieved in an enantioselective fashion. The resulting monofluoroallenes were shown to undergo a copper-catalyzed desilylative acylation. A kinetic resolution was developed, generating propargyl fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenters. Current efforts are underway to better understand the system that aim to achieve dynamic kinetic resolution.

#### Acknowledgements

As I reflect back on my time at Berkeley, it makes me realize just how lucky I was to take part in this educational experience, which undoubtedly shaped the person who I am today. I am fortunate that I have been surrounded by supportive friends, family, and colleagues who have not only encouraged me but who have also have inspired me to be the best version of myself. The opportunities that they have provided me could never be paid back, only forward which I intend to do. The enjoyment and satisfaction I have gained from higher education is an opportunity every individual should have access to.

I would first like to thank my family for their love and support. My parents and my brother John have always kept me grounded, especially when I would get lost in the details of research, and reminded me that there is a world beyond the fume hood. As for my grandparents, who mean the world to me, your love and support was always uplifting. Nothing was more exciting than receiving a letter or box in the mail from my grandmother, who knew exactly what I needed before I did.

My time at Berkeley was made possible only because of my experiences and the people I met during my undergraduate career during my career at Vassar College. I could not have made it to Berkeley without the support and advice from everyone in the chemistry department, who I consider to be my extended family. Professor Stuart Belli, Professor Christopher Smart, and Professor Joseph Tanski enabled me to pursue my interests in research and taught me the responsibilities of a scientist. My two summer internships, at the University of Kansas with Professor Michael Clift and at the University of Berkeley in the lab of John Hartwig, were instrumental in shaping my research interests and allowed me to discover a field that I am truly passionate about. I could not imagine doing anything else for a living.

Dean has been the best Ph.D. advisor that I could have ever asked for and I am fortunate to have had the pleasure of working in his research group (family) the past five years. His ability to guide students to success in a plethora of research topics has always been inspiring. The intellectual freedom Dean grants his students is only one of the benefits working in his research groups entails. He has cultivated a group culture that is creative, collaborative, and supportive. Dean has allowed me to become an independent, creative scientist whose only limitation is my imagination. I never once felt like I could not pursue my own ideas, no matter how far-fetched or improbable that they seemed. My favorite saying from Dean, which I lived by, was "It is your Ph.D., make of it what you will."

The members of the Toste group made the past five years in California feel like home to me. Not only are they great scientists who you can chat with about research for hours, but they are also great people. There are too many to mention everyone, but I would like to give a shout-out to a few here. In particular I would to thank Cindy Hong, Edward Miller, Mari Morimoto, Stephen Bierschenk, Banruo Huang, Katie Chung, Mark Levin, Alec Christian, Spencer Scholz, Patti Zhang, Lillian Hale, Patrick Moon, René Rahimoff, Kacper Skakuj, Trandon Bender, Anna Wuttig, Alex Zhukhovitskiy, Steve Jacob, Ilia Kobylianskii, and Junqi Li for their support, friendship, and advice. Not only have I learned a great deal from all of you, but your friendship over the years has made my career at Berkeley truly special. You are all great people as well as brilliant scientists and I hope that we stay in touch. It was a pleasure having Edward and Mari as classmates. You two were with me from the beginning of this journey and I could not have asked for two better friends.

I will never forget the years that I have spent in Latimer Hall. This experience has made me grow as an individual and as a scientist. The saying "It takes a village to raise a child" holds true for graduate school: "It takes a research group to raise a scientist."

Also, I would like to give a shout-out to Hasan Celik for being the best NMR Facility director. I wish you all the best!

### Table of Contents

# Chapter 1. Gold-Catalyzed Hydrofluorination of Electron-Deficient Alkynes: Stereoselective Synthesis of $\beta$ -Fluoro Michael Acceptors

1.1. Introduction	2
1.2. Results and Discussion	4
1.2.1. Scope of Gold-Catalyzed Hydrofluorination	6
1.3. Conclusion	10
1.4. Supporting Information	11
1.4.1. General Experimental Details	11
1.4.2. Investigation of Reaction Conditions	12
1.4.3. Synthesis of Alkynes	13
1.4.4. General Procedure for Gold-Catalyzed Alkyne Hydrofluorination	19
1.4.5. Procedures for Derivatizations of Fluorinated Michael Acceptors	30
1.4.6. Spectra Data	33
1.5. References	136
Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantio Fluoride Elimination	selective β-
Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion Fluoride Elimination 2.1. Introduction	selective β- 141
<ul> <li>Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion</li> <li>2.1. Introduction</li> <li>2.2. Results and Discussion</li> </ul>	<b>selective β-</b> 141 142
<ul> <li>Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion</li> <li>2.1. Introduction</li> <li>2.2. Results and Discussion</li> <li>2.2.1. Propargyl Difluorides</li> </ul>	selective β- 141 142 142
<ul> <li>Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion Fluoride Elimination</li> <li>2.1. Introduction</li> <li>2.2. Results and Discussion</li> <li>2.2.1. Propargyl Difluorides</li> <li>2.2.2. Copper-Catalyzed, Enantioselective β-Fluoride Elimination</li> </ul>	selective β- 141 142 142 145
<ul> <li>Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion Fluoride Elimination</li> <li>2.1. Introduction</li> <li>2.2. Results and Discussion</li> <li>2.2.1. Propargyl Difluorides</li> <li>2.2.2. Copper-Catalyzed, Enantioselective β-Fluoride Elimination</li> <li>2.3. Product Diversification: Chirality Transfer and Kinetic Resolution</li> </ul>	selective β- 141 142 142 145 153
<ul> <li>Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion Fluoride Elimination</li> <li>2.1. Introduction</li> <li>2.2. Results and Discussion</li> <li>2.2.1. Propargyl Difluorides</li> <li>2.2.2. Copper-Catalyzed, Enantioselective β-Fluoride Elimination</li> <li>2.3. Product Diversification: Chirality Transfer and Kinetic Resolution</li> <li>2.3.1. Chirality Transfer</li> </ul>	selective β- 141 142 142 145 153 153
<ul> <li>Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion Fluoride Elimination</li> <li>2.1. Introduction</li> <li>2.2. Results and Discussion <ul> <li>2.2.1. Propargyl Difluorides</li> <li>2.2.2. Copper-Catalyzed, Enantioselective β-Fluoride Elimination</li> </ul> </li> <li>2.3. Product Diversification: Chirality Transfer and Kinetic Resolution <ul> <li>2.3.1. Chirality Transfer</li> <li>2.4. Conclusion</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	selective β- 141 142 142 145 153 153 155
<ul> <li>Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion Fluoride Elimination</li> <li>2.1. Introduction</li> <li>2.2. Results and Discussion <ul> <li>2.2.1. Propargyl Difluorides</li> <li>2.2.2. Copper-Catalyzed, Enantioselective β-Fluoride Elimination</li> </ul> </li> <li>2.3. Product Diversification: Chirality Transfer and Kinetic Resolution <ul> <li>2.3.1. Chirality Transfer</li> <li>2.4. Conclusion</li> <li>2.5. Supporting Information</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	selective β- 141 142 142 145 153 153 155 157
Chapter 2. Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantion         2.1. Introduction         2.2. Results and Discussion         2.2.1. Propargyl Difluorides         2.2.2. Copper-Catalyzed, Enantioselective β-Fluoride Elimination         2.3. Product Diversification: Chirality Transfer and Kinetic Resolution         2.3.1. Chirality Transfer         2.4. Conclusion         2.5. Supporting Information         2.5.1. General Information	selective β- 141 142 142 145 153 153 155 157 157

2.5.2. General Ligand Synthesis158

	2.5.3. Synthesis of Reagents	173
	2.5.4. Synthesis of Substrates	176
	2.5.5. General Procedure for Alkyne Silylation	198
	2.5.6. Enantioselective Silylation Procedure	200
	2.5.7. Procedures for Derivatizations of Fluoroallenes	223
	2.5.8. Preliminary NMR Studies	224
	2.5.9. Computational Studies	247
	2.5.10. VCD Analysis	347
2	2.6.NMR Spectra	356
2	2.7.HPLC Spectra	472
2	2.8.References	502

## Chapter 3. Creation of Fluorine-Containing Quaternary Centers: Copper-Catalyzed Kinetic Resolution of Tetrasubstituted Monofluoro, Allenylsilanes

3.1. Introduction	514
3.1.1. Creation of Fluorine-Containing Stereocenters from Fluorine-Containing Building Blocks	514
3.2. Kinetic Resolution of Tetrasubstituted Monofluoro, Allenylsilanes: Copper-Catalyzed Acylation	516
3.2.1. Results and Discussion	516
3.3. Conclusion	521
3.4. Supporting Information	522
3.4.1. General Information	522
3.4.2. Substrate Synthesis	523
3.4.3. General Procedure for Copper-Catalyzed Kinetic Resolution: Screening Tables	526
3.4.4. Characterized Alkynes	527
3.4.5. NMR Spectra	529
3.4.6. HPLC Spectra	539
3.5. References	541

Chapter 1

Gold-Catalyzed Hydrofluorination of Electron-Deficient Alkynes: Stereoselective Synthesis of  $\beta$ -Fluoro Michael Acceptors

Portions of this chapter have previously appeared in:

O'Connor, T.J.; Toste, F.D. ACS Catal. 2018, 8, 5947–5951

#### **1.1 Introduction**

New routes towards the selective fluorination of small molecules have been targeted in recent years due to the differences in the physical and biological properties between fluorinated compounds and those of their non-fluorinated analogs.<sup>1</sup> For example, fluorinated small molecules serve as precursors to fluorinated polymers, such Teflon, and can be useful positron emission tomography (PET) markers. Incorporation of fluorine into pharmaceutical products is also an important application of fluorinated motif of particular interest is the monofluoroalkene. Monofluoroalkenes are isosteric with peptide bonds, and several bioactive compounds containing this motif have been reported (Figure 1.1).<sup>4</sup>



**Figure 1.1. Selected examples of bioactive monofluoroalkenes.** Monofluoroalkenes have found to be effective against both cancer (a) and type 2 diabetes (b). These molecules can also function as antimicrobial agents (c). The monofluoroalkene motif is seen as a peptide bond isostere (d).

A specific class of monofluoroalkenes of interest is  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors. Although several synthetic protocols exist to access *a*-fluoro, *a*, $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl compounds—the Horner–Wadsworth–Emmons reaction<sup>5</sup>, the Julia Olefination<sup>6</sup>, the Peterson Olefination<sup>7</sup>, and the Reformatsky reaction<sup>8</sup>—the stereoselective synthesis of  $\beta$ -fluoro, *a*, $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl compounds has proven to be a challenge, especially if  $\beta$ -alkyl substituents are desired (Figure 1.2).<sup>4b,9</sup> Previous methods to access (*Z*)- $\beta$ -fluoro-*a*, $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl compounds are limited by the formation of products with low diastereoselectivities or yields,<sup>10</sup> the requirement for prefunctionalized starting materials,<sup>11</sup> and narrow functional group tolerance.<sup>11b,11c,12</sup> Because of these limitations, a stereoselective and functional group tolerant method to access (*Z*)- $\beta$ -alkyl,  $\beta$ -fluoro-*a*, $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl compounds would be highly desirable.



Figure 1.2 Stoichiometric routes to α-fluoro, α,β-unsaturated carbonyl compounds. Fluorinated precursors have

been utilized in the Horner–Wadsworth–Emmons reaction (1), Julia Olefination (2), Peterson Olefination (3), and Reformatsky reaction (4) to generate stereodefined monofluoroalkenes.

The hydrofluorination of electron-deficient alkynes is perhaps the most direct method to generate (Z)- $\beta$ -fluoro  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl compounds from commercially available starting materials. Although some electron-deficient alkynes can undergo hydrofluorination in the absence of a catalyst, the diastereoselectivities of these reactions are generally moderate, especially for  $\beta$ -alkyl substrates.<sup>10a,10b,12</sup> Traditional chromatographic techniques often fail to separate (*E*) and (*Z*) isomers of monofluoroalkenes; therefore, it is essential that the desired monofluoroalkenes are synthesized with high diastereomeric ratios.<sup>13</sup>

Since Sadighi's seminal report of the gold-catalyzed hydrofluorination of internal alkynes in 2007, other research groups have expanded the use of coinage metals for alkyne hydrofluorination.<sup>14</sup> Both Jiang, with excess AgF, (Scheme 1a) and Nolan, with a catalytic amount of gold, (Scheme 1b) prepared  $\beta$ -aryl,  $\beta$ -fluoro- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated esters or ketones from electron deficient, unsymmetrical alkynes.<sup>14c,14e</sup> However, neither procedure reported the synthesis of  $\beta$ -alkyl,  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors or utilized alternative electron withdrawing groups such as nitriles or amides. Alternative conditions were described by Hammond and Xu for the gold-catalyzed hydrofluorination of alkynes with a new DMPU/HF fluorinating reagent, but this procedure did not expand access to (*Z*)- $\beta$ -fluoro- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl compounds.<sup>14d</sup> The first gold-catalyzed synthesis of a  $\beta$ -alkyl- $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptor was demonstrated by Hammond and Xu in 2017 (Scheme 1c).<sup>14f</sup>



Scheme 1.1. Generation of  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors from alkynes with coinage metals.

Although  $\beta$ -alkyl- $\beta$ -fluorovinylsulfones could be accessed in a (*Z*)-selective manner, alkynes that did not bear a sulfonyl group—such as aroyl and phosphonyl—failed to undergo hydrofluorination. Despite these advances in alkyne hydrofluorination by coinage metals, a general procedure to synthesize

a variety of (Z)- $\beta$ -alkyl,  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors from electron-deficient alkynes is still an unsolved challenge.

This chapter describes the development of a method to prepare a diverse array of  $\beta$ -alkyl,  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors from the gold-catalyzed hydrofluorination of electron-deficient alkynes. In addition to forming  $\beta$ -fluoro- $a,\beta$ -unsaturated esters and ketones, this method is the first gold-catalyzed procedure to generate  $\beta$ -fluoro- $a,\beta$ -unsaturated amides, nitriles, and aldehydes. A variety of  $\beta$ -alkyl as well as  $\beta$ -aryl substituents were tolerated; notably, 3° alkyl, alkenyl, and o-tolyl. Furthermore, this work demonstrates that the monofluoroalkene products are synthetically versatile fluorinated building blocks.

#### 1.2 Results and Discussion

The hydrofluorination of ethyl 2-butynoate (1a) with  $Et_3N \cdot 3HF$  to form ethyl (*Z*)-3-fluorobut-2-enoate (1b) was selected as a model reaction. Monofluoroalkene 1b formed in moderate yields and low stereoselectivities under conditions similar to those reported by Sadighi (see Table 1.1, entry 1).<sup>14a</sup> Reactions employing AgBF<sub>4</sub> as the silver salt afforded alkene 1b in greater chemical yield compared to reactions conducted in the presence of other silver salts (entry 1 and 2, see the supporting information for further details). Upon switching from gold catalysts bearing NHC-ligands to gold catalysts bearing phosphine ligands, modest improvements in both yield and stereoselectivity were observed (entries 3 and 4). Unfortunately, reactions conducted with several triaryl or trialkyl phosphine gold(I) complexes as catalysts generated a purple hue after several hours in the presence of  $Et_3N \cdot 3HF$ , which has been reported by others as a visual indication of catalyst decomposition.<sup>15</sup>

		LAuCI (5 mol%), AgBF <sub>4</sub>	CO₂Et	
	$CO_2Et = E$	Et <sub>3</sub> N•3HF (1.5 equiv), additive (1.0 equiv)		► F、//
//	1a	solvent [0.067 M], ri	<u> </u> 1b	
Entry	L	Solvent	Additive	Yield [%] (Z:E) <sup>b</sup>
1	IPr	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	KHSO₄	50 (66:34)
2 <sup>c</sup>	IPr	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	KHSO₄	43 (70:30)
3	PPh <sub>3</sub>	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	KHSO₄	55 (60:40)
4	PCy <sub>3</sub>	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	KHSO₄	64 (75:25)
5	CyJohnPhos	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	KHSO₄	84 (55:45)
6	RuPhos	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	KHSO4	57 (56:44)
7 <sup>d</sup>	RuPhos	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	KHSO₄	62 (97:3)
8 <sup>d</sup>	RuPhos	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	p-Cl BA <sup>e</sup>	66 (97:3)
9	RuPhos	CH <sub>3</sub> CN	p-CI BA	70 (97:3)
10	RuPhos	1:4 CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> :CH <sub>3</sub> CN	р-СІ ВА	76 (96:4)
11 <sup>f</sup>	RuPhos	1:4 CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> :CH <sub>3</sub> CN	p-CI BA	71 (96:4)
12	RuPhos	1:4 CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> :CH <sub>3</sub> CN	none	65 (96:4)
13 <sup>g</sup>	RuPhos	1:4 CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> :CH <sub>3</sub> CN	p-CI BA	80 (96:4)

Table 1.1 Effect of the reaction conditions on the hydrofluorination of 1a.

<sup>a</sup>General reaction conditions: 0.2 mmol **1** a, plastic vial. <sup>b</sup>Yields and *Z:E* ratios were determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy with 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene as an internal standard. <sup>c</sup>5 mol% AgSBF<sub>6</sub> <sup>d</sup>4 h. <sup>e</sup>*p*-chlorobenzoic acid. <sup>f</sup>10 mol% *p*-Cl BA. <sup>g</sup>3.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF.

Cationic-gold(I) complexes with dialkylbiarylphosphine ligands are known to be more stable towards decomposition pathways than cationic gold(I) complexes triaryl or trialkyl phosphines.<sup>16</sup> Upon switching the gold catalyst to CyJohnPhosAuCl, monofluoroalkene **1b** was generated in 84% yield. However, the stereoselectivity of the reaction conducted with CyJohnPhosAuCl decreased relative to the stereoselectivity of the reaction conducted with Cy<sub>3</sub>PAuCl as the catalyst (entry 3 and 4). Examination of a variety of dialkylbiaryl phosphinegold(I) complexes revealed that only reactions with RuPhos as the ligand afforded the greatest *Z*:*E* selectivity of **1b** (entries 6 and 7). For instance, in the presence of CyJohnPhos the yield of **1b** after 4 hours was 85% but with a *Z*:*E* of 77:23.

In addition to the ligand effect on the reaction, both the solvent and additive were found to influence the yield and stereoselectivity of the hydrofluorination of alkynoate **1a**. Switching from potassium bisulfate to *p*-chlorobenzoic acid (*p*-Cl BA), a more soluble acid co-additive, resulted in a modest improvement in the yield of monofluoroalkene **1b** (entry 8). Reactions conducted with RuPhosAuCl and CH<sub>3</sub>CN as the solvent afforded the hydrofluorination product in a further improved yield while maintaining the *Z*-selectivity observed at shorter reaction times (entry 8 and 9). The change in solvent also ensured that the *Z*:*E* ratio did not decrease over time, permitting easier reaction monitoring as alkene isomerization was largely suppressed. Ultimately, reactions conducted in a solvent mixture of CH<sub>3</sub>CN:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> maintained the high stereoselectivity of the hydrofluorination of alkyne **1a** while affording alkene **1b** in an improved yield (entry 9 and 10). The beneficial improvement in the yield of **1b** was observed with as little as 10 mol% *p*-Cl BA (entry 11 and 12). Other acid additives were examined, but benzoic acid derivatives appeared to provide an optimal pKa range (Table 1.2). Increasing the equivalents of Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF did not have a significant influence on the reaction (Table 1.1, entry 13); however, reactions with Et<sub>3</sub>N•2HF, Et<sub>3</sub>N•HF, and pyridine•HF (70% HF) failed to generate alkene **1b** (Table 1.3).

//	CO <sub>2</sub> Et 4:1 MeCN:CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> [0.67 M], rt	CO₂Et
	1a	1 1b <sup>a</sup>
Entry	Additive	Yield [%] (Z:E) <sup>b</sup>
1	p-CN benzoic acid	48 (>98:2)
2	p-CI benzoic acid	80 (96:4)
3	benzoic acid	62 (97:3)
4	p-Et benzoic acid	71 (97:3)
5	p-OMe benzoic acid	73 (97:3)
6	TsOH	65 (97:3)
7	Cl₃CCO₂H	31 (>98:2)
8	HNTf <sub>2</sub>	34 (>98:2)

#### Table 1.2 Effect of acid additive on the hydrofluorination of 1a.

.....

- -- - ----

<sup>a</sup>General reaction conditions: 0.2 mmol **1***a*, plastic vial. <sup>b</sup>Yields and *Z:E* ratios were determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy with fluorobenzene as an internal standard.

//	CO2Et         Et3N•3HF (1.5 equiv)           p-CI BA (1.0 equiv)         4:1 MeCN:CH2Cl2 [0.7 M]           1a         24 h, rt		F 1b <sup>a</sup>
Entry	Deviation from	Standard Conditions	Yield [%] (Z:E) <sup>b</sup>
1		None	76 (96:4)
2	1	5 (>98:2)	
3	1	<2	
4	pyrid	ine•HF(30:70)	NR
5	C	ilass Vial	74 (97:3)
6 50 °C, Glass vial			78 (62:38)

#### Table 1.3 Effect of reaction vessel, HF source and temperature on the hydrofluorination of 1a.

<sup>a</sup>General reaction conditions: 0.2 mmol **1a**, 1.5 equiv HF source. <sup>b</sup>Yields and *Z:E* ratios were determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy with 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene as an internal standard.

#### 1.2.1 Scope of Gold-Catalyzed Hydrofluorination

Having identified suitable reactions conditions for the hydrofluorination of alkyne 1a, the hydrofluorination of  $\beta$ -alkyl alkynoates, alkynones, alkynamides, and alkynenitriles was investigated (Table 1.4). Methyl, 1° alkyl, 2° alkyl, and vinyl  $\beta$ -substituted alkynoates underwent hydrofluorination in the presence of Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF in a Z-selective manner in good yields. Notably, the final products were all isolated as a single diastereomer after standard silica gel column chromatography. Importantly, these results highlight this operationally simple, one-step route to  $\beta$ -alkyl,  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors from alkynes. The hydrofluorination reaction was also shown to be scalable, as fluoroalkenes 3b and 5b were both prepared on a gram scale in good yield and with excellent Z-selectivity. For substrate **6a** with a bulky  $\beta$ -substituents, a higher reaction temperature was required to obtain the product in moderate yield (**6b**). The hydrofluorination of alkynoates bearing  $\beta$ -vinyl substituents provided straightforward access to fluorinated dienes **7b** and **8b**. Hydrofluorination of the  $\gamma$ , $\delta$ -alkene of either **7a** or **8a** was not detected by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy. The reaction conditions for the hydrofluorination of  $\beta$ -alkyl alkynoates were also suitable for the hydrofluorination of  $\beta$ -alkyl (hetero)aryl alkynones **9b** and **10b**. Although methyl ketone 11a proved to be a challenging substrate, 11b was isolated with only a trace amount of the *E*-isomer. Both  $2^{\circ}$  and  $3^{\circ}\beta$ -alkyl alkynamides (12–14a) as well as alkynonitrile derivative 15a underwent hydrofluorination to provide 12-15b in moderate yields. Dec-2-ynal was the only substrate that did not undergo hydrofluorination in a regioselective manner given standard conditions in Table 2 (72%, Z:E = 51:49). Although conducting the reaction at 5 °C did afford a Z:E ratio of >98:2 the yield after 24 hours was only 22%. Unfortunately, after 96 hours at 5 °C the yield increased to 51% but the Z:E ratio decreased to 70:30.



#### Table 1.4. Scope of $\beta$ -alkyl, $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors.

<sup>a</sup>Standard reaction conditions: 0.5 mmol **2–15a**, 3.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF, 1.0 equiv *p*-Cl BA, 5 mol% RuPhosAuCl, 5 mol% AgBF<sub>4</sub>, 4:1 MeCN:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [0.7 M], rt, 24 h. <sup>b</sup>**2–15b** isolated as a single isomer, expect 11b. <sup>c</sup>Dteremined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy with PhF as an internal standard. <sup>d</sup>6.0 mmol scale. <sup>e</sup>5.0 mmol scale. <sup>f</sup>55°C. <sup>g</sup> Insoluble product. <sup>h</sup> 1.25 M, 4.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF. <sup>1</sup>1.25 M, 4.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF, 50°C.

To showcase the generality of this method, the hydrofluorination reactions of a variety of electron deficient alkynes bearing  $\beta$ -aryl substituents were also explored (Table 1.5). Generally, the yields of  $\beta$ -aryl-monofluoroalkenes **16–30b** were comparable to those of their  $\beta$ -alkyl-analogs **2–15b**. In contrast to previous procedures, even a monofluoroalkene bearing an *ortho*-substituted aryl group (**19b**) were generated in modest yield.<sup>14e</sup> Compared to the esters and ketones, even the more electrophilic 2-phenylpropiolaldehyde afforded **27b** in a *Z*-selective manner. Moreover, both  $\beta$ -aryl alkynonitriles and alkynamides were suitable substrates, generating otherwise difficult to access fluorinated motifs (**28–30b**). Furthermore, to determine the feasibility of this methodology it was compared to that of Hammond and Xu and the two methods were found to be complimentary (Table 1.6).<sup>14f</sup>



#### Table 1.5 Scope of $\beta$ -aryl, $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors.

<sup>a</sup>Standard reaction conditions: 0.5 mmol **16–30a**, 3.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF, 1.0 equiv *p*-Cl BA, 5 mol% RuPhosAuCl, 5 mol% AgBF<sub>4</sub>, 4:1 MeCN:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [0.7 M], rt, 24 h. <sup>b</sup>**16–30b** isolated as a single isomer. <sup>c</sup>Dteremined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy with PhF as an internal standard. <sup>d</sup> 1.43 M, 45°C. <sup>e</sup> 45°. <sup>f</sup>4.5 mmol scale. <sup>g</sup> 1.25 M, 55°C, 4.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF. <sup>h</sup>45°C, 48 h, 4.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF.





<sup>a</sup>Conditions A: 0.5 mmol alkyne, 3.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF, 5 mol% RuPhosAuCl, 5 mol% AgBF<sub>4</sub>, 4:1 MeCN:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [0.7 M], rt, 24 h, plastic vial. <sup>b</sup>Conditions B: 0.2 mmol alkyne, 4.0 equiv pyridine•HF (70% HF), 2.5 mol% JohnPhosAuNTf<sub>2</sub>, PhCF<sub>3</sub> [0.4 M], rt, 8 h, plastic vial. 'Yields and *Z:E* ratios were determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy with PhF as an internal standard. <sup>d</sup>Only 19% of the difluoro  $\beta$ -ketone was detected by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy and GC-MS analysis. <sup>m</sup>odified conditions A: 4.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF, 4:1 MeCN:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [1.25 M], 48 h. <sup>f</sup>Literature value: 64% *Z*. <sup>g</sup>Literature value: 90% *Z*.

The monofluoroalkenes generated from our catalytic process underwent a series of transformations demonstrating that  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors are valuable fluorinated building blocks (Scheme 2). For example, ester **3b** was reduced in the presence of DIBAL–H to yield the fluorinated allylic alcohol **1c** in high yield.<sup>17</sup> Aldehyde **27b** underwent Wittig olefination in modest yield to afford a 1-fluoro-2,4-diene **2c**.<sup>18</sup> In the presence of a suitable 1,3-ylide, ester **5b** underwent a regioselective [3+2] cycloaddition to generate a pyrrolidine with a quaternary fluorine center (**3c**).<sup>19</sup> Finally, amide **31b** was reduced in the presence of Meerwein's salt to furnish a fluorine-containing analog of Exoderil **4c**.<sup>20</sup>

Scheme 1.2 Diversification of fluorinated Michael Acceptors.



<sup>a</sup>Yield given is for isolated product at specified scale. a) **3b** (2.32 mmol), DIBAL–H,  $CH_2Cl_2$ , 0°C. b) "BuLi, Ph<sub>3</sub>PMeBr, **27b** (0.3 mmol), THF 0°C. c) **5b** (0.3 mmol), ylide TFA, 0°C to rt. D) **31a** (1.96 mmol), 5 mol% RuPhosAuCl, 5 mol% AgBF<sub>4</sub>, 1.0 equiv *p*-Cl BA, 4.0 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF, 45°C, 48 h, MeCN:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [1.25 M]. e) Me<sub>3</sub>OBF<sub>4</sub>, 2,6-di-'Bu-pyridine, **31b** (0.54 mmol), CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt; NaBH<sub>4</sub>, MeOH, -10°C.

#### **1.3 Conclusion**

In conclusion, a stereoselective hydrofluorination of electron-deficient alkynes catalyzed by a RuPhos-ligated gold(I) complex was developed. For the first time, direct access to a variety of (*Z*)- $\beta$ -alkyl,  $\beta$ -fluoro Michael acceptors was achieved. In addition, (*Z*)- $\beta$ -aryl,  $\beta$ -fluoro *a*, $\beta$ -unsaturated amides and nitriles were conveniently accessed with the disclosed method. The synthetic potential of the resulting monofluoroalkene was demonstrated with various transformations of the products without the loss of the newly installed fluorine atom, and with the synthesis of a fluorinated analog of Exoderil.

#### **1.4 Supporting Information**

#### 1.4.1 General Experimental Details

All air-sensitive manipulations were conducted under an inert atmosphere in a nitrogen-filled glovebox or by standard Schlenk techniques. Vessels used in air-free reactions were oven-dried prior to use. Unless otherwise noted, reagents were purchased from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Column chromatography was performed using ICN SiliTech 32-63D 60Å silica gel. Commercial grade solvents were used without further purification except as indicated below. Dichloromethane  $(CH_2Cl_2)$ , acetonitrile (CH<sub>3</sub>CN), toluene (PhMe), diethyl ether (Et<sub>2</sub>O), dimethyl formamide (DMF), triethylamine (Et<sub>3</sub>N) and tetrahydrofuran (THF) were dried by passing commerically available pre-dried, oxygen-free formulations through activated alumina columns under argon. Thin layer chromatography analysis was performed using Merck 60 pre-coated silica gel plates with F254 indicator. Visualization was accomplished by iodine, p-anisaldehyde, potassium permanganate, Dragendorff-Munier, and/or UV light (254 nm). Proton nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker AVQ-400, DRX-500 and AV-600 instruments with 400, 500 and 600 MHz frequencies. Carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>13</sup>C NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker DRX-500 and AV-600 instruments with a <sup>13</sup>C operating frequency of 126 and 150 MHz. Fluorine-19 nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>19</sup>F NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker AVQ-400, DRX-500 and AV-600 instruments with 376, 471, and 565 MHz frequencies. The proton signal for the residual non-deuterated solvent ( $\delta$  7.26 for CHCl<sub>3</sub>,  $\delta$  5.32 for CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) was used as an internal reference for <sup>1</sup>H spectra. For <sup>13</sup>C spectra, chemical shifts are reported relative to the  $\delta$  77.16 resonance of CDCl<sub>3</sub> and relative to the  $\delta$  53.84 for CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>. For <sup>19</sup>F spectra, chemical shifts are reported in relative to the  $\delta$  -113.15 resonance of PhF. Coupling constants are reported in Hz. Mass spectral data were obtained from either the UC-Berkeley Catalysis Center operated by usage of an Agilent Time of Flight (Q-TOF) mass spectrometer in ESI (or APCI) mode or the QB3/Chemistry Mass Spectrometry Facility at UC-Berkeley. FTIR measurements were recorded on a Bruker Vertex 80 FTIR spectrometer in the Catalysis Center at UC-Berkeley and are reported in frequency of absorption (cm<sup>-1</sup>). Alkynes (11a),<sup>21</sup> (13a),<sup>22</sup> (18a, 20a, 23a),<sup>23</sup> (17a),<sup>24</sup> (19a, 21a),<sup>25</sup> (22a),<sup>26</sup> (24a),<sup>27</sup> (25a),<sup>28</sup> (26a),<sup>21a</sup> (29a),<sup>29</sup> 5-phenylpent-2-yn-1-ol,<sup>30</sup> 1-methyl-4-(prop-1-ynylsulfonyl)benzene,<sup>31</sup> and 1-methyl-4-(phenylethynylsulfonyl)benzene<sup>31</sup> could be prepared according to previously reported procedures; the spectral data were in agreement. Gold complexes were synthesized according to the procedure outlined in Mauleon et al<sup>32</sup> and their spectra match those reported in the literature.<sup>32-33</sup> JohnPhosAuNTf<sub>2</sub> was prepared as described by Gagosz and coworkers.<sup>34</sup>

#### 1.4.2 Investigation of Reaction Conditions

In a nitrogen-filled glove-box, solvent was added to a 4 mL glass vial charged with LAuCl (0.01 mmol, 5 mol%) and AgX (0.01 mmol, 5 mol%). After 4–5 minutes of mixing with a syringe in the absence of light, the resulting mixture was filtered through a glass fiber pad (packed into the neck of 9" pipette) into a 2 mL screw-lid plastic centrifuge tube containing specified additive. Alkyne **1a** (23  $\mu$ L, 0.20 mmol, 1 equiv) was added and the centrifuge tube sealed and brought outside the glove-box. In the absence of light, the plastic centrifuge tube was opened (exposed to air) and the fluorination reagent added. The reaction was sealed and placed on a IKA KS 130 basic shaker table (560 revolutions/min) under protection from light. After the designated time, the reaction was diluted with an appropriate solvent (500  $\mu$ L total), charged with 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene (25  $\mu$ L, 0.20 mmol, 1 equiv), filtered into an NMR tube, and analyzed by <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy.



CO2E	IPrAuCI (5 mol% AgX (5 mol%) Et <sub>3</sub> N·3HF (1.5 eq KHSO <sub>4</sub> (1.0 equ CH <sub>2</sub> CI <sub>2</sub> [0.67 M], rt,	$\frac{\text{uiv}}{\frac{\text{iv}}{24 \text{ h}}}  F  F$
1a		1b <sup>a</sup>
Entry	AgX	Yield [%] ( <i>Z:E)</i> <sup>b</sup>
1	BF <sub>4</sub>	50 (66:34)
2	SbF <sub>6</sub>	43 (70:30)
3	OTf	26 (69:31)
4	OMs	NR
5	CF <sub>3</sub> CO <sub>2</sub>	31 (70:30)

<sup>a</sup> General reaction conditions: 0.2 mmol **1a**, plastic vial. <sup>b</sup> Yields and *Z:E* ratios were determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy with 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene as an internal standard.

Table S2. Control studies for the hydrofluorination of 1a.

		CO <sub>2</sub> E	t RuPhosAu( <u>Et<sub>3</sub>N·3HF,</u> 4:1 MeCN:CH rt, 24	Cl, AgBF <sub>4</sub> <u>p-Cl BA</u> <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> [0.7 M]	F The P	
Entry	Au [mol%]	Ag [mol%]	RuPhos [mol%]	HF [equiv]	<i>p</i> -Cl BA [equiv]	Yield [%] ( <i>Z:E)<sup>b</sup></i>
1	5	5	0	1.5	1.0	76 (96:4)
2	0	5	0	1.5	1.0	NB
3	0	5	5	1.5	1.0	NB
4	0	0	5	1.5	1.0	NB
5	5	5	0	1.5	0	65 (96:4)

<sup>a</sup> General reaction conditions: 0.2 mmol **1a**, plastic vial. <sup>b</sup> Yields and *Z*:*E* ratios were determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy with 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene as an internal standard.

#### 1.4.3 Synthesis of Alkynes

heptyl but-2-ynoate (2a)



Prepared according to a published procedure.<sup>35</sup> To a stirring solution of but-2-ynoic acid (1.26 g, 15.0 mmol, 1 equiv) in dimethyl formamide (12.6 mL) at 0 °C was added potassium carbonate 5.18 g, 37.5 mmol, 2.5 equiv) under a flow of nitrogen. After heptyl iodide (3.7 mL, 22.5 mmol, 1.5 equiv) was added dropwise and the resultant reaction mixture was stirred at RT. After completion of the reaction (by TLC), the reaction mixture was diluted with water (50 mL) and ethyl acetate (100 mL). The separated organic phase was washed with ice cold, deionized water (dH<sub>2</sub>O) (3 x 80 mL). The organic layer was dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude reside was purified by silica gel column chromatography (10:1 hexanes:ethyl acetate).

Colorless oil (24%, 656 mg):

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  4.10 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 1.97 (s, 3H), 1.66 – 1.60 (m, 2H), 1.37 – 1.23 (m, 8H), 0.88 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>)  $\delta$  = 154.1, 85.4, 72.8, 66.2, 32.1, 29.3, 28.9, 26.2, 23.0, 14.2, 3.9. HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>19</sub>O<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 183.1380, found: 183.1380. IR (neat) 2927, 2243, 1707 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

Synthesis of alkynes 3a, 4a, 5a, 6a and 8a.



Prepared according to a published procedure.<sup>36</sup> To a solution of terminal alkyne (18.0 mmol, 1 equiv) at -78 °C was added "BuLi (7.2 mL, 2.5 M in hexanes, 18.0 mmol, 1 equiv), and the reaction was stirred for 30 minutes at -78 °C. Ethyl chloroformate (1.71 mL, 18.0 mmol, 1 equiv) was added dropwise, and then the reaction warmed to room temperature and stirred for 2 h. The reaction was quenched with ice cold, deionized water (125 mL) and extracted with  $Et_2O$  (3 x 150 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with brine (200 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude product was purified by silica gel column chromatography (hexanes:ethyl acetate).

ethyl hept-2-ynoate (**3a**)



Light yellow oil (48%, 1.33 g):

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>22</sup> **<sup>1</sup>H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 4.18 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.30 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.53 (p, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.45 – 1.36 (m, 2H), 1.27 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.89 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ethyl 7-chlorohept-2-ynoate (4a)



Colorless oil (70%, 2.38 g):

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 4.18 (q, J = 7.1, 2H), 3.54 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 1.92 – 1.84 (m, 2H), 1.77 – 1.69 (m, 2H), 1.27 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 153.7, 88.2, 73.8, 61.9, 44.2, 31.4, 24.8, 18.1, 14.1. HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>14</sub>ClO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 189.0677, found: 189.0677. IR (neat) 2984, 2236, 1704, 1246, 1072, 730 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl 3-cyclohexylpropiolate (5a)



Colorless oil (81%, 2.64g):

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  4.18 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.51 – 2.45 (m, 1H), 1.87 – 1.76 (m, 2H), 1.73 – 1.64 (m, 2H), 1.54 – 1.45 (m, 3H), 1.34 – 1.23 (m, 6H)

ethyl 4,4-dimethylpent-2-ynaote (6a)



Colorless oil (81%, 2.25 g):

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>37</sup> <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  4.16 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.25 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 3H), 1.23 (s, 9H).

ethyl 3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)propiolate (8a)



light yellow oil (67%, 2.15 g):

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 6.44 – 6.36 (m, 1H), 4.19 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.15 – 2.06 (m, 4H), 1.64 – 1.58 (m, 2H), 1.58 – 1.54 (m, 2H), 1.27 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H).

ethyl-(*E*)-oct-4-en-2-ynoate (7**a**)



Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>38</sup> To a  $CH_2Cl_2$  (59 mL) solution of carbon tetrabromide (5.8 g, 17.5 mmol, 2 equiv) was added a  $CH_2Cl_2$  solution of triphenylphosphine (9.2 g, 35.0 mmol, 4 equiv) at 0 °C dropwise. The reaction mixture was warmed to rt and stirred for 30 minutes before a  $CH_2Cl_2$  (4 mL) solution of (*E*)-hex-2-enal (8.75 mmol, 1.04 mL, 1.0 equiv) was slowly added. The resulting mixture was stirred at rt for 2 h before the addition of  $dH_2O$  (50 mL) to partition the organic layer. The mixture was extracted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  (3 x 20 mL), dried over  $Na_2SO_4$ , filtered, and concentrated. To this residue was added  $Et_2O$  (40 mL) and the resulting suspension filtered. The ethereal filtrate is concentrated and chromatographed through a silica gel column (hexanes) to afford (*E*)-1,1-dibromo-hepta-1,3-diene as a light yellow oil whose <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra matched reported values.<sup>39</sup>

To a THF solution (28 mL) of (*E*)-1,1-dibromo-hepta-1,3-diene (1.08 g, 4.25 mmol, 1.0 equiv) at -78 °C was added <sup>'n</sup>BuLi (3.57 mL, 2.5 M in hexanes, 8.93 mmol, 2.1 equiv) dropwise. The resulting solution was stirred at -78 °C for 30 min before ethyl chloroformate (0.41 mL, 4.72 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added dropwise. After the dropwise addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at -78 °C for 30 min and then stirred at rt for 2 h. To this solution was added saturated NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (50 mL). The aqueous layer was separated, extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 25 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude product was purified by silica gel column chromatography (Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes 1:9) to afford ethyl-(*E*)-oct-4-en-2-ynoate (7a) as a yellow oil (25% from (*E*)-hex-2-enal, 304 mg).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  6.47 (dt, *J* = 14.6, 7.1 Hz, 1H), 5.53 (d, *J* = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 4.20 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.12 (q, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.41 (p, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.28 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.88 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H). <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  154.2, 152.4, 107.2, 85.6, 79.5, 61.9, 35.5, 21.5, 14.1, HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>15</sub>O<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 167.1067, found: 167.1065. IR (neat) 2962, 2933, 2874, 2212, 1704, 1626, 1245, 1096 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

Synthesis of alkynes 9a and 10a



Prepared from a modified procedure.<sup>40</sup> To a solution of  $Et_3N$  (20 mL) was added terminal alkyne (12.5 mmol, 1.25 equiv), acyl chloride (10.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.5 mol%), and CuI (2.5 mol%). After 24 h of stirring at rt, MeOH (10 mL) was added, the solvent evaporated and  $Et_2O$  (150 mL) was added. The mixture was filtered, washed with 3 M HCl (75 mL), dH<sub>2</sub>O (75 mL), brine (75 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered and concentrated. The residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (EtOAc:hexanes) to afford **9a** or **10a**.

1-(4-methylphenyl)hept-2-yn-1-one (9a)



tan/yellow oil (50%, 1.00 g):

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>41</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.02 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.48 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.73 - 1.59 (m, 2H), 1.56 - 1.44 (m, 2H), 0.95 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H).

1-(furan-2-yl)heptadec-2-yn-1-one (10a)



orange solid (48%, 1.51 g):

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.63 (s, 4H), 7.30 (d, *J* = 3.5 Hz, 1H), 6.56 – 6.54 (m, 1H), 2.44 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 1H), 1.63 (p, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.44 (p, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.33 – 1.21 (m, 20H), 0.86 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H). <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.2, 153.4, 147.8, 120.7, 112.6, 112.6, 95.7, 79.1, 32.0, 29.8, 29.8, 29.8, 29.7, 29.6, 29.5, 29.2, 29.0, 27.8, 22.8, 19.3, 14.2, 14.2. **HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>33</sub>O<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 317.2475, found: 317.2471. **IR** (neat) 2919, 2849, 2210, 1626, 1458, 794 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

Synthesis of alkynes 12a, 14a, 28a, 30a and 31a.



Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>42</sup> To an ice-cold solution of acid (10.7 mmol, 1.0 equiv) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (71 mL), *N*-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)-*N*'-ethylcarbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC•HCl) (11.8 mmol, 1.1 equiv) and 1-hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBt) (13.91 mmol, 1.3 equiv; concentrated twice with distilled benzene) were added and the mixture stirred for 5 min. The amine (13.91 mmol 1.3 equiv; if HCl salt of amine added 1.3 equiv Et<sub>3</sub>N) was then added and the reaction was allowed to reach rt overnight. After 16–19 h the solvent was evaporated and the residue dissolved in EtOAc (150 mL). The organic phase was washed with 1 M HCl (100 mL), saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (100 mL), brine (100 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered and concentrated. The residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (EtOAc:hexanes) to afford pure **12a**, **14a**, **28a**, **30a** and **31a**.

*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylpent-2-ynamide (**12a**)



colorless oil (68%, 1.55 g, 16.2 mmol scale, employed HCl salt of amine): **<sup>1</sup>H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 3.66 (s, 3H), 3.33 – 3.01 (m, 3H), 2.28 (q, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.11 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 154.6, 94.4, 72.4, 61.9, 32.2, 12.7, 12.5. HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_7H_{12}NO_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 142.0863, found: 142.0860. IR (neat) 2980, 2939, 2235, 1636, 1412, 1378, 988, 722 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

1-(piperidin-1-yl)oct-2-yn-1-one (14a)



orange oil (88%, 1.95 g, 10.7 mmol scale):

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  3.55 (t, *J* = 5.6 Hz, 2H), 3.42 (t, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 2H), 2.21 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.54 – 1.49 (m, 2H), 1.48 – 1.43 (m, 4H), 1.42 – 1.37 (m, 2H), 1.28 – 1.15 (m, 4H), 0.76 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H). <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  152.8, 92.8, 73.7, 47.8, 41.9, 30.8, 27.3, 26.2, 25.2, 24.3, 21.9, 18.7, 13.7. HRMS (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 208.1696, found: 208.1691. IR (neat) 2933, 2857, 2244, 2222, 1622, 1428, 1266, 1234, 731 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

3-phenyl-1-(piperidin-1-yl)prop-2-yn-1-one (28a)



white solid (75%, 963 mg, 6.0 mmol scale)

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>43</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.55 – 7.52 (m, 2H), 7.42 – 7.38 (m, 1H), 7.37 – 7.33 (m, 2H), 3.77 (t, *J* = 5.7, 5.1 Hz, 2H), 3.62 (t, *J* = 5.6 Hz, 2H), 1.70 – 1.62 (m, 4H), 1.58 (p, *J* = 5.7 Hz, 2H).

*N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropiolamide (**30a**)



colorless oil (62%, 2.13 g, 18 mmol scale, employed HCl salt of amine) In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>44</sup> <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.54 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.41 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.35 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 3.26 (bs, 3H).

*N*-methyl-*N*-(naphthalen-1-ylmethyl)-3-phenylpropiolamide (**31a**)



opaque, colorless oil (98%, 1.85 g, 6.3 mmol scale):

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>, mixture of rotamers ca. 59:41)  $\delta$  8.15 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H, major rotamer), 8.09 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 0.7H, minor rotamer), 7.92 – 7.81 (m, 3.4H), 7.60 – 7.38 (m, 11.4H), 7.36 – 7.25 (m, 5.2H), 5.34 (s, 1.4H, minor rotamer), 5.14 (s, 2H, major rotamer), 3.11 (s, 3H, major rotamer), 2.98 (s, 2.2H minor rotamer).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 155.1, 154.5, 133.8, 133.8, 132.4, 132.3, 131.6, 131.5, 131.4, 131.2, 130.0, 129.0, 128.8, 128.6, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4, 127.3, 126.7, 126.6, 126.1, 126.0, 125.4, 125.3, 125.1, 123.8, 122.5, 120.4, 120.2, 90.7, 90.5, 81.7, 52.5, 47.7, 35.5, 32.2.

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 300.1383, found: 300.1381.

**IR** (neat) 3060, 2926, 2855, 2213, 1740, 1665, 1619, 1398, 1244, 1109, 908, 760, 728, 689 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

6-phenylhex-2-ynenitrile (15a)



Prepared according to a modified literature report.<sup>45</sup> To a solution of 9:1 CH<sub>3</sub>CN:dH<sub>2</sub>O was added (under a positive flow of  $N_2$ ) 5-phenylpent-2-yn-1-ol (1.22 g, 7.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv) followed by TEMPO (55 mg, 5 mol%), NH<sub>4</sub>OAc (2.09 g, 27.2 mmol, 3.88 equiv) and PhI(OAc)<sub>2</sub> (4.94 g, 15.33, 2.19 equiv). The suspension was stirred at rt for 30 min, concentrated and diluted with dH<sub>2</sub>O (40 mL) and Et<sub>2</sub>O (80 mL). The layers were separated and the aqueous layer extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O ( 2 x 80 mL). The organics were collected and washed with brine (200 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered and concentrated. The residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:15 Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) to afford **15a** as a colorless oil (1.04 g).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.32 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.18 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 2.74 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.94 (p, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H). <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  140.2, 128.7, 128.6, 126.5, 105.4, 87.1, 55.8, 34.6, 28.7, 18.2. **HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>11</sub>NNa<sup>+</sup>[M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 192.0784, found: 192.0780. **IR** (neat) 3028, 2939, 2314, 2259, 1496, 1454, 743, 608, 500 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 1.4.4 General Procedures for Gold-Catalyzed Alkyne Hydrofluorination

Attention: Hydrogen fluoride amine complexes are hazardous and should be handled with care. In case of skin contact, calcium gluconate gel should be applied to the affected area and medical attention sought. Although some hydrogen fluoride amine complexes are known to etch normal laboratory glassware, the catalytic hydrofluorination reactions disclosed in this communication can be contacted in glass vials without a significant decrease in yield. However, plastic, screw-lid centrifuge tubes are recommended. Notes:

- Before each experiment (1–24 h), RuPhosAuCl (white solid) was dissolved in dry dichloromethane, filtered through a plug of basic alumina (1-inch of basic alumina layered on a glass fiber pad in a Kimble 5-3/4" Monster Pipette) into a 20-mL vial that had been rinsed with dry dichloromethane (1 mL), and concentrated.
- Glass vials, stir bars, and heating blocks were utilized for reactions conducted at elevated temperatures. Only a slight decrease in the NMR yield (1–3%) of **1b** was observed upon switching from plastic to glass reaction vessels. Reactions at room temperature were conducted in plastic, screw-lid centrifuge tubes that were heated at 70 °C for 5–7 days before being pumped in a nitrogen-filled glovebox.
- Presence of water results in competitive hydration of the alkyne.
- See substrate tables for variations on the standard procedures below.

#### Standard Procedure for 0.5 mmol scale

In a nitrogen-filled glove-box (in the absence of light) solvent (700 µL) was added to a 4-mL glass vial charged with RuPhosAuCl (17.5 mg, 0.025 mmol, 5 mol%) and AgBF<sub>4</sub> (5 mg, 0.025 mmol, 5 mol%). After 8–10 minutes of mixing with a syringe, the white slurry was filtered through a glass fiber pad (packed into the neck of 9" pipette) into a 2-mL screw-lid plastic centrifuge tube containing *p*-chlorobenzoic acid (87 mg, 0.5 mmol, 1 equiv). Alkyne (**2-30a**) was quickly added to the reaction mixture. Outside the glove-box, in the absence of light, the plastic centrifuge tube was opened (briefly exposed to air) and Et<sub>3</sub>N•3HF (250 µL, 1.50 mmol, 3 equiv) added. The reaction was sealed and placed on an IKA KS 130 basic shaker table (560 revolutions/min) under the protection from light. After 24 hours, the reaction mixture was transferred to a round bottom flask (50 mL) with dichloromethane (15 mL) and treated with a 10% Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> solution (15 mL). After stirring for 20–30 minutes, the biphasic solution was transferred to a separatory funnel with dichloromethane (3 x 30 mL). Dichloromethane was added to the organic fractions until the total volume reached 200 mL. Then the organics were washed with brine (1 x 150 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was chromatographed (hexanes:Et<sub>2</sub>O) to afford **2–30b**.

heptyl (Z)-3-fluorobut-2-enoate (**2b**)

Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:30 \rightarrow 1:20$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (71.8 mg, 71%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  5.16 (d, *J* = 32.6 Hz, 1H), 4.08 (t, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 2.00 (d, *J* = 16.6 Hz, 3H), 1.61 (p, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 1.37 - 1.20 (m, 8H), 0.86 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 168.8 (d, J = 283.8 Hz), 163.9 (d, J = 2.1 Hz), 131.7, 129.0, 99.7 (d, J = 5.0 Hz), 64.4, 31.8, 29.0, 28.7, 26.0, 22.7, 19.2 (d, J = 26.5 Hz), 14.1. <sup>19</sup>F NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -73.6 (dq, J = 32.7, 16.4 Hz). HRMS (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>20</sub>FO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 203.1442, found: 203.1443. IR (neat) 2956, 2928, 2858, 1716, 1687, 1219, 1136, 1037 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (Z)-3-fluorohept-2-enoate (**3b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:30 \rightarrow 1:15$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (763.4 mg, 73%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  5.15 (d, *J* = 33.3 Hz, 1H), 4.16 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.25 (dt, *J* = 17.0, 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.53 (p, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.36 (h, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 1.26 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.91 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 172.3 (d, *J* = 286.4 Hz), 163.9 (d, *J* = 1.6 Hz), 131.7, 129.0, 98.9 (d, *J* = 5.3 Hz), 60.2, 32.8 (d, *J* = 23.8 Hz), 27.7 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 22.0, 14.3, 13.7.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -80.0 (dt, *J* = 33.8, 17.2 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>16</sub>FO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 175.1129, found: 175.1121.

**IR** (neat) 2961, 2936, 2875, 1727, 1715, 1681, 1215, 1133, 1037, 907, 836 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (Z)-7-chloro-3-fluorohept-2-enoate (**4b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:12 Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (72.0 mg, 69%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  5.17 (d, *J* = 33.2 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.52 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 2.29 (dt, *J* = 16.9, 7.4 Hz, 2H), 1.85 - 1.77 (m, 2H), 1.75 - 1.66 (m, 2H), 1.25 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  171.2 (d, *J* = 286.1 Hz), 163.7 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz), 99.4 (d, *J* = 5.0 Hz), 60.3, 44.3, 32.3 (d, *J* = 24.2 Hz), 31.5, 23.0 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 14.3.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -80.6 (dt, *J* = 33.7, 17.0 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>15</sub>ClFO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 209.0739, found: 209.0736.

IR (neat) 2960, 2874, 1722, 1681, 1271, 1214, 1133, 1037, 839 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (*Z*)-3-cyclohexyl-3-fluoroacrylate (**5b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:24 Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (740.0 mg, 74%).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  5.13 (d, *J* = 34.2 Hz, 1H), 4.17 (q, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.21 – 2.12 (m, 1H), 1.91 – 1.87 (m, 2H), 1.81 – 1.78 (m, 2H), 1.71 – 1.67 (m, 1H), 1.29 – 1.25 (m, 7H), 1.21 – 1.16 (m, 1H). <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  175.8 (d, *J* = 287.7 Hz), 164.3, 97.0 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz), 60.2, 41.7 (d, *J* = 22.2 Hz), 29.4 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 25.8, 25.7, 14.4. <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -85.3 (dd, *J* = 34.3, 14.9 Hz). **HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>18</sub>FO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 201.1285, found: 201.1288. **IR** (neat) 2981, 2932, 2858, 1728, 1712, 1675, 1199, 1140, 1041, 910 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (Z)-3-fluoro-4,4-dimethylpent-2-enoate (**6b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:15  $Et_2O$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (62.0 mg, 71%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 5.20 (d, *J* = 34.4 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.26 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.15 (s, 9H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 178.7 (d, *J* = 289.4 Hz), 164.4, 95.8 (d, *J* = 6.1 Hz), 60.2, 36.0 (d, *J* = 21.5 Hz), 26.9 (d, *J* = 2.8 Hz), 14.3.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -89.8 (d, *J* = 34.2 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_9H_{16}FO_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 175.1129, found: 175.1124.

IR (neat) 2974, 2876, 1730, 1711, 1672, 1278, 1175, 1099, 1038 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (2*Z*, 4*E*)-3-fluoroocta-2,4-dienoate (7**b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:24  $Et_2O$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a light yellow oil (64.0 mg, 69%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  6.44 (dt, *J* = 15.6, 7.1 Hz, 1H), 5.82 (dd, *J* = 24.1, 15.6 Hz, 1H), 5.14 (d, *J* = 32.6 Hz, 1H), 4.17 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.17 – 2.13 (m, 2H), 1.45 (h, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 1.26 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.91 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.1 (d, *J* = 277.7 Hz), 164.4 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 141.1 (d, *J* = 5.0 Hz), 121.6 (d, *J* = 20.9 Hz), 98.8 (d, *J* = 6.4 Hz), 60.2, 34.7, 21.8, 14.3, 13.7.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -101.1 (dd, *J* = 32.6, 24.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_{10}H_{16}FO_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 187.1129, found: 187.1121.

**IR** (neat) 2962, 2934, 2875, 1721, 1704, 1658, 1627, 1229, 1136, 1037, 966 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (Z)-3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-3-fluoroacrylate (**8b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:15  $Et_2O$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a light yellow oil (63.0 mg, 64%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 6.61 – 6.58 (m, 1H), 5.23 (d, *J* = 34.2 Hz, 4H), 4.18 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 6H), 2.23 – 2.18 (m, 8H), 2.06 (q, *J* = 4.7, 3.0 Hz, 9H), 1.72 – 1.65 (m, 9H), 1.63 – 1.56 (m, 10H), 1.27 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 8H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 166.8 (d, J = 277.8 Hz), 164.7, 133.8 (d, J = 8.8 Hz), 128.5 (d, J = 17.5 Hz), 95.3 (d, J = 6.9 Hz), 60.2, 25.8, 23.8 (d, J = 2.8 Hz), 22.0, 21.5, 14.4. <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -101.2 (d, J = 34.7 Hz). **HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>16</sub>FO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 199.1129, found: 199.1126. **IR** (neat) 2981, 2935, 2864, 1723, 1700, 1642, 1320, 1249,1150, 1044, 731 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(Z)-3-fluoro-1-(4-methylphenyl)hept-2-en-1-one (**9b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:15  $Et_2O$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a light yellow oil (68.0 mg, 62%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.79 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 6.04 (d, *J* = 34.3 Hz, 1H), 2.40 (s, 3H), 2.36 (dt, *J* = 17.0, 7.7 Hz, 2H), 1.61 (p, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.47 – 1.38 (m, 2H), 0.95 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 188.5, 170.8 (d, *J* = 286.9 Hz), 143.6, 135.9, 129.3, 128.6, 103.7 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz), 33.1 (d, *J* = 24.0 Hz), 27.9, 22.2, 21.7, 13.8.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -81.4 (dt, *J* = 34.3, 17.4 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_{14}H_{18}FO^+[M+H]^+$ : 221.1336, found: 221.1333.

**IR** (neat) 2959, 2932, 2872, 1679, 1629, 1605, 1572, 1237, 1181, 895, 732 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(Z)-3-fluoro-1-(furan-2-yl)heptadec-2-en-1-one (**10b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:1 \text{ CH}_2\text{Cl}_2$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a white solid (102.0 mg, 61%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.56 – 7.55 (m, 1H), 7.18 (d, *J* = 3.5 Hz, 1H), 6.52 (dd, *J* = 3.6, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.11 (d, *J* = 33.7 Hz, 1H), 2.34 (dt, *J* = 17.3, 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.61 (p, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.42 – 1.21 (m, 23H), 0.87 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 176.1, 172.4 (d, *J* = 291.2 Hz), 153.5, 146.2, 116.9, 112.6, 102.4 (d, *J* = 3.2 Hz), 33.6 (d, *J* = 23.2 Hz), 32.0, 29.8, 29.8, 29.8, 29.8, 29.7, 29.6, 29.5, 29.4, 29.0, 25.9 (d, *J* = 1.5 Hz), 22.8, 14.2.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -79.1 (dt, *J* = 34.3, 17.4 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_{21}H_{34}FO_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 337.2537, found: 337.2537.

IR (neat) 3123, 3094, 2953, 2914, 2849, 1690, 1628, 1469, 1399, 1276, 1018, 890, 750 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(Z)-4-fluoronon-3-en-2-one (11b)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:10  $Et_2O$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless liquid (47.5 mg, 60%; *Z*:*E* = 99:1).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  5.30 (d, *J* = 38.4 Hz, 1H), 2.33 (d, *J* = 3.9 Hz, 3H), 2.31 – 2.22 (m, 2H), 1.58 – 1.50 (m, 2H), 1.33 – 1.29 (m, 4H), 0.88 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H). <sup>13</sup>**C** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  196.7, 171.9 (d, *J* = 283.3 Hz), 109.3 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz), 32.9 (d, *J* = 25.2 Hz), 31.2 (d, *J* = 6.3 Hz), 31.1, 25.4 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz), 22.4, 13.9.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -80.1 (dtd, *J* = 38.8, 17.5, 4.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_9H_{16}FO^+[M+H]^+$ : 159.1180, found: 159.1184.

**IR** (neat) 2959, 2932, 2864, 1667, 1364, 1250, 910, 732 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(*Z*)-3-fluoro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylpent-2-enamide (**12b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:4 \rightarrow 1:2$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (58.0 mg, 72%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 5.61 (d, *J* = 33.8 Hz, 1H), 3.65 (s, 3H), 3.17 (s, 3H), 2.29 (dq, *J* = 14.9, 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.16 – 1.10 (m, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 171.5 (d, *J* = 284.8 Hz), 164.6, 96.0, 61.5, 32.1, 26.5 (d, *J* = 25.3 Hz), 10.3 (d, *J* = 3.9 Hz).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -85.5 (bs).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>13</sub>FNO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 162.0925, found: 162.0928.

IR (neat) 2977, 2941, 2246, 1686, 1647, 1378, 1181, 1104, 1060, 978, 878, 811, 730 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(Z)-3-fluoro-*N*-phenylhept-2-enamide (13b)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $3:7 \rightarrow 2:1$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a white solid (61.4 mg, 56%).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.12 (d, *J* = 11.7 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.10 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 5.26 (d, *J* = 38.3 Hz, 1H), 2.30 (dt, *J* = 18.3, 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.55 (p, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.39 (h, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 0.93 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 168.1 (d, *J* = 273.0 Hz), 161.7, 137.9, 129.0, 124.4, 120.2, 103.7 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz), 32.3 (d, *J* = 25.9 Hz), 27.7 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 22.0, 13.7 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -88.6 (dtd, *J* = 37.5, 18.3, 11.8 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>17</sub>FNO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 222.1289, found: 222.1281.

IR (neat) 3274, 3138, 2956, 1689, 1646, 1599, 1550, 1441, 1375, 1310, 1253, 1151, 900, 752, 688 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(Z)-3-fluoro-1-(piperidin-1-yl)oct-2-en-1one (14b)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:3 \rightarrow 4:1$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (65.4 mg, 57%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  5.18 (d, *J* = 38.5 Hz, 1H), 3.55 (t, *J* = 5.6 Hz, 2H), 3.39 (t, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 2H), 2.20 (dt, *J* = 15.8, 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.63 – 1.59 (m, 2H), 1.56 – 1.49 (m, 6H), 1.32 – 1.27 (m, 4H), 0.86 (t, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 164.1 (d, *J* = 269.0 Hz), 163.2, 100.4 (d, *J* = 13.9 Hz), 47.9, 42.4, 32.2 (d, *J* = 25.7 Hz), 31.1, 26.5, 25.5, 25.4 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 24.6, 22.4, 14.0.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -92.4 (dt, *J* = 38.4, 16.4 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>23</sub>FNO<sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 228.1758, found: 228.1761.

**IR** (neat) 3067, 2932, 2857, 1690, 1623, 1439, 1254, 1227, 1025, 729 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(Z)-3-fluoro-6-phenylhex-2-enenitrile (**15b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:3 \rightarrow 4:1$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (46.5 mg, 49%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.32 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.25 – 7.21 (m, 1H), 7.17 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 4.77 (d, *J* = 32.6 Hz, 1H), 2.69 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.35 (dt, *J* = 15.9, 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.91 (p, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 177.6 (d, *J* = 285.1 Hz), 140.4, 128.7, 128.5, 126.5, 112.9 (d, *J* = 3.2 Hz), 79.1 (d, *J* = 13.8 Hz), 34.7, 31.6 (d, *J* = 22.0 Hz), 26.8 (d, *J* = 1.4 Hz).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -85.9 (dt, *J* = 33.1, 16.7 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>34</sub>FO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 337.2537, found: 337.2537.

**IR** (neat) 3085, 2939, 2231, 1669, 1496, 1454, 1333, 1176, 910, 886, 732, 699 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (Z)-3-fluoro-3-phenylacrylate (**16b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:30  $Et_2O$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (63.0 mg, 65%).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>14c</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.65 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.47 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 5.90 (d, J = 33.3 Hz, 1H), 4.25 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.33 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H). <sup>19</sup>**F** NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -97.1 (d, J = 33.3 Hz).

ethyl (*Z*)-3-(4-(*tert*-butyl)phenyl)-3-fluoroacrylate (**17b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:15 \rightarrow 1:12$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a light yellow oil (98.5 mg, 79%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.58 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.44 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 5.86 (d, *J* = 33.5 Hz, 1H), 4.25 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.34 – 1.31 (m, 12H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.6 (d, *J* = 277.2 Hz), 164.3 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 155.3, 127.9 (d, *J* = 26.0 Hz), 125.9 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz), 125.6 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz), 96.4 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz), 60.4, 35.1, 31.2, 14.4.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -97.0 (d, *J* = 33.2 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>20</sub>FO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 251.1442, found: 251.1443.

IR (neat) 3083, 2964, 1721, 1702, 1653, 1331, 1283, 1269, 1158, 1110, 828, 731 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (*Z*)-3-fluoro-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)acrylate (**18b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:15 \rightarrow 1:12$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (89.0 mg, 79%).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.58 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 6.91 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 5.76 (d, *J* = 33.7 Hz, 1H), 4.23 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 1.31 (t, *J* = 7.1, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.6 (d, *J* = 276.2 Hz), 164.4 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 162.3, 127.5 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz), 123.0 (d, *J* = 26.3 Hz), 114.4 (d, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 95.2 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz), 60.3, 55.5, 14.4.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -96.7 (d, *J* = 32.9 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>14</sub>FO<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 225.0921, found: 225.0920.

**IR** (neat) 2980, 2936, 1717, 1648, 1605, 1513, 1287, 1255, 1151, 1023, 826, 729 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (*Z*)-3-fluoro-3-(2-methylphenyl)acrylate (**19b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:1:24 CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>:Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (55.0 mg, 53%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.41 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.37 – 7.33 (m, 1H), 7.24 – 7.21 (m, 2H), 5.57 (d, *J* = 32.0 Hz, 1H), 4.25 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.45 (d, *J* = 3.5 Hz, 3H), 1.33 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  168.6 (d, *J* = 283.4 Hz), 164.0 (d, *J* = 2.9 Hz), 137.3, 131.3, 131.0, 129.1 (d, *J* = 5.7 Hz), 126.1, 101.7 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz), 60.5, 20.7 (d, *J* = 3.9 Hz), 14.4.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -78.5 (dd, *J* = 31.8, 4.0 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>14</sub>FO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 209.0972, found: 209.0970.

IR (neat) 3087, 2981, 2934, 1724, 1707, 1658, 1324, 1264, 1154, 1045, 1024, 835, 766, 725 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (*Z*)-3-fluoro-3-(4-fluorophenyl)acrylate (**20b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:15 \text{ Et}_2\text{O}$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a white solid (80.5 mg, 77%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.65 – 7.61 (m, 2H), 7.10 (t, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 5.82 (d, *J* = 33.3 Hz, 1H), 4.23 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.31 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.5, 165.4 (d, *J* = 277.0 Hz), 164.1 – 163.3 (m), 128.0 (t, *J* = 8.4 Hz), 127.0 (dd, *J* = 26.9, 3.3 Hz), 116.2 (dd, *J* = 22.3, 1.7 Hz), 97.2 (dd, *J* = 6.8, 1.5 Hz), 60.5, 14.3.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -96.6 (d, *J* = 33.6 Hz, 1F), -108.3 - -108.4 (m, 1F).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_{11}H_{11}F_2O_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 213.0722, found: 213.0721.

IR (neat) 3093, 2984, 1720, 1655, 1604, 1510, 1281, 1237, 1157, 1105, 1056, 894, 830 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (*Z*)-3-fluoro-3-(4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)acrylate (**21b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:15  $Et_2O$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a colorless oil (96.0 mg, 73%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.75 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.68 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 5.97 (d, *J* = 32.9 Hz, 1H), 4.26 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.32 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  164.5 (d, *J* = 277.4 Hz), 163.6 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 134.2 (d, *J* = 26.9 Hz), 133.2 (q, *J* = 33.0 Hz), 126.1 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz), 126.0 – 126.0 (m), 122.8 (q, *J* = 272.7 Hz), 99.4 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz), 60.8, 14.3.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -64.2 (s, 3F), -98.2 (d, *J* = 32.4 Hz, 1F).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_{12}H_{11}F_4O_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 263.0690, found: 263.0697.

IR (neat) 3089, 2986, 1723, 1659, 1414, 1320, 1279, 1165, 1127, 1114, 1068, 1013, 833 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (*Z*)-3-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-3-fluoroacrylate (**22b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:15 Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a white solid (93.0 mg, 71%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.71 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.50 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.45 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 5.88 (d, *J* = 32.9 Hz, 1H), 4.25 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.32 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  163.8 (d, *J* = 277.2 Hz), 163.5 (d, *J* = 2.4 Hz), 136.0, 133.6 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 131.1 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 130.7 (d, *J* = 27.6 Hz), 127.5 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz), 124.7 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz), 98.8 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz), 60.8, 14.3.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -98.3 (d, *J* = 33.0 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_{11}H_{10}Cl_2FO_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 263.0036, found: 263.0038.

**IR** (neat) 3100, 2990, 2911, 1700, 1656, 1468, 1395, 1330, 1274, 1253, 1024, 847, 816, 764 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

ethyl (Z)-3-fluoro-3-(thiophen-2-yl)acrylate (**23b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:15 \text{ Et}_2\text{O}$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a white solid (80.0 mg, 80%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.46 – 7.45 (m, 1H), 7.45 – 7.43 (m, 1H), 7.09 – 7.06 (m, 1H), 5.71 (d, *J* = 32.7 Hz, 1H), 4.22 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.30 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 163.8 (d, *J* = 2.7 Hz), 161.7 (d, *J* = 274.0 Hz), 133.9 (d, *J* = 31.7 Hz), 129.6, 128.7 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz), 128.3, 96.1 (d, *J* = 6.5 Hz), 60.5, 14.3.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -92.0 (d, *J* = 32.7 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_9H_{10}FO_2S^+[M+H]^+$ : 201.0380, found: 201.0377.

IR (neat) 3094, 2981, 1715, 1699, 1642, 1368, 1264, 1226, 1150, 1038, 824, 707 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(Z)-3-fluoro-1,3-diphenylprop-2-en-1-one (**24b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:12 Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a yellow oil (74.0 mg, 66%).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>11a</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.98 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 7.77 – 7.72 (m, 2H), 7.58 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.53 – 7.45 (m, 5H), 6.80 (d, *J* = 34.2 Hz, 1H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -98.3 (d, *J* = 34.2 Hz).

(Z)-3-fluoro-1,3-diphenylprop-2-en-1-one (**25b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:12 Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a yellow oil (74.0 mg, 54%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.64 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.47 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.42 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 6.06 (d, *J* = 38.9 Hz, 1H), 2.65 (dd, *J* = 6.9, 2.1 Hz, 2H), 2.26 - 2.18 (m, 1H), 0.97 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 6H).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 198.7 (d, J = 2.7 Hz), 164.7 (d, J = 274.1 Hz), 131.6, 130.7 (d, J = 27.5 Hz), 129.0 (d, J = 2.1 Hz), 125.8 (d, J = 8.0 Hz), 106.7 (d, J = 9.5 Hz), 52.8 (d, J = 5.0 Hz), 24.9 (d, J = 1.4 Hz), 22.8. <sup>19</sup>F NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -128.2 (d, J = 38.6 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_{13}H_{16}FO^+[M+H]^+: 207.1180$ , found: 207.1185.

**IR** (neat) 3066, 2957, 2871, 1639, 1619, 1578, 1325, 1286, 1191, 1003, 766, 687 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(Z)-4-fluoro-4-phenylbut-3-en-2-one (**26b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:10 \text{ Et}_2\text{O}$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a white solid (49.0 mg, 60%).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>14e</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.66 – 7.62 (m, 2H), 7.53 – 7.40 (m, 3H), 6.06 (d, *J* = 38.6 Hz, 1H), 2.48 (d, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (376 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -97.6 (dd, *J* = 38.6, 3.5 Hz).

(Z)-3-fluoro-3-phenylacrylaldehyde (**27b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with 1:15  $Et_2O$ :hexanes) afforded the desired product as a yellow solid (423.0 mg, 63%).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>11a</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 10.18 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.69 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.53 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.47 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 6.09 (dd, J = 33.8, 7.6 Hz, 1H). <sup>19</sup>**F** NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -106.0 (d, J = 33.7 Hz).

 $^{-5}$  **F** INMIR (S0S INIHZ, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 0 -100.0 (d, j = 33.7 HZ).

(*Z*)-3-fluoro-3-phenyl-1-(piperidin-1-yl)prop-2-en-1-one (**28b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $3:1 \rightarrow 9:1$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a white solid (75.0 mg, 64%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.59 – 7.56 (m, 2H), 7.40 – 7.38 (m, 3H), 5.97 (d, *J* = 38.4 Hz, 1H), 3.65 (t, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 2H), 3.49 (t, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 2H), 1.69 – 1.63 (m, 2H), 1.60 (h, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 4H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 163.1, 159.5 (d, *J* = 260.2 Hz), 131.0 (d, *J* = 28.0 Hz), 130.4, 128.8 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 125.0 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz), 99.6 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz), 48.0 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 42.7, 26.7, 25.6, 24.7.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -107.4 (d, *J* = 39.3 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>17</sub>FNO<sup>+</sup>[M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 234.1289, found: 234.1288.

**IR** (neat) 3062, 2935, 2856, 1663, 1611, 1436, 1246, 1164, 1006, 871, 765 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(*Z*)-3-fluoro-3-(4-methylphenyl)acrylonitrile (**29b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:24 \rightarrow 1:15$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a white solid (54.6 mg, 68%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.50 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 5.36 (d, *J* = 32.9 Hz, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 171.9 (d, *J* = 274.3 Hz), 143.7, 129.9 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 125.7 (d, *J* = 24.4 Hz), 125.5 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz), 113.9, 75.5 (d, *J* = 16.0 Hz), 21.7.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -91.0 (d, *J* = 33.0 Hz).

**HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for  $C_{10}H_9FN^+[M+H]^+$ : 162.0714, found: 162.0709.

**IR** (neat) 3077, 2922, 2218, 1642, 1605, 1514, 1330, 1075, 822, 774 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(*Z*)-3-fluoro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylacrylamide (**30b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $1:1 \rightarrow 3:1$  Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) afforded the desired product as a yellow oil (74.2 mg, 71%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.66 – 7.59 (m, 2H), 7.44 – 7.38 (m, 3H), 6.37 (d, *J* = 33.5 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.24 (s, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 164.9 (d, *J* = 275.1 Hz), 164.4, 131.3 (d, *J* = 26.6 Hz), 131.0, 128.8 (d, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 125.5 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz), 95.5, 61.7, 32.2.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -101.7 (d, *J* = 34.0 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{11}H_{13}FNO_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 210.0925, found: 210.0926.

**IR** (neat) 3065, 2937, 1667, 1632, 1495, 1376, 1177, 995, 766 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

(*Z*)-3-fluoro-*N*-methyl-*N*-(naphthalen-1-ylmethyl)-3-phenylacrylamide (**31b**)



Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, eluting with  $0:1 \rightarrow 1:13$  EtOAc:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) afforded the desired product as a yellow oil (344.3 mg, 55%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (mixture of rotamers, 600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.18 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.87 (dd, J = 13.2, 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.81 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1.5H), 7.61 – 7.24 (m, 14H), 6.09 (d, J = 37.4 Hz, 1H), 6.08 (d, J = 35.9 Hz, 0.5H), 5.17 (s, 2H), 5.08 (s, 1H), 3.07 (s, 1.4H), 2.91 (s, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 165.1, 164.4, 161.8 (d, *J* = 265.5 Hz), 160.6 (d, *J* = 263.1 Hz), 133.8, 133.7, 132.1, 131.6, 131.4, 130.8 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz), 130.6 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz), 130.4, 130.4, 128.9, 128.6 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 128.5, 128.4, 128.2, 126.9, 126.5, 125.9, 125.9, 125.5, 125.1, 125.0 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz), 124.9 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz), 123.8, 123.6, 122.1, 99.2 (d, *J* = 14.4 Hz), 98.6 (d, *J* = 13.1 Hz), 51.7, 48.1, 34.9 (d, *J* = 2.4 Hz), 33.4.
<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (mixture of rotamers, 565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -104.1 (d, J = 35.9 Hz, 0.5F), -105.3 (d, J = 37.4 Hz, 1F). **HRMS** (APCI+) calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>19</sub>FNO<sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 320.1445, found: 320.1449. **IR** (neat) 3059, 924, 1664, 1610, 1579, 1398, 1115, 1044, 791, 763, 731, 688, 596 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

1.4.5 Procedures for Derivatizations of Fluorinated Michael Acceptors

Reduction of ester (**3b**):



Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>17</sup> Ester (**3b**) (405 mg, 2.32 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added to 25-mL Schlenk flask containing  $CH_2Cl_2$  (4.6 mL, 0.5 M). The reaction vessel was placed in an ice water bath and the reaction mixture was allowed to reach 0 °C before the dropwise addition (9 minutes) of DIBAL-H (1.0 M in hexanes, 6.17 mL, 6.17 mmol, 2.5 equiv). After stirring for 45 min at 0 °C, 3.5 M HCl (4 mL) was added dropwise. The reaction was transferred to a separatory funnel and diluted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  (40 mL) and 3.5 M HCl (40 mL). The phases were separated and the aqueous layer extracted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  (3 x 40 mL). The organics were dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, concentrated, and the crude residue purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:1 Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes) to afford **1c**, (*Z*)-3-fluorohept-2-en-1-ol, as a colorless oil (267.0 mg, 87%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 4.81 (dt, J = 37.2, 7.1 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (d, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.39 (bs, 1H), 2.17 (dt, J = 17.5, 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.52 – 1.44 (m, 2H), 1.35 (h, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 0.91 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H). <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 162.2 (d, J = 257.9 Hz), 105.1 (d, J = 13.4 Hz), 55.6 (d, J = 7.8 Hz), 31.9 (d, J = 27.0 Hz), 28.5 (d, J = 1.6 Hz), 22.4, 13.9. <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ -106.1 (dt, J = 36.2, 17.6 Hz). **HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>14</sub>FO<sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 133.1023, found: 133.1022. **IR** (neat) 3316, 2959, 2933, 2874, 1706, 1159, 1073, 1006, 972 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

Witting olefination of aldehyde (**27b**):



Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>18</sup> To a suspension of methyltriphenylphosphonium bromide (137 mg, 0.375 mmol, 1.25 equiv) in THF (1.9 mL, 0.2 M wrt Ph-<sub>3</sub>PMeBr) at 0 °C was added "BuLi (2.5 M in hexanes, 150  $\mu$ L, 0.375 mmol, 1.25 equiv) dropwise. The reaction was stirred for 20 min before **27b** (45 mg, 0.3 mmol, 1.0 equiv) in a solution of THF (300  $\mu$ L, 1.0 M wrt **27b**) was added dropwise (4 min). After stirring at 0 °C for 1 h, the reaction was warmed to rt and stirred for another hour before the addition of saturated NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1 mL). The reaction mixture was transferred to a separatory funnel and diluted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (40 mL) and NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (40 mL). The phases were separated and the aqueous layer extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 40 mL). The organics were washed with brine (120 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, concentrated, and the crude residue purified by silica gel column chromatography (hexanes) to afford **2c**, (*Z*)-(1-fluorobuta-1,3-dien-1-yl)benzene, as a colorless oil (29.0 mg, 65%). <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 6.83 (dt, *J* = 17.2, 10.6 Hz, 1H), 6.12 (dd, *J* = 35.1, 10.8 Hz, 1H), 5.36 (d, *J* = 17.1 Hz, 1H), 5.18 (d, *J* = 10.2 Hz, 1H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  156.9 (d, *J* = 255.4 Hz), 132.1 (d, *J* = 27.7 Hz), 129.2, 129.0 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz), 128.7 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 124.3 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz), 117.5 (d, *J* = 3.4 Hz), 107.1 (d, *J* = 13.8 Hz).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -118.5 (d, *J* = 35.0 Hz).

**HRMS** (EI+) calc'd for  $C_{10}H_9F$ : 148.0688, found: 148.0686.

IR (neat) 3089, 3061, 2925, 1649, 1494, 1449, 1320, 1281, 1009, 992, 901, 760, 603 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

Cycloaddition of ester (5b):



Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>19a</sup> To a solution of **5b** (60 mg, 0.3 mmol, 1.0 equiv) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (1 mL, 0.3 M) at -10 °C (ice-acetone slurry) was added trifluoroacetic acid (6  $\mu$ L, 22 mol%) followed by dropwise addition of ylide<sup>46</sup> (214 mg, 0.9 mmol, 3.0 equiv). The reaction was warmed to rt. Addition ylide and TFA were added after 7 h (0.3 mmol ylide and 11 mol% TFA), 23 h (1.5 mmol ylide and 22 mol%) TFA), 32 h (0.6 mmol ylide and 11 mol% TFA), 44 h (500  $\mu$ L CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 2.0 mmol ylide, and 33 mol% TFA), and 53 h (1.5 mmol ylide and 11 mol% TFA). After 55 h, the reaction mixture was transferred to a separatory funnel with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (100 mL), washed with saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (100 mL) and brine (100 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:7 EtOAc:hexanes) to afford **3c**, ethyl 1-benzyl-4-cyclohexyl-4-fluoropyrrolidine-3-carboxylate, as a colorless oil (61 mg, 61%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.35 – 7.30 (m, 4H), 7.27 – 7.24 (m, 1H), 4.26 – 4.11 (m, 2H), 3.73 (d, *J* = 13.1 Hz, 1H), 3.62 (d, *J* = 13.1 Hz, 1H), 3.19 – 3.10 (m, 2H), 2.98 (dd, *J* = 25.8, 11.2 Hz, 1H), 2.84 (tt, *J* = 6.7, 3.2 Hz, 1H), 2.68 (dd, *J* = 28.9, 11.2 Hz, 1H), 1.99 (d, *J* = 12.7 Hz, 1H), 1.92 (dt, *J* = 15.3, 12.3 Hz, 1H), 1.84 – 1.76 (m, 3H), 1.69 (d, *J* = 12.3 Hz, 1H), 1.31 – 0.94 (m, 9H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 169.7 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz), 138.7, 128.7, 128.4, 127.2, 105.9 (d, *J* = 183.8 Hz), 61.4 (d, *J* = 25.8 Hz), 60.8, 60.1, 54.8, 49.2 (d, *J* = 22.1 Hz), 43.9 (d, *J* = 23.4 Hz), 27.7 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz), 27.1 (d, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 26.3 (d, *J* = 10.7 Hz), 26.2, 14.3.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -153.3 (tq, *J* = 25.6, 13.7 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>29</sub>FNO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>: 334.2177, found: 334.2173.

**IR** (neat) 3063, 3029, 2928, 2854, 2799, 1451, 1371, 1231, 1179, 1027, 911, 732, 699 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

Reduction of amide (**31b**), generation of fluorine containing analog of Exoderil:



Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>20</sup> In a nitrogen-filled glovebox, to a solution of **31b** (173.0 mg, 0.54 mmol, 1 equiv) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (17.2 mL, 0.031 M) was added 2,6-di-*tert*-butylpryidine (362  $\mu$ L, 1.61 mmol, 2.92 equiv) followed by the portionwise addition (3 min) of trimethyloxonium tetrafluoroborate (216 mg, 1.46 mmol, 2.65 equiv). The reaction mixture was stirred for 23 h at rt, removed from the glovebox, placed under nitrogen from a Schlenk line, and submerged into an ice-acetone slurry (-10 °C). Anhydrous methanol (5.8 mL) was added dropwise (4 min) and the reaction was stirred for 10 min. Sodium borohydride (219 mg, 5.67 mmol, 10.3 equiv) was added in equal portions over 5 min and the reaction mixture stirred for 45 min at -10 °C. Saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (15 mL) was added dropwise to the chilled reaction mixture. The biphasic mixture was diluted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (100 mL) and saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (50 mL) and the layers separated. The aqueous phase was extracted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (3 x 70 mL), the organics combined, dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:15 EtOAc:hexanes) to afford **4c**, as a yellow oil (93.2 mg, 56%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.34 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.88 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.81 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.58 – 7.54 (m, 3H), 7.53 – 7.47 (m, 2H), 7.44 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.39 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.37 – 7.34 (m, 1H), 5.66 (dt, *J* = 37.1, 7.3 Hz, 1H), 4.00 (s, 2H), 3.45 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 2.34 (s, 3H).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 158.6 (d, *J* = 249.3 Hz), 134.9, 134.0, 132.6, 132.4 (d, *J* = 29.1 Hz), 129.0, 128.6, 128.6, 128.1, 127.6, 126.0, 125.7, 125.3, 124.7, 124.3 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz), 103.1 (d, *J* = 15.3 Hz), 60.2, 51.5 (d, *J* = 4.4 Hz), 42.5.

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -118.8 (d, *J* = 37.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{21}H_{21}FN^+$ : 306.1653, found: 306.1651.

**IR** (neat) 3058, 3043, 2928, 2837, 2790, 1679, 1447, 1364, 1279, 1016, 980, 791, 774, 760, 689 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

## 1.4.6 Spectra Data

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>)





<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)



10.5 10.0 9.5 9.0 8.5 8.0 7.5 7.0 6.5 6.0 5.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 3.5 3.0 2.5 2.0 1.5 1.0 0.5 0.0 -0.5 -1.0 ppm















<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)













<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)





<sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)





<sup>19</sup>F NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)





51

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)







<sup>19</sup>F NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)











50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 ppm







40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
ppm														





<sup>19</sup>F NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)



-66	-68	-70	-72	-74	-76	-78	-80	-82	-84	-86	-88	-90	-92	-94	-96	-98	-100	-102	-10
ppm																			






<u> </u>															
0	40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
							pp	om							







50	40	30	20	10	0	-10	-20	-30	-40	-50	-60	-70	-80	-90	-100	-110	-120	-130	-140	-150	-160	-170	-180
											ppr	n											





<sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)





<sup>19</sup>F NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)





50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 ppm









50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 ppm







<sup>19</sup>F NMR (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)

F 0

11b









0	40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
							F	opm							







40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
						F	opm							



10.0 9.5 9.0 8.5 8.0 7.5 7.0 6.5 6.0 5.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 3.5 3.0 2.5 2.0 1.5 1.0 0.5 0.0 -0.5 -1.0 ppm





40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
						F	opm							









30	10	-10	-30	-50	-70	-90	-110	-130	-150	-170	-190	-210	-230	-250
							ppm							













· · ·															
30	40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
							pp	m							







50	40	30	20	10	0	-10	-20	-30	-40	-50	-60	-70	-80	-90	-100	-110	-120	-130	-140	-150	-160	-170	-180
											pp	m											
















40 20 0 -20 -40 -60 -80 -100 -120 -140 -160 -180 -200 -220 -24



<sup>19</sup>F NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)



-82	-83	-84	-85	-86	-87	-88	-89	-90	-91	-92	-93	-94	-95	-96	-97	-98	-99	-100	-101	-102	-103	-104	-105	-106
												nqq	ו											









	10		50					450	470				0.50	
10	-10	-30	-50	-70	-90	-110	-130	-150	-170	-190	-210	-230	-250	-27
						p	pm							





1 . 1				1 . 1 .	1 . 1 .			1 . 1 .				1 2 1 2 1		1 1 1 1	
0	40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
							р	pm							







<sup>19</sup>F NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)



40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
						I	opm							







40	20	0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-24
						A L	opm							















10 0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190 ppm







_			
	n	n	m
	P	μ	

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)

1.30 1.128 1









10	-10	 -30	-{	50	 -70	-90	-110		-130	-150	-170	-190	-210	-230	-250	-27
								ppn	n							

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)







1	1 . 1 .		1		1 . 1 .	1 . 1 .							/ · · · ·	
0	-20	-40	-60	-80	-100	-120	-140	-160	-180	-200	-220	-240	-260	-28
						р	pm							

## 1.5 References

1.(a) Bizet, V.; Besset, T.; Ma, J. A.; Cahard, D., Recent progress in asymmetric fluorination and trifluoromethylation reactions. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* **2014**, *14* (7), 901-40;(b) Purser, S.; Moore, P. R.; Swallow, S.; Gouverneur, V., Fluorine in medicinal chemistry. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2008**, *37* (2), 320-30;(c) Hagmann, W. K., The many roles for fluorine in medicinal chemistry. *J. Med. Chem.* **2008**, *51* (15), 4359-69;(d) Muller, K.; Faeh, C.; Diederich, F., Fluorine in pharmaceuticals: looking beyond intuition. *Science* **2007**, *317* (5846), 1881-6;(e) Takashi, Y.; Takeo, T.; Iwao, O., Unique Properties of Fluorine and their Relevance to Medicinal Chemistry and Chemical Biology. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: Chichester, UK, 2009; p 3-46.

2.(a) Dolbier, W. R., Fluorine chemistry at the millennium. *J. Fluor. Chem.* **2005**, *126* (2), 157-163;(b) Thomas Braun, R. P. H., *Organometallic Fluorine Chemistry*. Spriinger International Publishing: New York, 2015; Vol. 52.

3.Wang, J.; Sanchez-Rosello, M.; Acena, J. L.; del Pozo, C.; Sorochinsky, A. E.; Fustero, S.; Soloshonok, V. A.; Liu, H., Fluorine in pharmaceutical industry: fluorine-containing drugs introduced to the market in the last decade (2001-2011). *Chem. Rev.* **2014**, *114* (4), 2432-506.

4.(a) Landelle, G.; Bergeron, M.; Turcotte-Savard, M. O.; Paquin, J. F., Synthetic approaches to monofluoroalkenes. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2011**, 40 (5), 2867-908;(b) Yanai, H.; Taguchi, T., Synthetic Methods for Fluorinated Olefins. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2011**, 2011 (30), 5939-5954.

5.Machleidt, H.; Wessendorf, R., Organische Fluorverbindungen, IV1). Carbonyl-Fluorolefinierungen. *Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie* **1964**, 674 (1), 1-10.

6.Zajc, B.; Kake, S., Exceptionally mild, high-yield synthesis of alpha-fluoro acrylates. *Org. Lett.* **2006**, *8* (20), 4457-60.

7.Welch, J. T.; Herbert, R. W., The stereoselective construction of (Z)-3-aryl-2-fluoroalkenoates. *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, 55 (16), 4782-4784.

8.Barma, D. K.; Kundu, A.; Zhang, H.; Mioskowski, C.; Falck, J. R., (Z)-alpha-haloacrylates: an exceptionally stereoselective preparation via Cr(II)-mediated olefination of aldehydes with trihaloacetates. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125* (11), 3218-9.

9.(a) Champagne, P. A.; Desroches, J.; Hamel, J. D.; Vandamme, M.; Paquin, J. F., Monofluorination of Organic Compounds: 10 Years of Innovation. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115* (17), 9073-174;(b) Jean-François, P.; Myriam, D.; Jean-Denys, H., Synthesis of Monofluoroalkenes: A Leap Forward. *Synthesis* **2018**, *50* (05), 881-955.

10.(a) Albert, P.; Cousseau, J., Tetrabutylammonium and polymer-supported dihydrogentrifluoride: new hydrofluorinating reagents for electrophilic alkynes. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1985**, (14);(b) Gorgues, A.; Stéphan, D.; Cousseau, J., Mono-hydrofluorination of electrophilic alkynes by the liquid biphasic CsF–H2O–DMF system (DMF = N,N-dimethylformamide). *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1989**, (19), 1493-1494;(c) Sano, K.; Fukuhara, T.; Hara, S., Regioselective synthesis of  $\beta$ -fluoro- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ketones by the reaction of  $\beta$ -diketones with DFMBA. *Journal of Fluorine Chemistry* **2009**, *130* (8), 708-713.

11.(a) Jingli, Z.; Liran, L.; Junxin, D.; Lianghu, G.; Bifeng, C.; Taolei, S.; Yuefa, G., Stereoselective One-Pot Sequential Dehydrochlorination/trans -Hydrofluorination Reaction of β-Chloro- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated Aldehydes or Ketones: Facile Access to (Z)- $\beta$ -Fluoro- $\beta$ -arylenals/ $\beta$ -Fluoro- $\beta$ -arylenones. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2017**, 359 (24), 4348-4358;(b) Hara, S.; Yoshida, M.; Kawakami, K., An Efficient Stereoselective Synthesis of (E)- $\beta$ -Fluoroalkenyliodonium Salts. *Synthesis* **2004**, 2004 (17), 2821-2824;(c) Yoshida, M.; Komata, A.; Hara, S., Stereoselective synthesis of fluoroalkenes via (Z)-2-fluoroalkenyliodonium salts. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62* (36), 8636-8645.

12.(a) McElroy, K. T.; Purrington, S. T.; Bumgardner, C. L.; Burgess, J. P., Lack of polymerization of fluorinated acrylates. *Journal of Fluorine Chemistry* **1999**, *95* (1-2), 117-120;(b) Krishnan, G.; Sampson, P., Synthesis of  $\beta$ -fluoro- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated esters and nitriles via a fluoro-pummerer rearrangement. *Tetrahedron Letters* **1990**, *31* (39), 5609-5612;(c) Patrick, T. B.; Neumann, J.; Tatro, A., Cycloaddition reactions of ethyl (E)- and (Z)-3-fluoropropenoate. *Journal of Fluorine Chemistry* **2011**, *132* (10), 779-782.

13.(a) Zhao, Y.; Jiang, F.; Hu, J., Spontaneous resolution of Julia-Kocienski intermediates facilitates phase separation to produce Z- and E-monofluoroalkenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137* (15), 5199-203;(b) Richard T, T.; F. Dean, T., Palladium-Catalyzed Defluorinative Coupling of 1-Aryl-2,2-Difluoroalkenes and Boronic Acids: Stereoselective Synthesis of Monofluorostilbenes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55* (38), 11629-11632;(c) Heiko, S.; Alois, F., Stereospecific Synthesis of Fluoroalkenes by Silver-Mediated Fluorination of Functionalized Alkenylstannanes. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2016**, *23* (3), 558-562;(d) Hu, J.; Han, X.; Yuan, Y.; Shi, Z., Stereoselective Synthesis of Z Fluoroalkenes through Copper-Catalyzed Hydrodefluorination of gem-Difluoroalkenes with Water. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2017**, *56* (43), 13342-13346.

14.(a) Akana, J. A.; Bhattacharyya, K. X.; Muller, P.; Sadighi, J. P., Reversible C-F bond formation and the Au-catalyzed hydrofluorination of alkynes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129* (25), 7736-7;(b) Gorske, B. C.; Mbofana, C. T.; Miller, S. J., Regio- and stereoselective synthesis of fluoroalkenes by directed Au(I) catalysis. *Org. Lett.* **2009**, *11* (19), 4318-21;(c) Li, Y.; Liu, X.; Ma, D.; Liu, B.; Jiang, H., Silver-Assisted Difunctionalization of Terminal Alkynes: Highly Regio- and Stereoselective Synthesis of Bromofluoroalkenes. *Advanced Synthesis & Catalysis* **2012**, *354* (14-15), 2683-2688;(d) Otome E, O.; Junbin, H.; Gerald B, H.; Bo, X., Designer HF-Based Fluorination Reagent: Highly Regioselective Synthesis of Fluoroalkenes and gem-Difluoromethylene Compounds from Alkynes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (41), 14381-14384;(e) Nahra, F.; Patrick, S. R.; Bello, D.; Brill, M.; Obled, A.; Cordes, D. B.; Slawin, A. M.; O'Hagan, D.; Nolan, S. P., Hydrofluorination of Alkynes Catalysed by Gold Bifluorides. *ChemCatChem* **2015**, *7* (2), 240-244;(f) Xiaojun, Z.; Shiwen, L.; Gerald B, H.; Bo, X., Divergent Regio- and Stereoselective Gold-catalyzed Synthesis of a-Fluorosulfones and β-Fluorovinylsulfones from Alkynylsulfones. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2017**, *23* (49), 11977-11981;(g) Javier, M.; Carlos, d. P., Fluorine and Gold: A Fruitful Partnership. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116* (19), 11924-11966;(h) Matthew N, H.; Antony D, G.; Véronique, G., Gold Catalysis and Fluorine. Isr. J. Chem. **2010**, *50* (5-6), 675-690.

15.Bartolomé, C.; Ramiro, Z.; Peñas-Defrutos, M. N.; Espinet, P., Some Singular Features of Gold Catalysis: Protection of Gold(I) Catalysts by Substoichiometric Agents and Associated Phenomena. *ACS Catalysis* **2016**, *6* (10), 6537-6545.

16.(a) Deepika, M.; Gerald B, H.; Bo, X., *Ligand Design in Gold Catalysis and Chemistry of Gold–Oxonium Intermediates*. Springer, Cham: 2014; p 1-23;(b) David J, G.; Benjamin D, S.; F. Dean, T., Ligand Effects in Homogeneous Au Catalysis. *Chem. Rev.* **2008**, *108* (8), 3351-3378.

17.Konno, T.; Ikemoto, A.; Ishihara, T., A new entry to the construction of a quaternary carbon center having a fluorine atom--S(N)2' reaction of gamma-fluoroallylic alcohol derivatives with various cyanocuprates. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2012**, *10* (40), 8154-63.

18.Zhu, S.; Guo, Z.; Huang, Z.; Jiang, H., Bioinspired intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction: a rapid access to the highly-strained cyclopropane-fused polycyclic skeleton. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2014**, *20* (9), 2425-30.

19.(a) Mason, J. M.; Murkin, A. S.; Li, L.; Schramm, V. L.; Gainsford, G. J.; Skelton, B. W., A beta-fluoroamine inhibitor of purine nucleoside phosphorylase. *J. Med. Chem.* **2008**, *51* (18), 5880-4;(b)
McAlpine, I.; Tran-Dube, M.; Wang, F.; Scales, S.; Matthews, J.; Collins, M. R.; Nair, S. K.; Nguyen, M.; Bian, J.; Alsina, L. M.; Sun, J.; Zhong, J.; Warmus, J. S.; O'Neill, B. T., Synthesis of Small 3-Fluoro- and 3,3-Difluoropyrrolidines Using Azomethine Ylide Chemistry. *J. Org. Chem.* **2015**, *80* (14), 7266-74.

20.Deiters, A.; Chen, K.; Eary, C. T.; Martin, S. F., Biomimetic entry to the sarpagan family of indole alkaloids: total synthesis of +-geissoschizine and +-N-methylvellosimine. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125* (15), 4541-50.

21.(a) Kuroda, H.; Hanaki, E.; Izawa, H.; Kano, M.; Itahashi, H., A convenient method for the preparation of  $\alpha$ -vinylfurans by phosphine-initiated reactions of various substituted enynes bearing a carbonyl group with aldehydes. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60* (8), 1913-1920;(b) Marie, G.; Philippe, L.; Jean-Marc, C., Synthetic Studies on Macrolactin A: Construction of C4–C24 Fragment. J. Org. Chem. **2007**, *72*, 3543-3549.

22.Douglas A., R.; Eric M., F., Platinum-Catalyzed Hydrosilylations of Internal Alkynes: Harnessing Substituent Effects to Achieve High Regioselectivity. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 3225-3230.

23.Shunyou, C.; Kai, Y.; David Zhigang, W., Gold Catalysis Coupled with Visible Light Stimulation: Syntheses of Functionalized Indoles. *Org. Lett.* **2014**, *16*, 2606-2609.

24.Elizabeth M., D.; Christopher, F.; Yunxin, B.; Partha P., C.; Ning, C.; Narender, G.; Nianhe, H.; Michael G., K.; John, K.; Lana, K.; Qingyian, L.; Vassil I., O.; Rami, T.; Xianghong, W.; Jiawang, Z.; Mark H., N.; James J. S., T., Discovery of Potent, Orally Available Vanilloid Receptor-1 Antagonists. Structure–Activity Relationship ofN-Aryl Cinnamides. *J. Med. Chem.* **2005**, *48*, 71-90.

25.Yamamoto, T.; Ishibashi, A.; Suginome, M., Rhodium-catalyzed C(sp2)–H Addition of Arylboronic Acids to Alkynes Using a Boron-based, Convertible ortho-Directing Group. *Chemistry Letters* **2017**, *46* (8), 1169-1172.

26.(a) Bloomfield, J.; Fuchs, R., Notes- Rates of Hydrolysis of cis and trans-3- and 4-Substituted Ethyl Cinnamates. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry* **1961**, *26* (8), 2991-2993;(b) Hoffmann-Emery, F.; Puentener, K.; Ratni, H. Process For The Preparation of Pyrollidine-3-carboxylic acids. US 2010/0152462, June 17, 2010, 2010.

27.Cox, R. J.; Ritson, D. J.; Dane, T. A.; Berge, J.; Charmant, J. P.; Kantacha, A., Room temperature palladium catalysed coupling of acyl chlorides with terminal alkynes. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, (8), 1037-9. 28.Pramanik, M. M. D.; Kant, R.; Rastogi, N., Synthesis of 3-carbonyl pyrazole-5-phosphonates via 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of Bestmann–Ohira reagent with ynones. *Tetrahedron* **2014**, *70* (34), 5214-5220.

29.Rong, G.; Mao, J.; Zheng, Y.; Yao, R.; Xu, X., Cu-Catalyzed direct cyanation of terminal alkynes with AMBN or AIBN as the cyanation reagent. *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51* (72), 13822-5.

30.Everett, R. K.; Wolfe, J. P., Synthesis of substituted 3-hydroxy-2-furanone derivatives via an unusual enolate Wittig rearrangement/alkylative cyclization sequence. *Org. Lett.* **2013**, *15* (12), 2926-9.

31.Chen, H.; Zhang, L., A Desulfonylative Approach in Oxidative Gold Catalysis: Regiospecific Access to Donor-Substituted Acyl Gold Carbenes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2015**, *54* (40), 11775-11779.

32.Mauleon, P.; Zeldin, R. M.; Gonzalez, A. Z.; Toste, F. D., Ligand-controlled access to [4 + 2] and [4 + 3] cycloadditions in gold-catalyzed reactions of allene-dienes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131* (18), 6348-9.

33.(a) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Bechem, B.; Loos, A.; Hamzic, M.; Rominger, F.; Rabaa, H., Gold Catalysis: Biarylphosphine Ligands as Key for the Synthesis of Dihydroisocoumarins. *Australian Journal of Chemistry* **2014**, 67 (3);(b) Sergey S., Z.; Alexander E., S.; Alexey S., K.; Valentine P., A., Efficient General Procedure To Access a Diversity of Gold(0) Particles and Gold(I) Phosphine Complexes from a Simple HAuCl4 Source. Localization of Homogeneous/Heterogeneous System's Interface and Field-Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy Study. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 3550-3559;(c) Tlahuext-Aca, A.; Hopkinson, M. N.; Sahoo, B.; Glorius, F., Dual gold/photoredox-catalyzed C(sp)–H arylation of terminal alkynes with diazonium salts. *Chemical Science* **2016**, 7 (1), 89-93.

34.Mezailles, N.; Ricard, L.; Gagosz, F., Phosphine gold(I) bis-(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)imidate complexes as new highly efficient and air-stable catalysts for the cycloisomerization of enynes. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7* (19), 4133-6.

35.Lowe, J. K., Amin Spiro-Lactam NMDA Receptor Modulators and Uses Thereof. WO2014120800 A1, 2014.

36.Somnath Narayan, K.; Wei-Kang, C.; Rai-Shung, L., Gold-catalyzed formal  $[4\pi+2\pi]$ -cycloadditions of tert-butyl propiolates with aldehydes and ketones to form 4H-1,3-dioxine derivatives. *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51*, 13004-13007.

37.Nelson, A. K.; Peck, C. L.; Rafferty, S. M.; Santos, W. L., Chemo-, Regio-, and Stereoselective Copper(II)-Catalyzed Boron Addition to Acetylenic Esters and Amides in Aqueous Media. *J. Org. Chem.* **2016**, *81* (10), 4269-79.

38.Sahani, R. L.; Liu, R. S., Gold-catalyzed [4+3] and [4+4]-annulation reactions of t-butyl propiolate derivatives with epoxides and oxetanes for the construction of 1,4-dioxepane and 1,5-dioxocane cores. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, 52 (47), 7482-5.

39.MacLean, P. Applications of a hydroxy-directed Diels-Alder reaction and further investigation of the tandem oxy-Cope/Ene, and oxy-Cope/Ene/Claisen reactions. University of Ottawa, 2003.

40.Van den Hoven, B. G.; Ali, B. E.; Alper, H., Chemo- and Regioselective Cyclohydrocarbonylation of a-Keto Alkynes Catalyzed by a Zwitterionic Rhodium Complex and Triphenyl Phosphite. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry* **2000**, *65* (13), 4131-4137.

41.Huang, B.; Yin, L.; Cai, M., A phosphine-free heterogeneous coupling of acyl chlorides with terminal alkynes catalyzed by an MCM-41-immobilized palladium complex. *New Journal of Chemistry* **2013**, *37* (10).

42.Wiemann, J.; Karasch, J.; Loesche, A.; Heller, L.; Brandt, W.; Csuk, R., Piperlongumine B and analogs are promising and selective inhibitors for acetylcholinesterase. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2017**, *139*, 222-231.

43.Hwang, J.; Choi, J.; Park, K.; Kim, W.; Song, K. H.; Lee, S., Palladium-Catalyzed Oxidative Aminocarbonylation by Decarboxylative Coupling: Synthesis of Alkynyl Amides. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2015**, 2015 (10), 2235-2243.

44.Alpay, D.; Rachel E., W.; Guangbin, D., Rh(I)-Catalyzed Decarbonylation of Diynones via C–C Activation: Orthogonal Synthesis of Conjugated Diynes. *Org. Lett.* **2013**, *15*, 2242-2245.

45.Vatèle, J.-M., One-Pot Oxidative Conversion of Alcohols into Nitriles by Using a TEMPO/PhI(OAc)2/NH4OAc System. *Synlett* **2014**, 25 (09), 1275-1278.

46.Padwa, A.; Dent, W., N-Benzyl-N-Methoxymethyl-N-(Trimethylsilyl)Methylamine as an Azomethine Ylide Equivalent: 2,6-Dioxo-1-Phenyl-4-Benzyl-1,4-Diazabicyclo[3.3.0]Octane. *Organic Syntheses* **1989**, 67.

# Chapter 2

Generation of Axially Chiral Allenes through a Copper-Catalyzed, Enantioselective  $\beta$ -Fluoride Elimination

Portions of this chapter have previously appeared in:

O'Connor, T.J.; Mai, B. K.; Nafie, J.; Liu, P.; Toste, F.D. JACS. 2021, x, xxxx-xxxx

### 2.1 Introduction

The pursuit of synthetic methods to access structurally diverse allenes stems from their applications in both medicinal and materials chemistry as well as their ability to serve as a reactive functional group for further synthetic manipulations.<sup>1-2</sup> These cumulenes can exhibit axial chirality, and most of the naturally occurring allenic compounds that have been isolated are nonracemic.<sup>1a,1c</sup> Although enantiopure bromoallenes have been discovered in nature (Scheme 2.1a) and axially chiral bromo-, chloro-, and iodoallenes have been synthesized, the corresponding axially chiral fluoroallenes are largely unknown.<sup>3-4</sup> Specifically, to the best of our knowledge, there is a single report where an enantioenriched tetrasubstituted, axially chiral monofluoroallene has been prepared, albeit in modest enantioselectivity.<sup>4c</sup> Due to a lack of general synthetic routes toward this chiral, fluorinated motif, their potential applications have remained unexplored.

An emerging route toward the catalytic synthesis of ACAs has been from prochiral substrates.<sup>5</sup> This strategy overcomes the requirement for a stoichiometric amount of a chiral auxiliary and or enantioenriched substrates. Prochiral substrates that have been transformed into ACAs include propargylic electrophiles, 1,3-enynes, terminal alkynes, 1,3-dienes, racemic allenes, and vinyl triflates.<sup>6</sup> In the case of vinyl triflates, it was demonstrated that  $\beta$ -hydride elimination occurred in an enantioselective fashion, revealing a new mechanistic route for the synthesis of ACAs.<sup>6f</sup> Of the classes of ACAs (1,3-di-, tri-, and tetrasubstituted), tetrasubstituted ACAs remain difficult to synthesize in high enantiopurity.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, the incorporation of a functional group directly attached to ACAs that permits further transformations has gained popularity as evidenced by recent reports of boryl and silyl substituted ACAs.<sup>8</sup> Access to tetrasubstituted, boryl or silyl monofluoro ACAs would permit an array of further transformations that could generate quaternary, fluorine-containing stereocenters by way of axial-to-point chirality transfer.<sup>3a,10</sup>



**Scheme 2.1** Allenyl Halide Natural Products and Synthesis of Monofluoro ACAs *via* Enantioselective β-Fluoride Elimination

The development of defluorination methods of (poly)fluorinated compounds has emerged as a complimentary strategy to access complex, fluorine-functionalized motifs that have typically been accessed from nonfluorinated substrates.<sup>11</sup> Of the metals that catalyze such defluorination reactions, copper has been shown to be exceptionally competent, as evidenced by the numerous reports of catalytic hydrodefluorinations, defluoroborylations, and defluorosilylations of fluoroarenes and fluoroolefins.<sup>12</sup> An emerging trend in this field is the enantioselective defluorination of allylic CF<sub>3</sub> or CF<sub>2</sub>R groups, forging stereocenters adjacent to mono and difluoroolefins (Scheme 2.1b).<sup>13</sup> Recently, a rare example of enantioselective defluorination via oxidative addition to a *gem*-difluoride has been reported as a method to generate products with a fluorine-containing stereogenic unit.<sup>14</sup> A mechanistically different approach was envisioned to achieve the desymmetrization of difluoromethylene groups, proceeding through an enantioselective  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination reaction, might be employed in the enantioselective synthesis of monofluoro ACAs (Scheme 2.1c).

To this end, it was hypothesized that reaction of propargylic difluorides with a suitable chiral copper nucleophile would form an alkenyl copper species that could undergo an enantioselective,  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination to generate tetrasubstituted monofluoro ACAs (Scheme 2.1c). Potential obstacles toward achieving this transformation included controlling both the regioselectivity<sup>15</sup> and enantioselectivity of the process, avoiding undesired reactivity of the alkenyl copper intermediate<sup>16</sup>, and preventing further silylation of the product.<sup>17</sup> This worked described in this chapter demonstrates that  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination from an alkenyl copper species is possible and the discrimination of enantiotopic fluorides is a viable elementary process to achieve asymmetric synthesis of ACAs. DFT studies predict that this elimination proceeds through a *syn*-elimination pathway, which is in contrast to some studies of alkyl copper species that undergo  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination.<sup>12b,12g,i,13f,13g</sup>

# 2.2 Results and Discussion

# 2.2.1 Propargyl Difluorides

To assess if our transformation was feasible, the synthesis of internal propargylic difluorides had to be achieved. In our hands, existing routes to access this fluorinated motif utilizing deoxyfluorination reagents, such as DAST, were unsuccessful.<sup>18</sup> This result was not too surprising given the fact that the deoxyfluorination of ketones is a particularly challenging transformation, especially for ketones in conjugation with either alkenes or alkynes.<sup>18</sup> Recently, a palladium-catalyzed Suzuki cross-coupling procedure was reported (Zhang 2014) that employed difluoro propargyl bromides as the electrophile and boronic acids as the nucleophile.<sup>19</sup> However, this method proved to be ineffective for the synthesis of internal propargylic difluorides that possessed primary alkyl groups attached to the other terminus of the alkyne (Scheme 2.2B). Although the desired product was detected after the reaction, these difluoroalkynes were challenging to purify because of the allenyl and defluorinated byproducts that were produced by the palladium catalyst.<sup>20</sup> Therefore, other metals to achieve this transformation were examined, revealing that nickel complexes gave the desired product without significant allenyl byproducts (Table 2.1).



**Scheme 2.2** Synthesis of Propargylic Difluorides: Palladium-Catalyzed Suzuki Cross-Coupling

Table 2.1 Optimization of Nickel-Catalyzed Suzuki Cross-Coupling<sup>a</sup>

Br	exyl	[Ni] (5 mol%), Li PhB(OH) <sub>2</sub> (x equiv PhMe [0.15 M	igand (6 mc /), Base (2 d ], 80 °C, 24	l%) equiv) h ► Ph B	hexyl
[Ni]	L	PhB(OH) <sub>2</sub> (equiv)	Base	B <sup>19</sup> F NMR yield (%)	SM (%)
NiCl <sub>2</sub> dppe	tpy	1.5	K <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	44	19
NiCl <sub>2</sub> dppe	tpy	1.5	$Cs_2CO_3$	34	19
NiCl <sub>2</sub> dppe	tpy	1.2	K <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	37	26
NiCl <sub>2</sub> dppe	L2	1.5	K <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	5	22
NiCl <sub>2</sub> dppe	4'-Cl tpy	1.5	K <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	31	31
NiCl <sub>2</sub> dppe	bpp	1.5	K <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	49	0
NiBr <sub>2</sub> dppe	bpp	1.5	K <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	50	0
dppe)NiBrMes	bpp	1.5	K <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	44	0
dppe)NiBrMes	bpp	2.2	K <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	63	0

<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions: alkyne (0.10 mmol), [Ni] (5 mol%), L (6 mol%), PhMe (0.8 mL), 80  $^{\circ}$ C, 24 h. Yield was determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR of crude reaction, using PhF as an internal standard.

Although a reliable route was developed to generate internal propargylic difluorides, it still required the use of dibromodifluoromethane–which is an expensive (\$1.16/mmol), ozone depleting substance–cryogenic temperatures, and alkyl lithium reagents (Scheme 2.2A). The latter hampered the functional group tolerance of the synthetic route. It was envisioned that an alternative route that utilizing a cheaper, more environmentally friendly fluorinated building block and avoided the use alkyl lithium reagents. Recently, there have been reports of both photoinduced and thermal conditions that couple alkynyl copper species with activated alkyl halide electrophiles, such as alkyl iodides and benzyl bromides.<sup>21</sup> This work inspired the development of the Sonogashira cross-coupling of terminal alkynes with difluoro benzyl bromides in the presence of copper catalyst. A method to generate the required difluoro benzyl bromides was optimized that utilized silver-catalyzed decarboxylation of readily available aryl difluorocarboxylic acids, which can be made in two steps from ethyl bromodifluoroacetate (\$0.06/mmol) (See SI). With access to large quantities of the necessary electrophile, suitable conditions for the photoinduced Sonogashira cross-coupling were developed (Table 2.2 and 2.3). Importantly, tridentate ligands, specifically terpyridine were very effective for this transformation whereas bidentate

pyridines largely returned unreacted alkyne. The deprotection of the pivalate group was problematic, but removing methanol as a cosolvent overcame this unproductive, side reaction. Although several Cu(I) salts could be employed cationic Cu(I) precursors were the most effective for this transformation.



Table 2.2 Initial Results of Copper-Catalyzed, Photoinduced Sonogashira Cross-Coupling<sup>a</sup>



Table 2.3 Optimization of Copper-Catalyzed, Photoinduced Sonogashira Cross-Coupling<sup>a</sup>

PhF <sub>2</sub> CBr	+	1.2 equiv	[Cu] (5 Piv <u>K<sub>2</sub></u> MeCN [	F OPiv		
			[Cu]	MeCN [X M]	<sup>19</sup> F yield (SM %)	
			Cu(MeCN) <sub>4</sub> BF <sub>4</sub>	0.2	75% (17)	
			$Cu(MeCN)_4BF_4$	0.1	92% ( <mark>&lt;2%</mark> )	
			Cu(MeCN) <sub>4</sub> OTf	0.2	90% ( <mark>nd</mark> )	
			$Cu(MeCN)_4BF_4$	0.1 (DCM)	13% ( <mark>70</mark> )	
			$Cu(MeCN)_4BF_4$	0.1 (THF)	4% (38)	

<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions: PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (0.10 mmol), solvent (1.0 mL), 24  $^{\circ}$ C, 24 h, Blue LED (440 nm Kessil). Yield was determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR of crude reaction, using PhF as an internal standard.

Although the reaction was scalable, it required rigorously degassed solvents for reproducible results. An alternative system was developed that utilized a tridentate P, N, N ligand and a copper salt. This catalytic system did not require rigorously degassed solvents nor blue LED (440 nm) irradiation (Table 2.4). With the optimal conditions in hand, a variety of alkynes were tested in the reaction, affording access to internal propargylic difluorides with functional groups that would have not been tolerated by existing technologies (Table 2.5). Having developed an affordable, functional group tolerant, and environmentally friendly route to this underrepresented motif, the focus turned to the generation of axially chiral monofluoroallenes.



Table 2.4 Optimization of Copper-Catalyzed, Thermal Sonogashira Cross-Coupling<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions: PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (0.10 mmol), solvent (1.0 mL), 24 h, hv = Blue LED (440 nm Kessil). Yield was determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR of crude reaction, using PhF as an internal standard.

### Table 2.5 Scope of Copper-Catalyzed, Thermal Sonogashira Cross-Coupling<sup>a</sup>



<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions: PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (3.0 mmol), alkyne (1.2 equiv), MeCN (30 mL), 24 h, 28 °C. Reported percentages are of isolated yields.

# 2.2.2 Copper-Catalyzed, Enantioselective β-fluoride Elimination

The investigation began by determining if  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination was feasible from a vinyl copper intermediate. In the presence of a suitable base, the borylation of **1a** with B<sub>2</sub>pin<sub>2</sub> generated the desired boryl, monofluoroallene in approximately 40% NMR yield. Attempts at isolating this product, however, were unsuccessful.<sup>8b</sup> It was hypothesized that the corresponding silyl, monofluoroallene of **1a** would be isolable, and gratifyingly discovered that the silylation of **1a** with PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (**2**) led to **1b**. After a brief optimization of conditions, over 40 chiral ligands were examined for this transformation. Of the chiral ligands employed, only four gave the desired allene in greater than 20% *ee*.

Fortunately (R, S)-Josiphos afforded **1b** in a modest yield (71%) and promising enantioselectivity (20% *ee*). A series of Josiphos ligands was generated to evaluate their steric and electronic effects (See SI Tables S1 and S2) on the reaction. Josiphos ligands containing aryl groups on both phosphorus atoms demonstrated good reactivity and enantioselectivity, specifically when the alkyldiarylphosphorus moiety possessed bulky 3,5-substituted arenes (Table 2.6 compare entries 2, 3; SI Tables S2 and S3). However, once the 3,5-substituents became sterically too demanding, for example with the TTB derivative, the reactivity dropped significantly (entry 5). Moreover, it appeared that steric rather than electronic factors played a decisive role in determining the enantioselectivity of the transformation (compare entries 3, 8).



Table 2.6 Structural Effect of Josiphos on Transformation<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions: **1a** (0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv), **2** (0.135 mmol, 1.35 equiv), CuCl (5 mol%), L (6 mol%), THF (1.0 mL), 65 °C, 24 h. <sup>b</sup>Yield was determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR of crude reaction, using PhF as an internal standard. <sup>c</sup>Determined by HPLC with a chiral stationary phase.

Further optimization led to simplified reaction conditions (Table 2.7). By lowering the temperature and changing the solvent, the enantiomeric excess of **1b** improved to 90%; but the overall conversion of **1a** dropped (entry 1). Increasing the amount of phenoxide base resulted in decoordination of the ligand, determined by <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectroscopy, and erosion of the *ee* of **1b**.<sup>22</sup> By using an insoluble source of fluoride (CsF), an increase in the chemical yield of **1b** was achieved (83%, entry 2). Possible roles of CsF could be either trapping FBpin<sup>23</sup> and/or releasing CsOAr from ArOBpin.<sup>24</sup> Fortunately, the transformation proceeded with CsF as the sole base, removing the chance of phosphine decoordination due to excess phenoxide.<sup>25</sup> The reaction proceeded well in nonpolar, low coordinating solvents (entries

4-7), and the removal of MeCN led to in an increase in catalytic activity (entries 8, 9). Switching to  $[Cu(OTf)]_2 \cdot C_6H_6$  as the copper source afforded the desired allene in almost quantitative yield (entry 10).

F F 1	OPiv ( <u>R.</u>	[Cu] (5 mol <sup>*</sup> S)-(3,5-TES)-JosiP PhMe <sub>2</sub> Si-Bpin (1. Base, Solvent (0 32 °C, 24	%) hos (6 mol%) 35 equiv) .067 M) h	→ F Ph 1b	SiMe <sub>2</sub> Ph
entry	(Cu]	Base (mol%)	Solvent	yield (SM %) <sup>b</sup>	ee (%) <sup>c</sup>
1	Cu(MeCN) <sub>4</sub> BF <sub>4</sub>	A (20)	PhMe	50% ( <mark>49</mark> )	90
2	"	A (20), CsF (100)	65	83% ( <mark>13</mark> )	90
3	"	CsF (150)	65	75% (11)	91
4	Cu(MeCN) <sub>4</sub> BF <sub>4</sub>	"	THF	39% ( <mark>48</mark> )	74
5	"	"	Dioxane	65% ( <mark>20</mark> )	91
6	"	"	Cyclohexane	50% ( <mark>31</mark> )	87
7	"	"	MTBE	75% (10)	92
8	"d	"	66	74% (<1)	91
9	Cu(MeCN) <sub>4</sub> OTf <sup>d</sup>	"		82% (4)	90
10	[CuOTf] <sub>2</sub> •C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>6</sub> (2.5%)	CsF (160)	"	98% (-)	90

Table 2.7 Reaction Optimization<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions: **1a** (0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv), **2** (0.135 mmol, 1.35 equiv), [Cu] (5 mol%), L (6 mol%), solvent (1.5 mL), 32 °C, 24 h. A = NaO(2-OMeC<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>). <sup>b</sup>Yield was determined by <sup>19</sup>F NMR of crude reaction, using PhF as an internal standard. <sup>c</sup>Determined by HPLC with a chiral stationary phase. <sup>d</sup>MeCN removed before reaction.

With the optimal conditions were established, a series of difluoroalkynes were subjected to defluorosilylation. A range of functional groups were tolerated under the optimal reaction conditions, affording the desired allenes **1–24b** in high yields (83–98%) and in good enantioselectivities (82–98%) after isolation (Table 2.8). Notably, alkynes (19b), alkenes (20b), enynes (24b), aldehydes (8b), ketones (9b) propargylic acetates (23b) as well as alkyl and aryl halides (3b and 6b) were tolerated. Coordinating heterocycles (14-16b, 18b, and 25b), amides (7b, 11-13b), and nitriles (5b and 10b) also did not hamper catalysis. Although changing the electronics of the aryl ring slightly decreased the enantiomeric excess of the reaction (1-6b), increasing the steric bulk of the aryl group was well tolerated (25b). To explore the scalability of this method, 1b was synthesized on a 6 mmol scale without a significant loss in enantioselectivity or chemical yield. It was discovered that other silylboranes could be utilized for this transformation when (R,S)-3,5-Trip-Josiphos was employed as the ligand (**1b-BnMe<sub>2</sub>Si**, **1b-CyMe<sub>2</sub>Si**, and 1b-Et<sub>3</sub>Si). These allenyl silanes were synthesized on gram scales with comparable yields and enantioselectivities to 1b-PhMe<sub>2</sub>Si. When the aryl group of alkyne 1a was exchanged for either, alkynyl, alkenyl, or alkyl substituents or when the alkyl chain of alkyne **1a** was changed from 1° to 2° the reaction either produced the desired monofluoroallene in lower yield and enantiomeric excess or the reaction failed to occur (See SI for current limitations).

Determination of the absolute configuration of allene **10b** was achieved using vibrational circular dichroism (VCD).<sup>26</sup> After a careful conformational search (see SI for details) at four levels of theory, B3LYP/6-31G(d), B3PW91/6-31G(d), B3LYP/cc-pVTZ, and B3PW91/cc-pVTZ,<sup>27</sup> the resulting conformers were Boltzmann averaged and plotted with a line width of 5 cm<sup>-1</sup> to produce the final theoretical spectra. The IR and VCD spectra were then frequency scaled<sup>27</sup> for comparison to the experimental data. Calculations at all four levels of theory matched well, proving the absolute

configuration of **10b** to be *S*. Of the four methods employed, the best agreement with experimental data was from the B3PW91/cc-pVTZ level. The comparison of experimental and theoretical spectra was quantified<sup>28</sup> using BioTools (Jupiter, FL) CompareVOA software, with high neighborhood similarity for IR (90.4) and VCD (69.6), ESI (Enantiomeric Similarity Index) for VCD (62.9) and a confidence level of 99%. Of particular note was the asymmetric allene C-C-C stretch observed at 1933 cm<sup>-1</sup>, which was one of many closely correlated bands between experiment and theory. The absolute configuration of **12b** and **1b-SiEt**<sub>3</sub> were also determined to be *S* by VCD (See SI for details).





<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions: **1–25a** (0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv), **2** (0.27 mmol, 1.35 equiv), CuOTf·1/2C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (6 mol%), L (7 mol%), CsF (1.6-1.8 equiv) 9:1 PhMe:MTBE or MTBE (3.0 mL), 35-45°C, 24 h. Reported yields are of isolated allene. Enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC with a chiral stationary phase.<sup>b</sup> **1a** (6.0 mmol), CsF(25%)–CaF<sub>2</sub> (1.6 equiv), 30 h;<sup>c</sup> **1a** (2.5-3.0 mmol), R<sub>3</sub>SiBpin (1.35-1.45 equiv), Cu (8-9 mol%), 3,5-TripJosiphos (9-10 mol%), CsF(25%)–CaF<sub>2</sub> (1.8-2.5 equiv), MTBE, 28-45°C, 30-48h;<sup>d</sup> NaO(2-OMeC<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>) (30 mol%), CsF (1.0 equiv), PhMe, 27°C.

On the basis of previous reports regarding CuF<sup>12c,12e,16a,25,29</sup> and copper silyl species<sup>13b,15f,17d,30</sup>, the following mechanism for the copper-catalyzed reaction is proposed (Figure 2.1). First, a complex between Josiphos and [CuOTf] undergoes salt metathesis with CsF to generate JosiphosCuF (**Cu1**).<sup>16a,25,29d</sup>  $\sigma$ -Bond metathesis with PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (**2**) generates JosiphosCuSiMe<sub>2</sub>Ph (**Cu2**), and releases FBpin.<sup>12c,12e</sup> Subsequent coordination and silylation of the triple bond generates an alkenyl Cu species (**Cu3**).<sup>15a,15e,31</sup> A  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination<sup>12g</sup> regenerates **Cu1**, which is trapped by either FBpin,<sup>23,32</sup> **2**,<sup>15c</sup> or decomposes the formed allenylsilane (**c**). As FBpin is more Lewis acidic than B<sub>2</sub>pin<sub>2</sub>,<sup>32</sup> the same is likely true with **2**. By using a judicious amount of CsF and a nonpolar solvent it is proposed that the precipitation of Cs[F<sub>2</sub>Bpin]<sup>23-24</sup> drives this reaction forward. <sup>1</sup>H, <sup>19</sup>F, and <sup>11</sup>B NMR studies have identified **Cu1**, **Cu2**, LCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin, as well as LCuOH and confirmed the generation of **Cu2** from both **Cu1** and LCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin (See SI Section 7). **Cu2** was also shown to react with alkyne **1a**, generating both allene **1b** and FBpin. It appears that LCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin acts as a reservoir of Cu<sup>1</sup>F and, under catalytic conditions, a monomeric or dimeric CuF was not observed. Over the course of the reaction only **Cu2**, LCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin, and LCuOH were observed, which converged to **Cu2** after the alkyne has been consumed (See SI Section 7). Based on our experiments, it appears that the silylation of the alkyne and the  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination reactions are the

rate- and selectivity-determining steps, respectively. Using (R,S)-3,5-TES-JosiphosCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin as a catalyst, the desired allene **1b** was obtained in a similar yield and enantiomeric excess, demonstrating its catalytically competence (See SI Section 7).



Figure 2.1 Proposed catalytic cycle

Density functional theory (DFT) calculations were performed to investigate the reaction mechanism and origin of enantioselectivity of this Cu-catalyzed asymmetric silvlation of propargylic difluorides. The DFT calculations were performed at the M06/SDD(Cu,Fe)-6-311+G(d,p)/SMD(toluene)//B3LYP-D3/SDD(Cu,Fe)-6-31G(d) level of theory using difluoroalkyne 27a and PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (2) as model substrates. The (R,S)-3,5-TMS-Josiphos ligand was used in the DFT calculations for simplicity, because the use of this ligand in the ligand screening provided only slightly lower *ee* than using (R,S)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (Table 1, entries 6 and 7). Based on the proposed catalytic cycle, the computed reaction energy profile is shown in Figure 2.2. The association of FBpin to monomeric LCuF (26) to form a heterodimer (29) is exergonic by 4.0 kcal/mol, suggesting that the more stable complex **29** can be an off-cycle reservoir of Cu<sup>I</sup>F. Although the dimerization of LCuF is exergonic by 7.3 kcal/mol, its formation is expected to be less favorable than forming 29 due to the low concentrations of LCuF under catalytic conditions (see Figure S1 for detailed discussions about the equilibrium of **26**, **29**, and the dimer of LCuF).

The  $\sigma$ -bond metathesis between monomeric LCuF (26) and PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (2) takes place *via* a four-membered cyclic transition state (TS-1) to form silyl copper intermediate 30 and FBpin. This step requires a low activation barrier of 6.7 kcal/mol with respect to 26 and is exergonic by 24.7 kcal/mol. Migratory insertion of alkyne 27a into the silyl copper (TS-2) gives alkenyl copper species 31. This migratory insertion is highly regioselective for the formation of Cu–C bond at the alkyne terminus adjacent to the difluoromethylene. The transition state leading to the other regioisomer, TS-2', is 10.9 kcal/mol higher in energy than TS-2. The high level of regioselectivity is due to steric repulsions between

the silvl and the more hindered alkyne terminus(C1) in **TS-2'** as well as inductive effects of the difluoro substituents that stabilize the building negative charge at C1 in **TS-2**.



**Figure 2.2** Computed reaction energy profiles of the Cu-catalyzed silvlation and asymmetric  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination. Gibb free energies and enthalpies (in kcal/mol) are with respect to the CuF **26a**.

From **31**, both *syn*<sup>12g-i</sup>- and *anti*<sup>13b</sup>- $\beta$ -fluoride elimination pathways were calculated. The *syn*-elimination of either of the two diastereotopic  $\beta$ -F in **31** (via **TS-3** and **TS-4**) involves a four-membered cyclic transition state, while the *anti*- $\beta$ -fluoride elimination is facilitated by CsF as a Lewis acid (via **TS-5** and **TS-6**). The FBPin-facilitated *anti*-elimination was also computed and is also less favorable than the *syn*-elimination (see Figure S3). The *syn*-elimination pathways require much lower barriers than the *anti*-elimination from alkyl copper species favors the *anti*-pathway due to Lewis acid (*i.e.* Na<sup>+</sup>) coordination to the F<sup>-</sup> leaving group and the Bpin group on the substrate.<sup>13b</sup> In the present study, the lack of such chelating Lewis-acid coordination in the *anti*-pathway, the weaker Lewis acidity of CsF, and the strain release effect that alleviates steric repulsions between the SiMe<sub>2</sub>Ph group and the Cu in the *syn*-elimination transition state changed the reaction mechanism to favor the *syn*-elimination.<sup>33</sup>

Among the three key elementary steps in the catalytic cycle, the alkyne migratory insertion (**TS-2**) has the highest activation free energy ( $\Delta G^{\ddagger} = 19.9 \text{ kcal/mol}$  with respect to **30**). This finding is consistent with our experimental results that suggest this step being the rate-determining step (*vide supra*). The enantioselectivity-determining step is the *syn-β*-fluoride elimination. **TS-3**, which leads to the (*S*)-enantiomer of the monofluoroallene product, is 1.9 kcal/mol more stable than **TS-4** that leads to the (*R*)-enantiomer. The predicted enantioselectivity is consistent with the absolute configuration of the product identified by the VCD analysis.

Next, detailed analysis was performed to investigate the effects of the Josiphos ligand on the reactivity and enantioselectivity of the  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination. Because of the conformational flexibility of the (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TMS-Josiphos ligand,<sup>34</sup> a careful conformational search was performed for all intermediates and transition states in the catalytic cycle. These calculations revealed at least four different conformers of the 3,5-TMS-

Josiphos-supported copper complexes. The two most stable and catalytically active ligand conformations **A** and **B** are shown in Table 2.9 (see Figures S4-S6 for all possible ligand conformations). Ligand conformation **A** involves a twist-boat-type six-membered ring and is more favorable in the copper fluoride (**26**), the  $\sigma$ -bond metathesis transition state (**TS-1**), and the silvl copper intermediate (**30**). In more sterically encumbered structures, including the migratory insertion transition state (**TS-2**), alkenyl copper (**31**), and the  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transition states (**TS-3** and **TS-4**), ligand conformation B becomes more favorable. This ligand conformation involves a half-chair type six-membered ring, which points the Ar and Ph groups in quadrants **I** and **II** away from the Cu center. As such, the bulky SiMe<sub>2</sub>Ph group is placed between these unoccupied quadrants to minimize steric repulsions between the ligand and the SiMe<sub>2</sub>Ph group on the substrate.

**Table 2.9** Relative free energies of conformers of (R,S)-3,5-TMS-Josiphos-supported copper complexes and<br/>transition states.<sup>a</sup>



<sup>*a*</sup> All Gibbs free energies are in kcal/mol with respect to the monomeric copper fluoride **26**. Bold numbers indicate the favorable ligand conformation.

Ligand conformation **B** not only stabilizes the silvlalkenyl copper species, but also plays a significant role in controlling the enantioselectivity of the  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination. The *P*-phenyl group in quadrant **III** and the *P*-3,5-TMS-phenyl group in quadrant **IV** point towards the Cu center and thus occupy these quadrants. The larger size of the 3,5-TMS-phenyl compared to phenyl indicates that the ligand-substrate repulsions in quadrant **IV** would be more pronounced than those in quadrant **III**. Indeed, quadrant diagrams of the  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transition states (Figure 2.3) support this hypothesis. In the less favorable transition state **TS-4**, the phenyl group on the substrate is located in the more occupied quadrant **IV**, leading to steric repulsion with a TMS group on the ligand. By contrast, in the more favorable  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transition state **TS-3**, the much smaller fluoro group is located in quadrant **IV**, and thus the ligand-substrate steric repulsions are diminished. Next, energy decomposition analysis (EDA)<sup>35</sup> calculations were performed to quantitatively analyze the ligand-substrate non-covalent interactions in **TS-3** and **TS-4** (see SI for computational details). The EDA calculations revealed that the dominant factor controlling the enantioselectivity is the Pauli repulsion (*i.e.* steric repulsion) between the (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TMS-Josiphos ligand and the substrate. The Pauli repulsion energy ( $\Delta E_{Pauli}$ ) in **TS-4** is 1.7 kcal/mol higher than that in **TS-3**, and thus destabilizes the former transition state.





ectivity in  $sym_{\beta}\beta$ -fluoride elimination. Most hydrogen atoms are omitted for enthalpie Marcivith respect to **31**.  $\Delta E_{Pauli}$  is the Pauli repulsion energy osiphos ligand from EDA calculations.

F- $I^{''Ph}$ ctivity-determining *syn-β*-F elimination transition states of the reaction of the d by a SegPhos-supported Cu complex were calculated. The computed  $(\Delta\Delta G^{*} = 0.2 \text{ kcal/mol}, \text{ Figure S7})$ , indicating the C2-symmetric SegPhos letric induction. This prediction is consistent with the low *ee* of 12% obtained

experimentally at 65 °C with 5 mol% CuCl, 40 mol% sodium phenoxide, and 6 mol% SegPhos ligand. Taken together, these ligand effect analyses revealed the unique roles of the conformationally flexible C1-symmetric Josiphos ligand, where it lowers the activation barrier for the rate-determining alkyne migratory insertion step and improves the enantioselectivity of the  $\beta$ -F elimination.

### 2.3 Product Diversification: Chirality Transfer

### 2.3.1 Chirality Transfer

Now with access to tetrasubstituted silvl monofluoro ACAs, further transformations that could generate fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenters *via* axial-to-point chirality transfer were investigated (Scheme 2.3).<sup>3a,10</sup> Allenylsilanes are known to undergo stereospecific propargylation with aldehydes, ketones, and activated imines in the presence of stoichiometric amount of Lewis acids such as TiCl<sub>4</sub>, SnCl<sub>4</sub>, ScOTf<sub>2</sub>, ZrCl<sub>4</sub>, BF<sub>3</sub>•Et<sub>2</sub>O, and TMSOTf (Scheme 2.3A).<sup>3a,10</sup> In addition to propargylations of carbonyl compounds, allenylsilanes can undergo formal [3+2] annulations with *a*, $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl compounds, creating both complex cyclic and bicyclic ring systems (Scheme 2.3B).<sup>10</sup> If the monofluoro allenes described in this chapter could be leveraged for similar reactivity, then the generation of fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenters, which would otherwise be challenging to synthesize or are currently inaccessible, could easily be obtained from readily available fluorinated building blocks.<sup>36</sup>



**Scheme 2.3** Proposed Synthesis of Fluorine-Containing Stereocenters from Monofluoroallenyl Silanes (Top) along with Literature Precedent (Bottom)

Attempts at utilizing allene **1b** for the propargylations and [3+2] annulations with a variety of electrophiles failed to afford the desired products possessing fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenters (Scheme 2.4). Allenylsilane **1b** was found to be unreactive at low temperatures (-78 °C), which is in contrast to its non-fluorinated counterparts.<sup>3a,10</sup> Increasing the temperature often lead to consumption of **1b**, but in most cases resulted in the formation of the protodesilylated alkyne. Unfortunately, chiral transfer did not occur under the reaction conditions that afforded this secondary propargylic fluoride. The remaining mass balance of the reactions was accounted for by undesirable defluorination byproducts. Although **1b** was stable to certain Lewis acids at room temperature (such as TiCl<sub>4</sub>), the presence of both a Lewis acid and electrophile resulted in the consumption of **1b**. Based upon this observation, it is believed that the desired product may initially be formed but that the resulting fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenter was labile in the presence of such Lewis acidic metals. This is supported by literature reports whereby unactivated tertiary fluorides are known to undergo defluorination in the presence of Lewis acids. The tertiary fluorides that would be generated from the propargylations and [3+2] annulations should be even more prone to Lewis acid abstraction as they would be benzylic and either propargylic or allylic.



Scheme 2.4 Attempts at Lewis Acid Mediated Propargylations

Other reactions were sought that would generate less labile fluorine atoms in the absence of strong Lewis acids (Scheme 2.5). Although the cycloaddition between racemic **1b** and chlorosulfonyl isocyanate (CSI) gave the expected lactam, chirality did not transfer from enantioenriched **1b** (Scheme 2.5A). Dichloroketene, which was generated *in situ* with zinc dust, was also effectively trapped by racemic **1b**, but

the enantiomers could not be resolved by chiral HPLC (Scheme 2.5B). Allene **1b** was also reactive with difluorocarbene generated from trimethylsilyltrifluoromethane (TMSCF<sub>3</sub>) and sodium iodide, but chirality did not transfer when enantioenriched **1b** was employed (Scheme 2.5C). Finally, while the hydrogenation of allene **1b** with Pd/C, Pt/C and Rh/C gave complex mixtures, the diimide reduction was not only regioselective, but proceeded with chirality transfer to afford chiral allylic silane **1c** (Scheme 2.5D).



Scheme 2.5 Reactivity of monofluoroallenyl silanes

Compared to allenylsilanes, allylic silanes are more reactive toward the addition of electrophiles such as carbonyl compounds (aldehydes, ketones, imines, etc.). It was envisioned that by employing **1c** rather than **1b** that chiral tertiary, allylic fluorides could be accessed (Scheme 2.6). However, similar to **1b**, **1c** was rather unreactive at low temperatures (-78°C) and as the temperature was increased protodesilylation became the dominant pathway, furnishing the secondary, allylic fluoride (Scheme 2.6). Unfortunately, chirality transfer for the protodesilylation product did not occur under Lewis acid catalyzed conditions.



Scheme 2.6 Attempts at Lewis Acid Mediated Allylations

### 2.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, the first copper-catalyzed, enantioselective  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination has been achieved. The resulting monofluoro ACAs represent the first examples of fluorine-containing, chiral tetrasubstituted allenes. It is expected that such a motif will find value in pharmaceutical and agrochemical chemistry in addition to being a valuable building block for the generation of more elaborate fluorine-containing stereocenters. DFT calculations of the reaction mechanisms predicted that this elimination occurs in a *syn*-fashion, which is promoted by strain release of the Z- $\beta$ -silylalkenyl copper intermediate. The unique roles of the C1-symmetric Josiphos-derived ligand in promoting the reactivity and enantioselectivity were investigated. It is believed that lessons learned from this desymmetrization could be leveraged for the creation of other fluorine-containing stereocenters *via* defluorination pathways.

#### 2.5 Supporting Information

#### 2.5.1 General Information

All air-sensitive manipulations were conducted under an inert atmosphere in a nitrogen-filled glovebox or by standard Schlenk techniques. Vessels used in air-free reactions were oven-dried and cooled under dynamic vacuum (once at ambient temperature, vessels were refilled with nitrogen and evacuated two more times) prior to use. Unless otherwise noted, reagents were purchased from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Column chromatography was performed using ICN SiliTech 32-63D 60Å silica gel. Commercial grade solvents were used for reactions without further purification except as indicated below. Dichloromethane  $(CH_2Cl_2)$ , acetonitrile  $(CH_3CN)$ , toluene (PhMe), benzene  $(C_6H_6)$ , diethyl ether (Et<sub>2</sub>O), dimethyl formamide (DMF), triethylamine (Et<sub>3</sub>N) and tetrahydrofuran (THF) were dried by passing commerically available pre-dried, oxygen-free formulations through activated alumina columns under argon. Trifluorotoluene (PhCF<sub>3</sub>), cyclohexane (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>12</sub>), methyl tert-butyl ether (MBTE), acetic acid (AcOH), trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), pyridine, diethylamine (Et<sub>2</sub>NH) and 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE) were distilled under a nitrogen atmosphere from either CaH<sub>2</sub> or P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> as described in literature. All solvents employed in alkyne silvlation reactions were degassed by freeze-pump-thaw cycles (three cycles) using liquid nitrogen and stored over activated 3 Å molecular sieves. Thin layer chromatography analysis was performed using Merck 60 pre-coated silica gel plates with F254 indicator. Visualization was accomplished by iodine, panisaldehyde, potassium permanganate, Dragendorff-Munier, cerium ammonium molybdate, and/or UV light (254 nm). Proton nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker AVQ-400, DRX-500, Neo-500 and AV-600 instruments with 400, 500 and 600 MHz frequencies. Carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance (13C NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker DRX-500, Neo-500, and AV-600 instruments with a <sup>13</sup>C operating frequency of 126 and 150 MHz. Fluorine-19 nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>19</sup>F NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker AVQ-400, DRX-500, Neo-500, and AV-600 instruments with 376, 471, and 565 MHz frequencies. The proton signal for the residual non-deuterated solvent ( $\delta$  7.26 for CHCl<sub>3</sub>,  $\delta$  5.32 for CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) was used as an internal reference for <sup>1</sup>H spectra. For <sup>13</sup>C spectra, chemical shifts are reported relative to the  $\delta$  77.16 resonance of CDCl<sub>3</sub> and relative to the  $\delta$  53.84 for CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>. For <sup>19</sup>F spectra, chemical shifts are reported in relative to the  $\delta$  -113.15 resonance of PhF. Coupling constants are reported in Hz. Mass spectral data were obtained from either the UC-Berkeley Catalysis Center operated by usage of an Agilent Time of Flight (Q-TOF) mass spectrometer in ESI (or APCI) mode or the QB3/Chemistry Mass Spectrometry Facility at UC-Berkeley.

### 2.5.2 General Ligand Synthesis



#### General notes for Josiphos synthesis

Aryl bromides or iodides were purchased or prepared following reported procedures.<sup>37</sup> For 1-Br, 3,5-TMS-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>3</sub> and 1-Br, 3,5-TES-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>3</sub>, the bromoarenes were isolated in approximately 70–90% purity with the remainder being the trisilyl arene.<sup>38</sup> The trisilyl arene did not inhibit the subsequent halogen lithium exchange nor isolation of the desired secondary phosphine oxide (SPO). Alkyl and aryl SPOs were prepared according literature procedures.<sup>39</sup> Although aryl SOPs can be synthesized by the route outlined for alkyl SPOs, it was found that the route with (Et<sub>2</sub>N)PCl<sub>2</sub> was more general with respect to the electronics of the aryl lithiate or Grignard reagent. Typically, electron rich, less sterically hindered aryl nucleophiles led to a mixture of the desired aryl SPO contaminated with the corresponding aryl phosphonic acid (phosphonic acids are presumed to form upon aqueous workup; neither basic nor acidic quenches (with or without nitrogen sparging) solved this dilemma. An alternative procedure with (EtO)-2P(O)H with KH or NaH can be employed if the alkyl halide is valuable.<sup>40</sup> The reduction of SPOs proceeded well with either Cu(OTf)<sub>2</sub><sup>41</sup> or Ti(O<sup>i</sup>Pr)<sub>4</sub><sup>42</sup>, but for substrates with functional groups that may have been effected in the presence of Cu(OTf)<sub>2</sub> (i.e. TMS, TES, CF<sub>3</sub>, <sup>i</sup>Pr<sub>F7</sub>), Ti(O<sup>i</sup>Pr)<sub>4</sub> was employed. For

reactions conducted with  $Cu(OTf)_2$ , 1,1,3,3-tetramethyldisiloxane (TMDS) was added in two portions (1–1.25 eq, then 1 eq 12 hours into the reaction).

The water content of the AcOH employed for the synthesis of the bis-BH<sub>3</sub> protected Josiphos derivatives was pivotal for reproducible results. The water content of glacial AcOH (400 mL) distilled from  $P_2O_5$ under nitrogen and sparged with argon for 5 hours had a water content of less than 5 ppm, as determined by Karl Fischer titration (same for distilled TFA). The water content of a new, unopened bottle of glacial AcOH purchased from Sigma-Alrich contained about 400 ppm of water after being sparged with argon for 5 hours (about 1100 ppm for a new bottle of TFA). Reactions conducted with the AcOH containing <5 ppm H<sub>2</sub>O primarily generated the monooxide, monoborane Josiphos adduct where the diphenylphosphinoferrocenyl moiety had been oxidized to the phosphine oxide and the phosphine moiety alpha to (R)-methyl stereocenter was protected by BH<sub>3</sub>. There were some exceptions to this chemical transformation depending on the secondary phosphine borane employed, but this could have been due to residual water contaminating the secondary phosphine borane substrate (secondary phosphine boranes are hydroscopic and were stored in a nitrogen glovebox immediately after isolation by column chromatography). The monooxide, monoborane Josiphos was also observed if all the reagents were added to the AcOH (<5 ppm H<sub>2</sub>O) and degassed (three freeze-pump-thaw cycles with liquid nitrogen) prior to heating under nitrogen gas flow. It is also important to run the substitution reactions under a dynamic flow of nitrogen gas and not in a sealed vessel (gas evolution occurs upon heating a mixture of AcOH and protected phosphine borane). It does not appear that BH<sub>3</sub> is responsible for the mono-oxidation, as heating Cy<sub>2</sub>PH (purchased from Strem) and (R)-PPFA in AcOH(<5 ppm H<sub>2</sub>O) and PhMe also produced the undesired monooxide, monoborane Josiphos (termed Josi(O)Phos). Several Josi(O)Phos ligands were screened for the catalytic,  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transformation, but most gave the desired allene in less than 20% enantiomeric excess (Cu:L was 1:1).

### **Specific Examples:**

#### Synthesis of (R, S)-3,5-TES-Josiphos



### (R)-(1-Hydroxyethyl)ferrocene

Prepared from a modified literature procedure.<sup>43</sup>

(*S*)-CBS 95% (17.5 g, 60 mmol, 0.3 equiv) was charged to a cycled, 1000 mL, 3-neck round bottom flask fitted with two 250 mL addition funnels. Acetylferrocene (46.6 g, 200 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added to the first addition funnel and the system was evacuated and placed under a nitrogen atmosphere. Acetylferrocene was dissolved in 230 mL THF [0.87 M], BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS (19.4 mL, 200 mL, 1 equiv) was added to the second addition

funnel followed by 200 mL THF [1.0 M], and the reaction vessel was placed in an ice bath (0 °C). Once the vessel was cold, 40 mL (18%) of the BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS THF solution was added over the course of five minutes. After stirring for 2 minutes at 0 °C, the THF solutions of acetylferrocene and BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS were added are the same time with similar rates over the course of 1 hour (the rate of the BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS had to be decreased over the course of the addition so that both solutions would empty the addition funnels at the same time). The reaction was monitored by TLC and after 80 minutes at 0 °C, MeOH (18.5 mL, 10.8 M wrt BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS) was added over the course of four minutes (gas evolution). Saturated ammonium chloride (300 mL) was **slowly** added followed by 250 mL Et<sub>2</sub>O. The layers were separated and the aqueous phase was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (2 x 450 mL). The organic phases were washed with water (2 x 350 mL), brine (350 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto silica gel and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:2 to 2:1 Et<sub>2</sub>O:Hexanes) to afford an orange solid which was analyzed by chiral HPLC (42.48 g, 92%, >98% ee).

The spectra data were in agreement.<sup>43</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 4.58–4.51 (m, 1H), 4.24 – 4.21 (m, 9H), 4.17 (s, 1H), 1.85 (d, *J* = 4.0 Hz, 1H), 1.44 (d, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 3H).



(R)-Ugi's Amine

Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>43</sup>

(*R*)-(1-Hydroxyethyl)ferrocene (42.32 g, 183.9 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added to a 1000 mL 3-neck round bottom flask and the system was cycled twice and placed under nitrogen. Pyridine (130 mL, [1.41 M]), Et<sub>3</sub>N (54 mL, [3.47 M]), and DMAP (5 mol%) were added to the vessel followed by Ac<sub>2</sub>O 99% (sparged with nitrogen gas, 74 mL, 783 mmol, 4.25 equiv). The solution was allowed to stir at room temperature for 22 hours (monitored by GC-MS) before 120 mL of solvent was removed at 200 mtorr at 24 °C. The reaction was diluted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (1000–1200 mL), washed with ice water (700 mL), water (2 *x* 500 mL), brine (500 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated to an orange solid (do not heat the rotovap bath above 30 °C when removing bulk solvent, residue solvent was removed at 200 mtorr on a Schlenck line). The crude acetate was dissolved, with stirring, in MeOH (1050 mL, [0.175 M], sparged with nitrogen gas for 1 hour) and then Me<sub>2</sub>NH (40% aqueous solution, 350 mL, 2760 mmol, 15 equiv) was added. The vessel was wrapped with aluminum foil and after 1 minute, **stirring was stopped**. After 24 hours, a 1000 mL beaker was filled with ice and slowly dispensed into the reaction vessel. Et<sub>2</sub>O (500 mL) was added but phase separation was not

achieved. The solution was concentrated, **protected from light**, to about  $\frac{1}{4}$ th of the original volume (temperature of rotovap bath 35 °C<) and extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 *x* 600 mL). The organic phases were concentrated to about 1100 mL and the amine product was extracted with an 8.5% aqueous solution of H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (800 mL). The aqueous layer was washed with ether (700 mL), and the pH adjusted to 8–9 by slowing adding NaOH (solid) to a stirring solution of the acidic aqueous layer. The slightly basic aqueous layer was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (2 *x* 1000 mL, 1 *x* 500 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered and concentrated to afford (*R*)-Ugi's amine as a dark red oil (43.1 g, 91% from (*R*)-alcohol). The amine was left under vacuum (200 mtorr) for 48 hours before being transferred into a nitrogen filled glovebox for storage.

The spectra data were in agreement.<sup>43</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  4.14–4.12 (m, 1H), 4.11 (t, *J* = 1.9 Hz, 2H), 4.10 (s, 5H), 4.09 – 4.08 (m, 1H), 3.58 (q, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 2.07 (s, 6H), 1.43 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H).



(R)-N,N-Dimethyl-1-[(S)-2-(diphenylphosphino)ferrocenyl]ethylamine ((R)-PPFA)

Prepared according to a literature procedure.<sup>44</sup>

(*R*)-Ugi's amine (10.0 g, 40 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was transferred into a 250 mL rbf in a glovebox, diluted in Et<sub>2</sub>O (44 mL, [0.91 M]), sealed with a septa, and removed from the glovebox. The solution was placed in a -78 °C bath. After 20 minutes, 'BuLi [1.7 M in pentane] (31 mL, 52.0 mmol, 1.3 equiv) was added dropwise over 21 minutes. After 40 minutes the mixture was removed to room temperature and allowed to stir for 2.5 hours. The mixture was placed in a -78 °C bath for 30 minutes before Ph<sub>2</sub>PCl (13 mL, 68 mmol, 1.7 equiv) was added dropwise over the course of six minutes. The reaction was allowed to reach 0 °C over the course of 5.5 hours and removed to rt. After 13 hours at rt, the reaction was cooled to 0 °C, diluted with 40 mL Et<sub>2</sub>O, and saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (20 mL) was slowly added. A subsequent portion of saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (120 mL) was added followed by benzene (400 mL). The phases were separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with benzene (250 mL). The combined organic fractions were combined, washed with water (3 *x* 300 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated to an orange solid. The crude solid was purified by silica gel chromatography (2:3 EtOAc:Hexanes 5% Et<sub>3</sub>N) to afford an orange foam. The foam was dissolved in EtOAc and concentrated (to remove residual Et<sub>3</sub>N) before being recrystallized from hot EtOH to yield orange crystals (13.63 g, 77%, 2 batches).

The spectra data matched the literature, indicating the isolation of a single diastereomer.<sup>44</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.59 (ddt, *J* = 7.5, 5.1, 2.7 Hz, 2H), 7.38 – 7.34 (m, 3H), 7.23 – 7.15 (m, 5H), 4.37 (s, 1H), 4.24 (t, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (qd, *J* = 6.7, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 3.94 (s, 5H), 3.85 (s, 1H), 1.77 (s, 6H), 1.26 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 3H).

TES TES TES 2.35 equiv 70% pure TES 1)  $^{n}BuLi (2.4 equiv, dropwise), THF [0.25 M]$  -78 °C, 2 h  $2) (Et_2N)PCl_2 (1 equiv, dropwise addition)$  -78 °C to rt overnight (21h) 3) HCl (37%) (9 equiv, sparged 2 h) 0 °C, 1 h; rt, 5 h TES TES

bis(3,5-bis(triethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine oxide

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (243 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -22.92 (s).

A vigorously stirred solution of 1-Br 3,5-TES-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>3</sub> (27.5 g, 50.47 mmol, 2.35 equiv) in 200 mL THF [0.25]M] was placed in a -78 °C acetone bath. After 30 min, "BuLi [2.5 M in hexanes] (20.6 mL, 51.5 mmol, 2.4 equiv) was added dropwise (over the course of 15 minutes). The bath was maintained at -78 °C for 2 hours, then (Et<sub>2</sub>N)PCl<sub>2</sub> (3.74 g, 21.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was weighed out into a syringe in a nitrogen-filled glovebox and dispensed dropwise (3-minute addition) into the -78 °C solution of the aryl lithiate. The reaction was left in the -78 °C bath, but dry ice was no longer added to the cooling bath(allowing ambient temperature to be reached within 18 h). The reaction was checked by <sup>31</sup>P NMR after 18 h and two peaks were present (61.97:61.84 in a ratio of about 0.18: 1.0). After 3 more hours at room temperature, the reaction was cooled to 0 °C. Once at 0 °C, concentrated HCl (37%) (16.3 mL, 198 mmol, 9.0 equiv), which was sparged with nitrogen gas for 2 hours prior to use, was added over the course of 3 minutes. After 1 hour at 0 °C, the ice bath was removed and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 5 hours. The solution was poured onto 1 M HCl (300 mL), diluted with EtOAc (500 mL), and separated. The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (500 mL) and the organic phases were combined, washed with brine, dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:10 to 1:6 EtOAc:Hexanes;  $R_f \approx 0.25$  in 1:6 EtOAc:Hexanes) to afford the desired SOP as a colorless oil (11.54 g, 81%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 8.10 (d, *J* = 474.3 Hz, 1H), 7.79–7.76 (m, 2H), 7.71 (d, *J* = 13.6 Hz, 4H), 0.90 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 36H), 0.76 (q, *J* = 8.1, 7.7 Hz, 24H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (243 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 24.6 (s).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 144.1 (d, *J* = 2.6 Hz), 137.2 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz), 136.7 (d, *J* = 11.1 Hz), 130.1 (d, *J* = 98.0 Hz), 7.4, 3.3.



# bis(2,2",4,4",6,6"-hexaisopropyl-[1,1':3',1"-terphenyl]-5'-yl)phosphine oxide

A vigorously stirred solution of 1-Br 3,5-TRIP-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>3</sub>(15.39 g (76% purity), 22.0 mmol, 2.2 equiv)<sup>45</sup> in 200 mL THF [0.25 M] was placed in a -78 °C acetone bath. After 30 min, "BuLi [2.5 M in hexanes] (8.8 mL, 22.0 mmol, 2.2 equiv) was added dropwise (over the course of 15 minutes). The bath was maintained at -78 °C for 100 minutes, then (Et<sub>2</sub>N)PCl<sub>2</sub> (1.57 g, 9.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was weighed out into a syringe in a nitrogenfilled glovebox and dispensed dropwise (3-minute addition) into the -78 °C solution of the aryl lithiate. The reaction was left in the -78 °C bath, but dry ice was no longer added to the cooling bath(allowing ambient temperature to be reached within 19 h). The reaction was checked by <sup>31</sup>P NMR after 19 h and only one peak detected. The reaction was cooled to 0 °C. Once at 0 °C, concentrated HCl (37%) (7.0 mL, 81 mmol, 9.0 equiv), which was sparged with nitrogen gas for 2 hours prior to use, was added over the course of 3 minutes. After 90 minutes at 0 °C, the ice bath was removed and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 6 hours. The solution was poured onto 1 M HCl (300 mL), diluted with EtOAc (500 mL), and separated. The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (500 mL) and the organic phases were combined, washed with brine, dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:10 to 1:3 to 1:2 EtOAc:Hexanes; R<sub>f</sub> ≈ 0.5 in 1:3 EtOAc:Hexanes) to afford the desired SOP as a colorless solid (7.01 g, 77%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 8.15 (d, *J* = 479.2 Hz, 1H), 7.61 (d, *J* = 13.9 Hz, 4H), 7.29 (s, 2H), 7.04 (s, 8H), 2.94 (p, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 4H), 2.58 (h, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 8H), 1.31 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 24H), 1.04 (dd, *J* = 7.0, 4.0 Hz, 35H), 1.00 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 12H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (202 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  22.25 (dp, *J* = 479.3, 14.1 Hz).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 148.6, 146.4, 141.8 (d, *J* = 13.2 Hz), 135.6 (d, *J* = 3.0 Hz), 135.5, 131.8, 131.0, 129.7 (d, *J* = 11.0 Hz), 120.7, 34.5, 30.6, 24.3, 24.3, 24.2, 24.2, 24.1, 24.0.



#### bis(3,5-bis(triethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine borane

To a PhMe (50 mL, [0.3 M]) solution of the corresponding 3,5-TES SPO (11.2 g, 16.9 mmol, 1.0 eq), Ti(O'Pr)<sub>4</sub>97% (2.0 mL, 40 mol%) and TMDS 97% (3.9 mL, 21.3 mmol, 1.25 equiv) were sequentially added under a positive flow of nitrogen at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction was placed in a 70 °C oil bath. After 11 hours, another portion of TMDS (3.0 mL, 17 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added. After a total of 24 hours at 70 °C, the reaction was cooled to 0 °C and BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS (4 mL, 43 mmol, 2.5 eq) was added dropwise (over a period of 2 minutes). After 90 minutes at 0 °C, the ice bath was removed. After 24 hours at room temperature, 5–10 grams of silica gel was added and the slurry was allowed to stir for about 5 minutes under nitrogen. The slurry was filtered over a pad of silica gel with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>and concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:8 to 1:3 CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>:Hexanes; R<sub>f</sub> ≈ 0.20 in 1:7 CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>:Hexanes) to afford the desired secondary phosphine borane as a white solid (9.99 g, 90%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.72–7.70 (m, 2H), 7.68 (d, *J* = 11.7 Hz, 4H), 6.29 (dq, *J* = 375.5, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 0.92 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 36H), 0.76 (q, *J* = 8.5, 8.1 Hz, 24H). The signal for BH<sub>3</sub> is broad and baseline 1.8–0.66 (3H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (202 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 1.2 (s).

<sup>11</sup>**B NMR** (160 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -40.9 (bs).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 143.1 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz), 138.9 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz), 137.6 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz), 124.9 (d, *J* = 54.0 Hz), 7.4, 3.4.



bis(2,2",4,4",6,6"-hexaisopropyl-[1,1':3',1"-terphenyl]-5'-yl)phosphine borane

A cycled 500 mL Schlenk round bottom was charged with  $(3,5-TRIP)_2P(O)H(6.42 \text{ g}, 6.35 \text{ mmol}, 1.0 \text{ equiv})$ and placed under vacuum. The flask was refilled with nitrogen and PhMe (51 mL, 0.125 M) and Cu(OTf)<sub>2</sub> (300 mg, 12.5 mol%), which was weighed in a glovebox, were added. The flask was briefly cycled before the addition of TMDS (2.4 mL, 13 mmol, 2.0 equiv) at room temperature. The vessel was placed in a oil bath set at 100 °C and after 9 hours additional TMDS (600 µl, 3.2 mmol, 0.5 equiv) was added by syringe. After 14 addition hours, the reaction was removed to room temperature, cooled 0 °C, and BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS (1.3 mL, 13 mmol, 2.0 eq) was added dropwise (over a period of 2 minutes). After 45 minutes at 0 °C, the ice bath was removed. After 23 hours at room temperature, 10–20 grams of silica gel was added and the slurry was allowed to stir for about 5 minutes under nitrogen. The slurry was filtered over a pad of silica gel with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>and concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:7 to 1:3 CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>:Hexanes; R<sub>f</sub> ≈ 0.50 in 1:3 CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>:Hexanes) to afford the desired secondary phosphine borane as a white solid (5.31 g, 83%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.68–7.57 (m, 4H), 7.26–7.21 (m, 2H), 7.10–7.02 (m, 8H), 6.38 (dp, *J* = 378.1, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 3.00–2.92 (m, 4H), 2.58 (tq, *J* = 13.9, 6.9 Hz, 8H), 1.33 (t, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 24H), 1.12–1.03 (m, 35H), 1.00–0.95 (m, 12H). The signal for B<u>H</u><sub>3</sub> is broad and baseline 1.2–0.8 (3H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (243 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -0.2 (s).

<sup>11</sup>**B NMR** (193 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -40.2 (s).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 148.6, 146.5 (d, *J* = 15.4 Hz), 141.8 (d, *J* = 10.5 Hz), 135.6, 134.8 (d, *J* = 2.5 Hz), 132.5 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz), 125.7 (d, *J* = 54.8 Hz), 120.8, 34.5 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz), 30.7, 24.3, 24.2, 24.2–24.1 (m).



(R)-1-[(S<sub>p</sub>)-2-(Diphenylphosphino)ferrocenyl]ethylbis(3,5-bis(triethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine• 2BH<sub>3</sub>

(R,S)-(3,5-TES)Josiphos•2BH<sub>3</sub>

In a nitrogen-filled glovebox, (*R*)-PPFA (3.2 g, 7.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv), (3,5-TES)<sub>2</sub>P(BH<sub>3</sub>)H (5.6 g, 8.5 mmol, 1.2 equiv), and PhMe (19 mL, [0.375 M]) were added to a 500 mL Schlenk round bottom reaction flask. The flask was sealed with a septum, removed from the glovebox and AcOH (59 mL, [0.12 M]) was added at room

temperature. The reaction was briefly cycled three times (vacuum was applied until light bubbling occurred and then the vessel was refilled with nitrogen) and placed in a 95 °C oil bath. After 24 hours, the reaction was removed to room temperature. Once room temperature was reached (cooling can be applied to expediate the process), the reaction was concentrated to a thick orange oil on a Schlenk line (200 mtorr at 35 °C). The flask was refilled with nitrogen and PhMe (20 mL) was added to dissolve the orange sludge. Once dissolved, the solution was concentrated again to an orange, thick oil (at 200 mtorr). The sludge was then placed in a 35 °C bath under dynamic vacuum (200 mtorr) for 20 minutes. The flask was refilled with nitrogen, THF (72 mL, [0.1 M]) was added, and the reaction was cooled to 0 °C. BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS (7.4 mL, 86.4 mmol, 12 equiv) was added over the course of 5 minutes, and the reaction was left to stir at 0 °C for 15 minutes before being removed to room temperature. After being stirred at room temperature for 4 hours, the solution was slowly poured onto a saturated aqueous solution of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (500 mL) and diluted with EtOAc (400 mL). The phases were separated and the organic layer was washed with brine (300 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated to an orange solid. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:17 EtOAc:Hexanes;  $R_f \approx 0.5$  in 1:14 EtOAc:Hexanes) to afford (R,S)-(3,5-TES)Josiphos•2BH<sub>3</sub> as an orange solid (7.16 g, 98%). The product is easily visualized by TLC (the product is an orange spot by TLC and can easily be monitored during column chromatography).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.00 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 2H), 7.75 (s, 1H), 7.72 (t, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.55 (s, 1H), 7.49 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.45 (t, *J* = 7.5, 7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 10.3 Hz, 2H), 7.15 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 6.89 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 6.82 - 6.71 (m, 2H), 5.44 (s, 1H), 4.58-4.50 (m, 2H), 3.96 (s, 6H), 1.78 (dd, *J* = 15.8, 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.95 (t, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 19H), 0.81 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 30H), 0.58 (q, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 11H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (243 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 28.9 (s, 1P), 15.0 (s, 1P).

<sup>11</sup>**B NMR** (193 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -35.4 (bs), -38.5 (bs).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  143.56 (d, J = 2.3 Hz), 142.34 (d, J = 2.4 Hz), 140.28 (d, J = 7.8 Hz), 139.80 (d, J = 8.7 Hz), 137.29 (d, J = 6.5 Hz), 136.94 (d, J = 6.7 Hz), 134.05 (d, J = 9.6 Hz), 133.60, 133.19, 132.71, 132.37, 132.31, 131.59 (d, J = 2.4 Hz), 130.28 (d, J = 2.5 Hz), 129.23 (d, J = 48.3 Hz), 128.72 (d, J = 10.3 Hz), 128.50 (d, J = 10.1 Hz), 126.15 (d, J = 50.4 Hz), 98.30 (dd, J = 17.2, 6.1 Hz), 72.32 (d, J = 3.2 Hz), 72.15 (dd, J = 7.9, 3.8 Hz), 71.39 (d, J = 6.3 Hz), 70.98, 67.75 (dd, J = 62.0, 3.9 Hz), 27.48 (d, J = 31.0 Hz), 23.55 (d, J = 3.9 Hz), 7.72 (d, J = 8.7 Hz), 3.75.

$$(R)-PPFA + (3,5-TRIP)_2P(BH_3)H = \begin{array}{c} 1) AcOH (400 ppm H_2O) [0.11 M], PhMe [0.4 M] \\ \underline{95 \ ^\circ C, 24 h} \\ \hline 2) conc., PhMe [0.18 M] added, conc. \\ 3) BH_3 \bullet DMS (12 equiv, dropwise), THF [0.079 M] \\ 0 \ ^\circ C, 20 min; 4 h rt \end{array} \qquad Ph_2P \begin{array}{c} P(3,5-TRIP)_2 \\ \hline P \\$$

(R)-1-[(S<sub>p</sub>)-2-(Diphenylphosphino)ferrocenyl]ethylbis(bis(2,2",4,4",6,6"-hexaisopropyl-[1,1':3',1"-terphenyl]-5'-yl)phosphine•2BH<sub>3</sub>

(R,S)-(3,5-TRIP)Josiphos•2BH<sub>3</sub>

In a nitrogen-filled glovebox, (R)-PPFA (1.6 g, 3.63 mmol, 1.0 equiv), (3,5-TRIP)<sub>2</sub>P(BH<sub>3</sub>)H (4.05 g, 4.0 mmol, 1.1 equiv), and PhMe (9 mL, [0.4 M]) were added to a 250 mL Schlenk round bottom reaction flask. The flask was sealed with a septum, removed from the glovebox and AcOH (5932 mL, [0.11 M]) was added at room temperature. The reaction was briefly cycled three times (vacuum was applied until light bubbling occurred and then the vessel was refilled with nitrogen) and placed in a 95 °C oil bath. After 24 hours, the reaction was removed to room temperature. Once room temperature was reached (cooling can be applied to expediate the process), the reaction was concentrated to a thick orange oil on a Schlenk line (200 mtorr at 35 °C). The flask was refilled with nitrogen and PhMe (20 mL) was added to dissolve the orange sludge. Once dissolved, the solution was concentrated again to an orange foam (at 200 mtorr). The foam was then placed in a 35 °C bath under vacuum (200 mtorr) for 20 minutes. The flask was refilled with nitrogen, THF (46 mL, [0.079 M]) was added, and the reaction was cooled to 0 °C. BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS (3.8 mL, 44.0 mmol, 12 equiv) was added over the course of 5 minutes, and the reaction was left to stir at 0 °C for 20 minutes before being removed to room temperature. After being stirred at room temperature for 4 hours, the solution was slowly poured onto a saturated aqueous solution of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (500 mL) and diluted with EtOAc (400 mL). The phases were separated and the organic layer was washed with brine (300 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated to an orange solid. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:20 to 1:9 Et<sub>2</sub>O:Hexanes) to afford ( $R_{s}$ )-(3,5-TRIP) Josiphos•2BH<sub>3</sub> as an orange solid (4.96 g, 96%). The product is easily visualized by TLC (the product is an orange spot by TLC and can easily be monitored during column chromatography).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.60–7.52 (m, 4H), 7.47–7.40 (m, 5H), 7.32 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.17 (s, 1H), 7.09 (s, 2H), 7.04 (s, 2H), 7.02 (s, 4H), 7.00 (s, 2H), 6.59 (s, 2H), 4.70 (s, 1H), 4.30 (s, 5H), 4.22 (s, 1H), 3.79 (s, 1H), 3.34 (s, 1H), 3.01–2.89 (m, 4H), 2.63–2.54 (m, 4H), 2.46 (dt, *J* = 20.9, 6.8 Hz, 4H), 1.81 (dd, *J* = 15.9, 6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.35–1.28 (m, 26H), 1.06 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 7H), 1.04–0.98 (m, 20H), 0.97–0.91 (m, 18H), 0.77 (s, 6H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (243 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 24.7 (bs, 1P), 14.9 (s, 1P).

<sup>11</sup>**B NMR** (193 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -35.5 (bs), -38.7 (bs).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 148.5, 148.4, 146.8, 146.5, 146.4, 146.2, 141.2 (d, *J* = 10.1 Hz), 141.0 (d, *J* = 10.2 Hz), 135.9 (d, *J* = 16.5 Hz), 134.5, 134.2, 133.1 (d, *J* = 9.4 Hz), 132.8, 131.9, 131.5, 131.0 (dd, *J* = 28.4, 2.4 Hz), 129.7 (d, *J* = 56.9 Hz), 128.6 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz), 128.4 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz), 120.8, 120.7, 120.7, 120.5, 94.7, 73.7, 70.7, 69.1, 68.6, 68.2, 34.5 (d, *J* = 3.8 Hz), 30.7, 30.6, 30.5, 24.6, 24.3, 24.3, 24.3, 24.2, 24.1, 24.1, 24.0, 24.0, 23.7.



# (R)-1-[(S<sub>p</sub>)-2-(Diphenylphosphino)ferrocenyl]ethylbis(3,5-bis(triethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine

# (R,S)-(3,5-TES)Josiphos

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, (*R*,*S*)-(3,5-TES)Josiphos•2BH<sub>3</sub> (6.89 g, 6.45 mmol, 1 equiv), 1,4diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane (DABCO) (7.2 g, 64.5 mmol, 10 equiv) were added to a 250 ml Schlenk round bottom flask followed by PhMe (43 mL [0.15 M]). The flask was sealed with a septum, removed from the glovebox, placed in a 90 °C oil bath under a flow of N<sub>2</sub> gas. After 24 hours, the reaction was removed to room temperature and concentrated to an orange sludge. The round bottom was moved into the glovebox and a silica gel column was prepared (column volume = 75 mL) with 1:19 Et<sub>2</sub>O:pentane. The concentrated reaction was loaded onto the column and eluted with Et<sub>2</sub>O:pentane (1:19 to 1:10). Only the orange fractions were collected and analyzed by TLC (KMnO<sub>4</sub> and Dragendorff-Munier stains were used to ensure DABCO did not bleed through the column). The desired fractions were concentrated to afford pure product as a thick orange oil which was concentrated at 35 °C for five hours (6.61 g, 98%). The oil solidified upon storage in a freezer (-30 °C). All other JosiPhos derivatives were typically solids (except one). An NMR sample of the ligand in CDCl<sub>3</sub> was exposed to air for 17 hours and less than 1% of the ligand had oxidized. The sample was concentrated and passed through a plug of silica gel in air with 1:19 Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes as the eluent. Analysis by <sup>31</sup>P NMR revealed about 2% oxidation. For ease of screening, stocks solutions were prepared in stored at -30 °C.

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.78–7.74 (m, 2H), 7.62 (s, 1H), 7.56 (s, 1H), 7.50 (d, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 2H), 7.47–7.43 (m, 3H), 7.40 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.32–7.27 (m, 2H), 7.23–7.17 (m, 3H), 4.30 (t, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 1H), 4.13 (s, 1H), 3.97 (s, 1H), 3.90 (s, 5H), 3.88–3.86 (m, 1H), 1.45 (t, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 3H), 1.01 (dt, *J* = 10.8, 7.9 Hz, 36H), 0.90–0.68 (m, 18H). Residual PhMe present.

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (243 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.2 (d, *J* = 31.1 Hz, 1P), -24.5 (d, *J* = 30.9 Hz, 1P).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 141.4, 141.4, 141.3, 141.3, 140.6, 139.9 (dd, *J* = 9.6, 2.1 Hz), 139.4, 138.4 (d, *J* = 15.5 Hz), 136.3 (d, *J* = 21.9 Hz), 135.8 (d, *J* = 22.6 Hz), 135.6 (d, *J* = 3.0 Hz), 135.2 (d, *J* = 5.3 Hz), 133.6 (d, *J* = 23.0 Hz), 132.7 (dd, *J* = 16.7, 2.6 Hz), 129.1, 128.1 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz), 127.6 (d, *J* = 5.6 Hz), 127.2, 99.6

(dd, *J* = 26.5, 20.3 Hz), 75.1 (dd, *J* = 11.0, 3.3 Hz), 71.4 (d, *J* = 4.1 Hz), 69.5, 69.3 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 68.9, 30.6 (dd, *J* = 20.0, 9.9 Hz), 16.9, 7.6, 3.6 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz).

$$Ph_{2}P \xrightarrow[Fe]{} P(3,5-TRIP)_{2} \xrightarrow{DABCO (10 equiv)}{PhMe [0.15 M]} Ph_{2}P \xrightarrow[Fe]{} P(3,5-TRIP)_{2}$$

 $(R)-1-[(S_p)-2-(Diphenylphosphino)ferrocenyl]ethylbis(bis(2,2",4,4",6,6"-hexaisopropyl-[1,1':3',1''-terphenyl]-5'-yl)phosphine$ 

(R,S)-(3,5-TRIP)Josiphos

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, (R,S)-(3,5-TRIP)Josiphos-2BH<sub>3</sub> (4.90 g, 3.45 mmol, 1 equiv), 1,4diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane (DABCO) (3.90 g, 34.5 mmol, 10 equiv) were added to a 200 ml Schlenk bomb followed by PhMe (24 mL [0.144 M]). The bomb was sealed, removed from the glovebox, placed in a 90 °C oil bath under a flow of N<sub>2</sub> gas. After 24 hours, the reaction was removed to room temperature and concentrated to an orange sludge (about 2-3 mL of PhMe was present). The round bottom was moved into the glovebox and a silica gel column was prepared (column volume = 100 mL) with 1:19 Et<sub>2</sub>O:pentane. The crude reaction micture was loaded onto the column and eluted with Et<sub>2</sub>O:pentane (1:19 to 1:12). Only the orange fractions were collected and analyzed by TLC (KMnO<sub>4</sub> and Dragendorff-Munier stains were used to ensure DABCO did not bleed through the column). The desired fractions were concentrated to afford pure product as an orange foam which was concentrated at 35 °C for three hours (4.77 g, 99%). The solid was stored in a freezer (-30 °C).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.49–7.42 (m, 2H), 7.24–7.22 (m, 3H), 7.19 (dd, *J* = 6.2, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 7.15–7.12 (m, 4H), 7.08–7.03 (m, 6H), 6.93 (d, *J* = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.92 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 2H), 6.90 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 4H), 6.88 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 2H), 6.86–6.82 (m, 1H), 6.80 (t, *J* = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 6.50 (td, *J* = 7.8, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 4.02 (t, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 1H), 3.91 (s, 1H), 3.82 (s, 5H), 3.74 (s, 1H), 3.49 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 1H), 2.83 (pd, *J* = 7.0, 4.2 Hz, 4H), 2.56 (dp, *J* = 10.6, 6.8 Hz, 6H), 2.45 (p, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.25 (s, 4H), 1.43 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 3H), 1.24–1.20 (m, 24H), 0.94–0.88 (m, 30H), 0.84 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 6H), 0.78 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 6H), 0.70 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 6H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (202 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  2.2 (s, 1P), -25.9 (d, *J* = 33.3 Hz, 1P).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 148.0 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz), 146.6 (d, *J* = 6.2 Hz), 146.4 (d, *J* = 19.2 Hz), 140.5 (d, *J* = 5.2 Hz), 140.2, 140.1, 139.0 (dd, *J* = 10.4, 2.0 Hz), 138.0, 137.7, 137.6, 137.0, 136.7, 135.6, 135.5, 135.4, 135.3, 132.7, 132.7, 132.6, 130.9 (d, *J* = 15.6 Hz), 130.6, 129.2, 129.0, 128.4, 128.1 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz), 127.8 (d, *J* = 6.1 Hz), 127.6, 125.5, 120.6 (d, *J* = 5.6 Hz), 120.5, 120.3, 97.3 (dd, *J* = 24.8, 16.0 Hz), 74.9 (dd, *J* = 10.9, 3.5

Hz), 71.4 (d, *J* = 4.0 Hz), 70.1, 69.6, 68.7, 34.5 (d, *J* = 4.1 Hz), 30.6, 30.5, 30.4, 24.7, 24.6, 24.4, 24.3, 24.1, 23.8, 23.7, 21.6.



### Selected Examples for Secondary Phosphine Borane Synthesis

### bis(3,5-bis(trimethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine oxide

Prepared according to a modified literature report.<sup>40,46</sup>

To a 250 mL Schlecnk round bottom flask was added NaH 60% in mineral oil (1.32 g, 33 mmol, 1.1 equiv), THF (30 mL, [1.0 M]), and the slurry cooled to 0 °C. Then, (EtO)<sub>2</sub>P(O)H (3.8 mL, 29.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv, distilled under nitrogen) was added dropwise. After 90 minutes at 0 °C, the slurry was removed to room temperature and stirred for another 60 minutes. The slurry of the deprotonated SPO was transferred to the addition funnel (situated above the prepared Grignard mixture )with an additional THF (15 mL). The THF solution of 1-MgBr 3,5-TMS-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>3</sub> (80 mL, [0.8 M], 2.16 equiv) (prepared from 1-Br 3,5-TMS-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>3</sub>(26.46 g, 76 mmol, 2.3 equiv), Mg (2.2 g, 90 mmol, 3 equiv), THF for aryl–Br 60 mL, THF for Mg 20 mL) was cooled to -12 °C and the deprotonated SPO was added dropwise over the course of 30 minutes. After 90 minutes the reaction had reached 2 °C and was allowed to continue to reach room temperature. After 24 hours, the reaction was cooled to 0 °C and a saturated, aqueous solution of Na<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (70 mL) was added slowly. The resulting gel was filtered over a pad of celite on a medium sized pore frit. The vessel was rinsed with  $Et_2O(2x)$ 350 mL) and subsequently poured onto the frit. The resulting biphasic solution was washed with saturated NH4Cl (300 mL), brine (300 mL), dried over Na2SO4, filtered, and concentrated to afford a vicious yellow oil with milky, white chunks. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:4 to 1:3 to 3: 7 EtOAc:Hexanes;  $R_f \approx 0.25$  in 1:4 EtOAc:Hexanes) to afford the desired SPO as a white solid (6.11 g, 42%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.11 (d, *J* = 475.7 Hz, 1H), 7.84–7.82 (m, 4H), 7.81 (d, *J* = 1.3 Hz, 2H), 0.26 (s, 36H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (203 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  23.2 (s).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 142.1 (d, *J* = 2.7 Hz), 140.4 (d, *J* = 9.1 Hz), 135.8 (d, *J* = 11.0 Hz), 129.8 (d, *J* = 97.5 Hz), -1.2.



### bis(3,5-bis(trimethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine borane

To a PhMe (50 mL, [0.4 M]) solution of the corresponding 3,5-TMS SPO (4.9 g, 10 mmol, 1.0 eq), Ti(O'Pr)<sub>4</sub> 97% (1.2 mL, 40 mol%) and TMDS 97% (2.3 mL, 12.5 mmol, 1.25 equiv) were sequentially added under a positive flow of nitrogen at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction was placed in a 70 °C oil bath. After 10 hours, another portion of TMDS (1.8 mL, 10 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added. After a total of 22.5 hours at 70 °C, the reaction was cooled to 0 °C and BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS (1.9 mL, 20 mmol, 2.0 eq) was added dropwise. After 2 hours at 0 °C, the ice bath was removed. After 22 hours at room temperature, 5–10 grams of silica gel was added and the slurry was allowed to stir for about 5 minutes under nitrogen. The slurry was filtered over a pad of silica gel with DCM and concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:7 to 1:3 DCM:Hexanes; R<sub>f</sub> ≈ 0.4 in 1:3 DCM:Hexanes) to afford the desired secondary phosphine borane as a white solid (4.39 g, 90%). About 2% of the phosphine oxide is present.

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.84 (s, 2H), 7.83–7.82 (m, 4H), 6.36 (dq, *J* = 376.4, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 0.32 (s, 36H). The signals for the B<u>H</u><sub>3</sub> protons are baseline.

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (202 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 0.94 (s).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 141.2 (d, *J* = 2.4 Hz), 140.8 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz), 138.1 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz), 124.8 (d, *J* = 53.7 Hz), -1.1.





Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>47</sup>

1,3-Bis(perfluoropropan-2-yl)-iodo-benzene (12.42g, 23 mmol, 2.3 equiv) was added to Et<sub>2</sub>O (70 mL, [0.33 M]) and cooled to -78 °C. TMEDA (3.5 mL, 23 mmol, 2.3 equiv) was added (solution became slightly yellow upon addition) and "BuLi [2.5 M in hexanes] (9.2 mL, 23 mmol, 2.3 equiv) was added dropwise over the course of 10 minutes (the reaction became brown, not completely homogenous). After 2 hours of stirring at -78 °C, (Et<sub>2</sub>N)PCl<sub>2</sub> (1.74 g, 10 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added dropwise to the aryl lithiate. After 6 hours the cooling bath had reached -32 °C, after 8 hours the bath had reached 0 °C. Seventeen hours after the addition of (Et<sub>2</sub>N)PCl<sub>2</sub>, <sup>31</sup>P nmr analysis indicated one major species at 59.6 ppm. The reaction was stirred for an additional two hours before it was cooled to 0 °C. Concentrated HCl (37%) (12.4 mL, 150 mmol, 15 equiv), which was sparged with nitrogen gas for 2 hours prior to use, was added over the course of 3 minutes. After 90 minutes at 0 °C, the ice bath was removed and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 5 hours. The solution was poured onto 1.25 M HCl (300 mL), diluted with EtOAc (500 mL), and separated. The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (300 mL) and the organic phases were combined, washed with H<sub>2</sub>O (300 mL), brine (300 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:6 to 1:3 EtOAc:Hexanes; R<sub>f</sub> ≈ 0.7 in 1:3 EtOAc:Hexanes) to afford the desired SOP as a colorless solid (5.06 g, 58%).

The <sup>1</sup>H spectra data matched the literature.<sup>47</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.38 (d, *J* = 507.1 Hz, 1H), 8.12–8.10 (m, 4H), 8.10 – 8.08 (m, 2H). <sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (243 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  14.56 (s).



bis(3,5-bis(perfluoropropan-2-yl)phenyl)phosphine borane

Notes: This secondary phosphine appears to be moderately air stable and may be suitable for isolation without borane protection. Before the addition of BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS, the crude reaction was analyzed by <sup>31</sup>P NMR and indicated a one major and one minor species. Suggesting the addition of BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS may not be suitable for the protection of this secondary phosphine (due to the low chemical yield). Suggestion: isolate the free phosphine or attempt an alternative reduction prodcedure (CeCl<sub>3</sub> (with or without NaBH<sub>4</sub>) and LAH,<sup>48</sup> or DIBAL–H<sup>39,49</sup> may prove fruitful).

To a PhMe (24mL, [0.4 M]) solution of the corresponding 3,5-Pr<sub>F7</sub> SPO (4.85 g, 5.54 mmol, 1.0 eq), Ti(O'Pr)<sub>4</sub> 97% (700  $\mu$ L, 40 mol%) and TMDS 97% (1.3 mL, 7 mmol, 1.25 equiv) were sequentially added under a positive flow of nitrogen at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction was placed in a 70 °C oil bath. After 12 hours, another portion of TMDS (500 mL, 2.8 mmol, 0.5 equiv) was added. After a total of 24 hours at 70 °C, the reaction was cooled to 0 °C and BH<sub>3</sub>•DMS (1.6 mL, 16.6 mmol, 3.0 eq) was added dropwise. After 1 hours at 0 °C, the ice bath was removed. After 2 hours at room temperature the brown solution became a brown sludge, and the stir bar stopped stirring. After 22 hours at room temperature, 5–10 grams of silica gel was added under nitrogen. The sludge was filtered over a pad of silica gel with DCM and concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:7 to 1:3 DCM:Hexanes; R<sub>f</sub> ≈ 0.4 in 1:3 DCM:Hexanes) to a mixture of the desired secondary phosphine borane, secondary phosphine, and phosphine oxide as a white solid (360 mg, 7%). This mixture can be used in the subsequent step to afford the bisborane adduct in 20% yield.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 8.06 (d, J = 5.8 Hz, 4H), 8.03 (s, 2H), 6.65 (dq, J = 388.8, 7.4 Hz, 1H).
<sup>31</sup>P NMR (202 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 14.8 (s, R<sub>2</sub>P(O)H), 4.3 (s, R<sub>2</sub>P(BH<sub>3</sub>)H), -40.2 (s, R<sub>2</sub>PH).
<sup>19</sup>F NMR (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -75.62--75.74 (m), -182.37 (p, J = 7.7 Hz).

### 2.5.3 Synthesis of Reagents

PCI<sub>3</sub> 
$$\frac{\text{Et}_2\text{NH:Et}_3\text{N} (1:1) (1 \text{ equiv}), \text{ ether } [0.91 \text{ M}]}{-78^\circ\text{C to rt}; \text{ rt}, 15 \text{ h}}$$
 (Et<sub>2</sub>N)PCI<sub>2</sub>

### Dichloro(diethylamino)phosphine

Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>50</sup>

To a 1000 mL, 3-neck round bottom flask with Et<sub>2</sub>O (555 mL, [0.91 M]) at -78 C, PCl<sub>3</sub> (45 mL, 505 mmol, 1.01 equiv) was added. Et<sub>3</sub>N (70 mL, 500 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and Et<sub>2</sub>NH (52 mL, 500 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were added to a 250 mL addition and thoroughly mixed. The amine mixture was added dropwise over the course 120 minutes to the vigorously stirred, -78 °C solution of PCl<sub>3</sub>. Amine mixture had been added, dry ice was no longer added to the cooling bath. After 5 hours, the cooling bath was removed (the reaction becomes very thick and stirring may halt if a small stir bar was utilized; if this occurs attempt to swirl the flask and rinse down the slurry from the reaction vessel walls with minimum Et<sub>2</sub>O; if stirring cannot be achieved the chemical yield should not drop too much). After being at room temperature for 15 hours, the slurry was rapidly filtered over a medium frit under a nitrogen blanket, rinsed with pentane (2 x 300 mL) (pentane was sparged for 90 minutes while being dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>), and concentrated to a yellow oil on a rotovap. The yellow oil was transferred to a cycled distillation apparatus and the crude residue distilled (40–44 °C, 150 mtorr) to afford
$Et_2NPCl_2$  as a colorless oil (65.5 g, 75%). The product does not appear to be extremely sensitive to air (an NMR could be obtained in reagent grade  $CDCl_3$  within 15 minutes without hydrolysis or oxidation).

The spectra data matched an authentic sample purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 3.34 (dq, *J* = 13.0, 7.2 Hz, 4H), 1.19 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 6H).

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (243 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 162.5 (s).

## Dimethylphenyl(4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan-2-yl)silane

Prepared according to a literature procedure.<sup>51</sup>

In air, lithium wire 99% (2.78 g, 400 mmol, 4.0 equiv) was cut into small pieces (tweezers and scissors were cleaned with acetone, hexanes, then dried) into a tarred 20 mL vial containing 10 mL of hexanes. The lithium pieces were transferred to a 250 mL Schlenk round bottom reaction vessel and pentane (20 mL) was added. The lithium pieces were stirred under nitrogen for two minutes and the pentane was removed by pipette under a nitrogen flow. This rinse was repeated once more. Anhydrous THF (30 mL) was added and after two minutes of stirring, removed by pipette. The cleaned lithium pieces were briefly cycled under vacuum three times before THF (100 mL, [1.0 M]) was added and the reaction vessel was placed in a 0 °C bath with vigorous stirring. After 30 minutes, PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiCl (16.8 mL, 100 mmol, 1.0 equiv, distilled under nitrogen) was added dropwise over the course of eight minutes. By the end of the addition, the THF became slightly yellow, whereas the lithium wire transformed from a gray/silver color to a copper hue. After one hour, the THF achieved a deep red/purple color. After 7 hours, the solution of PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiLi was canula transferred dropwise to a 0 °C solution of PrOBpin (42 mL, 206 mmol, 2.06 equiv, distilled prior to use) in pentane [103 mL, 2.0 M wrt to 'PrOBpin] over the course of 40 minutes (do not increase the rate of addition; a faster rate of addition led to a decrease in yield). The reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature overnight (19–20 hours). The next morning, a 200 mL Schlenk round bottom reaction vessel was modified with a short distillation head equipped with a receiving 100 mL Schlenk bomb. The white slurry was quickly filtered under a nitrogen blanket (nitrogen tube taped to an inverted, large plastic funnel) over oven-dried celite (dried under vacuum, 200 mtorr) on an oven-dried, medium sized frit (which was cooled under a nitrogen flow prior to filtration). The celite was rinsed with pentane  $(2 \times 150 \text{ mL})$ , and the solvent removed on a rotovap. The residue was

quickly transferred to the cooled 200 mL Schlenk reaction vessel (a minimum amount of pentane was used to rinse the crude from the first flask to the 200 mL Schlenk vessel) and the pentane removed. The residue was distilled at 200 mtorr. Everything below 100 °C was discarded (appears to be mostly pinB–O–Bpin), the desired silvlborane was collected between 110 –116 °C (65%, 17.04 g) as a colorless oil (the oil remaining in the distillation flask was mostly the disilane with unidentified byproducts). The product was transferred into a glovebox and stored at -25 °C. At this temperature it solidified to a white solid. After removing the silylborane from the freezer it remained a solid. Samples that had been left outside of the glovebox freezer but in the glovebox (greater than 4-6 weeks) began to liquefy (perhaps from the introduction of trace water from microsyringes). For catalytic reactions, small quantities were removed from the 20 mL vial in the freezer and gently warmed to 26 °C prior to use (so that a microsyringe could be used to transfer the reagent). The major impurity in the Sigma Aldrich supplied PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin was identified by GC-MS and NMR as PhMe<sub>2</sub>Si–O– Bpin. Reactions were more reproducible when PhMe<sub>2</sub>Si–O–Bpin was absent (using an excess of the silylborane was not an appropriate solution). Careful distillation can be used to purify PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (the yield may decrease because the boiling point of PhMe<sub>2</sub>Si–O–Bpin tails into the beginning of the boiling point of PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin; however, the synthesis of PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin can be done on scale with relative ease). Both PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiCl and <sup>i</sup>PrOBpin should be distilled and sparged prior to use. It was found that cleaning the surface of the lithium metal by stirring it with 5 mol % TMSCl (wrt to the mmol of Li) in THF for 30 minutes to an hour with a subsequent THF wash (2 x 30 mL) lead to a decrease in the amount of PhMe<sub>2</sub>Si–O–Bpin.

The spectra data matched the literature.<sup>51</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.63–7.61 (m, 2H), 7.38–7.35 (m, 3H), 1.29 (s, 12H), 0.37 (s, 6H).

<sup>11</sup>**B NMR** (160 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 34.8 (bs).

# Quenching the excess lithium:

Note: After the addition of every portion of ROH species, monitor the vessel to ensure that the reaction does not run away (often it takes 2–3 minutes after each ROH portion to know if an appropriate amount of alcohol has been added). If too much ROH is added and the gas evolution is too vigorous, stop stirring and place the vessel in a -78 °C bath. Once at -78 °C begin stirring. If gas evolution seems under control place the vessel back in the 0 °C bath. Quenching the excess lithium wire should be done under an atmosphere of nitrogen with a large vent needle in the septa that is fitted on the top of the reaction vessel.

The 250 mL round bottom flask containing the excess lithium was placed in a 0 °C bath and isopropanol (50-75 mL) was slowly added. MeOH (1–3 mL) was slowly added. The vessel was monitored to gauge gas evolution. When gas evolution ceased more MeOH (3–4 mL) was added and gass evolution was monitored again. This process was repeated until all the lithium wire pieces had dissolved. Once the lithium was

dissolved, the vessel was removed to rt and water was slowly added. The solution was slowly neutralized and discarded.

### **Sodium Phenolates**

Prepared according to a modified, literature procedure.<sup>52</sup>

Note: Metal phenolates are hydroscopic and should be thoroughly purified before use in the catalytic reaction. The purity of the phenolate is crucial to obtain reproducible results. Potassium phenolates were prepared with KH powder, and were more soluble than their sodium analogs.

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, NaH powder 95% (1.26 g, 50 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added to a 200 mL round bottom flask. The vessel was sealed and transferred to a Schleck line where THF (25 mL, [2.0 M])was added. The phenol (50 mmol, 1.0 equiv), which was azetroped with anhydrous benzene (3*x*) and, when necessary, distilled under nitrogen), was dissolved in THF (25 mL [2.0]) and added to the vigorously stirred slurry of NaH. After 60–70 minutes, the solution was concentrated, concentrated at an evaluated temperature (40–90 °C at 200 mtorr, depending on the molecular weight of the phenol) to yield a powder. The flask and solid was transferred back inside the glovebox and dissolved in a minimum amount of THF (about 6 g of sodium phenolate required 40–50 mL THF, dependent on substituents). The solution was filtered over a fine frit and concentrated until a white solid began to precipitate out of solution (about 10 mL THF remaining). Hexane was added to facilitate further precipitation and slurry was filter over a medium sized frit. Off white solid was washed with benzene (enough to cover the solid), followed by hexane (washes should remove any colored impurities) to yield a white solid, that was dried at 30–40 °C at 200 mtorr for 8–10 hours. For 2-methoxyphenol (8.41 mL, 75 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and NaH (1.89 g, 75 mmol, 1.0 equiv), 10.4 g (95%) of a white solid was obtained, which was stored in a -25 °C freezer in the glovebox. Most phenolates were stored in the glovebox, protected from light, but shelf lives were prolonged by freezer storage (>6 months).

# 2.5.4 Synthesis of Substrates

# **General Routes:**

Two general routes were taken for the synthesis of the internal, difluoroalkynes.

Route (I) utilizes  $CF_2Br_2$  as the fluorinated building block following literature reports.<sup>53</sup> Freezing the THF solution of the lithium acetylide with liquid nitrogen gave improved yields for alkynes bearing a 1° alkyl group relative to reaction conditions that utilize a -110 °C cooling bath (which works well for R = TIPS).<sup>20a</sup> The

palladium Suzuki coupling of the bromodifluoropropargyl electrophiles when R was a 1° aliphatic group gave reaction mixtures that were difficult to purify by column chromatography (due to isomerization of the propargyl palladium intermediate, which resulted in of allene formation), thus reported conditions were modified to ease purification.<sup>19</sup>

Route (II) employed ethyl bromodifluoroacetate as the fluorinated building block. After the copper promoted coupling with aryl iodidesthe resulting esters were transformed into either their respective carboxylic acids literature reported conditions.<sup>54</sup> From the carboxylic acid intermediates, either decarboxylative bromination or decarboxylative alkynylation conditions were applied.<sup>55</sup> A photochemical procedure was developed to couple the bromodifluoroarenes with terminal alkynes. The difluoroalkynyl TIPS substrates were subsequently deprotected and arylated.







1-(1,1-difluoronon-2-yn-1-yl)-4-methoxybenzene (2a)

Prepared according to a modified literature procedure.<sup>19</sup>

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, dppeNi(Mes)Br (157 mg, 6 mol%), terpyridine (66 mg, 7 mol%), Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (2.9 g, 8.8 mmol, 2.2 equiv), 4-methoxyphenylboronic acid (1.22 g, 8.0 mmol, 2.0 equiv), and 1,4-dioxane (28 mL, [0.143 M]) were added to a 50 mL Schlenk reaction flask. The flask was sealed with a septum, removed from the glovebox, and fitted to a Schlenk line. The alkyne, 1-bromo-1,1-difluoronon-2-yne, (956mg, 4.0 mmol, 1 equiv) was added under a flow of N<sub>2</sub> and the reaction mixture was briefly cycled three times before being placed into a 92 °C oil bath. After 20 hours, the reaction was filtered over a plug of silica gel with Et<sub>2</sub>O and the filtrate concentrated. The crude residue was concentrated onto celite and purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:16 EtOAc:Hexanes;  $R_f \approx 0.5$ ) to afford alkyne **1a** as a light yellow oil (298 mg, 28%). Note: dppeNiBr<sub>2</sub> can be used in place of dppeNi(Mes)Br.

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.63 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 2H), 6.94 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 2.35 (tt, *J* = 7.2, 4.9 Hz, 2H), 1.60 (p, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.49–1.38 (m, 2H), 1.38–1.26 (m, 4H), 0.92 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -71.24 (s, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 161.4 (t, *J* = 1.7 Hz), 129.1 (t, *J* = 28.7 Hz), 127.2 (t, *J* = 4.2 Hz), 113.8, 112.6 (t, J = 228.7 Hz), 90.9 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz), 74.4 (t, *J* = 41.3 Hz), 55.5, 31.3, 28.6, 27.9, 22.6, 18.7 (t, *J* = 2.3 Hz), 14.1.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{16}H_{21}FNa_2NO^{3+}[M+2Na-F]^{3+}$ : 293.1277, found 293.1267.

#### **Route II**



# General Procedure A: Decarboxylative Bromination of Difluorocarboxylic Acids

To an oven-dried round bottom flask containing a large magnetic stir bar  $Ag(Phen)_2OTf(5 mol\%)$  was added and the flask evacuated. After being refilled with nitrogen gas,  $CH_2Cl_2(0.1 \text{ M})$ , the desired difluorocarboxylic acid (1.0 equiv), and dibromoisocyanuric acid (DBI) (0.7–1.2 equiv) were sequentially added. The mixture was degassed, the allowed to stir at room temperature in the dark for 24 h. The mixture was diluted with pentane, filtered over a plug of SiO<sub>2</sub>, and rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O. The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Brine, dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated (some of the products are volatile). The crude reaction mixture was purified by silica gel column chromatography to afford the desired bromodifluoromethylarenes. (Notable limitations: electron rich aryl rings are brominated whereas allylic and vinylic carboxylic acids lead to complex reaction mixtures.)



(bromodifluoromethyl)benzene (**1Br**): Following general procedure **A**, Ag(Phen)<sub>2</sub>OTf (3.9 g, 5 mol%), 2,2difluoro-2-phenylacetic acid (12.0 g, 70 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and DBI (18.1 g, 63 mmol, 0.9 equiv), and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (700 mL) were used. After anhydrous CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was poured into the vessel, the reaction was sparged with nitrogen gas for 30 minutes before the addition of DBI. After 24 h of vigorous stirring at room temperature (in the absence of light), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica and rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O ( $3 \times 200$  mL). The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (400 mL), Brine (300 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated (rotovap bath was cooled to  $6 \, ^{\circ}$ C, vacuum was set at about 200– 400 mtorr). The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (pentane) to afford the title compound as a colorless liquid (11.51 g, 79 % yield). (Notes: The yield for the desired compound is less when compared to its NMR yield due to its volatility. The reactions below still work if there is a trace amount of pentane remaining after column chromatography).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>56</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.62 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.53–7.43 (m, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -43.49 (s, 2F).



1-bromo-4-(bromodifluoromethyl)benzene (**2Br**): Following general procedure **A**, Ag(Phen)<sub>2</sub>OTf (190 mg, 5 mol%), 2-(4-bromophenyl)-2,2-difluoroacetic acid (1.51 g, 6.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and DBI (1.55 g, 5.4 mmol, 0.9 equiv), and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (60 mL) were used. After CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was added, the difluoroacetic acid and DBI were added and the reaction briefly cycled three times before being left under a dynamic nitrogen atmosphere. After 24 h of vigorous stirring at room temperature (in the absence of light), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica and rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 100 mL). The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (200 mL), Brine (150 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (hexanes) to afford the title compound as a colorless liquid (1.31 g, 76% yield).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>57</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.60 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.48 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -44.01 (s, 2F).



4-(bromodifluoromethyl)benzonitrile (**3Br**): Following general procedure **A**, Ag(Phen)<sub>2</sub>OTf (190 mg, 5 mol%), 2-(4-cyanophenyl)-2,2-difluoroacetic acid (1.2 g, 6.0 mmol , 1.0 equiv), and DBI (2.0 g, 7.0 mmol, 1.17 equiv), and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (60 mL) were used. After CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was added, the difluoroacetic acid and DBI were added and the reaction briefly cycled three times before being left under a dynamic nitrogen atmosphere. After 24 h of vigorous stirring at room temperature (in the absence of light), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica and rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 100 mL). The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (200 mL), Brine (150 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:9) to afford the title compound as a colorless liquid (1.25 g, 90% yield).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>57</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.77 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 1H), 7.72 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 1H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -46.31 (s, 2F).



1-(4-(bromodifluoromethyl)phenyl)ethan-1-one (**4Br**): Following general procedure **A**, Ag(Phen)<sub>2</sub>OTf (190 mg, 5 mol%), 2-(4-acetylphenyl)-2,2-difluoroacetic acid (1.3 g, 6.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and DBI (1.43 g, 5.0 mmol, 0.83 equiv), and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (60 mL) were used. After CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was added, the difluoroacetic acid and DBI were added and the reaction briefly cycled three times before being left under a dynamic nitrogen atmosphere. After 24 h of vigorous stirring at room temperature (in the absence of light), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica and rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 100 mL). The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (200 mL), Brine (150 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:9) to afford the title compound as a colorless liquid (1.42 g, 95% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.01 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.68 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 2.62 (s, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -45.26 (s, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 196.9, 141.9 (t, *J* = 24.0 Hz), 139.2 (t, *J* = 1.4 Hz), 128.7, 124.8 (t, *J* = 5.0 Hz), 117.6 (t, *J* = 304.1 Hz), 26.8.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>7</sub>BrF<sub>2</sub>NaO<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 270.9541, found 270.9541.



ethyl 4-(bromodifluoromethyl)benzoate (**5Br**): Following general procedure **A**, Ag(Phen)<sub>2</sub>OTf (190 mg, 5 mol%), 2-(4-(ethoxycarbonyl)phenyl)-2,2-difluoroacetic acid (1.47 g, 6.0 mmol , 1.0 equiv), and DBI (1.54 g, 5.4 mmol, 0.9 equiv), and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (60 mL) were used. After CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was added, the difluoroacetic acid and DBI were added and the reaction briefly cycled three times before being left under a dynamic nitrogen atmosphere. After 24 h of vigorous stirring at room temperature (in the absence of light), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica and rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 100 mL). The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (200 mL), Brine (150 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20) to afford the title compound as a colorless liquid (1.38 g, 83% yield).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>58</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.11 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.65 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 4.39 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.39 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -45.14 (s, 2F).



1-(bromodifluoromethyl)-2-isopropylbenzene (**6Br**): Following general procedure **A**, Ag(Phen)<sub>2</sub>OTf (190 mg, 5 mol%), 2,2-difluoro-2-(2-isopropylphenyl)acetic acid (1.3 g, 6.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and DBI (2.0 g, 7.0 mmol, 1.17 equiv), and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (60 mL) were used. After CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was added, the difluoroacetic acid and DBI were added and the reaction briefly cycled three times before being left under a dynamic nitrogen atmosphere. After 24 h of vigorous stirring at room temperature (in the absence of light), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica and rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 100 mL). The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (200 mL), Brine (150 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated. The crude

residue was purified by column chromatography on  $SiO_2$  (hexanes) to afford the title compound as a colorless liquid (1.14 g, 76% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.55 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.50–7.46 (m, 2H), 7.29–7.23 (m, 1H), 3.65 (dtt, *J* = 13.7, 6.8, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 1.33 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -40.78 (s, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 147.2 (t, *J* = 2.5 Hz), 134.9 (t, *J* = 20.9 Hz), 131.7, 127.9, 125.7, 123.8 (t, *J* = 8.5 Hz), 117.9 (t, *J* = 305.0 Hz), 29.3 (t, *J* = 2.4 Hz), 24.1.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{10}H_{12}BrF_2Na^+[M+H]^+$ : 270.9904, found 270.9901.



1-(bromodifluoromethyl)-4-chlorobenzene (7**Br**): Following general procedure **A**, Ag(Phen)<sub>2</sub>OTf (190 mg, 5 mol%), 2-(4-chlorophenyl)-2,2-difluoroacetic acid (1.24 g, 6.0 mmol , 1.0 equiv), and DBI (1.65 g, 6.3 mmol, 0.96 equiv), and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (60 mL) were used. After CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was added, the difluoroacetic acid and DBI were added and the reaction briefly cycled three times before being left under a dynamic nitrogen atmosphere. After 24 h of vigorous stirring at room temperature (in the absence of light), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica and rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 100 mL). The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (200 mL), Brine (150 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (hexanes) to afford the title compound as a light yellow liquid (1.08 g, 74% yield).

In accordance with previously reported spectra.<sup>59</sup>

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.55 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.43 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -43.76 (s, 2F).



4-(bromodifluoromethyl)-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (**8Br**): Following general procedure **A**,  $Ag(Phen)_2OTf(1.85 \text{ g}, 5 \text{ mol}\%)$ , 2,2-difluoro-2-(4-(methoxy(methyl)carbamoyl)phenyl)acetic acid (15.55 g, 60.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and DBI (15.55 g, 54.0 mmol, 0.90 equiv), and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (600 mL) were used. After CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was added, the difluoroacetic acid and DBI were added and the reaction briefly cycled three times

before being left under a dynamic nitrogen atmosphere. After 24 h of vigorous stirring at room temperature (in the absence of light), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica and rinsed with  $Et_2O$  (3 x 100 mL). The organics were washed with a 50% saturated solution of  $Na_2S_2O_3$  (200 mL), Brine (150 mL), dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and carefully concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (hexanes) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (13.1 g, 74% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.72 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.60 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 3.50 (s, 3H), 3.33 (s, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -44.46 (s, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 168.4, 139.7 (t, *J* = 23.9 Hz), 137.0, 128.53, 124.1 (t, *J* = 5.1 Hz), 117.8 (t, *J* = 303.8 Hz), 61.3, 33.4.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{10}H_{10}BrF_2NNaO_2^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 315.9755, found 315.9754.



General Procedure B: Aryldifluoromethylation of Terminal Alkynes (Thermal Conditions)

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, an oven-dried 50 mL Schleck round bottom reaction flask containing a large magnetic stir bar was charged with  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5–3.0 eq), L (12 mol%), and CuBr (10 mol%). The flask was sealed with a rubber septum, removed from the glovebox, and placed under a nitrogen flow from a Schleck line. After the addition of anhydrous MeCN (0.2 M) (passed over an activated alumina column under Argon and stored over stored over 3A molecular sieves), the mixture was stirred for 10–15 minutes before the sequential addition of the bromodifluoromethylarene (1.0 equiv), terminal alkyne (1.0–1.3 equiv), and MeCN (total concentration = 0.1 M). The flask was briefly cycled three times (to remove introduced oxygen) and placed in an oil bath set at 30 °C. After 24 hours of vigorous stirring, the reaction was filtered over a plug of silica, rinsed with either EtOAc or Et<sub>2</sub>O, and concentrated. The crude reaction mixture was purified by silica gel column chromatography to afford the desired propargyl gem difluorides. Note: Upon scaling up to 10 mmol from 3–4 mmol, the reaction time had to be increased to 48 hours to ensure comparable yields.

#### General Procedure C: Aryldifluoromethylation of Terminal Alkynes (Blue LED Conditions)

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, an oven-dried 50 mL Schleck round bottom reaction flask containing a large magnetic stir bar was charged with  $K_2CO_3$  (2.5–3.0 eq), terpyridine (Tpy) (12 mol%), and Cu(MeCN)<sub>4</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> (10 mol%). MeCN (0.1 M) (passed over an activated alumina column, degassed (3 freeze, pump, thaw cycles), and stored over 3A molecular sieves) was added and the mixture was allowed to stir for 10–15 minutes before the sequential addition of the bromodifluoromethylarene (1.0 equiv) and terminal alkyne (1.0–1.3 equiv). The flask was sealed with a rubber septum, removed from the glovebox, placed under a nitrogen flow, and placed between two, Kessil 440 nm blue photoredox lamps that were set at 100% intensity that were located about 3 cm from the sides of the vessel. A fan was located above the flask so that the temperature did not go above 30–35 °C. After 24 hours of vigorous stirring, the reaction was filtered over a plug of silica, rinsed with either EtOAc or Et<sub>2</sub>O, and concentrated. The crude reaction mixture was purified by silica gel column chromatography to afford the desired propargyl gem difluorides.



# 6,6-difluoro-6-phenylhex-4-yn-1-yl pivalate (1a):

Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (3.9 g, 12.0 mmol, 3.0 eq), L (300 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (58 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (828 mg, 4.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (740 mg, 4.4 mmol, 1.1 equiv), and MeCN (40 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 120 mL), and concentrated. After being loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:16) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (881 mg, 74 % yield).

Scale up following general procedure **B**, In a glovebox  $Cs_2CO_3$  (10.6 g, 12.0 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (957 mg, 12 mol%), and CuBr (187 mg, 10 mol%) were charged to a 250 mL Schleck round bottom reaction flask. Under a flow of nitrogen from a Schlenk line, 70 mL MeCN was added and the mixture was stirred for about 10 minutes. Then PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (3.5 g, 16.0 mmol, 1.2 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (2.2 g, 13.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and MecN (50 mL) were added. The flask was briefly cycled 3 times before being placed in a 24 °C oil bath with vigorous stirring. After 48 h, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 120 mL), and concentrated. After being loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:16) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (3.29 g, 86 % yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.68–7.63 (m, 2H), 7.51–7.41 (m, 3H), 4.15 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.45 (tt, *J* = 7.1, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 1.94 (p, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 1.20 (s, 9H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -75.15 (t, *J* = 4.6 Hz, 2F)

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 178.5, 136.6 (t, *J* = 28.1 Hz), 130.7 (d, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 128.6, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.6 Hz), 112.3 (t, *J* = 230.6 Hz), 89.5 (t, *J* = 5.8 Hz), 74.9 (t, *J* = 41.5 Hz), 62.8, 38.9, 27.3, 27.2, 15.6 (t, *J* = 4.1, 2.5 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{17}H_{20}FO_2^+$  [M-F]<sup>+</sup>: 275.1442, found 275.1442.



6-(4-bromophenyl)-6,6-difluorohex-4-yn-1-yl pivalate (**3a**): Following general procedure **B**, Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (2.0 g, 6.25 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (96 mg, 6.25 mol%), CuBr (18 mg, 5 mol%), 1-bromo-4-(bromodifluoro)benzene (714 mg, 2.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (546 mg, 3.25 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (25 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:Et<sub>2</sub>O 1:9) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (590 mg, 63% yield). (Note: do not half the catalyst loading).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.56 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.51 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 4.13 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.43 (tt, *J* = 7.2, 4.9 Hz, 2H), 1.92 (p, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 1.19 (s, 9H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -74.43 (d, *J* = 4.4 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 178.4, 135.6 (t, *J* = 28.8 Hz), 131.9, 127.2 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 125.2 (t, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 111.8 (t, *J* = 231.0 Hz), 90.0 (t, *J* = 5.8 Hz), 74.4 (t, *J* = 41.2 Hz), 62.7, 38.9, 27.3, 27.2, 15.5 (t, *J* = 2.3 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{17}H_{20}BrFO_{2}^{+2}[M+H-F]^{+2}$ : 354.0620, found 354.0613.



6-(4-acetylphenyl)-6,6-difluorohex-4-yn-1-yl pivalate (4a): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), 1-(4-(bromodifluoromethyl)phenyl)ethan-1-one (750 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (605 mg, 3.6 mmol, 1.2 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:5) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (420 mg, 41% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.96 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.69 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 4.09 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.57 (s, 3H), 2.41 (tt, *J* = 7.1, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 1.94–1.83 (m, 2H), 1.14 (s, 9H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -75.51 (d, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 197.2, 178.3, 140.5 (t, *J* = 28.5 Hz), 138.7, 128.5, 125.6 (t, *J* = 4.4 Hz), 111.5 (t, *J* = 231.5 Hz), 90.4 (t, *J* = 5.8 Hz), 74.3 (t, *J* = 41.1 Hz), 62.6, 38.8, 27.1, 26.9, 26.7, 15.4 (t, *J* = 2.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{19}H_{22}F_2NaO_3^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 359.1429, found 359.1432.



6-(4-cyanophenyl)-6,6-difluorohex-4-yn-1-yl pivalate (**5a**): Following general procedure **C**, K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (1.05 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), Tpy (84 mg, 13 mol%), Cu(MeCN)<sub>4</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> (113 mg, 12 mol%), 4-(bromodifluoromethyl)benzonitrile (700 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (656 mg, 3.9 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 48 h of vigorous stirring and irradiation by two 440 nm Blue LED lamps (two Kessil photoredox lamps at 100% intensity), the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:16 to 1:9) to a afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (375 mg, 39% yield, purity  $\geq$  93%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.75–7.70 (m, 4H), 4.11 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (tt, *J* = 7.2, 5.0 Hz, 2H), 1.90 (p, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 1.16 (s, 9H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -76.02 (t, *J* = 5.1 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 178.3, 140.7 (t, *J* = 29.1 Hz), 132.5, 126.2 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 117.9, 114.6, 111.0 (t, *J* = 232.3 Hz), 91.0 (t, *J* = 5.8 Hz), 73.8 (t, *J* = 40.9 Hz), 62.5, 38.8, 27.2, 26.9 (t, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 15.4 (t, *J* = 2.3 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{18}H_{19}F_2NNaO^+[M+H]^+$ : 342.1276, found 342.1271.



4-(6-chloro-1,1-difluorohex-2-yn-1-yl)-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (**6a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuI (57 mg, 10 mol%), **8Br** (930 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (605 mg, 3.3 mmol, 1.1 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes 2:3 to 1:1) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (513 mg, 54% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.70 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.65 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 3.59 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 3.50 (s, 3H), 3.32 (s, 3H), 2.51 (tt, *J* = 6.9, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 1.99 (p, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -74.90 (d, *J* = 5.0 Hz, 2F)

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  168.8, 138.1 (t, J = 28.4 Hz), 136.4 (d, J = 2.1 Hz), 128.4, 125.04 (t, J = 4.3 Hz), 111.7 (t, J = 231.2 Hz), 89.6 (t, J = 5.8 Hz), 74.6 (t, J = 41.3 Hz), 61.9, 43.3, 33.4, 30.3 (d, J = 2.0 Hz), 16.0 (t, J = 2.2 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{15}H_{16}ClF_2NNaO_2^+[M+Na]^+$ : 338.0730, found 338.0738.



tert-butyl (6,6-difluoro-6-phenylhex-4-yn-1-yl)carbamate (7**a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (605 mg, 3.3 mmol, 1.1 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:5) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (475 mg, 51% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.68–7.62 (m, 2H), 7.46–7.40 (m, 3H), 4.74 (s, 1H), 3.20 (q, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 2.37 (tt, *J* = 6.9, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 1.76 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 1.43 (s, 9H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -73.87 (m, 2F)

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 156.1, 136.5 (t, *J* = 28.2 Hz), 130.7, 128.6, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.6 Hz), 112.3 (t, *J* = 230.4 Hz), 90.0, 79.4, 74.7 (t, *J* = 41.4 Hz), 39.7, 28.5, 28.2, 16.1.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{17}H_{21}F_2NNaO_2^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 332.1433, found 332.1439.



2-((4,4-difluoro-4-phenylbut-2-yn-1-yl)oxy)benzaldehyde (8a): Following general procedure B, Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), bromodifluoromethylbenzene (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (598 mg, 3.6 mmol, 1.2 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:13 to 1:5) to afford the title compound as a tan solid (549 mg, 64% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 10.47 (s, 1H), 7.90–7.84 (m, 1H), 7.59 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.59–7.52 (m, 1H), 7.50–7.43 (m, 1H), 7.41 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.15–7.05 (m, 2H), 4.99–4.92 (m, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -76.64 (d, *J* = 108.0 Hz).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 189.3, 159.5, 135.9, 135.5 (t, *J* = 27.5 Hz), 131.1 (d, *J* = 3.9 Hz), 128.9, 128.9, 128.7, 125.7, 125.7, 125.3 (t, *J* = 4.7 Hz), 113.2, 112.0 (t, *J* = 232.4 Hz), 81.2 (t, *J* = 42.7 Hz), 56.2.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{17}H_{12}F_2NaO_2^+[M+H]^+$ : 309.0698, found 309.0699.



7,7-difluoro-7-phenylhept-5-yn-2-one (9a): Following general procedure B,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the

corresponding terminal alkyne (400 mg, 3.9 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:3) to afford the title compound as an orange oil (554 mg, 83% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.68–7.60 (m, 2H), 7.49–7.38 (m, 3H), 2.72 (dd, *J* = 8.2, 6.3 Hz, 2H), 2.63–2.52 (m, 2H), 2.15 (s, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -74.01 (t, *J* = 5.0 Hz).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 205.5, 136.4 (t, *J* = 28.2 Hz), 130.7 (d, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 128.6, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 112.3 (t, *J* = 230.3 Hz), 89.6 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz), 74.4 (t, *J* = 41.4 Hz), 41.3 (t, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 29.8, 13.0 (t, *J* = 2.3 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{13}H_{13}F_2O^+$  [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 223.0929, found 223.0924.



7,7-difluoro-7-phenylhept-5-ynenitrile (**10a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (370 mg, 3.9 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:4) to afford the title compound as an orange oil (494 mg, 75% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.68–7.63 (m, 2H), 7.50–7.42 (m, 3H), 2.53 (tt, *J* = 7.0, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 2.47 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.93 (p, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -74.57 (d, *J* = 5.2 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 136.15 (t, *J* = 28.1 Hz), 130.8 (t, *J* = 1.6 Hz), 128.6, 125.3 (t, *J* = 4.7 Hz), 118.7, 112.1 (t, *J* = 231.1 Hz), 87.8 (t, *J* = 5.8 Hz), 75.9 (t, *J* = 41.7 Hz), 23.8 (t, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 17.6 (t, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 16.2.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>11</sub>FN<sup>+</sup> [M-F]<sup>+</sup>: 200.0870, found 200.867.



2-(6,6-difluoro-6-phenylhex-4-yn-1-yl)isoindoline-1,3-dione (**11a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (850 mg, 3.9 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:4) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (724 mg, 71% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.78 (dd, *J* = 5.5, 3.1 Hz, 2H), 7.68–7.60 (m, 4H), 7.46–7.37 (m, 3H), 3.77 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (td, *J* = 7.4, 3.6 Hz, 2H), 1.98 (p, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -73.94 (t, *J* = 5.1 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 168.3, 136.3 (t, *J* = 28.1 Hz), 134.0, 132.0, 130.6, 128.5, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 123.3, 112.2 (t, *J* = 230.5 Hz), 89.5 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz), 74.6 (t, *J* = 41.3 Hz), 37.1, 26.8, 16.5.

HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>15</sub>FNO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M-F]<sup>+</sup>: 320.1081, found 320.1078.



6,6-difluoro-N-methoxy-N-methyl-6-phenylhex-4-ynamide (**12a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (487 mg, 3.45 mmol, 1.15 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:2) to afford the title compound as a yellow oil ( 670 mg, 83% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.67–7.63 (m, 2H), 7.45–7.38 (m, 3H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 3.15 (s, 3H), 2.74 – 2.62 (m, 4H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -73.96 (s, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 171.7, 136.4 (t, *J* = 28.2 Hz), 130.6 (t, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 128.5, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.4 Hz), 112.3 (t, *J* = 230.3 Hz), 89.9 (t, *J* = 6.1 Hz), 74.4 (t, *J* = 41.4 Hz), 61.3, 32.2, 30.3, 14.0 (t, *J* = 2.5 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{14}H_{15}FNO_2^+$  [M-F]<sup>+</sup>: 248.1081, found 248.1079.



6,6-difluoro-6-phenyl-1-(piperidin-1-yl)hex-4-yn-1-one (**13a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (500 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>1:9) to afford the title compound as a yellow oil (479 mg, 54% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.67–7.62 (m, 2H), 7.45–7.37 (m, 3H), 3.52 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz, 2H), 3.34 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz, 2H), 2.72–2.64 (m, 2H), 2.61–2.53 (m, 2H), 1.64–1.56 (m, 2H), 1.56–1.46 (m, 4H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -73.85 (t, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 168.4, 136.4 (t, *J* = 28.1 Hz), 130.6 (t, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 128.5, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.6 Hz), 112.3 (t, *J* = 230.3 Hz), 90.1 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz), 74.3 (t, *J* = 41.3 Hz), 46.4, 42.9, 31.4 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz), 26.4, 25.5, 24.5, 14.7 (t, *J* = 2.2 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>19</sub>FNO<sup>+</sup> [M-F]<sup>+</sup>: 272.1445, found 272.1442.



ethyl 2-(4-(6,6-difluoro-6-phenylhex-4-yn-1-yl)-1H-1,2,3-triazol-1-yl)acetate (**14a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (724 mg, 3.5 mmol, 1.16 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (669 g, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 100 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> 1:9) to afford the title compound as an orange oil (684 mg, 65% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.65–7.62 (m, 2H), 7.45–7.37 (m, 4H), 5.08 (s, 2H), 4.21 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.83 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.38 (tt, *J* = 7.0, 4.9 Hz, 2H), 2.00–1.94 (m, 2H), 1.25 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -73.68–-73.74 (m, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 166.5, 147.0, 136.4 (t, *J* = 28.1 Hz), 130.6, 128.5, 125.3 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 122.5, 112.3 (t, *J* = 230.2 Hz), 90.3 (t, *J* = 5.8 Hz), 74.7 (t, *J* = 41.2 Hz), 62.3, 50.8, 27.2 (t, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 24.5, 17.9 (t, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 14.0.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{18}H_{20}F_2N_3O_2^+$  [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 348.1518, found 348.1511.



2-((5,5-difluoro-5-phenylpent-3-yn-1-yl)oxy)pyrimidine (**15a**): Following general procedure **B**, Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (600 mg, 3.9 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>1:30) to afford the title compound as a yellow oil (704 mg, 85% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.47 (d, *J* = 4.8 Hz, 2H), 7.71–7.62 (m, 2H), 7.45–7.37 (m, 3H), 6.91 (t, *J* = 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.52 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 2.87 (tt, *J* = 7.0, 4.8 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -74.39 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz, 2F)

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 164.7, 159.4, 136.2 (t, *J* = 28.1 Hz), 130.6, 128.5, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 115.4, 112.2 (t, *J* = 230.7 Hz), 86.7 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz), 75.5 (t, *J* = 41.5 Hz), 64.2 (t, *J* = 2.3 Hz), 19.3 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{15}H_{12}F_2N_2NaO^+[M+H]^+$ : 297.0810, found 297.0808.



1-(7,7-difluoro-7-phenylhept-5-yn-1-yl)-1H-indole (16a): Following general procedure **B**, Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (650 mg, 3.3 mmol, 1.1 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After

being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on  $SiO_2$  (EtOAc:hexanes 1:10) to afford the title compound as a yellow oil (646 mg, 66% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.77–7.73 (m, 3H), 7.57–7.48 (m, 3H), 7.41 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.31 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.22 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.13 (d, *J* = 3.1 Hz, 1H), 6.60 (d, *J* = 3.0 Hz, 1H), 4.18 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 2.42–2.34 (m, 2H), 2.06–1.98 (m, 2H), 1.67–1.60 (m, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -73.73 (d, *J* = 5.3 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 136.5 (t, *J* = 28.2 Hz), 136.0, 130.7, 128.7, 128.6, 127.7, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.6 Hz), 121.6, 121.1, 119.4, 112.4 (t, *J* = 230.3 Hz), 109.4, 101.3, 90.2 (t, *J* = 6.0 Hz), 74.9 (t, *J* = 41.3 Hz), 45.8, 29.3, 25.1, 18.3.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{21}H_{19}F_2N^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 346.1378, found 346.1378.



(4-(benzyloxy)-1,1-difluorobut-2-yn-1-yl)benzene (**17a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (587 mg, 3.9 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (592 mg, 72% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.78–7.72 (m, 2H), 7.55–7.48 (m, 3H), 7.44–7.35 (m, 5H), 4.67 (s, 2H), 4.35 (t, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -75.69 (s, 2F)

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  136.9, 136.0 (t, *J* = 27.7 Hz), 130.9, 128.7, 128.6, 128.6, 128.2, 128.2, 112.16 (t, *J* = 231.8 Hz), 85.6 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz), 79.8 (t, *J* = 42.0 Hz), 72.2, 56.9 (t, *J* = 2.2 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>14</sub>F<sub>2</sub>NaO<sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 295.0905, found 295.0902.



2-(((4,4-difluoro-4-phenylbut-2-yn-1-yl)oxy)methyl)furan (18a): Following general procedure B, Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (531 mg, 3.9 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 24 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:18) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (350 mg, 44% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.71 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.50–7.45 (m, 3H), 7.44 (dd, *J* = 1.8, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 6.39 (d, *J* = 3.3 Hz, 1H), 6.37 (dd, *J* = 3.2, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.58 (s, 2H), 4.30 (t, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -75.78 (s, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 150.5, 143.4, 135.9 (t, *J* = 27.7 Hz), 130.9 (t, *J* = 1.7 Hz), 128.7, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.7 Hz), 112.1 (t, *J* = 231.9 Hz), 110.6, 110.5, 85.2 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz), 79.9 (t, *J* = 42.2 Hz), 63.6, 56.5.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{15}H_{12}F_2NaO_2^+$  [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 285.0698, found 285.0693.



(1,1-difluoro-4-((3-phenylprop-2-yn-1-yl)oxy)but-2-yn-1-yl)benzene (**19a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (700 mg, 3.3 mmol, 1.1 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (510 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 24 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (639 mg, 72% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.72 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.51–7.44 (m, 5H), 7.37–7.32 (m, 3H), 4.52 (s, 2H), 4.49 (t, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -75.78–-75.92 (m, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  135.8 (t, *J* = 27.6 Hz), 131.9, 130.9, 128.8, 128.7, 128.5, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.7 Hz), 122.3, 112.1 (t, *J* = 231.9 Hz), 87.5, 84.9 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz), 83.7, 80.0 (t, *J* = 42.1 Hz), 58.0, 56.3.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{19}H_{14}F_2NaO^+[M+H]^+$ : 319.0905, found 319.0899.



(4-(cinnamyloxy)-1,1-difluorobut-2-yn-1-yl)benzene (**20a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (700 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (570 mg, 3.3 mmol, 1.1 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 24 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>:hexanes 2:1) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (533 mg, 60% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.73 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.53–7.46 (m, 3H), 7.43 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.39–7.34 (m, 2H), 7.33–7.29 (m, 1H), 6.68 (dd, *J* = 16.0, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 6.37–6.25 (m, 1H), 4.36 (q, *J* = 3.9 Hz, 2H), 4.31–4.26 (m, 2H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -75.71 (d, *J* = 39.8 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 136.4, 136.3–135.4 (m), 133.9, 130.9 (d, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 128.7, 128.7, 128.0, 126.7, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.7 Hz), 124.6, 112.1 (t, *J* = 231.7 Hz), 85.7–85.5 (m), 79.6 (t, *J* = 42.0 Hz), 70.8 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 56.8 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{19}H_{16}F_2NaO^+[M+H]^+$ : 321.1061, found 321.1066.



4-(3,3-difluoro-3-phenylprop-1-yn-1-yl)phenyl acetate (**21a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (724 mg, 3.5 mmol, 1.09 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (570 mg, 3.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:15 to 1:9) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (400 mg, 46% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.78 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.59 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.55–7.49 (m, 3H), 7.17–7.13 (m, 2H), 2.29 (s, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ -74.87 (s, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 169.4, 152.7, 136.6 (t, *J* = 28.0 Hz), 134.0, 131.5, 129.3, 125.9, 122.8, 118.0 (t, *J* = 2.7 Hz), 113.5 (t, *J* = 230.8 Hz), 88.7 (t, *J* = 6.0 Hz), 82.3 (t, *J* = 41.8 Hz), 21.4.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{17}H_{12}F_2NaO_2^+$  [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 309.0698, found 309.0694.



methyl 4-(3,3-difluoro-3-phenylprop-1-yn-1-yl)benzoate (**22a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (653 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (561 mg, 3.5 mmol, 1.17 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:15) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (450 mg, 52% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.03 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.78–7.74 (m, 2H), 7.59 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.50–7.46 (m, 3H), 3.92 (s, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -75.58 (s, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 166.1, 136.0 (t, *J* = 27.9 Hz), 132.2, 131.3, 130.9, 129.6, 128.7, 125.4 (t, *J* = 4.6 Hz), 124.6 (t, *J* = 2.4 Hz), 112.6 (t, *J* = 231.9 Hz), 87.6 (t, *J* = 6.0 Hz), 84.3 (t, *J* = 42.3 Hz), 52.4.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{17}H_{12}F_2NaO_2^+$  [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 309.0698, found 309.0692.



4,4-difluoro-4-phenylbut-2-yn-1-yl acetate (**23a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (621 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (390 mg, 3.9 mmol, 1.3 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:6) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (604 mg, 90% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.69–7.65 (m, 2H), 7.50–7.42 (m, 3H), 4.80 (t, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 2H), 2.10 (s, 3H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -76.35 (d, *J* = 4.6 Hz).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 169.9, 135.6 (t, *J* = 27.6 Hz), 131.0 (t, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 128.7, 125.39 (t, *J* = 4.7 Hz), 112.0 (t, *J* = 232.2 Hz), 83.4 (t, *J* = 5.8 Hz), 79.4 (t, *J* = 42.3 Hz), 51.4 (t, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 20.5.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{12}H_{10}F_2NaO_2^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 247.0541, found 247.0543.



(*E*)-7,7-difluoro-7-phenylhept-3-en-5-yn-1-yl pivalate (**24a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), PhCF<sub>2</sub>Br (700 mg, 3.2 mmol, 1.1 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (541 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:25 to1:16) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (400 mg, 43% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.68 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.52–7.45 (m, 3H), 6.40 (dt, *J* = 16.0, 7.0 Hz, 1H), 5.74–5.67 (m, 1H), 4.13 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 2.51 (q, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.20 (s, 9H).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (470 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 178.6, 145.7 (t, *J* = 3.4 Hz), 136.7 (t, *J* = 28.2 Hz), 131.5–131.3 (m), 129.2, 125.9 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz), 113.4 (t, *J* = 230.3 Hz), 109.9 (t, *J* = 3.3 Hz), 88.0 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz), 81.2 (t, *J* = 41.5 Hz), 62.8, 39.2, 33.2, 27.5.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{18}H_{20}F_2NaO_2^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 329.1324, found 329.1326



2-((5,5-difluoro-5-(2-isopropylphenyl)pent-3-yn-1-yl)oxy)pyrimidine (**25a**): Following general procedure **B**,  $Cs_2CO_3$  (2.5 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 eq), L (221 mg, 12 mol%), CuBr (43 mg, 10 mol%), **6Br** (750 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), the corresponding terminal alkyne (540 mg, 3.6 mmol, 1.2 equiv), and MeCN (30 mL) were used. After 24 h at 30 °C, the reaction was filtered over a pad of silica, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 80 mL), and concentrated. After being dry loaded onto celite, the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:4 to 1:3) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (425 mg, 45% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) $\delta$  8.48 (d, J = 4.8, 2H), 7.60 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.42–7.38 (m, 2H), 7.21–7.18 (m, 1H), 6.92 (t, J = 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.50 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.60 (p, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 2.85 (tt, J = 7.1, 4.7 Hz, 2H), 1.24 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -74.85 (t, *J* = 5.2 Hz, 2F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 164.7, 159.4, 147.9, 133.0 (t, *J* = 26.1 Hz), 130.8, 127.3, 125.5, 125.0 (t, *J* = 7.9 Hz), 115.4, 112.1 (t, *J* = 232.7 Hz), 86.1 (t, *J* = 6.0 Hz), 76.4 (t, *J* = 41.5 Hz), 64.3, 29.2 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 24.2, 19.3.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{18}H_{18}F_2N_2NaO^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 339.1279, found 339.1274.

# 2.5.5 General Procedure for Alkyne Silylation

**Notes:** All reactions were setup and conducted in the absence of light. For the racemic transformation, two initial experiments were performed for each substrate at 35 °C (with either Xantphos or PCy<sub>3</sub> as the ligand with PhMe as the solvent). Depending on the yield and selectivity the, most substrates gave the desired, racemic allene in greater than 85% yield (some adjustments to the temperature (21-65 °C) had to be made depending on the functional groups present). The conditions with Xantphos at 35 °C were the most general. In cases where reactions with Xantphos as the ligand failed, switching to PCy<sub>3</sub> and using THF as the solvent was often a solution.



### For HPLC traces:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, a stir bar, Cu(MeCN)<sub>4</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> (2.2 mg, 7 mol%), ligand (Xantphos 4.8 mg, 8 mol% or PCy<sub>3</sub> 2.2 mg, 14 mol%) were charged to a 1-dram vial. Solvent (1.5 mL [0.067 M] of either PhMe or THF) was added by a plastic syringe (stored in an 80 °C oven and cooled under vacuum) and the mixture was stirred at ambient temperature for 35–45 minutes before the addition of the sodium phenoxide (6 mg, 40 mol%). The mixture was stirred for an additional 5 minutes before the sequential addition of PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (37  $\mu$ L, 0.135 mmol, 1.35 equiv) and difluoroalkyne (0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv). The vial was sealed with a ptfelined, thermal-rated cap, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, and placed in a preheated, heating block set at 700 rpm. After 24 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature, diluted with EtOAc (500  $\mu$ L) and PhF (9.5  $\mu$ L, 0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added. The contents were thoroughly mixed and an <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired. The reaction was then filtered over a glass pipette packed with silica, the plug was rinsed with EtOAc, the solution concentrated, and subsequently purified by preparative TLC.

## Large Scale:

Note: Upon scaling up the reaction with sodium phenoxides bases there was no drop in yield due to the heterogenous nature of the reaction. The NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (pH ca 10) used throughout this publication was prepared from 90g NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, 500 mL dH<sub>2</sub>O, and 375 mL concentrated (28–30%) NH<sub>4</sub>OH. This quench

ensures that most of the residual PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin is consumed, permitting easier product separation. For the enantioselective variant, this quench was found to be critical to prevent product racemization that could occur after the reaction. Other methods of quenching were not as efficient in consuming unreacted PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin or removing copper species and preventing degradation of the enantiopurity of the allene products.

#### For PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, an oven-dried 250 mL Schleck round bottom reaction flask containing a large magnetic stir bar was charged with  $Cu(MeCN)_4BF_4$  (136 mg, 7 mol%) and Xantphos (286 mg, 8 mol%). PhMe (60 mL, [0.1 M]) was added and the mixture was stirred at ambient temperature for 45–60 minutes before the addition of the sodium phenoxide (350 mg, 40 mol%). The mixture was stirred for an additional 3–5 minutes before the sequential addition of PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (2.1 g, 8.1 mmol, 1.35 equiv) and difluoroalkyne **1a** (1.77 g, 6.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv). The round bottom was sealed with a rubber septum, removed from the glovebox, placed under a flow of N<sub>2</sub> gas, and placed in an oil bath set at 35 °C (the stir rate was set at the maximum speed allowed that did not invoke splattering of reaction mixture onto the upper walls of the flask). After 24 h, the reaction was allowed to cool to ambient temperature and quenched with an NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL). The biphasic mixture was vigorously stirred for 10–15 minutes before being diluted with EtOAc (50 mL). The contents were transferred to a separatory funnel with EtOAc and an additional 75 mL of NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer and 200 mL of EtOAc were added. After the contents were vigorously shaken, the aqueous layer was disposed. The organic layer was washed with dH<sub>2</sub>O (200 mL), brine (200 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue loaded on celite and purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (hexanes with 6% EtOAc) to afford racemic **1b** as a colorless oil (2.36 g, 96% yield).

# For BnMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, an oven-dried 250 mL Schleck round bottom reaction flask containing a large magnetic stir bar was charged with  $Cu(MeCN)_4BF_4$  (68 mg, 7 mol%) and Xantphos (143 mg, 8 mol%). PhMe (45 mL, [0.067 M]) was added and the mixture was stirred at ambient temperature for 45–60 minutes before the addition of the sodium phenoxide (175 mg, 40 mol%). The mixture was stirred for an additional 3–5 minutes before the sequential addition of BnMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (1.11 g, 4.05 mmol, 1.35 equiv) and difluoroalkyne **1a** (883 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv). The round bottom was sealed with a rubber septum, removed from the glovebox, placed under a flow of N<sub>2</sub> gas, and placed in an oil bath set at 45 °C (the stir rate was set at the maximum speed allowed that did not invoke splattering of reaction mixture onto the upper walls of the flask). After 24 h, the reaction was allowed to cool to ambient temperature and quenched with an NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL). The biphasic mixture was vigorously stirred for 10–15 minutes before being diluted with EtOAc (50 mL). The contents were transferred to a separatory funnel with EtOAc and an additional 75 mL of NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer and 200 mL of EtOAc were added. After the contents were vigorously shaken, the aqueous layer was disposed. The organic layer was washed with dH<sub>2</sub>O (200 mL), brine (200 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>,

filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue loaded on celite and purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:25 to1:17) to afford racemic **1b-SiMe<sub>2</sub>Cy** as a colorless oil (1.23 g, 97% yield).

# For Et<sub>3</sub>SiBpin:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, an oven-dried 250 mL Schleck round bottom reaction flask containing a large magnetic stir bar was charged with Cu(MeCN)<sub>4</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> (79 mg, 7 mol%) and PhMe (52 mL, [0.067 M]). PPh<sub>2</sub>Me (100 mg, 14 mol%) was added dropwise and the mixture was stirred at ambient temperature for 45– 60 minutes before the addition of the sodium phenoxide (201 mg, 40 mol%). The mixture was stirred for an additional 3-5 minutes before the sequential addition of Et<sub>3</sub>SiBpin (1.15 g, 4.05 mmol, 1.35 equiv) and difluoroalkyne 1a (1.03 g, 3.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv). The round bottom was sealed with a rubber septum, removed from the glovebox, placed under a flow of N<sub>2</sub> gas, and placed in an oil bath set at 45 °C (the stir rate was set at the maximum speed allowed that did not invoke splattering of reaction mixture onto the upper walls of the flask). After 25 h, the reaction was allowed to cool to ambient temperature and quenched with an NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL). The biphasic mixture was vigorously stirred for 10–15 minutes before being diluted with EtOAc (50 mL). The contents were transferred to a separatory funnel with EtOAc and an additional 75 mL of NH4OH buffer and 200 mL of EtOAc were added. After the contents were vigorously shaken, the aqueous layer was disposed. The organic layer was washed with dH<sub>2</sub>O (200 mL), brine (200 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue loaded on celite and purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes 1:25 to1:17) to afford racemic **1b-SiEt**<sub>3</sub> as a colorless oil (1.36 g, 99% yield). Note: For other bulky silylboranes (CyMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin), PPh<sub>2</sub>Me was also the preferred ligand. These conditions minimized the formation of the undesired difluoroallylic vinylsilane.

### 2.5.6 Enantioselective Silylation Procedure

**Notes:** CsF (99%) was dried under high vacuum with  $P_2O_5$  at 180 °C for 5 days before being brought into a glovebox (<0.1 ppm of  $H_2O$  and  $O_2$ ) and grounded into a fine powder with a mortar and pestle. If the CsF is not properly dried, then the reaction becomes irreproducible. Upon scaling up the reaction, CsF-CaF<sub>2</sub> (25% CsF) was prepared in an effort to increase the surface area of the fluoride source, which provided effective. **After isolation** the enantioenriched allenes were **stored neat in a freezer at -20** °C, where they were stable toward racemization for at least 2 months (was not monitored for long periods of time). Depending on the electronics of the allene (neutral allenes appeared less prone toward racemizing), racemization at room temperature was observed over the course of several weeks to 1-2 months if stored neat in air (enantiomeric purity could drop by up to 5% within this period). Racemization was significantly slower when stored in solution (even at room temperature).

# CsF(25%)-CaF<sub>2</sub> preparation:

In air, CsF (99% from ChemImpex, dried at 180 °C for 5 days) (18.23 g, 120 mmol, 1 equiv), CaF<sub>2</sub> (99%) (28.1 g, 360 mmol, 4 equiv), and MeOH (new bottle from Sigma-Aldrich of optima filtered <0.07%  $H_2O$ ) (400 mL) were added to a 1000 mL round bottom flask. The flask was sonicated for 5 minutes before

the MeOH was slowly removed on a rotovap (ca 60-100 torr) at 35 °C. After 45 minutes the temperature was increased to 80 °C, which was maintained for 75 minutes. The clumpy powder was ground into a fine powder with a mortar and pestle and dried under high vacuum with  $P_2O_5$  at 110 °C for 48 h. Afterwards, CsF-CaF<sub>2</sub> was transferred into a nitrogen filled glovebox and grounded into a fine powder with a mortar and pestle. Molecular weight used for stoichiometry: 386.11.

## For Screening:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, a stir bar, CuX (x mol%), ligand (x +1 mol%) were charged to a 1-dram vial. Solvent (500  $\mu$ L) was added and the mixture was stirred at ambient temperature for 45–60 minutes. (If the ligand was an oil, then a 0.06 M solution was prepared and x + 1 mol% was added dropwise to a stirring solution (400  $\mu$ L) of the copper salt.) Additional solvent (1 mL) was added and the solution was stirred for 60 seconds before the sequential addition of CsF , PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin, and difluoroalkyne (0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv). The vial was sealed with a ptfe-lined, thermal-rated cap, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, and placed in a preheated, heating block set at 1000 rpm (or 10/10 stir setting on an ika stir plate). After 24 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature, diluted with EtOAc (500  $\mu$ L) and PhF (9.5  $\mu$ L, 0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and the NH<sub>4</sub>OH (1 mL) were added. The contents were vigorously stirred for 4 minutes and the layers were allowed to separate. An <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired. The organics were combined, washed with brine (2 mL), concentrated, purified by preparative TLC, and the enantiomeric excess was determined by a chiral HPLC.





Table S2 Aryl, Aryl Josiphos Ligands Examined



CuCl (5 mol%), L (6 mol%) PhMe<sub>2</sub>Si–Bpin (1.35 equiv) NaO(2-OMe-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>) (20 mol%) THF [0.1 M], 65 °C, 24 h

<sup>19</sup>F NMR yield (SM %)





3,5-diBn 4-OMe



Trip = R = <sup>i</sup>Pr  $TTB = R = {}^{t}Bu$ 

Aryl	<sup>19</sup> F NMR yield (SM %)	ee %
3,5-Me	59% ( <mark>23</mark> )	45
3,5-Me 4-OMe	31% ( <mark>14</mark> )	44
3,5- <sup>/</sup> Bu 4-OMe	41% (<1)	70
3,5-diBn 4-OMe	e 45% ( <mark>33</mark> )	72
3,5-Ph 4-OMe	34% ( <mark>3</mark> )	52
3,5-Mes	58% ( <mark>38</mark> )	75
3,5-Trip	50% ( <mark>32</mark> )	76
3,5-TTB	3% ( <mark>79</mark> )	nd
3,5-TMS	73% ( <mark>&lt;1</mark> )	75
3,5-TES	66% ( <mark>&lt;1</mark> )	83
3,5-TBS 4-OMe	e 53% ( <mark>43</mark> )	55
3,5-CF <sub>3</sub>	43% (<2)	71
3,5- <sup>/</sup> Pr <sup>(F7)</sup>	44% ( <mark>43</mark> )	86

Aryl



#### Table SL Limitations of Defluorosilylation



<sup>A</sup>Limitations for copper-catalyzed defluorosilylation

<sup>B</sup>Silyl allene product either not detected or <5% yield that could not be separated from byproducts under racemic conditions.

<sup>C</sup>Could not resolve the enantiomers by chiral HPLC analysis

### For isolation–General Procedure D:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, a stir bar, CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), and PhMe (800 µL) were charged to a 2-dram vial. (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-JosiPhos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%) was added dropwise to the stirring solution of copper. After 60 minutes, PhMe (1.7 mL) and MTBE (300 µL) were added. After an additional 60 seconds of stirring, CsF (49 mg, 0.32 mmol, 1.6 equiv), PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (71 mg, 0.27 mmol, 1.35 equiv), and difluoroalkyne (0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were added in sequence. The vial was sealed with a ptfelined, thermal-rated cap, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, and placed in a preheated,

ika heating block set at 10/10 stir setting. After 24 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature. PhF (19 µL, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv), EtOAc (1 mL), and NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (2 mL) were added and vigorously stirred for 4–5 minutes. After an <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired, the reaction was transferred to a 60 mL separatory funnel with EtOAc (25–30 mL total) and NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (20 mL) was added. The layers were shaken and the aqueous phase disposed. The organic layer was washed with dH<sub>2</sub>O (20 mL), Brine (20 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> to afford **1–25b**.



4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-6-phenylhexa-4,5-dien-1-yl pivalate (**1b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (2.5 mg, 5 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (220 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 6 mol%), and **1a** (54 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 33 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20 to1:17) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (75 mg, 91% yield, 90% ee).

Large scale synthesis of **1b** (repeated twice, 2 months apart):

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, CuOTf-0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (91.0 mg, 6 mol%), and PhMe (29 mL) were charged to a 250 mL Schlenk round bottom flask. (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (1.47 mL, 0.285 M in PhMe, 7 mol%) was added dropwise to the stirring solution of copper. After 60 minutes, PhMe (50 mL) and MTBE (9.0 mL) were added. After an additional 2 minutes of stirring, CsF(25%)-CaF<sub>2</sub> (3.71 g, 9.6 mmol, 1.6 equiv of CsF), PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (2.12g, 8.1 mmol, 1.35 equiv), and **1a** (1.77g, 6.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were added in sequence. While being stirred, the round bottom was sealed with a septum, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, placed under a flow of N<sub>2</sub>, and placed in a preheated oil bath set at 33 °C. After 30 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature. PhF (560  $\mu$ L, 6.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL), and EtOAc (50 mL) were added and vigorously stirred for 8–10 minutes under N<sub>2</sub>. After an <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired, the reaction was filtered over a pad of celite, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 125 mL), and the filtrate was transferred to a separatory funnel with EtOAc and NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL), Brine (300 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was loaded on celite and purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes 1:20 to1:15) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (1<sup>st</sup> run: 2.38 g, 96% yield, 89% *ee*; 2<sup>nd</sup> run: 2.43 g, 98% yield, 88% *ee*).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 7.65–7.62 (m, 2H), 7.47–7.41 (m, 5H), 7.38 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 4.06 (td, *J* = 6.3, 2.2 Hz, 2H), 2.40 (ddd, *J* = 15.3, 9.0, 6.5 Hz, 2H), 1.95–1.81 (m, 2H), 1.19 (s, 9H), 0.53 (d, *J* = 5.0 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.26 (t, *J* = 9.3 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 196.2 (d, *J* = 27.5 Hz), 178.7, 143.3 (d, *J* = 224.6 Hz), 136.9, 134.4, 132.7 (d, *J* = 32.5 Hz), 130.2, 129.1, 128.6, 128.0, 124.2 (d, *J* = 13.0 Hz), 123.8 (d, *J* = 3.8 Hz), 63.9, 39.2, 29.1, 28.3, 27.5, -2.9 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>31</sub>FNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 433.1970, found 433.1971.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: 99.9:00.1 hexanes:iPrOH; 7.09 min (major) and 7.93 min (minor)

**Note**: For the trialkylsilylboranes the order of addition of the reagents (silylborane, alkyne, and then  $CsF(25\%)-CaF_2$ ) is important.



Large scale synthesis of **1b-SiEt**<sub>3</sub>:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, (PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>CuF·2MeOH (224 mg, 8 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- Trip-Josiphos (376 mg, 9 mol%) and MTBE (45 mL) were charged to a 100 mL Schlenk round bottom flask. After 60 minutes, Et<sub>3</sub>SiBpin (981 mg, 4.05 mmol, 1.35 equiv), and **1a** (900 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and CsF(25%)-CaF<sub>2</sub> (2.9 g, 7.5 mmol, 2.5 equiv of CsF) were added in sequence. While being stirred, the round bottom was sealed with a septum, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, placed under a flow of N<sub>2</sub>, and placed in a preheated oil bath set at 45 °C. After 30 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature. PhF (280  $\mu$ L, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL), and EtOAc (50 mL) were added and vigorously stirred for 8–10 minutes under N<sub>2</sub>. After an <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired, the reaction was filtered over a pad of celite, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 125 mL), and the filtrate was transferred to a separatory funnel with EtOAc and NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes 1:20 to1:17) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (1.08 g, 93% yield, 94% *ee*).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 7.38–7.32 (m, 4H), 7.26–7.22 (m, 1H), 4.08 (td, *J* = 6.2, 1.9 Hz, 2H), 2.43–2.34 (m, 2H), 1.98–1.80 (m, 2H), 1.18 (s, 9H), 0.99 (t, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 9H), 0.71 (qd, *J* = 7.9, 3.3 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.81 (t, *J* = 9.4 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 195.5 (d, *J* = 27.0 Hz), 178.7, 142.8 (d, *J* = 223.6 Hz), 132.9 (d, *J* = 32.7 Hz), 129.0 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz), 127.8, 123.7 (d, *J* = 3.7 Hz), 122.9 (d, *J* = 13.3 Hz), 64.0, 39.2, 29.2, 28.3, 27.5, 7.6, 3.6.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{23}H_{35}FNaO_2Si^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 413.2283, found 413.2280.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IA column, 1.0 mL/min: 99.95:00.05 hexanes:iPrOH; 6.91 min (major) and 6.30 min (minor)



Large scale synthesis of **1b-SiMe<sub>2</sub>Bn**:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, CuOTf $0.5C_6H_6$  (61 mg, 8 mol%) and MTBE (40 mL) were charged to a 100 mL Schlenk round bottom flask. (*R*,*S*)-3,5-Trip-Josiphos (1.35 mL, 0.2 M in MTBE, 9 mol%) was added dropwise to the stirring solution of copper. After 60 minutes, **1a** (900 mg, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and BnMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (1.2 g, 4.35 mmol, 1.45 eq) were added to the stirring solution. Once BnMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin had dissolved, CsF(25%)-CaF<sub>2</sub> (2.08 g, 5.4 mmol, 1.8 equiv of CsF) was added. While being stirred, the round bottom was sealed with a septum, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, placed under a flow of N<sub>2</sub>, and placed in a preheated oil bath set at 28 °C. After 48 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature. PhF (280 µL, 3.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv), NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL), and EtOAc (50 mL) were added and vigorously stirred for 8–10 minutes under N<sub>2</sub>. After an <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired, the reaction was filtered over a pad of celite, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 125 mL), and the filtrate was transferred to a separatory funnel with EtOAc and NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL) was added. The layers were shaken and the aqueous phase disposed. The organic layer was washed with dH<sub>2</sub>O (300 mL), Brine (300 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes 1:20 to 1:17) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (1.16 g, 91% yield, 89% *ee*).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.35 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (t, *J* = 7.6, 6.7 Hz, 3H), 7.23–7.18 (m, 2H), 7.16–7.12 (m, 1H), 7.07 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 4.08 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 2.42–2.36 (m, 2H), 2.31 (q, *J* = 13.8 Hz, 2H), 1.97–1.79 (m, 2H), 1.21 (s, 9H), 0.19 (d, *J* = 18.4 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.52 (t, *J* = 9.5 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 195.8 (d, *J* = 27.3 Hz), 178.7, 143.2 (d, *J* = 224.5 Hz), 139.5, 132.6 (d, *J* = 32.6 Hz), 129.1, 129.1, 129.0, 128.8, 127.9, 125.0, 123.9 (d, *J* = 13.0 Hz), 123.7 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 64.0, 39.2, 29.0, 28.3, 27.6, 25.6, -3.1, -3.6.

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>33</sub>FNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 447.2126, found 447.2119.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: 99.95:00.05 hexanes:iPrOH; 19.77 min (major) and 22.96 min (minor)



Large scale synthesis of **1b-SiMe<sub>2</sub>Cy**:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, CuOTf-0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (57 mg, 9 mol%) and MTBE (37 mL) were charged to a 100 mL Schlenk round bottom flask. (*R*,*S*)-3,5-Trip-Josiphos (1.25 mL, 0.2 M in MTBE, 10 mol%) was added dropwise to the stirring solution of copper. After 60 minutes, **1a** (750 mg, 2.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and CyMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (1.2 g, 4.35 mmol, 1.45 eq) were added to the stirring solution. After three minutes of stirring, CsF(25%)-CaF<sub>2</sub> (2.41 g, 6.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv of CsF) was added. While being stirred, the round bottom was sealed with a septum, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, placed under a flow of N<sub>2</sub>, and placed in a preheated oil bath set at 39 °C. After 30 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature. PhF (235  $\mu$ L, 2.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv), NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL), and EtOAc (50 mL) were added and vigorously stirred for 8–10 minutes under N<sub>2</sub>. After an <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired, the reaction was filtered over a pad of celite, rinsed with EtOAc (3 x 125 mL), and the filtrate was transferred to a separatory funnel with EtOAc and NH<sub>4</sub>OH buffer (100 mL), Brine (300 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (Et<sub>2</sub>O:hexanes 1:17 to1:14) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (1.02 g, 98% yield, 90% ee).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.40–7.32 (m, 4H), 7.27–7.22 (m, 1H), 4.09 (td, *J* = 6.3, 1.9 Hz, 2H), 2.43–2.35 (m, 2H), 1.97–1.82 (m, 2H), 1.77–1.69 (m, 5H), 1.26–1.21 (m, 5H), 1.20 (s, 9H), 0.82 (tt, *J* = 12.2, 2.8 Hz, 1H), 0.14 (d, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.66 (t, *J* = 9.5 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 195.2 (d, *J* = 27.0 Hz), 178.7, 142.9 (d, *J* = 223.8 Hz), 132.9 (d, *J* = 32.7 Hz), 129.0 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz), 127.8, 124.0 (d, *J* = 13.3 Hz), 123.7 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 64.0, 39.2, 29.3, 28.6 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz), 28.4, 28.0, 27.6, 27.4, 25.9, -5.0 (d, *J* = 2.7 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>37</sub>FNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 439.2439, found 439.2440.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IA column, 1.0 mL/min: 99.95:00.05 hexanes:iPrOH; 33.49 min (major) and 30.66 min (minor)



(1-fluoro-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)nona-1,2-dien-3-yl)dimethyl(phenyl)silane (2b): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (2.5 mg, 5 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (220  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 6 mol%), and **2a** (55 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 45 °C with MTBE as the solvent. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:23) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (70 mg, 91% yield; 2% **2a** by <sup>19</sup>F NMR).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.60–7.58 (m, 2H), 7.41–7.37 (m, 3H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 6.92 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 2.27 (qd, *J* = 8.9, 6.5 Hz, 2H), 1.57–1.43 (m, 2H), 1.33–1.19 (m, 7H), 0.85 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 3H), 0.47 (d, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>)  $\delta$  -158.77 (t, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 196.4 (d, *J* = 27.6 Hz), 159.8, 143.2 (d, *J* = 223.0 Hz), 137.5, 134.5, 130.0, 128.5, 125.1 (d, *J* = 3.2 Hz), 114.6, 55.9, 33.0, 32.2, 29.5, 29.3, 29.3, 23.2, 14.4, -2.8 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz).

HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>31</sub>FNaOSi<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 405.2020, found 405.2017.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** OJ column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes; 7.97 min (major) and 7.30 min (minor)



6-(4-bromophenyl)-4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluorohexa-4,5-dien-1-yl pivalate (**3b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (2.5 mg, 5 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (220  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 6 mol%), and **3a** (75 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 33 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:23) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (89 mg, 91% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.57 (d, *J* = 5.7 Hz, 2H), 7.50 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.42–7.37 (m, 3H), 7.19 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 4.01 (td, *J* = 6.2, 3.1 Hz, 1H), 2.40–2.31 (m, 2H), 1.90–1.74 (m, 2H), 1.14 (s, 9H), 0.48 (d, *J* = 4.4 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.06 (t, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 195.0 (d, *J* = 27.0 Hz), 178.1, 141.9 (d, *J* = 224.8 Hz), 136.1, 133.8, 131.6, 131.3 (d, *J* = 33.3 Hz), 129.7, 128.0, 124.8 (d, *J* = 3.3 Hz), 124.3 (d, *J* = 12.8 Hz), 121.0, 63.2, 38.6, 28.4, 27.7, 26.9, -3.6 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{25}H_{30}BrFNaO_2Si^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 511.1075, found 511.1077.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 0.5 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 11.80 min (major) and 11.14 min (minor)



6-(4-acetylphenyl)-4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluorohexa-4,5-dien-1-yl pivalate (**4b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (2.5 mg, 5 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (220  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 6 mol%), and **4a** (70 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 34 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:7) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (86 mg, 95% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.94 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.57 (d, *J* = 5.7 Hz, 2H), 7.43–7.35 (m, 5H), 4.01 (td, *J* = 6.3, 3.0 Hz, 2H), 2.58 (s, 3H), 2.41–2.33 (m, 2H), 1.91–1.76 (m, 2H), 1.13 (s, 9H), 0.49 (d, *J* = 4.8 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.06 (t, *J* = 9.1 Hz, 1F).
<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 197.6, 195.9 (d, *J* = 26.8 Hz), 178.7, 142.3 (d, *J* = 225.1 Hz), 137.4 (d, *J* = 32.2 Hz), 136.5, 136.5, 134.4, 130.3, 129.1, 128.6, 124.6 (d, *J* = 12.7 Hz), 123.7 (d, *J* = 3.3 Hz), 63.8, 39.1, 29.0, 28.3, 27.5, 27.0, -3.0 (d, *J* = 5.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>30</sub>BrFNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 475.2075, found 475.2071.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IA column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:1; 9.84 min (major) and 9.14 min (minor)



6-(4-cyanophenyl)-4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluorohexa-4,5-dien-1-yl pivalate (**5b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (240  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **5a** (68 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:15) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (74 mg, 84% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 7.64 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.56–7.54 (m, 2H), 7.41–7.36 (m, 5H), 4.06–3.94 (m, 2H), 2.42–2.33 (m, 2H), 1.89–1.74 (m, 2H), 1.13 (s, 9H), 0.49 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>)  $\delta$  -159.35 (t, *J* = 9.3 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 195.3 (d, *J* = 26.3 Hz), 178.6, 141.6 (d, *J* = 225.4 Hz), 137.5 (d, *J* = 32.7 Hz), 136.3, 134.3, 132.9, 130.4, 128.7, 125.3 (d, *J* = 12.5 Hz), 124.1 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 119.4, 111.1, 63.7, 39.1, 29.0, 28.3, 27.5, -3.0 (d, *J* = 2.5 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>30</sub>FNNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 458.1922, found 458.1927.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 8.53 min (major) and 9.25 min (minor)



(R)-4-(6-chloro-3-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-1-fluorohexa-1,2-dien-1-yl)-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (**6b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf-0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (240  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 6 mol%), and **6a** (63 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:3 to 1:2) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (75 mg, 86% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.70 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.55 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.38 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 3H), 7.32 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 3.58 (s, 3H), 3.50 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 3.37 (s, 3H), 2.42 (q, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.03–1.88 (m, 2H), 0.48 (d, *J* = 4.8 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -158.64 (t, *J* = 9.1 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 195.6 (d, *J* = 27.1 Hz), 169.4, 142.1 (d, *J* = 226.1 Hz), 136.0, 134.5 (d, *J* = 32.5 Hz), 133.8, 132.9, 129.9, 128.8, 128.2, 123.4 (d, *J* = 12.5 Hz), 122.8 (d, *J* = 3.4 Hz), 61.2, 44.3, 33.8, 31.4, 29.2, -3.2 (d, *J* = 2.7 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>30</sub>BrFNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 454.1376, found 454.1372.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 27.75 min (major) and 26.25 min (minor)



tert-butyl(4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-6-phenylhexa-4,5-dien-1-yl)carbamate (**7b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and 7a (62 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 33 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:23) to afford the title compound as a yellow oil (77 mg, 88% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.48–7.45 (m, 2H), 7.30–7.20 (m, H), 7.17–7.11 (m, 1H), 4.40 (s, 1H), 2.94 (q, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 2.20–2.13 (m, 2H), 1.60–1.47 (m, 2H), 1.28 (s, 9H), 0.36 (d, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.37 (t, *J* = 9.3 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 196.1 (d, *J* = 27.2 Hz), 156.3, 143.2 (d, *J* = 224.4 Hz), 137.0, 134.4, 133.6, 132.7 (d, *J* = 32.4 Hz), 130.2, 129.1 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz), 128.6, 127.9, 124.5 (d, *J* = 13.1 Hz), 123.7 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 79.2, 40.5, 29.9, 29.8, 28.7, -2.9 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz).

HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>32</sub>FNNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 448.2079, found 448.2079.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 10.56 min (major) and 13.16 min (minor)



2-((2-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-4-fluoro-4-phenylbuta-2,3-dien-1-yl)oxy)benzaldehyde (**8b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **8a** (58 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 40 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20 to 1:15) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (75 mg, 93% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  10.24 (s, 1H), 7.71 (dd, *J* = 7.7, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 7.61 (d, *J* = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 7.48–7.34 (m, 6H), 7.30–7.27 (m, 3H), 6.99 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 4.92 (dd, *J* = 7.9, 4.4 Hz, 2H), 0.56 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -158.99 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 199.1 (d, *J* = 29.7 Hz), 189.6, 160.9, 143.8 (d, *J* = 228.0 Hz), 136.1, 136.1, 134.3, 131.5 (d, *J* = 31.6 Hz), 130.4, 129.1, 129.1, 128.7, 128.6, 128.5, 125.7, 124.0 (d, *J* = 3.7 Hz), 121.5, 120.5 (d, *J* = 12.4 Hz), 113.4, 68.5 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz), -2.7 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>23</sub>FNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 425.1344, found 425.1347.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 12.77 min (major) and 10.47 min (minor)



5-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-7-fluoro-7-phenylhepta-5,6-dien-2-one (**9b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **9a** (44.5 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:15) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (66 mg, 98% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.61 (dd, J = 7.3, 2.2 Hz, 2H), 7.44–7.36 (m, 5H), 7.31 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 2.67–2.48 (m, 4H), 1.99 (s, 3H), 0.50 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -158.53 (t, *J* = 10.1 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  207.5, 195.4 (d, *J* = 27.5 Hz), 143.5 (d, *J* = 225.5 Hz), 136.8 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz), 134.5, 132.4 (d, *J* = 32.5 Hz), 130.2, 129.0 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz), 128.6, 128.1, 124.4 (d, *J* = 12.9 Hz), 123.8 (d, *J* = 3.7 Hz), 42.2, 30.4, 26.6, -3.0 (d, *J* = 5.9 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>23</sub>FNaOSi<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 361.1394, found 361.1382.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 10.92 min (major) and 9.69 min (minor)



5-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-7-fluoro-7-phenylhepta-5,6-dienenitrile (**10b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf-0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **10a** (44 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:15) to afford the title compound as a yellow oil (65 mg, 97% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.64 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.48–7.42 (m, 5H), 7.38 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 2.45 (q, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 1.88 (ddt, *J* = 41.1, 14.0, 7.1 Hz, 2H), 0.55 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -158.89 (t, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 196.4 (d, *J* = 27.7 Hz), 143.5 (d, *J* = 225.7 Hz), 136.6, 134.4, 132.3 (d, *J* = 32.5 Hz), 130.3, 129.1, 128.6, 128.2, 123.8 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 123.4 (d, *J* = 13.0 Hz), 119.8, 31.3, 24.9, 16.7, -3.0 (d, *J* = 12.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>24</sub>FNSi<sup>+</sup> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 336.1578, found 336.1567.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 15.62 min (major) and 20.56 min (minor)



2-(4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-6-phenylhexa-4,5-dien-1-yl)isoindoline-1,3-dione (**11b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **11a** (68 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 45 °C with MTBE as the solvent. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:9 to 1:6) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (87 mg, 96% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 7.80 (dd, *J* = 5.4, 3.1 Hz, 2H), 7.71 (dd, *J* = 5.5, 3.0 Hz, 2H), 7.60–7.57 (m, 2H), 7.40–7.35 (m, 7H), 7.28–7.24 (m, 1H), 3.70–3.62 (m, 2H), 2.37–2.30 (m, 2H), 1.96–1.80 (m, 2H), 0.49 (d, *J* = 4.4 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.12 (t, J = 9.3 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 196.2 (d, *J* = 27.5 Hz), 168.7, 143.3 (d, *J* = 225.0 Hz), 136.8, 134.4 (d, *J* = 2.6 Hz), 133.6, 132.7, 132.7, 132.5, 130.1, 129.0, 128.5, 127.9, 124.1 (d, *J* = 12.9 Hz), 123.8 (d, *J* = 3.4 Hz), 123.5, 37.9, 30.1, 28.2, -2.9 (d, *J* = 12.3 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>28</sub>H<sub>26</sub>FNNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 478.1609, found 478.1602.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 17.68 min (major) and 16.52 min (minor)



4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-N-methoxy-N-methyl-6-phenylhexa-4,5-dienamide (**12b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **12a** (54 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:6 to 1:5 to 1:4) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (70.5 mg, 92% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 7.63 (dd, *J* = 7.4, 2.1 Hz, 2H), 7.43–7.35 (m, 5H), 7.32 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.26 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (s, 3H), 2.97 (s, 3H), 2.72–2.64 (m, 2H), 2.59–2.52 (m, 2H), 0.50 (d, *J* = 13.6 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -158.58 (t, *J* = 9.7 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 195.4 (d, *J* = 27.4 Hz), 173.4, 143.6 (d, *J* = 225.0 Hz), 137.0, 134.5, 132.6 (d, *J* = 32.6 Hz), 130.1, 128.9, 128.5, 127.9, 124.8 (d, *J* = 13.0 Hz), 123.8 (d, *J* = 3.5 Hz), 61.4, 32.3, 30.9, 27.3, -2.9 (d, *J* = 9.4 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>26</sub>FNNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 406.1609, found 406.1609.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 98:02; 10.13 min (major) and 7.89 min (minor)



4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-6-phenyl-1-(piperidin-1-yl)hexa-4,5-dien-1-one (13b): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and 13a (58.5 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:15) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (80 mg, 98% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 7.63–7.61 (m, 2H), 7.42–7.35 (m, 5H), 7.32 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 1H), 3.37 (dddd, *J* = 52.2, 12.4, 7.4, 3.7 Hz, 2H), 3.23 (q, *J* = 5.7 Hz, 2H), 2.72–2.64 (m, 1H), 2.58–2.50 (m, 2H), 2.47–2.41 (m, 1H), 1.55–1.47 (m, 2H), 1.42–1.35 (m, 3H), 1.26 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 0.50 (d, *J* = 14.5 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -158.76 (t, *J* = 10.1 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 195.2 (d, *J* = 27.3 Hz), 169.9, 143.5 (d, *J* = 224.7 Hz), 137.1, 134.5, 132.7 (d, *J* = 32.6 Hz), 130.1, 129.0, 128.5, 127.9, 125.0 (d, *J* = 12.9 Hz), 123.8 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 46.8, 43.0, 31.9, 28.1, 26.9, 26.0, 25.1, -2.9 (d, *J* = 10.1 Hz).

HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>30</sub>FNNaOSi<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 430.1973, found 430.1967.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 98:02; 16.79 min (major) and 13.73 min (minor)



ethyl 2-(4-(4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-6-phenylhexa-4,5-dien-1-yl)-1H-1,2,3-triazol-1-yl)acetate (14b): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and 14a (70 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 40 °C. The crude residue

was purified by column chromatography on  $SiO_2$  (EtOAc:hexanes 1:15) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (78 mg, 83% yield, residual EtOAc).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.59 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.43–7.32 (m, 7H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (s, 1H), 5.05 (s, 2H), 4.23 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.71 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (qd, *J* = 8.6, 3.5 Hz, 2H), 1.96–1.80 (m, 2H), 1.28 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.48 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.53 (t, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 195.6 (d, *J* = 27.2 Hz), 166.6, 147.8, 142.5 (d, *J* = 224.3 Hz), 136.5, 133.89, 132.2 (d, *J* = 32.6 Hz), 129.5, 128.5, 128.0, 127.3, 124.0 (d, *J* = 13.0 Hz), 123.2 (d, *J* = 3.8 Hz), 122.1, 62.2, 50.7, 31.5, 28.4, 24.9, 13.9, -3.5 (d, *J* = 13.8 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{26}H_{31}FN_3O_2Si^+[M+H]^+$ : 464.2164, found 464.2163.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 70:30; 6.82 min (major) and 8.37 min (minor)



2-((3-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-5-fluoro-5-phenylpenta-3,4-dien-1-yl)oxy)pyrimidine (**15b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **15a** (55 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:3 to 1:2) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (65 mg, 83% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  8.42 (d, *J* = 4.8 Hz, 2H), 7.61 (dd, *J* = 7.5, 1.9 Hz, 2H), 7.42–7.33 (m, 7H), 7.27–7.23 (m, 1H), 6.86 (t, *J* = 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (td, *J* = 6.9, 1.4 Hz, 2H), 2.79 (q, *J* = 7.9, 7.4 Hz, 2H), 0.51 (d, *J* = 3.9 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.52 (t, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  197.0 (d, *J* = 28.0 Hz), 165.6, 159.6, 143.1 (d, *J* = 225.4 Hz), 136.7 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz), 134.5, 132.4 (d, *J* = 32.3 Hz), 130.2, 129.0 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz), 128.5, 128.0, 123.9 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 121.0 (d, *J* = 12.9 Hz), 115.5, 66.3 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz), 31.9, -3.0 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{23}H_{23}FN_2NaOSi^+ [M+Na]^+: 413.1456$ , found 413.1451.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** OD column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 24.74 min (major) and 22.33 min (minor)



(16b): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf  $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and 16a (65 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:19) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (81 mg, 92% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 7.63–7.59 (m, 3H), 7.44–7.39 (m, 5H), 7.36 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.32 – 7.26 (m, 2H), 7.17 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.09 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.00 (d, *J* = 3.1 Hz, 1H), 6.45 (d, *J* = 3.1 Hz, 1H), 4.03 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 2.37–2.27 (m, 2H), 1.88–1.78 (m, 2H), 1.63–1.49 (m, 2H), 0.49 (d, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.38 (t, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 196.2 (d, *J* = 27.4 Hz), 143.1 (d, *J* = 224.2 Hz), 137.0, 136.5, 134.4, 132.7 (d, *J* = 32.6 Hz), 130.2, 129.2, 129.1, 128.6, 128.3, 128.0, 124.5 (d, *J* = 12.9 Hz), 123.8 (d, *J* = 3.9 Hz), 121.8, 121.3, 119.6, 109.9, 101.3, 46.6, 32.3, 30.3, 26.5, -2.9 (d, *J* = 10.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>29</sub>H<sub>30</sub>FNNaSi<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 462.2024, found 462.2017.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 12.25 min (major) and 15.84 min (minor)



(1-(benzyloxy)-4-fluoro-4-phenylbuta-2,3-dien-2-yl)dimethyl(phenyl)silane (17b): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and 17a (68 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column

chromatography on  $SiO_2$  (EtOAc:hexanes 1:41) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (75 mg, 96% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.67 (d, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 7.45 (dt, *J* = 13.3, 6.3 Hz, 7H), 7.37–7.33 (m, 4H), 7.30 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 4.57–4.48 (m, 2H), 4.35 (dd, *J* = 7.9, 4.2 Hz, 2H), 0.59 (d, *J* = 5.1 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.61 (t, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 197.6 (d, *J* = 28.6 Hz), 142.9 (d, *J* = 225.7 Hz), 138.7, 136.9, 134.5, 132.3 (d, *J* = 32.0 Hz), 130.2, 129.1, 128.8, 128.5, 128.3, 128.2, 128.1, 124.0 (d, *J* = 3.7 Hz), 122.4 (d, *J* = 12.6 Hz), 72.9, 70.7, -2.5 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>25</sub>FNaOSi<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 411.1551, found 411.1551.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 6.90 min (major) and 6.49 min (minor)



(4-fluoro-1-(furan-2-ylmethoxy)-4-phenylbuta-2,3-dien-2-yl)dimethyl(phenyl)silane (18b): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and 18a (53 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 27°C with MTBE as the solvent. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (67 mg, 88% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.61 (d, *J* = 5.7 Hz, 2H), 7.43–7.36 (m, 5H), 7.35 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 6.34 (dd, *J* = 3.2, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 6.23 (d, *J* = 3.3 Hz, 1H), 4.40 (d, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 2H), 4.26 (dd, *J* = 7.8, 4.2 Hz, 2H), 0.52 (d, *J* = 4.4 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.64 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 197.6 (d, *J* = 28.7 Hz), 152.1, 143.4, 142.9 (d, *J* = 225.9 Hz), 136.8, 134.49, 132.2 (d, *J* = 31.9 Hz), 130.2, 129.1, 128.5, 128.2, 124.0 (d, *J* = 3.7 Hz), 122.1 (d, *J* = 12.5 Hz), 110.8, 110.1, 70.2, 64.5, -2.6 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{23}H_{23}FNaO_2Si^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 401.1344, found 401.1344.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 8.26 min (major) and 7.43 min (minor)



(4-fluoro-4-phenyl-1-((3-phenylprop-2-yn-1-yl)oxy)buta-2,3-dien-2-yl)dimethyl(phenyl)silane (19b): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf· $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **19a** (60 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 27 °C with MTBE as the solvent. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:50 to 1:33) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (69 mg, 83% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.64 (d, *J* = 5.3 Hz, 2H), 7.43–7.33 (m, 12H), 7.29 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.41 (dd, *J* = 8.1, 2.7 Hz, 2H), 4.35 (s, 2H), 0.56 (d, *J* = 4.3 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.48 (t, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 197.7 (d, *J* = 28.9 Hz), 143.0 (d, *J* = 226.1 Hz), 136.8, 134.5, 132.3, 130.2, 129.1, 128.9, 128.5, 128.3, 124.0 (d, *J* = 3.7 Hz), 123.1, 122.0 (d, *J* = 12.6 Hz), 87.0, 85.3, 70.0, 58.7, -2.6 (d, *J* = 2.9 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>27</sub>H<sub>25</sub>FNaOSi<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 435.1551, found 435.1547.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 9.14 min (major) and 8.34 min (minor)



(1-(cinnamyloxy)-4-fluoro-4-phenylbuta-2,3-dien-2-yl)dimethyl(phenyl)silane (**20b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **20a** (60 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 26 °C with MTBE as the solvent. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (77 mg, 92% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.66 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.45–7.38 (m, 7H), 7.38–7.30 (m, 5H), 7.27 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 6.53 (d, *J* = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.22 (dt, *J* = 15.9, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 4.32 (dd, *J* = 8.0, 3.4 Hz, 2H), 4.12 (t, *J* = 4.3 Hz, 2H), 0.56 (d, *J* = 5.2 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -159.60 (t, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 197.4 (d, *J* = 28.7 Hz), 142.9 (d, *J* = 225.6 Hz), 137.3, 136.9, 134.5, 132.87, 132.3 (d, *J* = 31.9 Hz), 130.2, 129.1, 129.1, 128.5, 128.2, 127.0, 126.4, 124.0 (d, *J* = 3.8 Hz), 122.5 (d, *J* = 12.6 Hz), 71.5, 70.6, -2.5 (d, *J* = 5.7 Hz).

HRMS (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>27</sub>H<sub>27</sub>FNaOSi<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 437.1707, found 437.1703.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.95:00.05; 16.15 min (major) and 12.31 min (minor)



4-(1-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-3-fluoro-3-phenylpropa-1,2-dien-1-yl)phenyl acetate (**21b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **21a** 57 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20) to afford the title compound as a light yellow oil (79 mg, 98% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.70–7.67 (m, 2H), 7.48–7.39 (m, 9H), 7.33 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.03 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 2.27 (s, 3H), 0.60 (d, *J* = 9.6 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ -157.86 (s, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>)  $\delta$  202.0 (d, *J* = 28.4 Hz), 169.8, 151.2, 143.2 (d, *J* = 227.6 Hz), 137.3, 134.5, 134.0, 131.9 (d, *J* = 32.4 Hz), 130.3, 130.0 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz), 129.2, 128.7, 128.5, 124.0 (d, *J* = 3.3 Hz), 122.5, 21.4, -1.6 (d, *J* = 4.0 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{25}H_{23}FNaO_2Si^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 425.1344, found 425.1348.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 0.2 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.85:00.15; 47.08 min (major) and 44.98 min (minor)



methyl 4-(1-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-3-fluoro-3-phenylpropa-1,2-dien-1-yl)benzoate (**22b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in

PhMe, 7 mol%), and **22a** (55 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:33 to 1:20) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (77 mg, 95% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.98 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.69 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.50–7.43 (m, 9H), 7.39–7.35 (m, 1H), 3.92 (s, 3H), 0.63 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ -158.71 (s, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 203.6 (d, *J* = 28.9 Hz), 167.0, 143.5 (d, *J* = 228.1 Hz), 141.2, 137.0, 134.5, 131.6 (d, *J* = 32.0 Hz), 130.3, 130.3, 130.2, 129.3, 128.8 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz), 128.7, 128.7, 124.6 (d, *J* = 12.8 Hz), 124.1 (d, *J* = 3.3 Hz), 52.5, -1.7 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>23</sub>FNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 425.1344, found 425.1342.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** OJ column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes; 32.66 min (major) and 44.41 min (minor)



2-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-4-fluoro-4-phenylbuta-2,3-dien-1-yl acetate (**23b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf- $0.5C_6H_6$  (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and **23a** (45 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 35 °C. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:33 to 1:20) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (64 mg, 95% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.62–7.60 (m, 2H), 7.44–7.39 (m, 5H), 7.36 (d, *J* = 1.6 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 4.89–4.74 (m, 2H), 1.90 (s, 3H), 0.53 (d, *J* = 1.6 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -158.60 (t, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  197.3 (d, *J* = 29.2 Hz), 170.6, 143.8 (d, *J* = 227.4 Hz), 136.3, 134.4, 131.9 (d, *J* = 31.7 Hz), 130.4, 129.1 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz), 128.6, 128.5, 124.1 (d, *J* = 3.7 Hz), 120.8 (d, *J* = 12.3 Hz), 63.9 (d, *J* = 2.0 Hz), 20.9, -2.7 (d, *J* = 4.1 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for  $C_{20}H_{21}FNaO_2Si^+$  [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 363.1187, found 363.1183.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 21.14 min (major) and 13.25 min (minor)



(*E*)-5-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-7-fluoro-7-phenylhepta-3,5,6-trien-1-yl pivalate (**24b**): Following general procedure D, but CuOTf-0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240  $\mu$ L, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), **24a** (62 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv), CsF (30 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and sodium 2-methoxyphenolate (9.0 mg, 30 mol%) were used at 27 °C with PhMe as the solvent. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:20) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (72 mg, 85% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  7.60 (d, *J* = 5.3 Hz, 2H), 7.39 (m, 5H), 7.35 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.28 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 6.13 (d, *J* = 14.8 Hz, 1H), 5.94–5.85 (m, 1H), 4.03 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 2.40 (q, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 1.15 (s, 9H), 0.50 (d, *J* = 3.2 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ -157.23 (s, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>)  $\delta$  201.2 (d, *J* = 27.2 Hz), 178.6, 141.5 (d, *J* = 226.0 Hz), 137.3, 134.4, 134.3 (d, *J* = 5.2 Hz), 132.2 (d, *J* = 32.7 Hz), 130.1, 129.1, 128.6, 128.4, 128.2, 124.0 (d, *J* = 3.2 Hz), 122.4 (d, *J* = 13.6 Hz), 63.5 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 39.2, 33.1, 27.5, -1.9 (d, *J* = 3.8 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>31</sub>FNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 445.1970, found 445.1970.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 18.33 min (major) and 13.83 min (minor)



 $2-((3-(\dim ethyl(phenyl)silyl)-5-fluoro-5-(2-isopropylphenyl)penta-3,4-dien-1-yl)oxy)pyrimidine($ **25b**):Following general procedure D, but CuOTf-0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (3.0 mg, 6 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (240 µL, 0.06 M in PhMe, 7 mol%), and**25a**(63.5, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were used at 45 °C with MTBE as the solvent. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:5) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (61 mg, 70% yield). <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  8.47 (d, *J* = 4.7 Hz, 2H), 7.58 (d, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 2H), 7.40–7.33 (m, 5H), 7.27 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.17 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 6.90 (t, J = 4.7 Hz, 1H), 4.53 (dt, *J* = 7.9, 5.9 Hz, 2H), 3.32 (p, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 2.81–2.67 (m, 2H), 1.20 (t, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 6H), 0.52 (d, *J* = 4.7 Hz, 9H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -137.54 (t, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 198.5 (d, *J* = 29.5 Hz), 165.7, 159.7, 147.7, 142.0 (d, *J* = 228.9 Hz), 136.7, 134.5, 130.5 (d, *J* = 30.9 Hz), 129.8, 128.8 (d, *J* = 3.4 Hz), 128.5, 126.4, 126.2, 117.1 (d, *J* = 13.7 Hz), 115.5, 66.5 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz), 31.7, 30.8, 24.6, 24.3, -2.9 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>29</sub>FN<sub>2</sub>NaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 455.1925, found 455.1928.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.7:00.3; 23.83 min (major) and 21.98 min (minor)

# 2.5.7 Procedures for Derivatizations of Fluoroallenes



4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-6-phenylhexa-4,5-dien-1-ol (1c): In a nitrogen filled glovebox, 1b (616 mg, 1.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and  $CH_2Cl_2$  (15 mL, 0.1 M) was added to a 50 mL Schlenk round bottom flask and sealed with a septum. The flask was removed from the glovebox and placed in a -78 °C bath (dry ice/acetone) under a flow of nitrogen. After reaching -78 °C, DIBAL-H (1 M in hexanes, 3.8 mL, 2.5 equiv) was added dropwise over the course of 4 minutes. After stirring at -78 °C for 150 minutes, the contents were quickly poured onto a vigorously stirring NH<sub>4</sub>Cl/NH<sub>4</sub>OH aqueous buffer (75 mL in a 250 mL Erlenmeyer flask). The reaction flask was quickly rinsed with  $CH_2Cl_2$  (3 x 5 mL) and added to the Erlenmeyer flask. The organic layer was then diluted with  $Et_2O$  (100 mL), and the mixture was vigorously stirred for 10 minutes before being filtered over a pad of celite. The layers were separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with  $Et_2O$  (200 mL). The organics were combined and washed with dH<sub>2</sub>O (150 ml), Brine (150 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:3 to 1:2) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (488 mg, 99% yield).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 7.65–7.61 (m, 2H), 7.45–7.36 (m, 7H), 7.28 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 3.57 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 2.37 (q, *J* = 8.1, 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.82–1.68 (m, 3H), 0.52 (d, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 6H). <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ -159.37 (t, *J* = 9.3 Hz, 1F). <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 196.0 (d, *J* = 27.3 Hz), 143.1 (d, *J* = 224.2 Hz), 137.1 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz), 134.4, 132.8 (d, *J* = 32.7 Hz), 130.2, 129.1 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz), 128.6, 127.9, 124.7 (d, *J* = 13.0 Hz), 123.7 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 62.4, 32.3 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz), 29.0, -2.9 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>23</sub>FNaOSi<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 349.1394, found 349.1393.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 95:05; 6.79 min (major) and 7.66 min (minor)



(*E*)-4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-6-phenylhex-5-en-1-yl pivalate (**2c**): In a nitrogen filled glovebox, a 20 mL vial was charged with a stir bar, **1b** (189 mg, 0.46 mmol, 1.0 equiv), and  $CH_2Cl_2$  (4.6 mL, 0.1 M). KOPiv (67 mg, 0.48 mmol, 1.05 eq) and 2-nitrobenzenesulfonylhydrazide (200 mg, 0.92 mmol, 2.0 equiv) were added, the vial was sealed with a ptfe lined cap, removed from the glovebox and placed in a 24 °C heating block (8/10 stir setting). After 24 hours, the mixture was diluted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (5 mL), filtered over a plug and SiO<sub>2</sub>. The SiO<sub>2</sub> was rinsed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 25 mL), concentrated, and the crude residue was purified by column chromatography on SiO<sub>2</sub> (EtOAc:hexanes 1:15) to afford the title compound as a colorless oil (188 mg, 99% yield; 97% purity based on <sup>19</sup>F NMR).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.47 (d, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 2H), 7.38–7.31 (m, 8H), 5.20 (dd, *J* = 22.9, 12.7 Hz, 1H), 3.96 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 2.04 (t, *J* = 12.2 Hz, 1H), 1.84–1.77 (m, 1H), 1.65–1.59 (m, 1H), 1.53–1.44 (m, 1H), 1.34–1.28 (m, 1H), 1.16 (s, 9H), 0.32 (d, *J* = 16.7 Hz, 6H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -98.39 (d, *J* = 22.9 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 178.5, 156.4 (d, *J* = 239.5 Hz), 136.9, 134.1, 132.4 (d, *J* = 30.1 Hz), 129.3, 128.8, 128.3, 127.9, 127.8 (d, *J* = 4.4 Hz), 109.8 (d, *J* = 24.6 Hz), 64.0, 38.8, 28.7, 27.3, 26.6 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz), 25.2 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz), -4.7 (d, *J* = 101.7 Hz).

**HRMS** (ESI+) calc'd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>33</sub>FNaO<sub>2</sub>Si<sup>+</sup> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 435.2126, found 435.2121.

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** OJ column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 39.28 min (major) and 45.02 min (minor)

## 2.5.8 Preliminary NMR Studies

Formation of LCuOTf and LCu('BuCN)<sub>n</sub>OTf:



In a nitrogen filled glovebox, CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (7.0 mg, 0.028 mmol, 1 equiv) and a 20% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> solution (1.3 mL) were charged to a 1-dram vial containing a stir bar. (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (280  $\mu$ L (0.1 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>), 0.028 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added dropwise to the stirring copper solution. After 1 h of stirring, an aliquot was transferred to a J-Young NMR tube and the mixture analyzed by NMR. PhF was used as an internal standard.



225



In a nitrogen filled glovebox,  $Cu({}^{t}BuCN)_2OTf(10.6 \text{ mg}, 0.028 \text{ mmol}, 1 \text{ equiv})$  and a 20% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> solution (1.3 mL) were charged to a 1-dram vial containing a stir bar. (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (280 µL (0.1 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>), 0.028 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added dropwise to the stirring copper solution. After 1 h of stirring, an aliquot was transferred to a J-Young NMR tube and the mixture analyzed by NMR. PhF was used as an internal standard.



-40 -45 -50 -55 -60 -65 -70 -75 -80 -85 -90 -95 -100 -105 -110 -115 -120 -125 -130 -135 -140 -145 -150 -155 -160 ppm

 $^{19}\text{F}$  NMR (565 MHz, 10% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>)

# Formation of [LCuF] from LCuOTf and LCu('BuCN)<sub>n</sub>OTf:

The contents of the J-Young NMR tubes were transferred back into the 1-dram vials located in the glovebox and CsF (85 mg, 0.56 mmol, 20 equiv) was added. The mixtures were vigorously stirred (10/10 stir setting on an ika stirring plate) 4 hours. The solid was allowed to settle, aliquots were transferred to J-Young NMR tubes, and the solutions were analyzed by NMR. After 24 hours of stirring with CsF, the presumed Cu-OH species converts to the Cu-F.







#### Formation of LCuOH and LCu(H<sub>2</sub>O)OTf:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (7.0 mg, 0.028 mmol, 1 equiv) and a 20% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> solution (1.3 mL) were charged to a 1-dram vial containing a stir bar. (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (280  $\mu$ L (0.1 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>), 0.028 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added dropwise to the stirring copper solution. After 1 h of stirring, half of the solution was transferred to an NMR tube, sealed with a rubber septum, and removed from the glovebox. Under a flow of N<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub> sparged water (5  $\mu$ L, 0.28 mmol, 20 equiv) was added and the NMR tube sonicated for 5 minutes before being analyzed. Under nitrogen, the other half of the solution was transferred to an NMR tube containing CsOH·H<sub>2</sub>O (19 mg, 0.11 mmol, 8 equiv) and sonicated for 5 minutes before being analyzed. PhF was used as an internal standard.





-45 -50 -55 -60 -65 -70 -75 -80 -85 -90 -95 -100 -105 -110 -115 -120 -125 -130 -135 -140 -145 -150 -155 -160 -16E ppm

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, 10% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>)



Reactivity of LCuF and LCuSiMe<sub>2</sub>Ph: Generation of LCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin FBpin

In a nitrogen filled glovebox,  $Cu({}^{t}BuCN)_{2}OTf$  (10.6 mg, 0.028 mmol, 1 equiv) and a 20% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> solution (1.3 mL) were charged to a 1-dram vial containing a stir bar. (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (280 µL (0.1 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>), 0.028 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added dropwise to the stirring copper solution. After 1 h of stirring, CsF (85 mg 0.58 mmol, 20 equiv) was added and the mixture vigorously stirred for 5 hours. The solids were allowed to settle, and an aliquot was transferred to a J-Young NMR tube and analyzed.





The contents of the J-Young NMR tube were transferred back into the 1-dram vial located in the glovebox. The solution was filtered through a pipette with glass fiber filter to remove excess CsF and CsOTf and rinsed with  $C_6D_6$  (400 µL) into a new 1-dram vial. PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (7.3 mg, 0.028 mmol, 1 equiv) was added and the solution was stirred for 2 hours. An aliquot was transferred to a J-Young NMR tube and analyzed.



<sup>11</sup>**B NMR** (193 MHz, 10% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>)



The contents of the J-Young NMR tube were transferred back into the 1-dram vial located in the glovebox. Difluoroalkyne **1a** (16.0 mg, 0.056 mmol, 2 equiv) was added and the solution was stirred for 2 hours at 33 °C. An aliquot was transferred to a J-Young NMR tube and analyzed.



 $^{11}\text{B}$  NMR (193 MHz, 10% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>)





#### Preparation of (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-JosiphosCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, Cu('BuCN)<sub>2</sub>OTf (10.6 mg, 0.028 mmol, 1 equiv) and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (1.0 mL) were charged to a 1-dram vial containing a stir bar. (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (280  $\mu$ L (0.1 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>), 0.028 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added dropwise to the stirring copper solution. After 1 h of stirring, CsF (85 mg 0.58 mmol, 20 equiv) was added and the mixture vigorously stirred for 4 hours. The solution was filtered through a pipette with a glass fiber filter to remove excess CsF and CsOTf and rinsed with C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> (500  $\mu$ L) into a new 1-dram vial. FBpin (210  $\mu$ L (0.2 M in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0.042 mmol, 1.5 equiv) was added and the solution was stirred for 2 hours. The solution was concentrated to an orange foam, dissolved in 1 mL of pentane, filtered through a pipette with a glass fiber filter, and concentrated at 35 °C for 2 hours. The resulting orange foam was analyzed by NMR in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>. FBpin was prepared from adding BF<sub>3</sub>·Et<sub>2</sub>O (71 mg, 0.5 mmol, 1 equiv) to a stirring solution of the bis TMS ether of pinacol at 23 °C. The solution was allowed to stir for 3 hours before it was added to [Cu-F] (FBpin formation was monitored by NMR and the reaction was complete after 20 minutes. FBpin was stable in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> for at least48 hours (longer time points were not acquired). FBpin could not be isolated as it decomposed upon distillation.)







### (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-JosiPhosCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin as a catalyst:

4-(dimethyl(phenyl)silyl)-6-fluoro-6-phenylhexa-4,5-dien-1-yl pivalate (1b):

Crude (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-JosiphosCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin (170  $\mu$ L, 0.035 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>, 6 mol%), was diluted with PhMe (1.3 mL) in a 1-dram vial. CsF (24 mg, 0.16 mmol, 1.6 equiv), PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (37  $\mu$ L, 0.135 mmol, 1.35 equiv), and **1a** (30 mg, 0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were added. The vial was sealed with a ptfe-lined, thermal-rated cap, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, and placed in a 33 °C heating block set at 1000 rpm (or 10/10 stir setting on an ika stir plate). After 24 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature, diluted with EtOAc (500  $\mu$ L) and PhF (9.5  $\mu$ L, 0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and the NH<sub>4</sub>OH (1 mL) were added. The contents were vigorously stirred for 4 minutes and the layers were allowed to separate. An <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired. The organics were combined, washed with brine (2 mL), concentrated, purified by preparative TLC, and the enantiomeric excess was determined by a chiral HPLC.

# (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TES-JosiPhosCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin + PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBPin:



In a nitrogen filled glovebox, crude (R,S)-3,5-TES-JosiphosCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin (570 µL, 0.035 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>, 0.02 mmol), was diluted MTBE (150 µL) and C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> (750 µL) in a 1-dram vial with a stir bar. PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (21 µL, 0.08 mmol, 4.0 equiv) was added, the vial sealed, and heated at 30 °C in the glovebox. After 4 hours, an aliquot was transferred to a J-Young NMR tube and analyzed.





## NMR Time Study under Catalytic Conditions:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, CuOTf-0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (1.9 mg, 7.5 mol%) and a 20% MTBE/C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> solution (1.4 mL) were charged to a 1-dram vials containing a stir bar. (R,S)-3,5-TES-Josiphos (80 µL, 0.1 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>, 8 mol%) was added dropwise to a stirring solution of copper and after an addition 1 hour of stirring CsF (24 mg, 0.16 mmol, 1.6 equiv), PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (37 µL, 0.135 mmol, 1.35 equiv) and **1a** (30 mg, 0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were added. The vials were sealed and heated at 35 °C in the glovebox. After 4, 7, 12, or 23.5 hours, a vial would be removed to 23 °C, an aliquot transferred to a J-Young NMR tube, and analyzed.



<sup>11</sup>**B NMR** (193 MHz, 10% MTBE/ $C_6D_6$ )



Identification of CsF<sub>2</sub>Bpin:

Following general procedure D, but CuOTf·0.5C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (1.9 mg, 7.5 mol%), (*R*,*S*)-3,5- TES-Josiphos (80  $\mu$ L, 0.1 M in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>, 8 mol%), **1a** (30 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv), CsF (24 mg, 0.16 mmol, 1.6 equiv), and PhMe<sub>2</sub>SiBpin (37  $\mu$ L, 0.135 mmol, 1.35 equiv) were used at 33 °C in 10% MTBE in C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub> (1.4 mL). After 24 hours, the reaction was filtered over a pipette filled with a glass fiber pad and washed with EtOAc. The filter was washed with DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub> and analyzed. EtOAc (integrated peaks) was the major species by <sup>1</sup>H NMR.




## 2.5.9 Computational Studies

### I. Computational Methods

Density functional theory (DFT) calculations were carried out using the Gaussian 16 program<sup>60</sup> on Pitt CRC, XSEDE,<sup>61</sup> and the TACC Frontera supercomputers. Geometries of all stationary points were fully optimized using the dispersion-corrected<sup>62</sup> B3LYP-D3 functional.<sup>62</sup> The SDD basis set was used for copper and iron atoms, while the 6-31G(d) basis set was used for other atoms. Vibrational frequency calculations at the same level of theory of the optimization were performed to confirm if each structure is a local minimum or a transition state. Quasi-harmonic approximation with the Cramer and Truhlar approach<sup>64</sup> were performed using the GoodVibes package,<sup>65</sup> in which all vibrational frequencies below 100 cm<sup>-1</sup> were shifted to 100 cm<sup>-1</sup> before entropy calculations. Single-point energy calculations were carried out using the M06 functional<sup>66</sup> with the SDD basis set for copper and iron atoms and 6-311+G(d,p) basis set for other atoms. Solvation energy corrections were calculated using the SMD solvation model<sup>67</sup> and toluene as solvent in the single-point energy calculations. Non-covalent interactions between the substrate and the Josiphos ligand were dissected by using the second-generation energy decomposition analysis based on absolutely localized molecular orbitals (ALMO-EDA2)<sup>68</sup> algorithm, which is implemented in Q-Chem 5.3 package.<sup>69</sup> Following a similar procedure reported by our group,<sup>70</sup> the EDA calculations were performed using the optimized geometries of **TS-3** and TS-4, with the CuF moiety was removed to account for the non-covalent through-space interactions between the Josiphos and the allene fragments.

#### II. Additional Computational Results



**Figure S1**. Relative Gibbs free energies and enthalpies of monomeric and dimer LCuF (**26** and **28**) and the heterodimer LCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin (**29**). L = (R,S)-3,5-TMS-Josiphos. All energies (kcal/mol) are with respect to **26**.

From monomeric Cu<sup>1</sup>F species **26**, the dimerization to form dimeric species **28** is exergonic by 7.3 kcal/mol, while the association with FBpin to form LCuF<sub>2</sub>Bpin species **29** is exergonic by 4.0 kcal/mol. Although the dimeric species **28** is 3.3 kcal/mol in energy than **29**, under catalytic conditions, the dimer dissociation is expected to be promoted by the low concentration of LCuF, and the conversion of monomeric LCuF to the more stable heterodimer **29**. Under catalytic conditions, neither **26** nor **28** was observed. This is likely due to the relatively low barrier to convert the LCuF species to silyl copper ( $\Delta G^{\ddagger} = 6.7$  kcal/mol with respect to the monomeric LCuF, **26**). Therefore, the catalyst resting state in the catalytic cycle is the silyl copper species **30** prior to the rate-determining transition state alkyne migratory insertion.



**Figure S2.** Optimized structures of the alkyne insertion transition states. Gibbs free energies and enthalpies (kcal/mol) are with respect to **30**.



**Figure S3.** Optimized structures of the *anti-* $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transition states promoted by CsF(toluene) and BpinF giving the (S)-monofluoroallene product (**TS-5**) and the (R)-product (**TS-6**). Gibbs free energies and enthalpies (kcal/mol) are with respect to separated **31** and CsF(toluene) (or separated **31** and BpinF).

In all *anti*-elimination transition states, the Cu and the departing F are in an *anti*-periplanar geometry. All of the *anti*- $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transition states investigated here are less stable than the *syn*- $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transition state **TS-3** ( $\Delta G^{\dagger} = 14.6$  kcal/mol with respect to **31**).



**Figure S4.** Conformers of LCu<sup>I</sup>F and LCuSiMe<sub>2</sub>Ph complexes supported by the (R,S)-3,5-TMS-Josiphos ligand. The *P*-phenyl and *P*-aryl groups "proximal" to the Cu center are highlighted in green. Gibbs free energies and enthalpies (in kcal/mol) are with respect to **26**.

In conformation **C**, the chiral carbon center is puckered out of plane, while two phosphorus atoms and Cu atom are nearly coplanar with the Cp ring. The steric environment of the ligand is pseudo- $C_2$ -symmetric where the *P*-phenyl in quadrant **II** and the *P*-aryl in quadrant **IV** are in close proximity to the Cu center. In conformation **D**, the six-membered ring has a twist-boat-type geometry. The ligand in conformation **D** is pseudo- $C_3$ -symmetric—quadrants **I** and **II** are occupied by the *P*-aryl and *P*-phenyl groups, respectively.



**Figure S5.** Conformers of the alkyne migratory insertion transition states with different conformations of the (R,S)-3,5-TMS-Josiphos ligand. Gibbs free energies and enthalpies (kcal/mol) are with respect to **30**.



**Figure S6**. Optimized structures of  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transition states with different conformations of the (*R*,*S*)-3,5-TMS-Josiphos ligand. Gibbs free energies and enthalpies (kcal/mol) are with respect to **31**. See Figure 3 in the manuscript for the optimized transition state structures with the most favorable ligand conformation (**B**).



**Figure S7**. Optimized structures of the *syn-* $\beta$ -fluoride elimination transition states with SegPhos ligand giving the (*S*)- and (*R*)-monofluoroallene products (**TS-7** and **TS-8**, respectively). Gibbs free energies and enthalpies (kcal/mol) are with respect to **TS-7**. A higher energy conformer of **TS-7** (**TS-7**') is also shown.

# III. Energy Values and Cartesian Coordinates

26			
B3LYP-D3 SC	F energy (at	1):	-4129.85489483
B3LYP-D3 ent	halpy (au):	,	-4128.79705383
B3LYP-D3 free	e energy (au	):	-4128.97425883
M06 SCF energy	gy (au):		-4128.73334272
M06 enthalpy	(au):		-4127.67550172
M06 free energ	y (au):		-4127.85270672
M06 free energ	y (quasi-ha	rmonic) (au):	-4127.83493489
Cartesian coor	dinates		
ATOM X	Y Z		
Cu -0.259269	0.545569	0 1.231533	
Fe -2.527900	1.211320	4.348002	
P -1.285143	-1.415996	1.570151	
P -1.907557	2.035823	1.042103	
C -3.059249	1.525279	2.360831	
C -3.376103	0.163002	2.754927	
C -4.294775	0.251814	3.848415	
Н -4.702795	-0.599325	4.379696	
C -4.544725	1.622897	4.142018	
Н -5.155683	2.000850	4.951747	
C -3.784100	2.407926	3.232433	
Н -3.709682	3.486728	3.224198	
C -1.097737	0.108158	5.386689	
Н -0.928105	-0.950871	5.266907	
C -2.026537	0.703695	6.290734	
C -0.999005	2.393623	5.102169	
Н -0.752928	3.368932	4.704578	
C -0.456843	1.151461	4.650564	
Н 0.289426	1.039062	3.870580	
C -2.959311	2.136683	-0.460454	
C -4.355821	2.262599	-0.419847	
Н -4.862882	2.330479	0.538593	
C -5.096046	2.278724	-1.604178	
Н -6.178221	2.370082	-1.562472	
C -4.450128	2.172789	-2.838265	
C -3.058761	2.047494	-2.888024	
Н -2.552335	1.950314	-3.844077	
C -2.319319	2.022081	-1.705467	
Н -1.238359	1.903532	-1.741282	
C -1.481349	3.767832	1.467648	
C -2.340723	4.855839	1.256842	

Н	-3.306716	4.701090	0.782864
С	-1.953539	6.138532	1.647677
Η	-2.621824	6.979692	1.482420
С	-0.706417	6.340202	2.246667
С	0.159268	5.260751	2.442041
Η	1.135591	5.418687	2.892425
С	-0.218307	3.974696	2.048620
Η	0.458132	3.130552	2.184192
С	-1.964190	2.119530	6.116788
Η	-2.579282	2.850880	6.625835
С	-3.103595	-1.152558	2.051715
Η	-2.692346	0.173197	6.959670
С	-4.054934	-1.285292	0.842661
Η	-5.080149	-1.075574	1.167768
Η	-3.806705	-0.568968	0.053287
Η	-4.022603	-2.290024	0.412915
Η	-3.351941	-1.947902	2.763470
С	-1.367988	-2.613768	0.181562
С	-1.273004	-4.002094	0.332638
С	-1.529672	-2.081392	-1.107121
С	-1.353480	-4.868674	-0.770548
Η	-1.116327	-4.414269	1.325199
С	-1.634277	-2.905198	-2.238159
Η	-1.576633	-0.998344	-1.216002
С	-1.539962	-4.295275	-2.040661
Η	-1.601540	-4.951398	-2.906633
С	-0.552606	-2.327111	2.979098
С	-1.187713	-3.359324	3.680961
С	0.723787	-1.907941	3.385871
С	-0.569110	-3.988784	4.775325
Η	-2.180544	-3.684117	3.372554
С	1.366203	-2.481183	4.493834
Η	1.188769	-1.078436	2.858728
С	0.702366	-3.525625	5.161865
Η	1.185765	-3.990164	6.020090
Η	-5.028554	2.177028	-3.757994
Η	-0.406131	7.339997	2.549384
Si	-1.231048	-6.735221	-0.491084
Si	-1.920053	-2.128204	-3.938172
Si	-1.468864	-5.394004	5.659099
Si	2.987629	-1.720957	5.120109
С	0.194390	-7.073692	0.706254
Η	0.049257	-6.547939	1.657764
Η	0.275150	-8.144787	0.929228

പ	1 152270	6712186	0 288754
$\Gamma$	0.020266	7 606079	0.200/34
С Ц	0.929200	8 686064	1 00/210
ц П	1 762 426	7 45 4922	-1.777217 1.020147
п	-1./02450	-/.434033	-2.03924/
П	-0.010822	-/.2393/3	-2.02/210
	-2.8469/0	-/.354130	0.2/8682
H	-3.703943	-7.151926	-0.3/46/8
H	-2.810093	-8.435116	0.462432
Н	-3.035788	-6.861689	1.240205
С	-1.649858	-3.429220	-5.283920
Η	-2.366876	-4.254763	-5.199845
Η	-1.774557	-2.986156	-6.279428
Η	-0.640886	-3.855425	-5.233106
С	-0.704034	-0.695247	-4.160455
Η	-0.811895	0.039246	-3.354326
Η	0.333247	-1.049682	-4.150141
Η	-0.873338	-0.173881	-5.110941
С	-3.693790	-1.472262	-4.017411
Η	-3.872890	-0.726978	-3.234154
Η	-3.897589	-0.993793	-4.983861
Η	-4.419943	-2.283056	-3.884301
С	-3.048444	-4.701547	6.441203
Η	-2.810676	-3.941845	7.195440
Η	-3.684281	-4.227212	5.683203
Η	-3.638559	-5.488027	6.927510
С	-0.351818	-6.143066	6.986095
Η	-0.854567	-6.976705	7.491007
Η	0.579952	-6.528243	6.555215
Η	-0.086108	-5.404629	7.751960
С	-1.931610	-6.700665	4.367974
Н	-1.038362	-7.116398	3.886894
Н	-2.491807	-7.531277	4.814321
Н	-2.557913	-6.266226	3.578798
С	3.802076	-0.759569	3.717595
Н	4.120170	-1.432287	2.911209
Н	3.121574	-0.018415	3.279097
Н	4.693105	-0.232268	4.081288
С	2.549674	-0.558999	6.549404
Η	1.853151	0.216940	6.211108
Н	2.066420	-1.102876	7.370485
Н	3.442820	-0.064702	6.951595
C	4.115888	-3.107535	5,748102
Н	4.377342	-3.802682	4.941402
Н	5.049683	-2.697090	6.151746

H 3.639754 -3.687751 6.548268 F 1.363436 1.014845 2.066376

26b	
B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-4129.84062031
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-4128.78308631
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-4128.96358431
M06 SCF energy (au):	-4128.72498473
M06 enthalpy (au):	-4127.66745073
M06 free energy (au):	-4127.84794873
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-4127.82722942

Cartesian coordinates

AT	OM X	Y Z	
Cu	0.265027	-0.637047	0.639961
Fe	-1.798434	2.253731	2.702490
Р	-1.645731	-1.876707	0.860701
Р	-0.704671	1.072038	-0.353932
С	-2.051253	1.495569	0.807808
С	-2.674830	0.631869	1.806491
С	-3.680327	1.422614	2.453353
Η	-4.309867	1.091169	3.266259
С	-3.668588	2.740220	1.913041
Η	-4.280541	3.568014	2.246893
С	-2.673115	2.788115	0.902984
Η	-2.385646	3.658594	0.329790
С	-0.878154	1.598229	4.436834
Η	-1.114910	0.659964	4.922779
С	-1.530829	2.848080	4.668945
С	0.046178	3.153032	3.011213
Η	0.632310	3.606169	2.224712
С	0.097545	1.780124	3.411649
Η	0.723005	0.996966	2.990908
С	-1.563914	0.630380	-1.917972
С	-2.790409	1.175138	-2.323137
Η	-3.296152	1.901080	-1.692101
С	-3.380282	0.765325	-3.519987
Η	-4.331747	1.189929	-3.823922
С	-2.760169	-0.201066	-4.314795
С	-1.543845	-0.757007	-3.912968
Η	-1.064528	-1.520361	-4.520184
С	-0.950987	-0.344258	-2.720107
Η	-0.018399	-0.795270	-2.388250

С	0.136998	2.664807	-0.715724
С	-0.395186	3.670960	-1.535719
Η	-1.356776	3.526336	-2.019970
С	0.316356	4.852381	-1.749831
Н	-0.103115	5.627650	-2.385652
С	1.568519	5.034940	-1.155791
С	2.115635	4.027373	-0.357588
Н	3.096281	4.157527	0.091994
С	1.406076	2.843925	-0.144427
Н	1.828066	2.049404	0.467744
С	-0.954106	3.810849	3.787339
Н	-1.255282	4.846046	3.690371
С	-2.342372	-0.796569	2.244582
Н	-2.343822	3.023662	5.361746
С	-3.461942	-1.450861	3.071130
Н	-3.629372	-0.889526	3.997453
Н	-4.407894	-1.496522	2.523875
Н	-3.181039	-2.469337	3.351447
Н	-1.456798	-0.740576	2.888184
С	-3.036362	-2.172248	-0.294615
С	-2.898025	-3.169096	-1.274836
С	-4.212654	-1.412768	-0.274688
С	-3.913890	-3.437493	-2.201612
Н	-1.981099	-3.753715	-1.298483
С	-5.262863	-1.646974	-1.178528
Н	-4.317958	-0.620575	0.456393
С	-5.090718	-2.667806	-2.125653
Η	-5.897387	-2.874484	-2.828933
С	-1.366141	-3.486873	1.689755
С	-2.252543	-4.568889	1.653781
С	-0.148439	-3.614786	2.375941
С	-1.936792	-5.788697	2.276973
Η	-3.192621	-4.463725	1.117660
С	0.194708	-4.804263	3.036976
Η	0.539622	-2.770048	2.375786
С	-0.713010	-5.877106	2.966044
Η	-0.456310	-6.815344	3.455577
Η	-3.231290	-0.531924	-5.236228
Н	2.121895	5.954379	-1.327030
F	1.530827	-0.946145	1.959650
Si	-3.715084	-4.768760	-3.526377
Si	-6.847337	-0.622764	-1.062042
Si	-3.150859	-7.225164	2.119213
Si	1.879956	-4.891147	3.897910

C -2.061125 -5.651548 -3.287245 H -1.214696 -4.960512 -3.380849 H -2.001842 -6.122391 -2.298708 H -1.930051 -6.439335 -4.038782 C -3.770119 -3.928777 -5.223197 H -2.954207 -3.202833 -5.319662 H -3.677865 -4.655583 -6.039379 H -4.712741 -3.385403 -5.362529 C -5.137792 -6.006970 -3.374723 H -6.111647 -5.505745 -3.432061 H -5.100987 -6.756961 -4.174399 H -5.090820 -6.535904 -2.415421 C -6.776640 0.861469 -2.236416 H -6.645316 0.541926 -3.276769 Н -7.700067 1.451042 -2.178814 H -5.939597 1.520498 -1.978421 C -8.322703 -1.714935 -1.521050 H -8.394898 -2.584112 -0.856815 Н -9.262507 -1.154527 -1.445098 H -8.245593 -2.088297 -2.549437 C -7.028280 0.014482 0.711296 Н -7.023579 -0.809599 1.434877 H -6.213618 0.698438 0.979728 Н -7.971372 0.561378 0.832367 C -3.611814 -7.394389 0.287522 Н -4.028198 -6.455985 -0.099295 Н -2.730983 -7.638955 -0.318389 Н -4.359299 -8.181544 0.129303 C -2.351189 -8.819609 2.745787 H -2.091367 -8.748867 3.808879 Н -3.034147 -9.669752 2.629025 Н -1.433192 -9.050436 2.192409 C -4.714872 -6.844903 3.116487 H -5.463715 -7.639057 3.005880 Н -4.487260 -6.742401 4.184170 H -5.172140 -5.905181 2.783306 С 1.808266 -6.190443 5.274868 Η 1.585244 -7.189249 4.879744 Н 2.769199 -6.253122 5.800136 Η 1.038278 -5.944610 6.015945 С 3.187429 -5.385524 2.620891 Η 4.184368 -5.447026 3.075083 Η 2.961188 -6.358855 2.168968 Η 3.230837 -4.642091 1.815839

C 2.284555 -3.182052 4.591994 H 2.253033 -2.414935 3.807505 H 1.568350 -2.893181 5.371520 H 3.286645 -3.170330 5.039004

26c

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-4129.83627738
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-4128.78038938
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-4128.95477238
M06 SCF energy (au):	-4128.72321485
M06 enthalpy (au):	-4127.66732685
M06 free energy (au):	-4127.84170985
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-4127.82389647

Cartesian coordinates

ATOM X Ζ Y Cu -0.483895 -1.268642 0.211108 Fe -2.658480 2.564658 2.328087 P -2.420544 -2.045218 1.118079 P -0.819595 0.894081 -0.265052 C -2.331023 1.409826 0.634375 C -3.022320 0.645635 1.658043 C -4.257035 1.317507 1.918525 H -4.988339 1.021781 2.657428 C -4.331439 2.486726 1.106657 H -5.126742 3.220560 1.121639 C -3.146725 2.551731 0.324505 H -2.896820 3.317972 -0.396513 C -1.668267 2.426340 4.147276 Н -1.414130 1.494086 4.634506 C -2.891250 3.150085 4.296040 C -1.571501 4.275724 2.769737 Н -1.229872 4.986773 2.030335 C -0.853620 3.123091 3.208110 H 0.120320 2.812286 2.861022 C -1.146459 1.438955 -1.991266 C -2.421717 1.299435 -2.565460 H -3.252439 0.945829 -1.961328 C -2.631291 1.620855 -3.907531 H -3.623305 1.515282 -4.335434 C -1.572958 2.071476 -4.699825 C -0.299269 2.195562 -4.142291 H 0.532389 2.541583 -4.750282

C -0.085661 1.879933 -2.799922 Η 0.909020 1.986422 -2.377842 С 0.542005 1.985031 0.303297 С 0.530183 3.375484 0.108350 H -0.284193 3.837979 -0.442411 С 1.555823 4.164179 0.625272 Η 1.541433 0.474900 5.240621 С 2.600808 3.569182 1.342177 С 2.622011 1.527752 2.185962 H 3.436938 1.721855 2.076636 С 1.598846 1.385567 1.006809 1.614722 Η 0.303848 1.147405 C -2.830443 4.294945 3.444484 H -3.618477 5.023420 3.303505 C -2.544496 -0.603186 2.365460 H -3.733154 2.859320 4.911071 C -3.326538 -0.905247 3.649711 Н -3.254505 -0.052753 4.334225 Н -4.387796 -1.081153 3.454025 Н -2.921384 -1.789132 4.149026 Н -1.493201 -0.456198 2.642984 C -4.097621 -2.127857 0.386891 C -4.223451 -1.869361 -0.986092 C -5.259291 -2.379741 1.133175 C -5.476370 -1.856997 -1.623070 H -3.318445 -1.670816 -1.556718 C -6.530528 -2.405532 0.540333 Н -5.170569 -2.570898 2.196745 C -6.608546 -2.135780 -0.836886 H -7.587415 -2.142715 -1.314177 C -2.176692 -3.508013 2.196996 C -3.126269 -4.491979 2.494938 C -0.884473 -3.620202 2.738851 C -2.826661 -5.559149 3.360272 H -4.110486 -4.441668 2.039529 C -0.540225 -4.673671 3.598798 Н -0.126423 -2.896896 2.437750 C -1.531295 -5.623686 3.903857 H -1.282009 -6.447419 4.570339 Н -1.740496 2.320658 -5.744029 Η 3.397341 4.186018 1.749949 F 1.083028 -1.806306 1.092994 Si -5.651214 -1.437389 -3.459484 Si -8.043360 -2.856723 1.581367

Si	-4.187741	-6.800297	3.773827
Si	1.243100	-4.733105	4.232162
С	-6.176570	0.379013	-3.599706
Η	-6.200167	0.715865	-4.643702
Η	-7.181146	0.518882	-3.182021
Η	-5.499678	1.037667	-3.043774
С	-4.007690	-1.747239	-4.337280
Η	-3.701336	-2.794566	-4.228187
Η	-4.097600	-1.536855	-5.410150
Η	-3.200811	-1.117510	-3.948135
С	-6.997030	-2.526775	-4.223146
Η	-7.968489	-2.379116	-3.736321
Η	-7.125053	-2.294549	-5.287613
Η	-6.740463	-3.589468	-4.141076
С	-9.599769	-2.142740	0.779068
Η	-9.777904	-2.571626	-0.214424
Η	-10.483599	-2.358385	1.391598
Η	-9.527796	-1.054600	0.665592
С	-8.171951	-4.743314	1.691661
Η	-7.375043	-5.151026	2.324726
Η	-9.132273	-5.055067	2.120686
Η	-8.078769	-5.207016	0.702594
С	-7.814517	-2.142479	3.319883
Η	-6.938917	-2.573449	3.820877
Η	-7.682948	-1.054087	3.290635
Η	-8.686513	-2.358366	3.949130
С	-4.925144	-7.463252	2.160850
Η	-5.315734	-6.648401	1.538628
Η	-4.173892	-7.999872	1.569845
Η	-5.755446	-8.152032	2.360747
С	-5.561016	-5.913269	4.753212
Η	-5.466732	-4.824230	4.666823
Η	-6.556914	-6.191679	4.388237
Η	-5.516930	-6.163600	5.819799
С	-3.472322	-8.218812	4.798870
Η	-3.056189	-7.858333	5.747329
Η	-4.249220	-8.955360	5.037829
Η	-2.672823	-8.740322	4.259529
С	2.395491	-4.532214	2.751106
Η	2.325155	-5.394473	2.076667
Η	2.132320	-3.634264	2.176270
Η	3.441147	-4.441068	3.072011
С	1.497925	-3.286189	5.428576
Η	1.292296	-2.336269	4.919920

Η	0.831959	-3.355711	6.297093
Η	2.531098	-3.250421	5.796017
С	1.532366	-6.375320	5.130116
Η	0.867534	-6.486344	5.995690
Η	1.360432	-7.229524	4.464094
Η	2.564061	-6.442679	5.496217

26d

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-4129.83650979
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-4128.77888979
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-4128.95927879
M06 SCF energy (au):	-4128.72442530
M06 enthalpy (au):	-4127.66680530
M06 free energy (au):	-4127.84719430
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-4127.82710251

# Cartesian coordinates

AT	OM X	Y	Ζ	
Cu	-0.822977	0.7	793549	-2.051378
Fe	-0.717410	-0.8	81134	2.661333
Р	0.715960	-0.15	5224	-0.674159
Р	-2.705720	-0.40	02403	-1.704281
С	-0.365793	-0.03	35284	0.794162
С	-1.730068	-0.5	13198	0.868188
С	-2.364040	0.16	65794	1.951786
Η	-3.379861	0.00	)5594	2.285533
С	-1.424981	1.05	59278	2.542536
Η	-1.601521	1.68	84805	3.407521
С	-0.196560	0.93	88032	1.837213
Η	0.717650	1.47	6528	2.043057
С	-1.427868	-2.23	38809	4.052623
Η	-2.478071	-2.4	19038	4.241174
С	-0.618036	-1.25	52522	4.692039
С	0.689298	-2.34	10687	3.130459
Η	1.523120	-2.6	11410	2.497790
С	-0.620489	-2.9	12220	3.086418
Η	-0.951529	-3.7	06422	2.429923
С	2.165967	0.85	5660	-0.209176
С	2.115149	2.21	6027	-0.560410
Η	1.256412	2.59	97306	-1.115794
С	3.161281	3.06	60743	-0.182241
С	4.254569	2.55	7471	0.527618
С	4.306923	1.20	2266	0.868560

С	3.262650	0.351059	0.504966
Н	3.300431	-0.702618	0.768665
С	1.340474	-1.867877	-0.872285
С	0.798411	-2.971260	-0.199232
Н	0.057352	-2.809369	0.572327
С	1.220010	-4.268755	-0.503244
С	2.191738	-4.480524	-1.481891
С	2.743014	-3.385444	-2.155726
С	2.316637	-2.091534	-1.860680
Н	2.743473	-1.248659	-2.399074
С	0.689345	-1.314535	4.120285
Η	1.522285	-0.668649	4.364840
С	-2.395532	-1.425837	-0.124523
С	-3.610747	-2.173276	0.429421
Η	-4.041296	-2.831017	-0.332376
Η	-3.306196	-2.784693	1.287296
Η	-4.391122	-1.485343	0.766391
Η	-1.668747	-2.167247	-0.467713
Η	-0.949871	-0.549230	5.444696
Η	3.123746	4.113000	-0.450997
Η	5.068758	3.218827	0.812724
Η	5.158852	0.810131	1.418116
Η	0.789024	-5.112380	0.029592
Η	2.514661	-5.489274	-1.722983
Η	3.499418	-3.541048	-2.920090
С	-4.095570	0.691455	-1.239172
С	-5.412840	0.281944	-0.984226
С	-3.746910	2.033132	-1.023906
С	-6.381922	1.188525	-0.522466
Η	-5.686856	-0.757134	-1.151826
С	-4.672518	2.966311	-0.532236
Η	-2.732197	2.353863	-1.252544
С	-5.983487	2.521017	-0.297020
Η	-6.721404	3.231867	0.071401
С	-3.304437	-1.687022	-2.862871
С	-4.502277	-1.594504	-3.585387
С	-2.462012	-2.787012	-3.088145
С	-4.891373	-2.596096	-4.490742
Η	-5.135909	-0.724398	-3.443619
С	-2.807070	-3.812252	-3.981430
Η	-1.507550	-2.838567	-2.565072
С	-4.030571	-3.695536	-4.663814
Η	-4.314877	-4.480163	-5.362864
Si	-4.017780	4.705211	-0.164364

Si	-8.134224	0.564158	-0.201825
Si	-1.615762	-5.262955	-4.212626
Si	-6.540848	-2.478076	-5.411573
С	-2.898388	5.241723	-1.584918
Η	-2.100818	4.508598	-1.766798
Η	-3.468536	5.351794	-2.515726
Η	-2.428263	6.208942	-1.365153
С	-5.475044	5.891767	0.068466
Η	-6.122761	5.580784	0.897553
Η	-5.120192	6.905411	0.291130
Η	-6.092255	5.947378	-0.836348
С	-3.006788	4.587486	1.434490
Η	-3.630566	4.270431	2.279399
Η	-2.203881	3.849486	1.315326
Η	-2.546897	5.549208	1.693925
С	-8.070788	-0.704043	1.204026
Η	-7.381430	-1.522221	0.960380
Η	-7.720409	-0.241963	2.134787
Η	-9.056715	-1.144703	1.396665
С	-8.764160	-0.286855	-1.772235
Η	-8.832935	0.421540	-2.606159
Η	-8.085158	-1.092106	-2.078836
Η	-9.756671	-0.729348	-1.623324
С	-9.262010	2.006536	0.266015
Η	-8.922455	2.501578	1.183695
Η	-9.295943	2.761974	-0.527961
Η	-10.287497	1.658150	0.438301
С	-1.433522	-6.156946	-2.553331
Η	-1.054072	-5.468677	-1.788874
Η	-2.393504	-6.555518	-2.204709
Η	-0.726331	-6.992613	-2.626698
С	0.069368	-4.583588	-4.737105
Η	0.468268	-3.893558	-3.984290
Η	0.800978	-5.391820	-4.861629
Η	-0.000079	-4.041403	-5.687491
С	-2.298343	-6.440861	-5.524732
Η	-2.425936	-5.935940	-6.489762
Η	-1.615465	-7.284806	-5.680069
Η	-3.271269	-6.852821	-5.230800
С	-7.091766	-0.670641	-5.474902
Η	-7.282916	-0.268543	-4.473330
Η	-6.334886	-0.036939	-5.951798
Η	-8.021356	-0.572558	-6.048817
С	-6.321518	-3.155228	-7.164485

Η	-7.263190	-3.098562	-7.724161
Η	-5.567107	-2.583675	-7.717699
Η	-6.005573	-4.205360	-7.158720
С	-7.841215	-3.505471	-4.494203
Η	-8.805741	-3.479352	-5.016476
Η	-7.532839	-4.554490	-4.410368
Η	-8.002159	-3.122936	-3.479201
F	-0.672161	2.649745	-2.177729

28

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-8259.78750969
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-8257.66983169
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-8257.99661469
M06 SCF energy (au):	-8257.52201932
M06 enthalpy (au):	-8255.40434132
M06 free energy (au):	-8255.73112432
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-8255.69301763

Cartesian coordinates

Ζ ATOM X Y Cu 0.476462 -2.845845 -1.265974 Fe -2.747827 0.793501 -0.578581 P -1.475440 -3.694152 -0.530989 P -0.330606 -1.089161 -2.382928 C -2.036270 -0.629717 -1.896895 C -2.860453 -1.242080 -0.873881 C -4.163789 -0.658645 -0.984428 H -5.006516 -0.871463 -0.342385 C -4.154936 0.308518 -2.031582 Н -4.983423 0.945030 -2.314246 C -2.850008 0.332055 -2.588465 H -2.513113 0.965523 -3.396925 C -2.513026 1.143405 1.448120 Н -2.708620 0.402299 2.212347 C -3.465651 2.055628 0.898591 C -1.455941 2.373940 -0.197561 H -0.708491 2.723395 -0.894844 C -1.273678 1.338494 0.769813 H -0.365600 0.771542 0.923343 C -0.539185 -1.410477 -4.183617 C -1.749301 -1.903651 -4.698331 H -2.603742 -2.046035 -4.045543 C -1.859699 -2.233059 -6.049177

Η	-2.803751	-2.616446	-6.426882
С	-0.764241	-2.086572	-6.902908
С	0.453740	-1.631478	-6.391974
Η	1.324449	-1.547716	-7.036204
С	0.566442	-1.301502	-5.041446
Η	1.524467	-0.968812	-4.657761
С	0.593042	0.495873	-2.286016
С	0.433585	1.562005	-3.184100
Η	-0.230667	1.456945	-4.037076
С	1.143578	2.749444	-2.997247
Η	1.019248	3.570842	-3.698286
С	2.013628	2.881336	-1.908841
С	2.186394	1.817811	-1.020504
Η	2.880633	1.908022	-0.189795
С	1.488649	0.623465	-1.213283
Η	1.652986	-0.228472	-0.554223
С	-2.809190	2.816937	-0.115761
Η	-3.271884	3.565446	-0.746146
С	-2.450847	-2.238179	0.195871
Η	-4.509845	2.128240	1.174335
С	-3.602628	-2.576084	1.153349
Η	-3.993344	-1.656040	1.603381
Η	-4.431815	-3.081821	0.647146
Η	-3.260956	-3.227061	1.960549
Η	-1.661660	-1.763800	0.792034
С	-2.392568	-4.311052	-1.990718
С	-1.599020	-5.011314	-2.913111
С	-3.739178	-4.073957	-2.289552
С	-2.132845	-5.529114	-4.101579
Η	-0.537298	-5.112493	-2.698255
С	-4.303018	-4.517641	-3.498618
Η	-4.347079	-3.505023	-1.593890
С	-3.485532	-5.259365	-4.371879
Η	-3.916805	-5.626635	-5.304242
С	-1.647776	-5.014680	0.727047
С	-2.845667	-5.710728	0.934885
С	-0.523214	-5.324188	1.507601
С	-2.962563	-6.690851	1.930824
Η	-3.695563	-5.486936	0.293171
С	-0.592695	-6.298944	2.519146
Η	0.406312	-4.793397	1.303526
С	-1.822593	-6.955688	2.710578
Η	-1.893107	-7.713473	3.489981
Η	-0.850714	-2.350051	-7.953409

H 2.565565 3.806192 -1.764503 F 1.986799 -2.771942 0.083630 Si -1.043585 -6.556027 -5.259145 Si -6.063609 -4.053682 -3.990193 Si -4.623156 -7.554732 2.181458 Si 0.884127 -6.709627 3.627721 С 0.570717 -6.948368 -4.363164 Η 1.039957 -6.029234 -3.993107 H 0.420471 -7.607856 -3.502037 H 1.273130 -7.452259 -5.037303 C -0.651671 -5.613759 -6.849369 H -0.042393 -4.730789 -6.630828 H -0.094350 -6.249955 -7.548861 H -1.561561 -5.271078 -7.356141 C -1.974451 -8.154869 -5.671692 H -2.933558 -7.946871 -6.161986 H -1.388434 -8.790946 -6.346655 H -2.185017 -8.731851 -4.763213 C -5.962296 -3.026945 -5.578892 Н -5.477672 -3.595633 -6.382270 H -6.953967 -2.723130 -5.935909 H -5.369126 -2.119216 -5.412607 C -7.076865 -5.621564 -4.301819 Н -7.161993 -6.221830 -3.388080 H -8.091243 -5.383183 -4.644746 H -6.605262 -6.250311 -5.066866 C -6.849328 -3.021764 -2.612742 H -6.910012 -3.581238 -1.671102 H -6.267889 -2.110956 -2.425323 H -7.867935 -2.719970 -2.884854 C -5.216972 -8.232097 0.516399 Н -5.225770 -7.448124 -0.250804 Н -4.557419 -9.031373 0.161494 Н -6.232818 -8.639147 0.591139 C -4.442256 -8.955280 3.437757 H -4.108618 -8.582007 4.413466 H -5.401491 -9.464638 3.590409 Н -3.717444 -9.703416 3.096955 C -5.868193 -6.269993 2.804545 Н -6.869184 -6.702874 2.923309 H -5.560444 -5.859570 3.773622 H -5.947301 -5.431571 2.101274 С 1.029191 -8.589715 3.776035 Н 1.244739 -9.035001 2.798678

Н	1.843380	-8.861803	4.459000
Н	0.107739	-9.044511	4.159400
С	2.463341	-6.008662	2.880024
Н	3.314875	-6.203122	3.543012
Н	2.668438	-6.494627	1.922560
Н	2.409331	-4.928275	2.700732
С	0.578694	-5.959606	5.340806
Η	0.499192	-4.867465	5.281703
Н	-0.351351	-6.338069	5.782229
Н	1.398821	-6.200424	6.028908
Cu	3.112322	-4.072846	-0.926246
Fe	5.019297	-4.557741	-5.080600
Р	3.730006	-6.239995	-0.947707
Р	5.043666	-3.291063	-1.825245
С	5.637387	-4.428746	-3.122632
С	5.125906	-5.757209	-3.406535
С	5.948487	-6.301095	-4.445863
Η	5.815352	-7.265137	-4.914626
С	6.932311	-5.339709	-4.819553
Η	7.660389	-5.452432	-5.612608
С	6.742566	-4.188327	-4.012299
Η	7.308653	-3.269863	-4.070457
С	3.199884	-4.894576	-6.003947
Η	2.588000	-5.764434	-5.817118
С	4.232548	-4.792260	-6.985669
С	4.165035	-2.812231	-5.798770
Η	4.417732	-1.828203	-5.431945
С	3.157482	-3.676359	-5.262937
Η	2.526075	-3.497651	-4.399312
С	6.485530	-3.137365	-0.685270
С	7.669443	-3.875574	-0.805615
Η	7.771924	-4.612402	-1.593854
С	8.716073	-3.686452	0.100237
Η	9.622164	-4.277694	-0.000399
С	8.597922	-2.748110	1.125933
С	7.413946	-2.014583	1.260199
Η	7.309647	-1.289743	2.063582
С	6.360566	-2.217422	0.370407
Η	5.435072	-1.658078	0.488484
С	5.070759	-1.637890	-2.631358
С	6.262279	-0.965651	-2.947892
Η	7.218169	-1.396021	-2.663014
С	6.226104	0.261863	-3.608089
Η	7.153967	0.772023	-3.854280

С	4.996158	0.838288	-3.939562
С	3.808389	0.191809	-3.595931
Η	2.857706	0.660329	-3.821482
С	3.841596	-1.042794	-2.941547
Η	2.922305	-1.556418	-2.667898
С	4.826516	-3.500370	-6.859647
Η	5.665300	-3.126706	-7.433203
С	3.905280	-6.461962	-2.830445
Η	4.536592	-5.569643	-7.675116
С	3.773864	-7.902457	-3.343420
Η	3.721934	-7.903986	-4.438051
Η	4.617176	-8.530968	-3.037238
Η	2.859283	-8.367581	-2.973611
Η	3.027393	-5.896558	-3.156024
С	5.400695	-6.481324	-0.227132
С	5.600546	-5.994321	1.071410
С	6.435266	-7.189048	-0.852004
С	6.781786	-6.252882	1.784245
Η	4.807440	-5.408983	1.528225
С	7.657993	-7.422140	-0.204151
Η	6.289071	-7.557403	-1.860693
С	7.795080	-6.963072	1.118795
Η	8.730766	-7.154908	1.643831
С	2.895084	-7.799590	-0.400106
С	3.613952	-8.803935	0.258905
С	1.524975	-8.005273	-0.652678
С	3.023165	-10.015676	0.647725
Η	4.663843	-8.642296	0.474723
С	0.899404	-9.218909	-0.317811
Η	0.952333	-7.209118	-1.125877
С	1.672243	-10.205538	0.328747
Η	1.198885	-11.148960	0.598455
Η	9.418208	-2.590707	1.821337
Η	4.962418	1.799724	-4.445363
F	1.610131	-4.102520	-2.451468
Si	6.946994	-5.725010	3.591399
Si	9.084365	-8.283178	-1.088879
Si	4.095795	-11.264790	1.571721
Si	-0.901289	-9.638514	-0.722697
С	5.902780	-4.183881	3.908168
Η	6.207054	-3.367815	3.245169
Η	4.837353	-4.371453	3.735204
Η	6.015807	-3.845676	4.945828
С	8.766456	-5.378030	3.978946

Н 9.155577 -4.592315 3.321986 Η 8.888872 -5.044918 5.016770 Η 9.390608 -6.269706 3.844393 С 6.324478 -7.149193 4.677833 Н 6.904249 -8.063857 4.504174 Н 6.394629 -6.903500 5.744897 Н 5.275342 -7.379185 4.455045 C 10.524828 -7.057257 -1.198132 H 10.821241 -6.711330 -0.200156 H 11.407061 -7.502325 -1.674197 Н 10.235247 -6.175181 -1.782650 C 9.604969 -9.806195 -0.093270 Н 8.779484 -10.524643 -0.021556 H 10.459502 -10.316887 -0.553942 Н 9.892713 -9.530539 0.928722 С 8.530752 -8.783778 -2.826026 Н 7.695037 -9.493449 -2.791537 H 8.204393 -7.911343 -3.405111 Н 9.351022 -9.263464 -3.373588 C 4.482249 -10.572759 3.290123 H 4.960814 -9.589175 3.210435 Η 3.566885 -10.448417 3.879592 Н 5.159885 -11.230897 3.848007 С 3.182902 -12.914913 1.710231 2.934363 -13.319498 Η 0.721771 Н 3.796280 -13.659826 2.231286 Н 2.247390 -12.806487 2.272420 С 5.720739 -11.470247 0.617887 Н 6.398996 -12.162290 1.132340 Н 5.545515 -11.856696 -0.393116 Н 6.238797 -10.507742 0.522025 C -1.724487 -10.255624 0.866695 H -1.740551 -9.456185 1.613972 H -2.758381 -10.573124 0.684618 H -1.184908 -11.108029 1.296336 C -1.804718 -8.144779 -1.419865 H -2.884681 -8.323484 -1.473912 Н -1.652320 -7.255987 -0.803488 H -1.464825 -7.908419 -2.430837 C -0.901829 -11.029975 -2.009835 H -0.433578 -10.695298 -2.943624 Н -0.348300 -11.907968 -1.655746 H -1.924777 -11.350392 -2.244618

29 B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au): -4641.09716281 B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au): -4639.84102981 B3LYP-D3 free energy (au): -4640.04628481 M06 SCF energy (au): -4639.79681005 M06 enthalpy (au): -4638.54067705 M06 free energy (au): -4638.74593205 M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au): -4638.72038624 Cartesian coordinates Ζ ATOM X Y Cu -0.431460 -0.761634 -0.003628 Fe -1.484895 2.450943 2.879432 P -2.142825 -1.753121 1.081692 P -1.313143 1.235723 -0.377047 C -2.237425 1.665011 1.137290 C -2.585798 0.814244 2.270331

C -3.367186 1.622638 3.158552 Н -3.756900 1.304386 4.114547 C -3.490666 2.936600 2.622157 3.773490 H -3.983238 3.099604 C -2.800494 2.966892 1.383518 Н -2.676373 3.828754 0.743392 С 0.080805 1.761910 4.053060 H 0.201374 0.731438 4.359474 C -0.647954 2.779679 4.741664 C 0.176624 3.684450 2.781218 H 0.371126 4.362931 1.961158 0.593014 2.319854 С 2.846268 H 1.171090 1.778512 2.111694 C -2.611917 1.041424 -1.669276 C -3.955350 1.390944 -1.482893 H -4.277449 1.829089 -0.545129 C -4.891426 1.150028 -2.490866 H -5.933422 1.412329 -2.329686 C -4.496206 0.566249 -3.694797 C -3.157675 0.211841 -3.888391 H -2.844442 -0.252270 -4.819881 C -2.223808 0.440585 -2.878853 H -1.186885 0.143068 -3.022000 C -0.425967 2.772276 -0.841284 C -1.068889 3.872482 -1.429643 H -2.126023 3.815868 -1.676470

С	-0.350194	5.034756	-1.711280
Η	-0.852915	5.884750	-2.165306
С	1.015165	5.102472	-1.415822
С	1.663294	3.998547	-0.856845
Η	2.727894	4.039062	-0.641166
С	0.950984	2.830126	-0.576703
Η	1.466845	1.970300	-0.155291
С	-0.586494	3.970940	3.954610
Η	-1.074219	4.909667	4.184884
С	-2.198209	-0.628036	2.591811
Η	-1.186472	2.661025	5.673263
С	-2.967462	-1.213491	3.786479
Η	-2.765606	-0.626956	4.689956
Η	-4.049441	-1.227270	3.620417
Η	-2.642280	-2.238997	3.979800
Η	-1.136533	-0.627481	2.850438
С	-3.821698	-1.816706	0.365040
С	-4.027274	-2.654722	-0.744956
С	-4.882786	-1.027077	0.817997
С	-5.268480	-2.734434	-1.387075
Η	-3.195820	-3.258482	-1.101979
С	-6.141474	-1.054385	0.191049
Η	-4.726979	-0.357441	1.656579
С	-6.309127	-1.917811	-0.900064
Η	-7.278568	-1.953826	-1.395827
С	-1.813266	-3.422885	1.751667
С	-2.770905	-4.440367	1.815565
С	-0.492379	-3.692858	2.142572
С	-2.427105	-5.735540	2.238367
Η	-3.791266	-4.224633	1.509170
С	-0.109682	-4.962556	2.599794
Η	0.243045	-2.896073	2.078831
С	-1.094892	-5.967312	2.627289
Η	-0.812362	-6.966687	2.952814
Η	-5.228372	0.375782	-4.474294
Η	1.573071	6.009039	-1.635351
Si	-5.545058	-3.890000	-2.857640
Si	-7.507436	0.070775	0.850289
Si	-3.752310	-7.080537	2.213815
Si	1.702596	-5.242614	3.090585
С	-3.958597	-4.859467	-3.195504
Η	-3.665192	-5.457900	-2.324540
Η	-4.097437	-5.547098	-4.038420
Η	-3.122341	-4.194970	-3.444354

С	-6.013961	-2.849381	-4.367251
Η	-6.222202	-3.478354	-5.241303
Η	-6.907233	-2.244495	-4.168619
Η	-5.200316	-2.162234	-4.625159
С	-6.952216	-5.081532	-2.431862
Η	-7.865550	-4.539504	-2.158014
Η	-7.192942	-5.733187	-3.280817
Η	-6.676687	-5.721038	-1.584840
С	-9.033327	-0.065762	-0.257499
Η	-9.434102	-1.086416	-0.269394
Η	-9.831049	0.598553	0.095732
Η	-8.802488	0.214488	-1.292496
С	-6.871106	1.854063	0.874573
Η	-5.928790	1.931991	1.430399
Η	-6.691216	2.229973	-0.139437
Η	-7.596541	2.523684	1.353168
С	-7.919938	-0.453592	2.621437
Η	-7.027362	-0.405187	3.257729
Η	-8.681673	0.198516	3.066212
Η	-8.294916	-1.483222	2.654980
С	-4.999123	-6.773472	3.605155
Η	-4.515284	-6.825233	4.587721
Η	-5.454182	-5.779890	3.511481
Η	-5.807636	-7.514912	3.587973
С	-2.948226	-8.778340	2.424409
Η	-3.700632	-9.574583	2.372519
Η	-2.205702	-8.968409	1.640399
Η	-2.441059	-8.866723	3.392702
С	-4.648410	-6.978407	0.545343
Η	-3.955555	-7.161403	-0.284941
Η	-5.458406	-7.715068	0.477552
Η	-5.088600	-5.984785	0.394993
С	2.787493	-5.119207	1.549943
Η	2.446844	-5.793261	0.754935
Η	2.780274	-4.090172	1.173187
Η	3.828586	-5.373966	1.787480
С	2.198757	-3.883233	4.305456
Η	2.168364	-2.912371	3.798429
Η	1.540254	-3.850820	5.181605
Η	3.226957	-4.034574	4.658595
С	1.854110	-6.955746	3.885944
Η	1.587677	-7.754567	3.182873
Η	2.885480	-7.136815	4.212336
Η	1.205710	-7.052797	4.765272

F	0.926863	-0.721418	2.119681
В	2.060351	-0.865803	1.244796
0	3.094251	-1.698267	1.759327
0	2.613905	0.420963	0.923597
С	4.223274	-0.856495	2.035923
С	4.043086	0.293614	0.975537
С	4.096235	-0.342110	3.479446
С	5.497113	-1.683946	1.880936
С	4.636720	1.642525	1.376652
С	4.538103	-0.113270	-0.420829
Η	4.009108	-1.201550	4.151523
Η	4.966878	0.250383	3.782444
Η	3.196547	0.270457	3.592710
Η	6.389956	-1.056250	1.986892
Η	5.528256	-2.457692	2.655693
Η	5.527102	-2.182093	0.909128
Η	5.717828	1.563894	1.540604
Η	4.468165	2.373513	0.576978
Η	4.168072	2.025450	2.286367
Η	4.184750	0.625599	-1.147959
Η	5.631870	-0.156615	-0.471908
Η	4.130413	-1.088497	-0.701571
F	1.451912	-1.505482	0.040336

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-4631.00576963
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-4629.77392063
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-4629.97271463
M06 SCF energy (au):	-4629.68589009
M06 enthalpy (au):	-4628.45404109
M06 free energy (au):	-4628.65283509
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-4628.63180246

Cartesian coordinates

AT	OM X	Y Z	
Cu	-0.399474	0.668091	0.878070
Fe	-2.503153	1.443033	4.353867
Р	-1.599410	-1.174831	1.597992
Р	-2.107543	2.186422	1.060519
С	-3.226055	1.779830	2.440103
С	-3.567916	0.435651	2.872154
С	-4.361182	0.567162	4.054899
Η	-4.750843	-0.263475	4.630458

С	-4.512068	1.948740	4.366018
Η	-5.017679	2.356379	5.232038
С	-3.816587	2.696393	3.375803
Η	-3.693014	3.770302	3.356690
С	-1.073496	0.256153	5.300050
Η	-1.035370	-0.821510	5.246813
С	-1.797325	1.023501	6.259768
С	-0.772624	2.492567	4.802391
Η	-0.480528	3.401954	4.295587
С	-0.439364	1.163732	4.398270
Η	0.163171	0.894515	3.539985
С	-3.182968	2.244238	-0.426560
С	-4.576516	2.392678	-0.377962
Η	-5.074399	2.498288	0.582340
С	-5.325576	2.381719	-1.556619
Η	-6.405929	2.491239	-1.510705
С	-4.689888	2.226647	-2.791203
С	-3.300876	2.078664	-2.847496
Η	-2.803825	1.944188	-3.803786
С	-2.550685	2.080145	-1.671126
Η	-1.471112	1.946461	-1.706750
С	-1.654679	3.942818	1.352300
С	-2.556546	5.008897	1.218816
Η	-3.579619	4.817306	0.905735
С	-2.140147	6.316265	1.473991
Η	-2.843370	7.138192	1.368193
С	-0.819380	6.569454	1.857736
С	0.088931	5.514550	1.973460
Η	1.121032	5.708364	2.252941
С	-0.325801	4.206404	1.714986
Η	0.377823	3.379387	1.776621
С	-1.609671	2.405596	5.954339
Η	-2.063874	3.239747	6.473661
С	-3.386085	-0.890190	2.162660
Η	-2.414317	0.626075	7.055444
С	-4.393272	-1.011372	1.000099
Η	-5.401055	-0.785816	1.367258
Η	-4.171618	-0.305396	0.194935
Η	-4.391458	-2.019924	0.577563
Η	-3.628265	-1.669887	2.892043
С	-1.690688	-2.397803	0.226578
С	-1.320265	-3.737392	0.389452
С	-1.943580	-1.921671	-1.069479
С	-1.186327	-4.608116	-0.702666

Н	-1.082000	-4.098895	1.383017
С	-1.848723	-2.759129	-2.192176
Η	-2.176641	-0.865387	-1.201700
С	-1.461883	-4.096170	-1.981827
Η	-1.344016	-4.747612	-2.845554
С	-0.835652	-2.149407	2.949008
С	-1.521692	-3.121568	3.687721
С	0.533305	-1.957237	3.185556
С	-0.874337	-3.900644	4.660524
Η	-2.575659	-3.300832	3.484803
С	1.219010	-2.689345	4.167652
Η	1.056768	-1.219047	2.582106
С	0.490051	-3.651110	4.889527
Η	1.003069	-4.231946	5.654073
Η	-5.275146	2.211317	-3.706499
Η	-0.497156	7.588848	2.052715
Si	-0.551987	-6.361904	-0.385612
Si	-2.137769	-2.034724	-3.913712
Si	-1.833401	-5.277333	5.527221
Si	3.059836	-2.390035	4.501717
С	0.695994	-6.283367	1.036155
Η	0.218822	-5.984151	1.977596
Η	1.164639	-7.261597	1.200544
Η	1.488309	-5.555038	0.827619
С	0.282638	-7.007007	-1.956099
Η	0.688217	-8.013533	-1.797078
Η	-0.419266	-7.064306	-2.796854
Η	1.112277	-6.356666	-2.258521
С	-1.988989	-7.495553	0.101622
Η	-2.753172	-7.535541	-0.683682
Η	-1.640032	-8.519690	0.284374
Η	-2.470548	-7.140020	1.020771
С	-1.825304	-3.362478	-5.223235
Η	-2.505083	-4.215106	-5.106390
Η	-1.976517	-2.954305	-6.229895
Η	-0.797919	-3.742150	-5.171066
С	-0.935145	-0.592833	-4.139249
Η	-1.065208	0.143894	-3.339275
Η	0.104072	-0.938893	-4.095269
Η	-1.082819	-0.080193	-5.097986
С	-3.920819	-1.410134	-4.028840
Η	-4.127249	-0.663875	-3.253215
Η	-4.114524	-0.939608	-5.001199
Η	-4.635592	-2.232446	-3.905202

С	-3.383526	-4.534707	6.320942
Η	-3.116643	-3.806242	7.095977
Η	-3.998005	-4.015160	5.575149
Η	-4.008053	-5.307798	6.785000
С	-0.745339	-6.094845	6.837582
Η	-1.292698	-6.892157	7.354545
Η	0.150185	-6.544013	6.391939
Н	-0.416553	-5.372579	7.594345
С	-2.337481	-6.536599	4.204579
Н	-1.453590	-6.972523	3.723548
Η	-2.933042	-7.356457	4.624203
Н	-2.934880	-6.057415	3.418712
С	3.494660	-0.652917	3.909074
Η	3.386492	-0.576196	2.822673
Η	2.842718	0.098839	4.370647
Η	4.532427	-0.398264	4.156362
С	3.353806	-2.538903	6.367138
Η	2.753227	-1.807729	6.921361
Η	3.098721	-3.536591	6.744703
Η	4.408541	-2.357634	6.608087
С	4.072254	-3.693156	3.581523
Η	3.892100	-3.627791	2.502878
Η	5.147417	-3.555908	3.752982
Η	3.805631	-4.704957	3.910884
Si	1.724793	0.818627	0.024989
С	1.703609	1.501841	-1.774314
С	2.986136	1.943611	0.936650
С	2.559183	-0.901506	-0.148720
Η	1.251708	2.503018	-1.799994
Η	2.714427	1.574091	-2.198690
Η	1.111868	0.853655	-2.432088
Η	2.622448	2.979853	0.928527
Η	3.124619	1.652656	1.984846
Η	3.973154	1.944282	0.453386
С	1.803820	-1.970559	-0.671764
С	3.888988	-1.183784	0.214337
С	2.341985	-3.248196	-0.832852
Η	0.767427	-1.801331	-0.952384
С	4.435660	-2.464290	0.072503
Н	4.517869	-0.391537	0.615311
С	3.663372	-3.503302	-0.452510
Η	1.727529	-4.040616	-1.252677
Η	5.465287	-2.650201	0.370993
Η	4.086276	-4.498774	-0.566487

31B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):-5216.59938152B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):-5215.20157352B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):-5215.42340152M06 SCF energy (au):-5215.05555271M06 enthalpy (au):-5213.65774471M06 free energy (au):-5213.87957271M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):-5213.85593019

Cartesian coordinates

ATOM X Y Ζ Cu -0.611020 -1.224608 0.056351 Fe -1.780271 2.019888 3.161777 P -2.341198 -2.152844 1.246363 P -1.579682 0.837908 -0.126267 C -2.496733 1.239926 1.402738 C -2.803286 0.355112 2.514925 C -3.622364 1.101472 3.421305 Н -3.992620 0.745442 4.371994 C -3.809714 2.418626 2.909821 H -4.344163 3.220547 3.402178 C -3.121755 2.506523 1.672722 H -3.053082 3.382907 1.044632 C -0.313974 1.387609 4.477831 H -0.288198 0.397613 4.915158 C -0.994387 2.526017 5.009757 C -0.041758 3.136313 2.993771 H 0.226349 3.700596 2.111414 C 0.274116 1.763212 3.234198 H 0.818628 1.102855 2.574744 C -2.852873 1.091399 -1.434434 C -2.434768 1.296763 -2.760873 H -1.375494 1.361128 -2.990686 C -3.370570 1.424645 -3.786581 H -3.031511 1.586402 -4.806324 C -4.737828 1.340953 -3.505287 C -5.159538 1.127831 -2.192157 H -6.218146 1.046990 -1.962176 C -4.225384 1.004339 -1.162240 Н -4.571366 0.828327 -0.150781 C -0.442647 2.262318 -0.377072 C -0.870308 3.548993 -0.739545

Η	-1.916701	3.729983	-0.967947
С	0.049114	4.594510	-0.828289
Η	-0.289433	5.589099	-1.107010
С	1.403847	4.363870	-0.562956
С	1.840084	3.080170	-0.228903
Η	2.889287	2.883447	-0.029652
С	0.919771	2.033457	-0.145926
Η	1.252180	1.030147	0.100992
С	-0.822091	3.606785	4.092161
Η	-1.251030	4.595899	4.189512
С	-2.303434	-1.054721	2.786043
Η	-1.571947	2.553296	5.924839
С	-2.901023	-1.672544	4.058972
Η	-2.668384	-1.042436	4.925595
Η	-3.988740	-1.784732	4.000917
Η	-2.474272	-2.661559	4.240421
Η	-1.221093	-0.989633	2.936272
С	-4.014785	-2.063059	0.521374
С	-4.136867	-2.489335	-0.811680
С	-5.134797	-1.533116	1.170990
С	-5.353499	-2.401558	-1.502472
Η	-3.251323	-2.875314	-1.314102
С	-6.369663	-1.402759	0.512499
Η	-5.037417	-1.181505	2.192871
С	-6.452281	-1.852338	-0.815490
Η	-7.398949	-1.748963	-1.342223
С	-2.224636	-3.851132	1.918257
С	-3.337994	-4.690970	2.033188
С	-0.955493	-4.341915	2.257615
С	-3.210574	-6.019277	2.469455
Η	-4.314402	-4.307406	1.749092
С	-0.779727	-5.661523	2.705208
Η	-0.093178	-3.689953	2.136068
С	-1.923336	-6.475956	2.805313
Η	-1.803448	-7.505968	3.135493
Η	-5.466513	1.436250	-4.305855
Η	2.116107	5.182190	-0.628475
Si	0.812449	-2.910278	-2.655477
С	-0.146693	-1.355339	-3.169425
Н	0.468454	-0.455443	-3.050902
Η	-0.460557	-1.429007	-4.218462
Н	-1.055280	-1.219597	-2.573635
С	1.977564	-3.365768	-4.082624
Η	2.687493	-2.553991	-4.286274

H 2.556763 -4.268102 -3.856620 H 1.416014 -3.552387 -5.006170 C -0.445268 -4.313317 -2.443351 C -0.769676 -4.799411 -1.165289 C -1.116559 -4.878773 -3.544136 C -1.728431 -5.799831 -0.984630 H -0.266087 -4.382868 -0.300438 C -2.079171 -5.876713 -3.374253 H -0.893284 -4.534244 -4.552511 C -2.388996 -6.337817 -2.090881 H -1.956543 -6.151168 0.016101 H -2.590581 -6.291483 -4.239658 H -3.140144 -7.112132 -1.954457 С 1.200908 -1.981432 -0.049151 1.788808 -2.678400 -1.057711 С С 3.159172 -3.350550 -1.013193 Η 3.719245 -3.140648 -0.099991 Η 3.055701 -4.443057 -1.084594 Η 3.777379 -3.043894 -1.867741 С 1.915645 -1.778277 1.254983 F 2.414511 -2.973796 1.803223 F 0.969291 -1.396864 2.250681 С 3.023114 -0.741330 1.325573 С 3.615149 -0.205981 0.178562 С 3.472670 -0.327594 2.587972 С 4.645365 0.731630 0.290919 Н 3.256852 -0.515591 -0.796536 С 4.493917 0.613492 2.699535 Η 3.009849 -0.741715 3.477444 С 5.084481 1.146302 1.549276 Η 5.100066 1.138811 -0.608432 3.682657 H 4.829776 0.931887 H 5.881984 1.879592 1.635708 Si -5.457040 -2.924677 -3.318948 Si -7.785960 -0.519685 1.392894 Si -4.728064 -7.140954 2.418843 Si 0.975623 -6.307340 3.005004 C -6.904729 -2.010082 -4.128150 H -6.963895 -2.250104 -5.196773 H -7.868814 -2.276305 -3.678324 Н -6.775153 -0.925383 -4.034997 C -3.840630 -2.448431 -4.168323 H -3.653553 -1.373380 -4.071090 H -2.989678 -2.982164 -3.733002
H -3.871224 -2.695979 -5.237006 C -5.731914 -4.794448 -3.412406 Η -6.667241 -5.084930 -2.918808 H -5.777458 -5.140850 -4.452617 Н -4.908241 -5.322332 -2.919005 C -9.390349 -0.742448 0.417717 Н -9.647556 -1.802436 0.305622 H -10.226489 -0.248092 0.926797 H -9.314738 -0.309018 -0.586886 C -7.964429 -1.233158 3.136953 H -7.034815 -1.118677 3.708135 Н -8.759539 -0.725110 3.696255 H -8.204115 -2.302667 3.105948 C -7.329236 1.315017 1.503021 Н -6.377049 1.444418 2.032142 H -7.208385 1.749988 0.503070 H -8.094108 1.896269 2.032888 C -6.217034 -6.203264 3.117990 Η -6.056982 -5.931797 4.168179 Н -6.405595 -5.277717 2.560236 Н -7.127315 -6.812876 3.062895 C -4.409244 -8.711621 3.422377 H -5.288242 -9.367413 3.408513 H -3.566014 -9.284077 3.017634 Η -4.182618 -8.478524 4.469577 C -5.051099 -7.578059 0.603571 Н -4.211296 -8.148457 0.187955 Н -5.960649 -8.179033 0.481603 -5.161181 -6.668883 Η -0.000219 С 1.884579 -6.254829 1.349304 1.989762 -5.215923 Η 1.021162 2.890261 -6.686747 Η 1.425583 Η 1.333964 -6.800161 0.573872 С 1.846401 -5.183952 4.251670 Η 2.854993 -5.553889 4.475087 Η 1.948296 -4.173692 3.841152 1.292392 -5.122796 Η 5.195936 С 0.877585 -8.080203 3.662230 4.600875 Η 0.312798 -8.134622 Η 0.396265 -8.751919 2.941105 Η 1.883013 -8.472798 3.856899

FBpin

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au): -511.	191409182
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-510.994284182
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au): -511.	039637182
M06 SCF energy (au): -511.	030912753
M06 enthalpy (au): -510.8	833787753
M06 free energy (au): -510.8	879140753
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au): -510.8	879140571

Cartesian coordinates

A7	ГОМ Х	Y Z	
В	-0.662879	-1.643875	-0.008260
0	-1.963626	-2.002937	0.213435
0	0.262398	-2.594974	0.322772
С	-1.914412	-3.243668	0.975864
С	-0.491401	-3.811393	0.597374
С	-2.032235	-2.855184	2.454057
С	-3.090705	-4.119830	0.558606
С	0.212949	-4.581392	1.709298
С	-0.495865	-4.626875	-0.700658
Η	-2.951590	-2.279688	2.596859
Η	-2.068542	-3.737988	3.100358
Η	-1.188442	-2.230269	2.763684
Η	-3.035557	-5.097211	1.051102
Η	-4.029639	-3.640772	0.853211
Η	-3.114246	-4.271600	-0.522551
Η	-0.374631	-5.459344	2.000465
Η	1.190545	-4.925275	1.357251
Η	0.372501	-3.956863	2.590770
Η	0.538044	-4.802138	-1.012322
Η	-0.989197	-5.594799	-0.566078
Η	-1.005426	-4.083951	-1.503145
F	-0.324150	-0.461931	-0.506842

BpinSiMe2PhB3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au	ı): -1012.30006325
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-1011.92918325
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-1012.00120725
M06 SCF energy (au):	-1011.94056049
M06 enthalpy (au):	-1011.56968049
M06 free energy (au):	-1011.64170449
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-1011.63658724

Cartesian coordinates ATOM X Y Z

В	-3.830202	-1.191097	0.231675
0	-3.655825	-0.038866	-0.494372
0	-4.898893	-1.939492	-0.208459
С	-4.517327	-0.128382	-1.669947
С	-5.618526	-1.144777	-1.199441
С	-5.026114	1.268940	-2.009160
С	-3.638533	-0.669553	-2.804570
С	-6.784445	-0.479219	-0.459134
С	-6.141862	-2.082140	-2.283238
Η	-4.185860	1.904396	-2.305928
Η	-5.736374	1.228820	-2.843053
Η	-5.516585	1.736992	-1.152967
Η	-4.186968	-0.718927	-3.751029
Η	-2.779120	-0.004951	-2.933488
Η	-3.259156	-1.667854	-2.564311
Η	-7.422582	0.090753	-1.142486
Η	-7.390194	-1.255208	0.018347
Η	-6.418274	0.193927	0.322191
Η	-6.886062	-2.761059	-1.855064
Η	-6.620700	-1.512785	-3.088175
Η	-5.339781	-2.687288	-2.711193
Si	-2.576068	-1.846938	1.675731
С	-1.392056	-0.485187	2.252642
Η	-1.949573	0.345386	2.701710
Η	-0.684187	-0.852653	3.005666
Η	-0.816047	-0.082652	1.411887
С	-3.541117	-2.529920	3.160597
Η	-4.123634	-1.741825	3.653744
Η	-4.237969	-3.313163	2.841157
Η	-2.862352	-2.964523	3.904340
С	-1.588778	-3.251093	0.867906
С	-0.230374	-3.472833	1.157290
С	-2.211043	-4.119563	-0.050708
С	0.477666	-4.520829	0.564077
Η	0.289008	-2.817616	1.853408
С	-1.509403	-5.170197	-0.645074
Η	-3.257372	-3.967529	-0.308567
С	-0.161741	-5.373313	-0.338427
Η	1.527673	-4.670676	0.803937
Η	-2.011975	-5.827872	-1.350447
Η	0.387677	-6.188640	-0.802465

Cs2F2-Toluene

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-783.262262129
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-782.977521129
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-783.060215129
M06 SCF energy (au):	-782.968645408
M06 enthalpy (au):	-782.683904408
M06 free energy (au):	-782.766598408
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-782.756102279

Cartesian coordinates ATOM X Y Ζ F 1.434038 2.878253 1.356130 Cs 0.883973 2.102713 4.013215 F -1.677564 1.477324 3.040096 Cs -1.077340 2.205682 0.353954 C -5.676724 3.644701 0.325052 C -5.120672 2.570964 1.027980 C -4.142331 2.790782 2.001927 C -3.707965 4.097793 2.290120 C -4.268345 5.166399 1.577247 C -5.244222 4.944648 0.601556 3.471879 H -6.440608 -0.429348 H -5.449535 1.555302 0.815626 H -3.626937 1.971617 2.507397 H -3.937890 6.182077 1.788295 H -5.668668 5.786533 0.059454 С 2.235898 -1.784504 4.415589 С 1.158023 -1.850016 3.527722 С 1.240382 -1.233273 2.276565 С 2.391623 -0.532861 1.879603 С 3.471408 -0.489185 2.779299 С 3.397354 -1.104985 4.031402 Η 2.178286 -2.269605 5.386594 Η 0.249843 -2.377420 3.808148 Η 0.388588 -1.283814 1.601652 Η 4.375650 0.042908 2.491160 4.250633 -1.062324 Η 4.704729 C -2.641781 4.298096 3.345281 H -1.959537 5.116945 3.078485 H -3.094271 4.558114 4.312480 H -2.095414 3.347303 3.453511 С 2.430383 0.242989 0.590690 Η 1.775944 -0.214651 -0.164167 2.096049 Η 1.292683 0.788409 Η 3.443391 0.278083 0.173647

TS-1	
B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5142.19450934
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5140.76404534
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5140.98156134
M06 SCF energy (au):	-5140.69556503
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5139.26510103
M06 free energy (au):	-5139.48261703
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-5139.46087069

Cartesian coordinates ATOM X Y Ζ Cu -0.328165 0.579360 0.923092 Fe -3.038313 1.170101 4.509254 P -1.644281 -1.282181 1.469502 P -1.841736 2.258750 1.421525 C -3.198869 1.714922 2.513355 C -3.687693 0.362669 2.695941 C -4.763816 0.432219 3.638519 Н -5.322754 -0.423288 3.997774 C -4.953257 1.786779 4.034834 2.143026 H -5.658745 4.774582 C -3.991070 2.577042 3.348896 H -3.833690 3.640036 3.468497 C -1.834369 -0.131674 5.599239 Н -1.688760 -1.174629 5.372110 C -2.861983 0.403160 6.429313 C -1.607834 2.166098 5.621346 H -1.272948 3.167640 5.390238 C -1.062320 0.956153 5.092571 H -0.240657 0.877709 4.397684 C -2.701361 2.745760 -0.131651 C -4.095209 2.752125 -0.280686 H -4.730196 2.487267 0.559311 C -4.669564 3.089624 -1.509093 H -5.751088 3.084592 -1.617045 C -3.858960 3.433315 -2.592682 C -2.468564 3.439713 -2.447154 H -1.832228 3.699312 -3.288850 C -1.892983 3.092320 -1.226353 H -0.811689 3.068027 -1.118730 C -1.364388 3.878280 2.153283

С	-2.079308	5.057366	1.891179
Η	-2.924891	5.038865	1.209414
С	-1.706682	6.257260	2.499381
Н	-2.266501	7.164995	2.289743
С	-0.615239	6.290752	3.371546
С	0.107331	5.122704	3.625372
Н	0.969857	5.145942	4.285861
С	-0.260361	3.922091	3.015869
Н	0.320246	3.026124	3.190277
С	-2.720641	1.823909	6.446337
Н	-3.374630	2.522750	6.952230
С	-3.458685	-0.885556	1.867741
Н	-3.638050	-0.166283	6.924735
С	-4.336303	-0.776479	0.600021
Н	-5.351919	-0.489590	0.894452
Н	-3.963885	-0.006352	-0.083112
Н	-4.388620	-1.724752	0.061032
Н	-3.835768	-1.729798	2.455054
С	-1.771738	-2.646878	0.233124
С	-1.433332	-3.970843	0.535613
С	-2.161902	-2.343128	-1.080192
С	-1.524588	-4.995870	-0.419376
Н	-1.070906	-4.210538	1.527017
С	-2.272480	-3.329740	-2.069485
Н	-2.378794	-1.313081	-1.337091
С	-1.958453	-4.652602	-1.708749
Н	-2.034640	-5.435066	-2.463762
С	-1.063871	-2.157018	2.976529
С	-1.832753	-3.126542	3.637018
С	0.218479	-1.872935	3.458912
С	-1.349575	-3.807356	4.764883
Н	-2.823765	-3.367671	3.258176
С	0.743835	-2.514175	4.594167
Н	0.801502	-1.114309	2.954075
С	-0.058019	-3.480890	5.222522
Н	0.327167	-3.991931	6.102412
Н	-4.307631	3.691764	-3.548080
Н	-0.323218	7.225888	3.842241
Si	-1.075839	-6.765581	0.067308
Si	-2.777882	-2.883792	-3.834348
Si	-2.476908	-5.045383	5.638366
Si	2.432824	-1.974345	5.265630
С	-0.005284	-6.720463	1.626264
Н	-0.560531	-6.324634	2.484773

Н	0.342261	-7.726548	1.891256
Η	0.871243	-6.080756	1.479567
С	-0.140729	-7.585617	-1.358646
Η	0.126401	-8.620935	-1.114096
Н	-0.743400	-7.608100	-2.274792
Н	0.782678	-7.040005	-1.581385
С	-2.662160	-7.738602	0.426891
Η	-3.336183	-7.739755	-0.438201
Η	-2.439042	-8.782798	0.679922
Η	-3.204329	-7.298837	1.272888
С	-4.061842	-4.139658	-4.434850
Η	-4.963711	-4.112027	-3.811882
Η	-4.361084	-3.933345	-5.469870
Η	-3.668308	-5.162905	-4.402746
С	-1.258708	-2.958638	-4.962254
Η	-0.527056	-2.189638	-4.688709
Η	-0.759669	-3.932408	-4.887709
Η	-1.533156	-2.800948	-6.012749
С	-3.514459	-1.141395	-3.857978
Η	-2.768263	-0.383638	-3.593199
Η	-3.893763	-0.897003	-4.857793
Η	-4.349783	-1.049107	-3.153179
С	-3.952935	-4.077433	6.327037
Η	-3.620009	-3.330230	7.057797
Η	-4.473143	-3.541981	5.522826
Η	-4.680965	-4.733352	6.819748
С	-1.535791	-5.900305	7.035696
Η	-2.174354	-6.633181	7.543344
Η	-0.654918	-6.432483	6.657251
Η	-1.194082	-5.180959	7.789495
С	-3.089056	-6.317074	4.375924
Η	-2.265410	-6.942596	4.013173
Η	-3.847668	-6.979556	4.810333
Η	-3.537074	-5.826028	3.503103
С	3.740515	-2.067981	3.904919
Η	3.802521	-3.068049	3.461301
Η	3.532350	-1.349463	3.104243
Η	4.729256	-1.823356	4.314500
С	2.290345	-0.177244	5.835270
Η	2.046915	0.458478	4.977563
Η	1.500859	-0.046434	6.583931
Η	3.235734	0.179721	6.262524
С	2.901534	-3.100316	6.712921
Η	2.960244	-4.151341	6.404943

Η	3.881372	-2.818180	7.116748
Η	2.175379	-3.030303	7.531874
Si	1.115576	0.043684	-0.838319
С	-0.222951	0.306547	-2.209079
Η	-0.028731	1.268713	-2.697841
Η	-0.174217	-0.471351	-2.981137
Η	-1.246496	0.345532	-1.829565
С	2.647423	0.716739	-1.751435
Η	2.520260	1.768830	-2.028888
Η	3.551882	0.607120	-1.151098
Η	2.775236	0.140589	-2.677440
С	1.493012	-1.826021	-0.701241
С	2.090144	-2.338097	0.464522
С	1.259360	-2.730824	-1.751547
С	2.447831	-3.683395	0.576495
Η	2.295227	-1.665851	1.290691
С	1.612378	-4.077756	-1.651275
Η	0.788863	-2.388872	-2.668961
С	2.214613	-4.558569	-0.486696
Η	2.911540	-4.046786	1.490396
Η	1.411166	-4.752182	-2.480361
Η	2.496384	-5.605846	-0.407404
F	1.197756	0.936876	2.651890
С	4.181519	1.823424	1.706838
С	3.394452	3.160862	1.347213
В	1.954267	1.361665	1.522894
0	2.009439	2.746063	1.353325
0	3.221811	0.774542	1.409228
С	3.537937	4.276900	2.388299
Η	4.577479	4.616262	2.464630
Η	2.917116	5.127148	2.089236
Η	3.201437	3.952342	3.375332
С	3.719532	3.733027	-0.035254
Η	3.618495	2.980469	-0.815078
Η	3.015476	4.543242	-0.251713
Η	4.736400	4.139575	-0.068938
С	5.444691	1.578294	0.884846
Η	6.195776	2.349403	1.091627
Η	5.867647	0.605306	1.154788
Η	5.240544	1.571067	-0.186723
С	4.516635	1.700622	3.201711
Η	4.924830	0.703388	3.389657
Н			
	5.255992	2.444760	3.516813

 TS-2
 B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):
 -5216.51624183

 B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):
 -5215.12028083

 B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):
 -5215.34267783

 M06 SCF energy (au):
 -5214.98731903

 M06 enthalpy (au):
 -5213.59135803

 M06 free energy (au):
 -5213.81375503

 M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):
 -5213.78863520

Cartesian coordinates

ATOM X Y Ζ Cu -0.879065 -1.767524 -0.126824 Fe -1.016352 2.516691 2.202129 P -2.793539 -1.627995 1.051234 P -0.932796 0.541479 -0.724618 C -1.774042 1.556326 0.538637 C -2.428687 1.092750 1.748114 C -3.057916 2.233639 2.343358 Н -3.601732 2.236822 3.277429 C -2.785881 3.384803 1.546741 Н -3.085236 4.399309 1.775908 C -1.994809 2.973354 0.442392 Н -1.598716 3.612407 -0.334424 C 0.060024 1.867584 3.851345 Н -0.228033 1.026146 4.468252 C -0.347422 3.225986 4.025428 C 0.969743 3.108607 2.130003 H 1.485400 3.371941 1.216724 C 0.873643 1.794803 2.684009 H 1.318595 0.893709 2.290119 C -1.980248 0.793296 -2.218697 C -3.308074 1.236988 -2.150142 Н -3.738775 1.524666 -1.198952 C -4.093829 1.296628 -3.302764 H -5.125991 1.627175 -3.226810 C -3.562052 0.926547 -4.538339 C -2.238270 0.483335 -4.616622 H -1.817663 0.185882 -5.573549 C -1.457043 0.408825 -3.465070 H -0.432303 0.051802 -3.532636 C 0.585152 1.504529 -1.112334 C 0.586426 2.651221 -1.921844

Η	-0.330400	2.973752	-2.407120
С	1.765522	3.371206	-2.118500
Η	1.757284	4.259611	-2.744755
С	2.955089	2.949674	-1.515348
С	2.962755	1.800237	-0.722045
Η	3.882759	1.461453	-0.253610
С	1.784244	1.078147	-0.524972
Η	1.794454	0.192974	0.099129
С	0.219692	3.992941	2.962156
Η	0.063757	5.050257	2.789639
С	-2.434166	-0.302903	2.346059
Η	-1.004300	3.601083	4.799882
С	-3.272284	-0.403666	3.628718
Η	-2.897531	0.308848	4.372672
Η	-4.331985	-0.190422	3.452666
Η	-3.198959	-1.405747	4.057208
Η	-1.400102	-0.564073	2.600021
С	-4.329680	-1.176912	0.165833
С	-4.650489	-1.951530	-0.960281
С	-5.168383	-0.113267	0.510983
С	-5.796114	-1.708665	-1.727910
Η	-3.983240	-2.761422	-1.234844
С	-6.298892	0.209349	-0.261702
Η	-4.924593	0.497887	1.372250
С	-6.598797	-0.611317	-1.360771
Η	-7.484605	-0.388343	-1.953311
С	-3.232883	-3.111655	2.023124
С	-4.519483	-3.657693	2.052913
С	-2.192148	-3.762597	2.699214
С	-4.783585	-4.861981	2.727192
Η	-5.319805	-3.151757	1.519167
С	-2.417059	-4.949225	3.412387
Η	-1.189100	-3.346813	2.618831
С	-3.718522	-5.483060	3.403515
Η	-3.903892	-6.419229	3.927220
Η	-4.175096	0.971643	-5.433978
Η	3.872114	3.511826	-1.670789
Si	-0.861935	-3.717142	-1.583003
С	-2.060605	-4.894907	-0.675764
Η	-3.049092	-4.466489	-0.494737
Η	-2.181333	-5.813755	-1.264180
Η	-1.656285	-5.171213	0.303534
С	-1.638035	-3.129611	-3.226715
Η	-2.493893	-2.473490	-3.040213

Н	-0.921018	-2.545771	-3.814935
Н	-1.969245	-3.978078	-3.841258
С	0.551864	-4.901480	-2.050618
С	1.119489	-5.730883	-1.062201
С	1.100737	-4.971421	-3.342410
С	2.195487	-6.572800	-1.343800
Н	0.727289	-5.707369	-0.049075
С	2.176935	-5.815455	-3.634891
Н	0.691583	-4.352182	-4.137681
С	2.732694	-6.614456	-2.634253
Н	2.614015	-7.195796	-0.556272
Н	2.582573	-5.846299	-4.643608
Н	3.573366	-7.266595	-2.857605
С	0.730591	-2.469108	1.074377
С	0.937912	-2.504810	-0.212843
С	2.080862	-2.283735	-1.159907
Н	2.934453	-1.887549	-0.597065
Н	2.390150	-3.204470	-1.660557
Н	1.805374	-1.558483	-1.933717
С	1.642550	-2.142877	2.163594
F	0.915590	-1.624161	3.252825
F	2.503257	-1.048137	1.845160
C	2.526512	-3.270944	2.656997
С	2.902336	-3.327834	4.003575
C	3.015657	-4.232045	1.765079
С	3.744392	-4.344468	4.455537
Η	2.522226	-2.583669	4.693783
С	3.861850	-5.244168	2.217190
Н	2.714334	-4.212639	0.724647
С	4.225604	-5.306752	3.564277
Н	4.023263	-4.384951	5.505238
Н	4.226309	-5.988618	1.514255
Н	4.878804	-6.100128	3.918145
Si	-6.199791	-2.823358	-3.204868
Si	-7.274326	1.771887	0.156771
Si	-6.522926	-5.588507	2.623383
Si	-0.924757	-5.760314	4.243571
С	-5.501889	-2.063305	-4.789857
Н	-4.417734	-1.925712	-4.711207
Н	-5.704709	-2.703945	-5.657226
Η	-5.942776	-1.078760	-4.984839
С	-5.421828	-4.521013	-2.910153
Η	-4.327845	-4.468140	-2.876340
Η	-5.764920	-4.958291	-1.965097

H -5.691747 -5.212738 -3.717572 C -8.080780 -2.986221 -3.338808 H -8.564834 -2.014523 -3.495022 Н -8.356767 -3.629940 -4.182925 H -8.504150 -3.427571 -2.428695 C -6.220330 3.260969 -0.349810 H -5.258553 3.248269 0.177469 H -6.005885 3.249771 -1.425416 H -6.721056 4.208973 -0.116731 C -7.575101 1.829764 2.024322 H -6.627546 1.823132 2.577140 H -8.115433 2.740846 2.309194 H -8.164148 0.969093 2.362110 C -8.915712 1.774140 -0.781503 H -9.520735 0.893721 -0.534304 H -9.504491 2.664827 -0.531174 Н -8.759633 1.778560 -1.867055 С -6.532755 -7.337555 3.340652 Н -5.828572 -7.989779 2.810596 Н -6.255785 -7.339157 4.401790 Н -7.529846 -7.786863 3.259013 C -7.019851 -5.618189 0.794595 H -8.040389 -5.995537 0.656066 Н -6.973781 -4.611435 0.360559 Н -6.340910 -6.256839 0.216882 C -7.728047 -4.482530 3.577188 Н -7.704047 -3.455760 3.191944 Н -8.759115 -4.847625 3.491946 Н -7.471256 -4.443163 4.642423 C -0.133225 -4.477666 5.385220 Н 0.098489 -3.564023 4.826125 Н -0.803495 -4.211654 6.211526 Η 0.807399 -4.847867 5.809713 С 0.285877 -6.225159 2.870432 H 0.481514 -5.343645 2.250117 Η 1.251183 -6.565918 3.262003 Н -0.124995 -7.010076 2.223838 C -1.479639 -7.285656 5.215552 Н -1.945950 -8.031085 4.559882 Н -0.623969 -7.766225 5.705197 Н -2.205030 -7.024463 5.995615

TS-2A

-5216.50030602
-5215.10416602
-5215.32510102
-5214.96877716
-5213.57263716
-5213.79357216
-5213.76996714

Cartesian coordinates ATOM X Y Ζ Cu -0.397080 -1.955047 0.097647 Fe -1.034147 2.212642 1.700344 P -2.646676 -2.048944 0.913033 P -0.927878 0.028728 -0.992351 C -1.837656 1.124210 0.153650 C -2.460776 0.752169 1.413295 C -3.072714 1.938124 1.935436 H -3.594335 2.011735 2.879065 C -2.829987 3.023991 1.044039 H -3.129448 4.052251 1.199889 C -2.073833 2.527586 -0.050370 H -1.695969 3.105835 -0.881824 C 0.176501 1.610209 3.263273 H -0.045291 0.768594 3.905401 C -0.248710 2.958871 3.465097 С 0.916522 2.867366 1.470968 Η 1.348441 3.138083 0.517420 С 0.896604 1.553068 2.032476 1.304801 Η 0.659491 1.581744 C -2.114874 -0.204668 -2.387902 C -3.369865 0.414513 -2.456625 H -3.702066 1.067455 -1.658618 C -4.213921 0.178673 -3.544363 H -5.191006 0.652462 -3.575017 C -3.810495 -0.666149 -4.579621 C -2.558397 -1.284712 -4.519098 Н -2.226827 -1.945513 -5.315396 C -1.719070 -1.060092 -3.429038 Н -0.752142 -1.545439 -3.393944 0.329687 С 1.135663 -1.757703 С 0.018830 2.061687 -2.765039 H -1.000065 2.138880 -3.134134 1.017418 С 2.869222 -3.311513 Н 0.766780 3.583397 -4.091598

C 2.337658 2.752221 -2.866453 С 2.657125 1.818458 -1.877527 Η 3.683700 1.705919 -1.539319 1.657733 1.012266 -1.329558 С Η 1.913178 0.269038 -0.584198 C 0.210945 3.734993 2.358045 H 0.015585 4.787240 2.196037 C -2.473499 -0.596511 2.120913 H -0.849106 3.320050 4.290089 3.341192 C -3.404993 -0.632204 H -3.102169 0.131967 4.067012 H -4.452817 -0.456372 3.077147 Н -3.344618 -1.603705 3.837714 Н -1.456208 -0.790545 2.472679 C -4.228270 -1.767723 0.011994 C -4.602302 -2.696093 -0.974380 C -5.060227 -0.663572 0.230484 C -5.768651 -2.543331 -1.736227 H -3.959815 -3.551452 -1.152190 C -6.233056 -0.457152 -0.516164 H -4.782632 0.073822 0.972687 C -6.567294 -1.410908 -1.488026 H -7.466620 -1.261171 -2.082719 C -3.056218 -3.473033 2.000979 C -4.364621 -3.933406 2.197009 C -2.002732 -4.120460 2.662778 C -4.639339 -5.029644 3.031194 Н -5.181147 -3.433302 1.683063 C -2.232128 -5.200235 3.530721 Н -0.993641 -3.755675 2.479444 C -3.558451 -5.640854 3.690408 Н -3.755229 -6.489470 4.343086 H -4.466935 -0.843309 -5.427604 3.114894 3.376895 -3.298691 Η Si 0.333581 -3.904872 -1.190590 С 1.148383 -5.551561 -0.695493 Η 0.776880 -5.875400 0.283539 Η 0.864999 -6.319504 -1.427500 H 2.237018 -5.499683 -0.658428 C -1.462158 -4.471903 -1.549126 Н -1.969236 -4.747244 -0.618097 H -2.026027 -3.673498 -2.037082 H -1.461989 -5.352976 -2.207347 C 0.994714 -3.255933 -2.851186

С	0.547743	-3.816056	-4.063503
С	1.782171	-2.092710	-2.929800
С	0.856382	-3.231486	-5.294984
Η	-0.073725	-4.708841	-4.052756
С	2.088311	-1.496940	-4.154300
Η	2.139170	-1.628250	-2.019380
С	1.619968	-2.062215	-5.342652
Η	0.492171	-3.682228	-6.215597
Η	2.671956	-0.579896	-4.174073
Η	1.844416	-1.594553	-6.298122
С	1.328869	-2.715281	0.800387
С	0.678423	-2.283748	1.850994
С	1.097990	-1.896324	3.234479
Η	1.732179	-2.668728	3.689525
Η	1.687677	-0.969508	3.236093
Η	0.238509	-1.735577	3.900099
С	2.805218	-2.684594	0.535736
F	3.164571	-1.363078	0.230326
F	3.176554	-3.394491	-0.590196
С	3.641316	-3.158429	1.705874
С	3.609461	-4.513205	2.053745
С	4.400672	-2.264114	2.463685
С	4.327498	-4.967322	3.158795
Η	3.013526	-5.204387	1.468505
С	5.120227	-2.721757	3.569464
Η	4.419951	-1.214830	2.192382
С	5.083094	-4.072031	3.921475
Η	4.294440	-6.020266	3.425220
Η	5.706908	-2.020505	4.156757
Η	5.639605	-4.426187	4.785101
Si	-6.202515	-3.794787	-3.086686
Si	-7.217906	1.127948	-0.237349
Si	-6.429483	-5.606125	3.203932
Si	-0.766894	-5.964065	4.449165
С	-4.604199	-4.535822	-3.770200
Η	-4.814185	-5.206563	-4.612487
Η	-3.930730	-3.745549	-4.120304
Η	-4.063796	-5.114884	-3.012576
С	-7.139795	-2.894672	-4.463438
Η	-6.548379	-2.058342	-4.853150
Η	-7.354997	-3.573759	-5.297378
Η	-8.097724	-2.493020	-4.111769
С	-7.295525	-5.164678	-2.369012
Η	-8.224715	-4.755497	-1.954215

Η	-7.566246	-5.899170	-3.137947
Η	-6.781962	-5.697593	-1.560541
С	-6.207752	2.582085	-0.909849
Η	-6.012608	2.469976	-1.983297
Η	-6.728782	3.536277	-0.761647
Η	-5.238216	2.646221	-0.400974
С	-8.880889	1.016512	-1.130377
Η	-9.475111	1.922462	-0.960632
Η	-8.749236	0.907886	-2.213770
Η	-9.468871	0.160685	-0.778008
С	-7.474382	1.369055	1.622851
Η	-8.041554	0.538625	2.059473
Η	-6.511750	1.426849	2.146043
Η	-8.019754	2.297471	1.832333
С	-7.120553	-5.890105	1.464813
Η	-7.032005	-4.981772	0.856685
Η	-6.571082	-6.686248	0.948218
Η	-8.180117	-6.172689	1.488783
С	-7.432582	-4.244530	4.055677
Η	-7.062557	-4.054749	5.070223
Η	-7.364434	-3.303404	3.496192
Η	-8.493532	-4.514144	4.128157
С	-6.496973	-7.200755	4.217702
Η	-6.109946	-7.049594	5.232644
Η	-7.529015	-7.560539	4.308077
Η	-5.906596	-7.997806	3.750210
С	-0.207319	-4.767150	5.805422
Η	0.085465	-3.804191	5.370556
Η	-1.008659	-4.578605	6.529761
Η	0.657385	-5.162655	6.352875
С	0.649791	-6.204349	3.223055
Η	0.883032	-5.261880	2.715044
Η	1.563952	-6.540493	3.727186
Η	0.392290	-6.943411	2.455265
С	-1.284199	-7.615644	5.213618
Η	-1.643762	-8.315215	4.449565
Η	-0.436495	-8.087603	5.725081
Η	-2.084067	-7.487540	5.953008

TS-3	
B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5216.57289625
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5215.17659625
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5215.39710525

M06 SCF energy (au):	-5215.03054474
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5213.63424474
M06 free energy (au):	-5213.85475374
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-5213.83270449

Cartesian coordinates

ATOM X Y Ζ Cu -0.472402 -1.174869 0.242389 Fe -2.093998 2.086035 3.258835 P -2.258814 -2.149265 1.293655 P -1.440218 0.902243 -0.008583 C -2.521893 1.242707 1.427370 C -2.877437 0.338213 2.504047 C -3.858600 1.009861 3.302009 H -4.302241 0.622156 4.208472 C -4.100291 2.305321 2.755734 H -4.755982 3.058076 3.173901 C -3.277474 2.453160 1.608343 H -3.210517 3.328573 0.977214 C -0.821652 1.592802 4.811298 H -0.829135 0.627730 5.301540 C -1.616463 2.725175 5.170257 C -0.392622 3.269370 3.287131 H -0.019844 3.801582 2.423589 C -0.067377 1.923999 3.647193 H 0.548851 1.226483 3.093499 C -2.590557 1.180040 -1.421925 C -2.072679 1.504931 -2.687660 H -1.006727 1.674983 -2.807225 C -2.914622 1.617756 -3.793459 Н -2.496336 1.872322 -4.763734 C -4.289237 1.402365 -3.655124 C -4.811298 1.072809 -2.403459 H -5.875341 0.891507 -2.281581 C -3.970471 0.959741 -1.295083 H -4.394732 0.689358 -0.335253 C -0.295062 2.337836 -0.076293 C -0.656440 3.609997 -0.544644 H -1.650999 3.780293 -0.946980 4.656680 -0.510063 С 0.266214 H -0.019678 5.640542 -0.873353 С 1.555797 4.440101 -0.012513 1.921574 С 3.173312 0.448274 Η 2.919938 2.992715 0.835593

C 1.000789 2.124373 0.415151 H 1.257504 1.146750 0.809456 C -1.346496 3.762816 4.227058 H -1.820119 4.736061 4.201323 C -2.288901 -1.023706 2.817279 Н -2.326573 2.774776 5.985975 C -2.860176 -1.654478 4.093858 Н -2.716966 -0.972528 4.940196 Н -3.929650 -1.879295 4.015667 Н -2.342292 -2.588919 4.323457 Н -1.209217 -0.881166 2.954194 C -3.908916 -2.067070 0.504740 C -4.013219 -2.463213 -0.838197 C -5.044832 -1.568905 1.155508 C -5.227820 -2.370741 -1.537174 H -3.122315 -2.833437 -1.341945 C -6.270156 -1.418571 0.487266 Н -4.966289 -1.257190 2.189411 C -6.334010 -1.836179 -0.852779 H -7.274924 -1.724208 -1.388801 C -2.174378 -3.846953 1.972012 C -3.298517 -4.664192 2.140810 C -0.903989 -4.363981 2.251869 C -3.175690 -5.994603 2.572630 H -4.278814 -4.261515 1.900906 C -0.729632 -5.687517 2.687856 H -0.040316 -3.725579 2.085737 C -1.881583 -6.478979 2.843997 Н -1.765189 -7.513221 3.163266 H -4.945345 1.487058 -4.517389 H 2.271536 5.257816 0.012687 Si 0.537021 -2.998542 -2.834589 C -0.429505 -1.408929 -3.150451 Н 0.241783 -0.542546 -3.124472 H -0.926648 -1.432635 -4.126455 H -1.202899 -1.247858 -2.393641 С 1.577494 -3.390137 -4.369948 Η 2.280511 -2.575616 -4.584971 H 2.157508 -4.311119 -4.243007 H 0.941619 -3.515830 -5.254638 C -0.646695 -4.440191 -2.519791 C -0.939567 -4.841256 -1.204417 C -1.279805 -5.132125 -3.569506 C -1.835165 -5.880253 -0.940234 H -0.459241 -4.333527 -0.375492 C -2.177906 -6.171166 -3.315060 H -1.075887 -4.857947 -4.602795 C -2.459469 -6.545322 -1.997522 H -2.041228 -6.164307 0.085913 H -2.659734 -6.686765 -4.142209 H -3.160106 -7.351742 -1.795353 С 1.292138 -2.104024 -0.251955 С 1.674529 -2.809035 -1.337924 С 3.016498 -3.529470 -1.395364 Η 3.635609 -3.326566 -0.514324 Η 2.868103 -4.617124 -1.452187 Η 3.589362 -3.245480 -2.287929 С 2.012213 -1.819108 0.910099 F 2.001163 -2.747592 1.894713 F 0.713396 -0.663203 2.036936 С 3.091907 -0.836257 1.041021 С 3.539195 -0.132955 -0.087626 С 3.709372 -0.622904 2.284582 С 4.598803 0.765361 0.024751 Н 3.046433 -0.292864 -1.040599 С 4.764026 0.277332 2.391237 3.339988 -1.153140 Η 3.154241 С 5.212793 0.973471 1.262450 Η 4.939245 1.307909 -0.852660 Н 5.235244 0.443866 3.355837 H 6.036450 1.677003 1.350086 Si -5.353345 -2.886837 -3.353860 Si -7.702783 -0.533282 1.340897 Si -4.701019 -7.107445 2.587954 Si 1.033285 -6.346203 2.877099 C -6.788966 -1.946474 -4.156537 H -6.856381 -2.191208 -5.223685 Н -7.756276 -2.193244 -3.702798 H -6.641513 -0.863366 -4.071361 C -3.741564 -2.444091 -4.226639 Н -3.529578 -1.373484 -4.130493 H -2.899507 -2.997373 -3.800235 H -3.793180 -2.690881 -5.294627 C -5.671814 -4.749434 -3.448466 H -6.611693 -5.016232 -2.950071 H -5.732661 -5.092145 -4.489168 H -4.859764 -5.299866 -2.960705 C -9.349196 -1.178206 0.668669

Н -9.460589 -2.253272 0.852946 H -10.193177 -0.666482 1.147090 Н -9.436964 -1.014511 -0.412183 C -7.591029 -0.827633 3.207155 Н -6.677641 -0.385025 3.622657 Н -8.442225 -0.370454 3.726199 H -7.586147 -1.897541 3.447154 C -7.525230 1.317662 0.984031 H -6.558388 1.682301 1.352279 Н -7.565040 1.517871 -0.093834 Н -8.317199 1.905098 1.465143 C -6.219388 -6.082738 3.065528 Н -6.100395 -5.634357 4.059040 Н -6.398960 -5.269641 2.351662 Н -7.120675 -6.707618 3.084756 C -4.456993 -8.526622 3.814272 Н -5.336673 -9.181531 3.831915 Н -3.592129 -9.146567 3.549187 Н -4.298544 -8.150852 4.832027 C -4.925524 -7.793835 0.835705 H -4.061129 -8.403160 0.543881 Н -5.822945 -8.419062 0.751691 Н -5.011839 -6.975766 0.110126 С 1.883596 -6.143481 1.199067 Η 1.955804 -5.080531 0.945222 Н 2.899095 -6.558619 1.205010 Η 1.314566 -6.636126 0.401977 С 1.948904 -5.318718 4.174495 Η 2.987929 -5.653789 4.284383 Η 1.967722 -4.263264 3.879844 Н 1.466065 -5.388285 5.156376 C 0.972442 -8.167339 3.386357 Η 0.453962 -8.302132 4.343431 Η 0.454435 -8.776017 2.635388 Η 1.985395 -8.572411 3.498529

TS-4

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5216.56705883
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5215.17087883
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5215.38944983
M06 SCF energy (au):	-5215.02805712
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5213.63187712
M06 free energy (au):	-5213.85044812

M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au): -5213.82963629

Cartesian coordinates			
AT	OM X	Y Z	
Cu	-0.668735	-1.472940	0.332642
Fe	-2.347709	2.226831	3.155837
Р	-2.599836	-2.120139	1.334819
Р	-1.040449	0.780504	0.203262
С	-2.400335	1.345727	1.285949
С	-3.130597	0.551747	2.255640
С	-4.185751	1.383254	2.760146
Η	-4.897604	1.104440	3.523762
С	-4.108306	2.664411	2.139391
Η	-4.744471	3.512771	2.355579
С	-3.009587	2.646043	1.240918
Η	-2.669846	3.469719	0.628262
С	-1.613288	1.688228	5.013796
Η	-1.871919	0.765606	5.517309
С	-2.324372	2.924038	5.105632
С	-0.579415	3.211604	3.617598
Η	0.080872	3.640294	2.877656
С	-0.537912	1.864772	4.093751
Η	0.156172	1.100060	3.772692
С	-1.657276	1.196898	-1.475559
С	-3.026032	1.155084	-1.779877
Η	-3.754111	0.982310	-0.994573
С	-3.461857	1.313571	-3.095917
Η	-4.525142	1.272739	-3.316023
С	-2.539838	1.514133	-4.124828
С	-1.173354	1.544078	-3.831567
Η	-0.447353	1.690435	-4.627097
С	-0.733325	1.377672	-2.518388
Η	0.331231	1.386732	-2.301286
С	0.320154	1.972072	0.512052
С	0.322975	3.288610	0.026946
Η	-0.479630	3.630985	-0.620344
С	1.363324	4.156701	0.360500
Η	1.361129	5.175314	-0.018963
С	2.407139	3.715272	1.180955
С	2.412071	2.402035	1.656789
Η	3.226052	2.053676	2.287033
С	1.376617	1.526768	1.321053
Н	1.382058	0.497189	1.668893
С	-1.681281	3.864493	4.244645

Η	-2.004906	4.881154	4.061842
С	-2.850470	-0.863414	2.734802
Η	-3.216733	3.103134	5.691582
С	-3.844639	-1.320918	3.811466
Η	-3.848109	-0.613832	4.648936
Η	-4.863342	-1.388566	3.414066
Η	-3.569152	-2.303036	4.201089
Η	-1.841445	-0.872503	3.166745
С	-4.185476	-2.238186	0.419969
С	-4.412434	-3.347103	-0.414967
С	-5.140521	-1.214124	0.445911
С	-5.576990	-3.458737	-1.190439
Η	-3.664297	-4.135512	-0.451961
С	-6.312435	-1.272618	-0.326764
Η	-4.973361	-0.349273	1.076055
С	-6.510307	-2.406082	-1.129579
Η	-7.420115	-2.476267	-1.722162
С	-2.466708	-3.687283	2.279293
С	-3.527433	-4.578057	2.478922
С	-1.204158	-3.978130	2.819882
С	-3.351976	-5.770599	3.199017
Η	-4.498126	-4.346591	2.052195
С	-0.994166	-5.139472	3.581742
Η	-0.382676	-3.291411	2.618273
С	-2.082692	-6.015240	3.752461
Η	-1.930182	-6.931442	4.323491
Η	-2.881343	1.637571	-5.149011
Η	3.216183	4.392780	1.441298
Si	-0.729124	-3.403640	-2.891525
С	-2.121464	-2.141395	-2.771842
Η	-1.843314	-1.226818	-3.306302
Η	-3.049119	-2.528527	-3.207323
Η	-2.331950	-1.861140	-1.737583
С	-0.412560	-3.755360	-4.727328
Η	-0.085269	-2.841799	-5.238774
Η	0.358989	-4.518636	-4.878817
Η	-1.327798	-4.097912	-5.225772
С	-1.179758	-5.045550	-2.042622
С	-1.528301	-6.200734	-2.766049
С	-1.134995	-5.152369	-0.638323
С	-1.827545	-7.404122	-2.119836
Η	-1.564738	-6.168883	-3.852649
С	-1.439784	-6.347265	0.017223
Η	-0.849802	-4.286690	-0.047736

С	-1.785709	-7.479648	-0.725969
Н	-2.095115	-8.280793	-2.704950
Η	-1.409250	-6.388811	1.101302
Н	-2.024936	-8.411440	-0.220004
С	0.821932	-2.277626	-0.817581
С	0.862520	-2.833860	-2.048463
С	2.165702	-3.167194	-2.764160
Н	3.049622	-2.910088	-2.170744
Η	2.224058	-4.237623	-3.009168
Н	2.234038	-2.629762	-3.719771
С	1.903642	-2.050676	0.052795
F	0.970782	-1.665986	1.777002
F	2.475752	-0.830056	0.007732
С	2.775132	-3.078236	0.638660
С	3.928642	-2.699521	1.344372
С	2.500120	-4.439964	0.437494
С	4.803105	-3.669015	1.825567
Н	4.126256	-1.646568	1.508344
С	3.385132	-5.404622	0.914264
Н	1.602597	-4.732430	-0.096568
С	4.536299	-5.024483	1.608757
Η	5.693921	-3.368985	2.370652
Η	3.173904	-6.455971	0.746274
Η	5.221947	-5.781112	1.980867
Si	-5.866780	-4.984709	-2.273490
Si	-7.544110	0.153872	-0.207210
Si	-4.738868	-7.048465	3.305480
Si	0.723511	-5.592984	4.235839
С	-5.384365	-6.519137	-1.281918
Н	-4.348325	-6.455411	-0.932845
Η	-6.032079	-6.640667	-0.405637
Η	-5.467394	-7.428356	-1.889852
С	-4.815877	-4.867726	-3.841305
Η	-4.997121	-5.723507	-4.503690
Η	-5.037733	-3.951813	-4.401868
Η	-3.751865	-4.861944	-3.586278
С	-7.699095	-5.066112	-2.744037
Η	-7.998913	-4.216229	-3.369001
Η	-7.906954	-5.980304	-3.313401
Η	-8.342652	-5.072672	-1.856223
С	-9.045113	-0.205500	-1.299176
Н	-9.550614	-1.130096	-0.995780
Н	-9.776495	0.609160	-1.235750
Η	-8.758454	-0.312003	-2.352382

С	-8.063798	0.340084	1.604269
Η	-8.551114	-0.568014	1.977950
Η	-7.186304	0.532363	2.234220
Η	-8.759463	1.177730	1.737975
С	-6.696333	1.755717	-0.752954
Η	-5.826749	1.973024	-0.120936
Η	-6.348420	1.694462	-1.790596
Η	-7.381217	2.609871	-0.679612
С	-6.381229	-6.230993	2.842606
Η	-6.624076	-5.405264	3.522082
Η	-6.358419	-5.827133	1.823556
Η	-7.202255	-6.956558	2.891525
С	-4.349266	-8.443578	2.085997
Η	-3.388580	-8.915439	2.326980
Η	-5.120561	-9.223592	2.102867
Η	-4.281591	-8.054468	1.063750
С	-4.828721	-7.741156	5.064404
Η	-5.600327	-8.516811	5.143669
Η	-3.875985	-8.191801	5.367849
Η	-5.068048	-6.953180	5.788224
С	1.870585	-4.098920	4.154591
Η	1.749731	-3.509145	3.240339
Η	1.676108	-3.427908	5.000937
Η	2.919394	-4.412568	4.209142
С	1.328806	-7.043827	3.176453
Η	1.218174	-6.815919	2.111562
Η	2.382736	-7.279999	3.365553
Η	0.736239	-7.942955	3.387255
С	0.560326	-6.183734	6.029669
Η	-0.131125	-7.030645	6.117745
Η	1.531576	-6.508746	6.423393
Η	0.189077	-5.381129	6.678012

Π	ΓC	5
1	- 0-	0

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5608.20641495
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5606.66603395
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5606.91345095
M06 SCF energy (au):	-5606.49533544
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5604.95495444
M06 free energy (au):	-5605.20237144
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-5605.17407049

Cartesian coordinates

AT	OM X	Y Z	
Cu	-0.716716	-2.069572	-0.819316
Fe	-1.432203	2.155932	1.990755
Р	-2.197593	-2.412970	0.930934
Р	-0.582410	0.238312	-1.011201
С	-1.653385	0.988889	0.279036
С	-2.226526	0.332515	1.450021
С	-3.256789	1.191147	1.946534
Η	-3.855669	1.004856	2.825919
С	-3.314805	2.368302	1.148100
Η	-3.962448	3.218930	1.315249
С	-2.326201	2.254827	0.135700
Η	-2.126775	2.977930	-0.642801
С	-0.046493	1.793670	3.483553
Η	0.228293	0.804530	3.826661
С	-1.121802	2.587321	3.987596
С	-0.126974	3.748905	2.256656
Η	0.082525	4.505228	1.512071
С	0.569069	2.513876	2.416606
Η	1.385937	2.168097	1.802193
С	-1.292037	0.886941	-2.587191
С	-2.668696	1.090571	-2.745343
Η	-3.333488	0.953331	-1.903451
С	-3.197143	1.463668	-3.981415
Η	-4.266843	1.628753	-4.076274
С	-2.359649	1.612921	-5.088001
С	-0.986240	1.400117	-4.944167
Η	-0.323455	1.513273	-5.797693
С	-0.454315	1.045974	-3.703977
Η	0.616168	0.893609	-3.609261
С	1.049190	1.081547	-1.017814
С	1.192731	2.454185	-0.769743
Η	0.326321	3.047022	-0.496553
С	2.449844	3.052828	-0.843294
Η	2.555206	4.114820	-0.636785
С	3.572037	2.288900	-1.180754
С	3.430818	0.929387	-1.460287
Η	4.296543	0.326681	-1.716961
С	2.172260	0.328967	-1.385521
Η	2.063675	-0.728438	-1.601249
С	-1.172696	3.794761	3.227802
Η	-1.902001	4.586144	3.341926
С	-1.833641	-0.978466	2.107357
Η	-1.808542	2.302971	4.774220

C -2.445220 -1.150826 3.504643 Н -2.175367 -0.301867 4.142928 Н -3.536245 -1.215820 3.455538 Н -2.082452 -2.066986 3.976392 Н -0.746077 -0.988417 2.205881 C -4.039460 -2.414500 0.984000 C -4.758470 -1.454234 0.255896 C -4.743266 -3.311080 1.798376 C -6.158797 -1.380730 0.331750 H -4.215165 -0.768012 -0.387105 C -6.145120 -3.308954 1.869053 H -4.188660 -4.034742 2.383542 C -6.824863 -2.327591 1.131848 H -7.913519 -2.296263 1.181615 C -1.703138 -3.954049 1.791241 C -2.234460 -5.159137 1.306098 C -0.662245 -4.002993 2.725279 C -1.812466 -6.404504 1.789250 Н -2.986186 -5.123386 0.527079 C -0.129719 -5.227230 3.163737 Н -0.192358 -3.080187 3.052245 C -0.751697 -6.408128 2.715331 Н -0.372432 -7.367113 3.073247 H -2.771590 1.894064 -6.053153 Н 4.552169 2.755689 -1.227915 Si -0.073642 -3.655406 -3.770802 C 0.335510 -2.481853 -5.199336 Н 1.314755 -2.729566 -5.626370 H -0.409982 -2.554810 -6.000007 H 0.367423 -1.438490 -4.864503 C -0.219598 -5.455047 -4.319285 H 0.714416 -5.848767 -4.738658 H -0.526879 -6.061388 -3.450830 H -0.997025 -5.546412 -5.088501 C -1.751348 -3.201953 -3.021796 C -2.503772 -2.116631 -3.523326 C -2.423773 -4.175059 -2.234596 C -3.872606 -2.005848 -3.270526 H -2.025716 -1.363351 -4.142450 C -3.795401 -4.055433 -1.993538 H -1.894012 -5.070339 -1.870194 C -4.522450 -2.984838 -2.516558 H -4.429599 -1.169859 -3.684183 H -4.303747 -4.822001 -1.415340

Н	-5.590862	-2.911005	-2.331049
С	1.178870	-3.159806	-1.254926
С	1.333645	-3.595669	-2.505225
С	2.679465	-4.203814	-2.897345
Η	3.236786	-4.504934	-1.997480
Η	2.550519	-5.057844	-3.574524
Η	3.261141	-3.453763	-3.452706
С	1.662761	-3.133608	0.002595
F	1.203428	-4.080738	0.857120
F	3.500993	-4.881149	-0.130190
С	2.526518	-2.133281	0.676928
С	3.917565	-2.262721	0.536080
С	1.999991	-1.128669	1.496166
С	4.758858	-1.359504	1.186224
Η	4.275073	-3.137069	-0.003051
С	2.849884	-0.247282	2.164201
Η	0.926322	-1.026530	1.589045
С	4.231916	-0.353268	1.999166
Η	5.835536	-1.460891	1.076456
Η	2.439232	0.515525	2.816369
Η	4.893599	0.337950	2.514775
Si	-7.187739	-0.098526	-0.596804
Si	-7.046490	-4.637222	2.871739
Si	-2.669395	-7.976020	1.156770
Si	1.512956	-5.263969	4.108372
С	-8.208853	0.876890	0.663487
Η	-8.870975	1.598197	0.168917
Η	-8.834326	0.211451	1.270518
Η	-7.556207	1.432292	1.347949
С	-6.061824	1.070726	-1.558895
Η	-5.342304	1.571903	-0.900694
Η	-5.500851	0.518353	-2.319935
Η	-6.647139	1.844635	-2.069861
С	-8.339743	-1.000510	-1.797092
Η	-8.974416	-1.724236	-1.271830
Η	-8.998465	-0.299441	-2.324277
Η	-7.764681	-1.552378	-2.550626
С	-8.571342	-3.869413	3.688838
Η	-9.263196	-3.454554	2.945664
Η	-9.123659	-4.619806	4.267520
Η	-8.290848	-3.058743	4.371732
С	-7.572512	-6.031679	1.706681
Η	-8.227963	-5.660619	0.909649
Η	-6.699392	-6.493406	1.230395

Н -8.113159 -6.818261 2.247714 C -5.869718 -5.321692 4.184443 H -4.996336 -5.807203 3.732400 H -5.503332 -4.532761 4.852052 Н -6.377254 -6.073062 4.801561 C -3.557382 -8.757243 2.643717 H -4.322878 -8.083881 3.049261 Н -4.054209 -9.692373 2.355972 Н -2.856597 -8.987686 3.456081 C -3.866921 -7.519065 -0.219835 H -3.230988 -7.129750 -1.027431 H -4.407908 -8.401642 -0.582658 H -4.610531 -6.767822 0.074007 C -1.405598 -9.173100 0.426619 Н -0.539388 -9.347096 1.079019 H -1.856078 -10.147259 0.201477 H -1.100405 -8.691349 -0.510849 С 1.995159 -3.497993 4.585058 2.191606 -2.887039 3.696593 Η Η 1.214334 -3.003740 5.176850 Η 2.912229 -3.504499 5.186587 С 2.863188 -6.015797 3.014843 Η 3.816549 -6.017013 3.560845 Η 2.631965 -7.066494 2.789149 Η 3.024231 -5.481821 2.067128 С 1.311509 -6.329621 5.662300 Η 0.571073 -5.899741 6.347418 Н 0.976589 -7.342805 5.406766 Н 2.260403 -6.422283 6.205022 Cs 1.479439 -6.989988 -0.549831 F -1.144688 -6.675924 -1.515139 С 5.124281 -9.642722 0.606293 С 5.238001 -10.173755 -0.681370 С 5.245891 -9.336099 -1.805933 С 5.124151 -7.953473 -1.604056 С 5.003424 -7.408078 -0.321230 С 5.006489 -8.262217 0.788160 Η 5.125285 -10.310204 1.465312 Η 5.325697 -11.250143 -0.816272 Η 5.111894 -7.287735 -2.466309 4.809216 -6.340516 -0.197990 Η H 4.900051 -7.845812 1.786647 С 5.407819 -9.906713 -3.196854 H 4.887687 -9.297280 -3.944670

H 6.466320 -9.942278 -3.488358 H 5.018574 -10.928875 -3.262464

-5727.78488610
-5726.18993010
-5726.43405910
-5726.06848106
-5724.47352506
-5724.71765406
-5724.69137596

Cartesian coordinates

AT	OM X	Y Z	
Cu	-0.476983	-2.298053	0.027635
Fe	-2.744153	2.435872	-0.239980
Р	-2.371914	-2.070472	1.349278
Р	-0.041931	-0.069333	-0.240612
С	-1.705068	0.645343	-0.490613
С	-2.863860	0.421005	0.346762
С	-4.015977	0.804167	-0.404732
Η	-5.034769	0.779737	-0.044600
С	-3.596835	1.245222	-1.692417
Η	-4.239791	1.626404	-2.474641
С	-2.178170	1.153756	-1.749455
Η	-1.552435	1.427064	-2.587309
С	-3.821213	3.944281	0.682958
Η	-4.816721	3.817608	1.087725
С	-3.501639	4.312358	-0.658614
С	-1.519791	3.961877	0.472208
Η	-0.466415	3.851529	0.688608
С	-2.596230	3.727519	1.383317
Η	-2.506106	3.427193	2.419182
С	0.930057	0.694134	-1.594078
С	0.968712	0.045067	-2.838083
Η	0.458181	-0.906512	-2.976809
С	1.678801	0.616717	-3.896457
Η	1.711315	0.112969	-4.855754
С	2.366011	1.820007	-3.716936
С	2.337560	2.461980	-2.476700
Η	2.875467	3.394995	-2.330795
С	1.616509	1.904435	-1.420621
Η	1.599616	2.402059	-0.455685

С	0.704729	0.620390	1.293110
С	0.047812	1.488345	2.174254
Н	-0.938316	1.853652	1.923971
С	0.663585	1.894732	3.361487
Н	0.140077	2.568629	4.034787
С	1.946314	1.442980	3.677769
С	2.613323	0.586735	2.796414
Н	3.612803	0.227307	3.023600
С	1.997198	0.173997	1.616377
Н	2.522719	-0.496299	0.948193
С	-2.079518	4.319980	-0.789077
Н	-1.523681	4.519870	-1.695608
С	-2.863425	-0.266859	1.686296
Н	-4.213626	4.504083	-1.450773
С	-4.160179	-0.102507	2.482089
Η	-4.384445	0.962305	2.620098
Н	-5.006834	-0.569062	1.969007
Н	-4.065997	-0.568710	3.467806
Н	-2.034335	0.121499	2.281028
С	-3.888912	-2.736187	0.577333
С	-4.018742	-2.486722	-0.798006
С	-4.910075	-3.418626	1.248332
С	-5.133658	-2.919898	-1.526323
Н	-3.220048	-1.959238	-1.306878
С	-6.041664	-3.888248	0.559422
Н	-4.819915	-3.589388	2.316978
С	-6.124781	-3.625797	-0.820710
Η	-6.994012	-3.990319	-1.368641
С	-2.144616	-2.813428	3.002558
С	-2.342225	-4.187042	3.213721
С	-1.538709	-2.054793	4.016159
С	-1.997621	-4.795917	4.432561
Η	-2.755608	-4.788922	2.408295
С	-1.150590	-2.625684	5.236748
Η	-1.333292	-1.001889	3.843254
С	-1.410960	-3.993360	5.426819
Η	-1.136472	-4.451563	6.374864
Η	2.927577	2.251931	-4.540959
Η	2.421321	1.753311	4.604245
Si	2.405353	-4.113560	0.978397
С	1.460143	-3.397220	2.457980
Η	0.717781	-4.104317	2.845255
Н	2.156458	-3.153987	3.270577
Η	0.928797	-2.472420	2.208645

С	3.522210	-5.498213	1.633869
Η	2.927679	-6.286162	2.113382
Η	4.108025	-5.960359	0.831692
Η	4.225250	-5.114546	2.383210
С	3.496545	-2.744942	0.257102
С	4.578986	-2.234897	1.000172
С	3.209883	-2.139700	-0.980208
С	5.333058	-1.153783	0.539367
Η	4.833243	-2.679126	1.961187
С	3.963273	-1.059109	-1.449473
Η	2.368896	-2.501002	-1.566627
С	5.020932	-0.560284	-0.687392
Η	6.160680	-0.773904	1.134004
Η	3.710178	-0.594967	-2.397602
Η	5.598569	0.287540	-1.046791
С	0.128091	-4.084663	-0.645813
С	1.246335	-4.792176	-0.350008
С	1.657350	-6.104177	-1.005358
Η	0.890010	-6.513841	-1.661054
Η	2.561410	-5.957114	-1.613746
Η	1.916492	-6.855591	-0.247748
С	-0.994697	-4.541899	-1.425280
F	-1.647164	-3.546332	-2.082268
F	-0.450972	-5.342047	-2.883513
С	-1.941803	-5.564120	-0.895297
С	-1.578998	-6.406436	0.165042
С	-3.200762	-5.713394	-1.493838
С	-2.455552	-7.399337	0.599687
Η	-0.616862	-6.274817	0.645936
С	-4.082887	-6.688542	-1.038911
Η	-3.467267	-5.082700	-2.325966
С	-3.711185	-7.540322	0.003047
Η	-2.162091	-8.060162	1.408781
Η	-5.058291	-6.785257	-1.505900
Η	-4.395176	-8.309790	0.349921
В	-0.988865	-4.966386	-4.419288
0	-0.254060	-5.831794	-5.253635
0	-0.599743	-3.615215	-4.642749
С	0.849562	-5.070297	-5.765459
С	0.241496	-3.622553	-5.805485
С	2 0275 40	-5 181209	-4 781558
	2.02/540	-5.101207	1.701550
С	2.02/540 1.247467	-5.640553	-7.125481
C C	1.247467 1.258085	-5.640553 -2.491140	-7.125481 -5.687517

Н	2.245627	-6.241190	-4.616539
Η	2.929643	-4.695416	-5.171018
Η	1.770426	-4.737038	-3.817013
Η	2.011579	-5.015980	-7.603941
Η	1.660122	-6.646944	-6.996877
Η	0.384045	-5.714581	-7.790771
Η	1.996675	-2.535553	-6.496747
Η	0.732835	-1.532522	-5.757837
Η	1.781865	-2.525615	-4.728667
Η	-1.229237	-2.475968	-6.882238
Η	-0.071397	-3.296140	-7.957603
Η	-1.360123	-4.222759	-7.149745
Si	-5.274261	-2.590774	-3.392746
Si	-7.382518	-4.866887	1.463516
Si	-2.254886	-6.652520	4.684259
Si	-0.207078	-1.589915	6.506500
С	-3.688532	-1.810924	-4.050876
Η	-3.386980	-0.933754	-3.466166
Η	-2.855096	-2.521512	-4.062922
Η	-3.847720	-1.477928	-5.084923
С	-5.606333	-4.229239	-4.277014
Η	-5.968799	-4.052656	-5.297451
Η	-4.681489	-4.811039	-4.353196
Η	-6.359843	-4.834400	-3.757820
С	-6.738005	-1.408270	-3.636092
Η	-6.555551	-0.453986	-3.126075
Η	-6.905112	-1.195440	-4.699274
Η	-7.665412	-1.829634	-3.229059
С	-9.080290	-4.311404	0.838921
Η	-9.186161	-4.475583	-0.240216
Η	-9.883427	-4.868323	1.336919
Η	-9.242708	-3.243904	1.029165
С	-7.157537	-6.717434	1.137491
Η	-7.184037	-6.939954	0.064210
Η	-6.191504	-7.060583	1.523854
Η	-7.946774	-7.304271	1.623626
С	-7.234960	-4.544672	3.322782
Η	-6.278684	-4.907812	3.717924
Η	-7.309318	-3.475866	3.555887
Η	-8.032998	-5.062666	3.868414
С	-0.785723	-7.560089	3.904898
Η	-0.595535	-7.203594	2.887066
Η	0.123903	-7.376988	4.489970
Η	-0.944450	-8.644719	3.863241

С	-3.894500	-7.155175	3.884788
Η	-4.735154	-6.693305	4.416723
Η	-3.949440	-6.847222	2.835707
Η	-4.036636	-8.242498	3.918585
С	-2.315091	-7.039351	6.535271
Η	-3.113070	-6.478660	7.036239
Η	-2.505630	-8.107377	6.697292
Η	-1.369743	-6.797051	7.035283
С	1.620758	-1.570991	6.017292
Η	1.745657	-1.144970	5.015340
Η	2.219113	-0.973874	6.717065
Η	2.032493	-2.587171	6.001247
С	-0.882430	0.178277	6.486417
Η	-1.955135	0.201951	6.711668
Η	-0.368608	0.799021	7.230838
Η	-0.729627	0.647808	5.507734
С	-0.415755	-2.350763	8.225538
Η	0.000024	-3.364341	8.273851
Η	0.103664	-1.748249	8.980643
Η	-1.472275	-2.409000	8.512752
F	-2.338426	-5.216392	-4.300588

## TS-6

-5608.21474450
-5606.67551250
-5606.92506450
-5606.49857692
-5604.95934492
-5605.20889692
-5605.17993942

Cartesian coordinates

Y Ζ ATOM X Cu -0.905517 -2.618130 -1.106222 Fe -1.465880 2.010774 1.349361 P -1.906277 -2.751401 0.989666 P -0.187946 -0.415872 -1.240071 C -1.439019 0.526140 -0.161892 C -1.972116 0.014655 1.089004 C -3.126969 0.788418 1.433346 Н -3.729602 0.662117 2.322142 C -3.305984 1.795199 0.445274 H -4.058685 2.573494 0.456519

C -2.263409 1.648972 -0.515195 H -2.105397 2.297040 -1.364384 C -0.706032 2.424491 3.244224 H -0.835681 1.797712 4.115903 C -1.590175 3.463606 2.825065 1.299881 C 0.136306 3.332361 H 0.750309 3.508101 0.429392 С 0.357966 2.335995 2.299368 H 1.168765 1.621672 2.313731 C -0.227658 0.619608 -2.767452 C -1.456522 0.910652 -3.379048 H -2.383700 0.588491 -2.918808 C -1.511266 1.601802 -4.591576 H -2.476847 1.803803 -5.048142 C -0.335560 2.022183 -5.212368 С 1.723516 -4.621008 0.894780 Η 1.819265 2.022047 -5.108944 С 0.949741 1.015088 -3.422181 1.904838 0.712726 -3.013699 Η С 1.348187 -0.065431 -0.282306 С 2.019145 1.160827 -0.336693 1.634556 Η 1.956596 -0.965048 С 3.182657 1.371890 0.408434 Η 3.690636 2.331238 0.349976 С 3.678214 0.367969 1.243752 С 3.013214 -0.861203 1.308372 Η 3.389436 -1.652652 1.952273 0.537896 С 1.869873 -1.078161 1.390587 -2.052390 0.542718 Η C -1.065340 4.027950 1.623747 H -1.523443 4.812969 1.035940 C -1.454672 -1.150673 1.897596 Н -2.515782 3.746000 3.310125 C -1.898919 -1.139906 3.364575 H -1.590436 -0.204049 3.838113 Н -2.986056 -1.219706 3.458565 Н -1.449989 -1.974320 3.910944 Н -0.360669 -1.132850 1.867332 C -3.732861 -2.715033 0.978679 C -4.325960 -2.300142 -0.220953 C -4.556479 -2.975688 2.084936 C -5.714418 -2.124722 -0.341767 Н -3.675479 -2.084938 -1.067232 C -5.952151 -2.864861 2.001685

Η	-4.100710	-3.272533	3.023421
С	-6.502241	-2.426914	0.781082
Η	-7.582810	-2.308321	0.707932
С	-1.340059	-4.069890	2.130733
С	-2.146438	-5.120047	2.590194
С	0.034739	-4.113361	2.407941
С	-1.617545	-6.173317	3.351783
Η	-3.198856	-5.132539	2.332919
С	0.627527	-5.199932	3.065660
Η	0.668493	-3.311478	2.042212
С	-0.226188	-6.205617	3.550291
Η	0.208431	-7.054306	4.075280
Η	-0.374700	2.560360	-6.155641
Η	4.570342	0.540775	1.839691
Si	-1.308239	-3.651747	-4.861421
С	-2.339166	-4.839546	-5.915575
Η	-3.127324	-5.300679	-5.307848
Η	-2.823784	-4.316725	-6.749094
Η	-1.726584	-5.646387	-6.333179
С	-2.436267	-2.369518	-4.072239
Η	-3.139840	-2.863761	-3.390636
Η	-1.848106	-1.653453	-3.494141
Η	-3.010559	-1.810801	-4.819789
С	0.065847	-2.896970	-5.917114
С	0.254570	-3.252854	-7.264872
С	0.997630	-2.019469	-5.325354
С	1.334118	-2.756571	-8.002528
Η	-0.443961	-3.930177	-7.751559
С	2.073449	-1.520622	-6.063759
Η	0.918486	-1.746579	-4.272831
С	2.247323	-1.886686	-7.401550
Η	1.459472	-3.045768	-9.043447
Η	2.773524	-0.835992	-5.589343
Η	3.086113	-1.496382	-7.973642
С	-0.345828	-4.316003	-2.242941
С	-0.423156	-4.655986	-3.537168
С	0.315167	-5.892880	-4.029914
Η	1.039065	-6.234996	-3.279903
Η	-0.413131	-6.695898	-4.217429
Η	0.816067	-5.692432	-4.985232
С	0.005991	-4.968164	-1.092791
F	0.867487	-4.361009	-0.228122
F	2.019940	-6.131222	-1.509705
С	-0.752130	-6.099825	-0.537358

С	-0.076328	-7.163503	0.077568
С	-2.144883	-6.157048	-0.708430
С	-0.797663	-8.274827	0.509243
Η	1.005538	-7.124962	0.098597
С	-2.855969	-7.273578	-0.275463
Η	-2.657543	-5.316234	-1.165904
С	-2.182710	-8.336835	0.332857
Η	-0.271343	-9.105873	0.971226
Η	-3.934199	-7.310426	-0.406754
Η	-2.737012	-9.209987	0.667247
Si	-6.431340	-1.466012	-1.964563
Si	-7.050148	-3.330235	3.469304
Si	-2.765489	-7.456034	4.128395
Si	2.514220	-5.339380	3.132918
С	-8.143382	-0.733566	-1.633046
Η	-8.563573	-0.303877	-2.550453
Η	-8.848952	-1.492633	-1.274049
Η	-8.097139	0.063219	-0.881255
С	-5.250477	-0.142820	-2.621994
Η	-4.995456	0.588602	-1.846221
Η	-4.316763	-0.601536	-2.965505
Η	-5.686204	0.393647	-3.473894
С	-6.561221	-2.874219	-3.223248
Η	-7.224985	-3.670327	-2.865570
Η	-6.953518	-2.513096	-4.182196
Η	-5.576991	-3.318880	-3.413552
С	-8.271302	-1.924417	3.803072
Η	-8.879368	-1.705802	2.916837
Η	-8.956546	-2.179512	4.620665
Η	-7.745628	-1.002710	4.079374
С	-7.993504	-4.914624	3.042845
Η	-8.604531	-4.782446	2.141800
Η	-7.300852	-5.743948	2.855441
Η	-8.661906	-5.212763	3.860085
С	-5.962010	-3.629570	4.988646
Η	-5.276697	-4.472585	4.837139
Η	-5.357595	-2.748568	5.235848
Η	-6.580154	-3.864402	5.863455
С	-3.041977	-6.985930	5.943747
Η	-3.505839	-5.995017	6.024841
Η	-3.699325	-7.706141	6.446927
Η	-2.094464	-6.953686	6.494873
С	-4.435777	-7.434373	3.237263
Η	-4.314891	-7.595306	2.161279
Η	-5.095160	-8.217800	3.630027
--------	----------------------------------	------------------------	------------------------
Η	-4.948965	-6.474792	3.375718
С	-1.978208	-9.173474	4.042122
Η	-1.009822	-9.194685	4.556548
Η	-2.620350	-9.924724	4.517881
Η	-1.808968	-9.476340	3.003931
С	3.186872	-4.088211	4.389126
Η	2.882722	-3.067937	4.121428
Η	2.810119	-4.289703	5.398893
Η	4.283314	-4.109675	4.427353
С	3.273396	-4.936239	1.444382
Η	4.359443	-5.096251	1.498422
Η	2.870189	-5.523711	0.609216
Η	3.110683	-3.876498	1.209507
С	2.976275	-7.100697	3.642481
Η	2.609488	-7.349774	4.645514
Η	2.559414	-7.832215	2.939952
Η	4.065514	-7.228007	3.647596
Cs	3.247374	-3.598703	-2.341317
F	1.355424	-1.488864	-2.362800
С	6.055700	-4.704064	-4.893228
С	5.777100	-5.796020	-4.061322
С	4.583771	-6.523907	-4.193697
С	3.693151	-6.140888	-5.212106
С	3.952530	-5.041207	-6.032268
С	5.136657	-4.312244	-5.871062
Η	6.992140	-4.162648	-4.776617
Η	6.494290	-6.087473	-3.296039
Η	2.771482	-6.700843	-5.337146
Η	3.227229	-4.738916	-6.783306
Η	5.339525	-3.455422	-6.508089
С	1 206011	7617222	-3 224072
	4.200044	-/.01/222	-3.224072
Η	4.208044 3.773389	-8.478427	-3.747249
H H	4.208044 3.773389 5.075124	-8.478427 -7.966913	-3.747249 -2.655038

TS-6-FBpin	
B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5727.78736478
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5726.19244278
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5726.43569278
M06 SCF energy (au):	-5726.07236241
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5724.47744041
M06 free energy (au):	-5724.72069041

M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au): -5724.69534863

Cartesian coordinates Ζ ATOM X Y Cu -0.306423 -1.564410 -0.469739 Fe -3.616197 2.272255 0.674617 P -2.184889 -2.314754 0.699037 P -0.325741 0.621447 0.234301 C -2.091824 1.013204 0.012781 C -3.174069 0.224054 0.556417 C -4.349695 0.533037 -0.191101 H -5.334013 0.124472 -0.010417 C -4.013044 1.488140 -1.194086 H -4.701583 1.942280 -1.894392 C -2.627651 1.789805 -1.071060 Н -2.065577 2.485865 -1.678160 C -5.116772 2.990977 1.906334 H -6.028761 2.451582 2.125884 C -4.910569 3.878006 0.807299 C -2.930856 3.737180 1.986589 H -1.897947 3.866699 2.278863 C -3.893265 2.902931 2.636550 Н -3.727049 2.298259 3.518674 C 0.531655 1.921895 -0.726476 С 0.777950 1.655209 -2.081303 H 0.473863 0.703955 -2.506657 С 1.436528 2.592410 -2.877795 H 1.631087 2.362320 -3.921249 С 1.861435 3.801479 -2.319368 С 1.622098 4.071208 -0.968088 H 1.957696 5.008671 -0.532545 C 0.957038 3.136574 -0.172063 H 0.784521 3.342065 0.880621 C 0.176755 0.889949 1.980822 C -0.699209 1.317578 2.986967 H -1.716683 1.575403 2.727365 C -0.268189 1.404832 4.313524 H -0.961339 1.734176 5.083398 C 1.045764 1.071467 4.647952 1.927080 С 0.648347 3.648282 H 2.951534 0.382049 3.892286 С 1.496331 0.547856 2.326247 H 2.186771 0.199996 1.567607 C -3.558905 4.336443 0.855684

Η	-3.082748	4.991978	0.138570
С	-3.017073	-0.854124	1.592460
Η	-5.637664	4.122202	0.043835
С	-4.301754	-1.199196	2.348668
Η	-4.692522	-0.300710	2.841454
Η	-5.074012	-1.587278	1.678617
Η	-4.108031	-1.959308	3.112153
Η	-2.264526	-0.531364	2.316097
С	-3.589789	-3.046903	-0.207271
С	-3.829825	-2.570912	-1.503666
С	-4.482524	-3.961935	0.366055
С	-4.965134	-2.961096	-2.226648
Η	-3.111344	-1.893479	-1.949197
С	-5.610125	-4.415084	-0.337879
Η	-4.285775	-4.333754	1.368894
С	-5.832433	-3.886384	-1.621670
Η	-6.708625	-4.220404	-2.176345
С	-1.752918	-3.488728	2.034704
С	-1.581253	-4.845945	1.720933
С	-1.352927	-3.032982	3.298477
С	-1.010589	-5.746968	2.633397
Η	-1.871028	-5.192686	0.732724
С	-0.793840	-3.899109	4.251304
Η	-1.446300	-1.977970	3.540773
С	-0.637421	-5.249367	3.894701
Η	-0.191372	-5.932808	4.614784
Η	2.385027	4.529730	-2.932974
Η	1.378643	1.132255	5.680328
Si	2.789657	-3.148446	0.063015
С	1.667531	-3.226515	1.578928
Η	1.041374	-4.122275	1.590282
Η	2.287636	-3.232710	2.484540
Η	1.008059	-2.355740	1.656202
С	4.060220	-4.544455	0.225167
Η	3.555466	-5.518609	0.212854
Η	4.795144	-4.536814	-0.586938
Η	4.607282	-4.470392	1.172861
С	3.678902	-1.471359	0.160627
С	4.672787	-1.251759	1.133844
С	3.301801	-0.374242	-0.634891
С	5.258832	0.004643	1.306824
Η	4.993623	-2.070542	1.775409
С	3.889356	0.884162	-0.477596
Η	2.505513	-0.493483	-1.359795

С	4.868497	1.076538	0.498336
Η	6.021576	0.147298	2.068853
Η	3.562590	1.711862	-1.100452
Η	5.321877	2.055347	0.633149
С	0.803144	-2.515563	-1.839777
С	1.907851	-3.271643	-1.611093
С	2.568345	-4.181714	-2.637125
Η	2.094258	-4.132600	-3.617046
Η	3.635550	-3.940172	-2.744963
Η	2.528665	-5.226463	-2.298812
С	0.228320	-2.212164	-3.122994
F	-1.093193	-1.897710	-3.074375
F	0.012743	-3.701638	-4.081818
С	0.917946	-1.377113	-4.146738
С	2.284165	-1.079692	-4.053141
С	0.174463	-0.876026	-5.229363
С	2.894511	-0.269210	-5.009386
Η	2.863929	-1.466993	-3.226133
С	0.789454	-0.067656	-6.181790
Η	-0.864827	-1.158123	-5.336647
С	2.148178	0.245691	-6.071655
Η	3.952066	-0.037974	-4.918455
Η	0.208608	0.311195	-7.018049
Η	2.623711	0.879326	-6.815827
В	-1.452293	-4.308984	-4.569699
0	-2.225211	-4.530143	-3.404152
0	-1.098194	-5.540016	-5.164801
С	-2.009585	-5.893535	-3.021771
С	-1.726353	-6.586108	-4.409678
С	-0.795339	-5.947950	-2.079488
С	-3.251571	-6.402274	-2.292344
С	-0.782164	-7.786715	-4.341691
С	-3.017025	-6.977784	-5.146005
Η	-0.955898	-5.240502	-1.260388
Η	-0.649182	-6.950922	-1.663921
Η	0.114041	-5.640498	-2.597010
Η	-3.173931	-7.477495	-2.089967
Η	-3.363567	-5.876181	-1.339777
Η	-4.156632	-6.215542	-2.873997
Η	-1.191799	-8.572234	-3.694733
Η	-0.645799	-8.206142	-5.344277
Η	0.200822	-7.495683	-3.964022
Η	-2.764348	-7.244750	-6.177073
Η	-3.516293	-7.832950	-4.675700

Н	-3.713782	-6.135889	-5.175570
Si	-5.326198	-2.253337	-3.945379
Si	-6.728428	-5.716111	0.447613
Si	-0.567153	-7.500714	2.075084
Si	-0.142641	-3.217416	5.890177
С	-4.048202	-0.926224	-4.349328
Η	-3.993916	-0.153216	-3.573269
Η	-3.065556	-1.395423	-4.445068
Η	-4.285080	-0.437188	-5.302297
С	-7.064205	-1.491811	-3.867188
Η	-7.357459	-1.073728	-4.838237
Η	-7.816982	-2.239229	-3.587151
Η	-7.108075	-0.684099	-3.125836
С	-5.278401	-3.621346	-5.243622
Η	-5.737926	-3.295570	-6.185153
Η	-4.235025	-3.882084	-5.442045
Η	-5.804336	-4.522054	-4.904904
С	-7.966837	-6.348272	-0.832910
Η	-7.453707	-6.765101	-1.707685
Η	-8.597483	-7.138406	-0.407853
Η	-8.630540	-5.548957	-1.183936
С	-7.641345	-4.950184	1.920320
Η	-6.931561	-4.542261	2.650619
Η	-8.293226	-4.129649	1.597326
Η	-8.263439	-5.691323	2.437317
С	-5.629343	-7.130963	1.057709
Η	-5.083158	-7.587335	0.224241
Η	-4.883715	-6.767001	1.775124
Η	-6.214954	-7.915321	1.552703
С	1.017620	-7.359726	1.046740
Η	0.869256	-6.678315	0.201165
Η	1.839172	-6.961155	1.654568
Η	1.332516	-8.331046	0.645906
С	-1.967704	-8.216525	1.029928
Η	-1.688328	-9.197229	0.625298
Η	-2.882428	-8.343826	1.619752
Η	-2.209669	-7.568436	0.181345
С	-0.259560	-8.591156	3.590235
Η	-1.140117	-8.630167	4.242521
Η	-0.027069	-9.617916	3.282536
Η	0.585810	-8.229944	4.188064
С	1.650980	-2.671515	5.629913
Η	2.276346	-3.516889	5.318522
Η	1.706871	-1.907760	4.845998

Η	2.083333	-2.250269	6.546305
С	-1.189611	-1.727433	6.405200
Η	-1.106458	-0.912069	5.677442
Η	-2.248956	-1.994178	6.499251
Η	-0.855060	-1.336015	7.373937
С	-0.227284	-4.564001	7.215911
Η	0.386338	-5.433609	6.951812
Η	0.139551	-4.184728	8.177543
Η	-1.255542	-4.914343	7.364180
F	-1.902562	-3.290892	-5.388649

TS-3a

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5216.56316685
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5215.16669585
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5215.38527085
M06 SCF energy (au):	-5215.02253705
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5213.62606605
M06 free energy (au):	-5213.84464105
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-5213.82350120

Cartesian coordinates

Ζ ATOM X Y Cu 0.119388 0.674297 0.690157 Fe -2.666840 1.236925 4.097872 P -1.113706 -1.214821 1.110611 P -1.346191 2.391070 1.123210 C -2.764802 1.805313 2.106446 C -3.220037 0.433886 2.242239 C -4.332942 0.455196 3.143241 Н -4.880436 -0.422732 3.463909 C -4.581797 1.796147 3.553294 H -5.328008 2.116589 4.269157 C -3.617554 2.627497 2.921842 H -3.496212 3.691119 3.072509 C -1.503041 -0.036751 5.262537 Н -1.353990 -1.084792 5.068380 C -2.561397 0.514327 6.040503 C -1.276163 2.257679 5.242289 Н -0.931055 3.253623 5.005315 C -0.707938 1.037780 4.759859 H 0.139130 0.948959 4.090436 C -2.116128 3.183573 -0.347871 C -3.446862 2.965430 -0.725228

Н	-4.095852	2.367128	-0.093483
С	-3.946638	3.519944	-1.907342
Η	-4.980699	3.339814	-2.189767
С	-3.127772	4.308485	-2.716032
С	-1.801566	4.544553	-2.337975
Η	-1.158349	5.161199	-2.960425
С	-1.298386	3.980787	-1.167604
Η	-0.264154	4.157654	-0.882979
С	-0.733702	3.860187	2.052244
С	-1.411823	5.090859	2.042369
Η	-2.313274	5.210589	1.447894
С	-0.923974	6.168730	2.781295
Η	-1.456818	7.116205	2.770257
С	0.251161	6.031687	3.527815
С	0.936969	4.816252	3.526149
Η	1.863926	4.707536	4.081490
С	0.450791	3.732080	2.791010
Η	0.986307	2.787781	2.780422
С	-2.420346	1.934761	6.030452
Η	-3.093673	2.645274	6.493182
С	-2.946297	-0.790608	1.386074
Η	-3.356112	-0.044858	6.517978
С	-3.727686	-0.619326	0.063662
Η	-4.735120	-0.251553	0.287944
Η	-3.249864	0.110192	-0.599041
Η	-3.825062	-1.566689	-0.470322
Η	-3.383103	-1.644554	1.914643
С	-1.163064	-2.690155	-0.025773
С	-0.638746	-3.922422	0.399781
С	-1.665132	-2.611865	-1.336845
С	-0.669817	-5.069495	-0.404808
Η	-0.187250	-3.992112	1.380221
С	-1.764694	-3.745581	-2.162892
Η	-1.987720	-1.653745	-1.727706
С	-1.265143	-4.961641	-1.670598
Η	-1.318774	-5.846294	-2.303742
С	-0.653352	-2.033083	2.692771
С	-1.472097	-3.000003	3.293289
С	0.592326	-1.742882	3.265357
С	-1.075113	-3.687163	4.450698
Η	-2.427280	-3.246575	2.834511
С	1.022014	-2.387279	4.440269
Η	1.200419	-0.965139	2.813340
С	0.177777	-3.360453	5.001599

Η	0.497089	-3.874627	5.907064	
Η	-3.518472	4.740492	-3.633321	
Η	0.633394	6.874582	4.098137	
Si	0.064293	-6.697399	0.209159	
Si	-2.630464	-3.695950	-3.843019	
Si	-2.245685	-4.958639	5.208361	
Si	2.605148	-1.847932	5.330944	
С	0.988184	-6.387802	1.831170	
Η	0.327453	-5.981980	2.606307	
Η	1.421735	-7.318840	2.216076	
Η	1.807212	-5.671497	1.693312	
С	1.257801	-7.358110	-1.105088	
Η	1.643249	-8.348883	-0.835175	
Η	0.761945	-7.446387	-2.079438	
Η	2.115226	-6.686745	-1.231305	
С	-1.326857	-7.952982	0.479645	
Η	-1.898639	-8.113785	-0.442452	
Η	-0.930085	-8.924427	0.800134	
Η	-2.025378	-7.604479	1.249090	
С	-1.880317	-5.010375	-4.976832	
Η	-2.052321	-6.025156	-4.598565	
Η	-2.322520	-4.954829	-5.979135	
Η	-0.799271	-4.863454	-5.070858	
С	-2.468260	-1.989824	-4.635203	
Η	-2.969928	-1.219325	-4.038482	
Η	-1.415301	-1.709867	-4.739392	
Η	-2.925947	-1.983870	-5.632107	
С	-4.468468	-4.072957	-3.567494	
Η	-4.927396	-3.325282	-2.908705	
Η	-5.023239	-4.071163	-4.514212	
Η	-4.605246	-5.055168	-3.099320	
С	-3.854839	-4.065257	5.655585	
Η	-3.667840	-3.278284	6.396374	
Η	-4.292207	-3.586586	4.770454	
Η	-4.603599	-4.751225	6.070095	
С	-1.460915	-5.720847	6.748976	
Η	-2.126905	-6.468519	7.196218	
Η	-0.514336	-6.220262	6.510000	
Η	-1.255143	-4.960834	7.512179	
С	-2.599608	-6.296939	3.916114	
Η	-1.693904	-6.872015	3.691205	
Η	-3.368937	-6.999891	4.258197	
Η	-2.946469	-5.851051	2.975658	
С	3.678397	-0.820004	4.173358	

Η	4.050168	-1.413074	3.329760
Η	3.103247	0.011127	3.752964
Η	4.545743	-0.416003	4.711271
С	2.077011	-0.804569	6.820594
Η	1.490295	0.061065	6.491194
Η	1.448536	-1.384953	7.507265
Η	2.943655	-0.437882	7.384842
С	3.529162	-3.390635	5.928462
Η	3.837666	-4.018082	5.083745
Η	4.431647	-3.113946	6.487476
Η	2.907762	-4.005685	6.590928
Si	1.037580	0.368063	-2.999702
С	-0.767064	0.763756	-2.627700
Η	-0.939131	1.842799	-2.670784
Η	-1.424974	0.283827	-3.358111
Η	-1.054664	0.428118	-1.627457
С	1.481244	1.210531	-4.640333
Η	1.396086	2.300391	-4.545904
Η	2.503666	0.978475	-4.958453
Η	0.801410	0.899240	-5.442979
С	1.339578	-1.494182	-3.182077
С	1.324322	-2.140022	-4.431131
С	1.635986	-2.274746	-2.048231
С	1.584893	-3.508804	-4.546308
Η	1.117575	-1.569473	-5.334514
С	1.899198	-3.640059	-2.156747
Η	1.664698	-1.803438	-1.069240
С	1.870872	-4.262818	-3.406177
Η	1.573704	-3.982818	-5.525166
Η	2.116789	-4.218441	-1.263910
Η	2.069691	-5.328280	-3.489119
С	1.869294	0.942146	-0.340540
С	2.221512	0.928511	-1.645437
С	3.649470	1.198037	-2.111161
Η	4.329966	1.422771	-1.282835
Η	4.054305	0.327426	-2.646564
Η	3.686016	2.039785	-2.816232
С	2.738436	1.213879	0.733367
F	1.591215	0.958255	2.352038
F	3.544730	0.214820	1.132593
С	3.197697	2.550050	1.137877
С	4.086933	2.700916	2.213318
С	2.775991	3.678516	0.419394
С	4.546468	3.968013	2.560625

Η	4.396342	1.824180	2.770611
С	3.241117	4.943672	0.769485
Η	2.086921	3.547277	-0.408020
С	4.124679	5.091803	1.840820
Η	5.233259	4.082588	3.394903
Η	2.905458	5.814802	0.214193
Η	4.481711	6.079911	2.118489

TS-4a

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5216.56612862
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5215.16962962
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5215.38947762
M06 SCF energy (au):	-5215.02469261
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5213.62819361
M06 free energy (au):	-5213.84804161
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-5213.82619999

ΑΊ	'OM X	Y Z	
Cu	0.132901	0.659418	8 0.804334
Fe	-2.629262	1.467005	5 4.137142
Р	-1.167110	-1.132363	1.292228
Р	-1.214905	2.460997	1.172870
С	-2.687191	1.981667	2.134899
С	-3.207516	0.634298	2.303644
С	-4.325175	0.731954	3.193204
Η	-4.914567	-0.110729	3.533348
С	-4.516511	2.093275	3.563529
Η	-5.253529	2.466987	4.262850
С	-3.511525	2.862671	2.917520
Η	-3.345722	3.923205	3.043278
С	-1.552774	0.175681	5.361967
Η	-1.479517	-0.889792	5.219611
С	-2.565056	0.837890	6.114376
С	-1.166673	2.446413	5.228459
Η	-0.753201	3.402648	4.941775
С	-0.687134	1.168201	4.805557
Η	0.152408	0.995916	4.143220
С	-1.889797	3.299493	-0.314759
С	-3.233434	3.214991	-0.699624
Η	-3.947768	2.706092	-0.059333
С	-3.657702	3.779627	-1.906446
Η	-4.702256	3.704069	-2.197452

C -2.747563 4.440514 -2.732166 C -1.405632 4.539144 -2.347433 H -0.691377 5.052058 -2.986160 C -0.977596 3.967227 -1.151442 H 0.070998 4.019543 -0.869375 C -0.470773 3.874892 2.085610 C -1.089387 5.134299 2.151334 H -2.021136 5.310485 1.620618 C -0.501574 6.169617 2.877500 H -0.988975 7.139942 2.927640 С 0.718356 5.961281 3.529823 С 1.351132 4.719991 3.441342 H 2.306620 4.557852 3.933270 С 0.764915 3.675911 2.719752 H 1.254090 2.706897 2.653819 C -2.326305 2.242760 6.033110 H -2.946666 3.020095 6.461079 C -2.984952 -0.631974 1.488911 H -3.393584 0.360324 6.621821 C -3.730622 -0.460843 0.146841 Н -4.727397 -0.050216 0.342540 H -3.212341 0.234007 -0.521815 H -3.857883 -1.416798 -0.365668 Н -3.473873 -1.443951 2.037810 C -1.095744 -2.627916 0.182018 C -0.318181 -3.718873 0.616595 C -1.654530 -2.701460 -1.104679 C -0.148351 -4.877135 -0.151189 Н 0.161714 -3.669175 1.585061 C -1.536743 -3.855652 -1.902487 H -2.183056 -1.847322 -1.509504 C -0.789025 -4.931269 -1.400146 H -0.685611 -5.829480 -2.007130 C -0.804188 -1.955365 2.895523 C -1.655509 -2.938050 3.419551 C 0.420721 -1.701360 3.525474 C -1.310906 -3.674551 4.562679 H -2.585588 -3.166488 2.902527 С 0.790254 -2.385846 4.698278 Η 1.069239 -0.939177 3.103469 C -0.086054 -3.369829 5.186003 H 0.191825 -3.922641 6.082021 Н -3.078857 4.877174 -3.670382 1.177438 6.769726 4.093094 Η

Si	0.882876	-6.313760	0.514044
Si	-2.403973	-3.984343	-3.580507
Si	-2.450686	-5.063085	5.143146
Si	2.347401	-1.899671	5.662212
С	1.418677	-5.933285	2.289650
Η	0.551188	-5.737579	2.930726
Η	1.964833	-6.783781	2.715801
Η	2.070363	-5.054919	2.357617
С	2.394600	-6.550736	-0.604077
Η	3.020196	-7.385998	-0.265950
Η	2.086350	-6.761986	-1.635614
Η	3.020623	-5.650498	-0.628092
С	-0.174627	-7.882805	0.496057
Η	-0.559011	-8.094346	-0.509108
Η	0.400972	-8.757186	0.823913
Η	-1.035983	-7.775356	1.166271
С	-1.532571	-5.282395	-4.642798
Η	-1.567622	-6.281405	-4.192058
Η	-2.009725	-5.350647	-5.628158
Η	-0.482206	-5.010864	-4.794490
С	-2.375321	-2.315608	-4.461770
Η	-2.942030	-1.557488	-3.908860
Η	-1.348030	-1.955817	-4.582026
Η	-2.826883	-2.400787	-5.457981
С	-4.202851	-4.503193	-3.281004
Η	-4.723930	-3.768345	-2.654822
Η	-4.755006	-4.589624	-4.225251
Η	-4.256921	-5.471806	-2.769678
С	-4.196919	-4.361782	5.351042
Η	-4.215801	-3.583261	6.123204
Η	-4.554236	-3.910375	4.417178
Η	-4.913353	-5.140947	5.638543
С	-1.823199	-5.770155	6.779542
Η	-2.479931	-6.573973	7.133415
Η	-0.815095	-6.188950	6.675411
Η	-1.787126	-5.001410	7.560668
С	-2.462026	-6.406653	3.806525
Η	-1.473023	-6.870532	3.710734
Η	-3.185742	-7.199747	4.031021
Η	-2.720072	-5.980756	2.828943
С	3.535288	-0.968237	4.540363
Η	3.953954	-1.633820	3.778140
Η	3.040170	-0.145781	4.012971
Η	4.371091	-0.555676	5.119534

C1.792930-0.8049367.104599H1.2702510.0831626.730444H1.100398-1.3400817.765933H2.646707-0.4716207.707770C3.160228-3.4769966.329187H3.452617-4.1433845.508623H4.063262-3.2376506.904270H2.488579-4.0373086.991081Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.628840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.78357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H1.8306591.				
H1.2702510.0831626.730444H1.100398-1.3400817.765933H2.646707-0.4716207.70770C3.160228-3.4769966.329187H3.452617-4.1433845.508623H4.063262-3.2376506.904270H2.488579-4.0373086.991081Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.628840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H1.830659	С	1.792930	-0.804936	7.104599
H1.100398-1.3400817.765933H2.646707-0.4716207.707770C3.160228-3.4769966.329187H3.452617-4.1433845.508623H4.063262-3.2376506.904270H2.488579-4.0373086.991081Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.460901 <t< td=""><td>Η</td><td>1.270251</td><td>0.083162</td><td>6.730444</td></t<>	Η	1.270251	0.083162	6.730444
H2.646707-0.4716207.707770C3.160228-3.4769966.329187H3.452617-4.1433845.508623H4.063262-3.2376506.904270H2.488579-4.0373086.991081Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.628840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.731779	Η	1.100398	-1.340081	7.765933
C3.160228-3.4769966.329187H3.452617-4.1433845.508623H4.063262-3.2376506.904270H2.488579-4.0373086.991081Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.43701-2.932112H3.5355172	Η	2.646707	-0.471620	7.707770
H3.452617-4.1433845.508623H4.063262-3.2376506.904270H2.488579-4.0373086.991081Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.43701-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.771618	С	3.160228	-3.476996	6.329187
H4.063262-3.2376506.904270H2.488579-4.0373086.991081Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6693462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.771618 <t< td=""><td>Η</td><td>3.452617</td><td>-4.143384</td><td>5.508623</td></t<>	Η	3.452617	-4.143384	5.508623
H2.488579-4.0373086.991081Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6693462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.699624 <td< td=""><td>Η</td><td>4.063262</td><td>-3.237650</td><td>6.904270</td></td<>	Η	4.063262	-3.237650	6.904270
Si0.7735960.689740-3.026762C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021	Η	2.488579	-4.037308	6.991081
C-1.0177170.659842-2.451709H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.	Si	0.773596	0.689740	-3.026762
H-1.4248311.666144-2.345155H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.	С	-1.017717	0.659842	-2.451709
H-1.6288840.111524-3.174735H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6	Η	-1.424831	1.666144	-2.345155
H-1.0947380.157982-1.483968C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.501	Η	-1.628884	0.111524	-3.174735
C0.9487331.954004-4.426600H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.63870	Η	-1.094738	0.157982	-1.483968
H0.6963462.955050-4.056454H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220	С	0.948733	1.954004	-4.426600
H1.9664291.986742-4.831439H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081	Η	0.696346	2.955050	-4.056454
H0.2635501.728304-5.252989C1.231827-1.032948-3.679962C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Η	1.966429	1.986742	-4.831439
<ul> <li>C 1.231827 -1.032948 -3.679962</li> <li>C 1.380878 -1.321882 -5.048290</li> <li>C 1.439024 -2.083524 -2.765958</li> <li>C 1.720760 -2.604479 -5.488029</li> <li>H 1.233714 -0.536059 -5.786251</li> <li>C 1.783357 -3.365607 -3.195304</li> <li>H 1.332649 -1.895600 -1.701620</li> <li>C 1.926734 -3.628602 -4.560252</li> <li>H 1.830659 -2.803036 -6.551521</li> <li>H 1.930484 -4.157063 -2.466220</li> <li>H 2.199648 -4.625321 -4.898871</li> <li>C 1.798305 0.865386 -0.353266</li> <li>C 2.047365 1.008609 -1.673557</li> <li>C 3.460901 1.220535 -2.210616</li> <li>H 4.217249 1.224410 -1.418463</li> <li>H 3.731779 0.437001 -2.932112</li> <li>H 3.535517 2.178374 -2.743751</li> <li>C 2.771618 0.821353 0.661940</li> <li>F 1.699624 0.802614 2.355905</li> <li>F 3.387002 1.960755 1.020479</li> <li>C 3.517756 -0.404023 0.972552</li> <li>C 4.871333 -0.331478 1.330068</li> <li>C 2.908268 -1.659628 0.811094</li> <li>C 5.611334 -1.501508 1.500615</li> <li>H 5.337206 0.638706 1.461997</li> <li>C 3.650268 -2.822054 0.987196</li> <li>H 1.853293 -1.708170 0.567596</li> </ul>	Η	0.263550	1.728304	-5.252989
C1.380878-1.321882-5.048290C1.439024-2.083524-2.765958C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	1.231827	-1.032948	-3.679962
<ul> <li>C 1.439024 -2.083524 -2.765958</li> <li>C 1.720760 -2.604479 -5.488029</li> <li>H 1.233714 -0.536059 -5.786251</li> <li>C 1.783357 -3.365607 -3.195304</li> <li>H 1.332649 -1.895600 -1.701620</li> <li>C 1.926734 -3.628602 -4.560252</li> <li>H 1.830659 -2.803036 -6.551521</li> <li>H 1.930484 -4.157063 -2.466220</li> <li>H 2.199648 -4.625321 -4.898871</li> <li>C 1.798305 0.865386 -0.353266</li> <li>C 2.047365 1.008609 -1.673557</li> <li>C 3.460901 1.220535 -2.210616</li> <li>H 4.217249 1.224410 -1.418463</li> <li>H 3.731779 0.437001 -2.932112</li> <li>H 3.535517 2.178374 -2.743751</li> <li>C 2.771618 0.821353 0.661940</li> <li>F 1.699624 0.802614 2.355905</li> <li>F 3.387002 1.960755 1.020479</li> <li>C 3.517756 -0.404023 0.972552</li> <li>C 4.871333 -0.331478 1.330068</li> <li>C 2.908268 -1.659628 0.811094</li> <li>C 5.611334 -1.501508 1.500615</li> <li>H 5.337206 0.638706 1.461997</li> <li>C 3.650268 -2.822054 0.987196</li> <li>H 1.853293 -1.708170 0.567596</li> </ul>	С	1.380878	-1.321882	-5.048290
C1.720760-2.604479-5.488029H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	1.439024	-2.083524	-2.765958
H1.233714-0.536059-5.786251C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	1.720760	-2.604479	-5.488029
C1.783357-3.365607-3.195304H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Η	1.233714	-0.536059	-5.786251
H1.332649-1.895600-1.701620C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	1.783357	-3.365607	-3.195304
C1.926734-3.628602-4.560252H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Η	1.332649	-1.895600	-1.701620
H1.830659-2.803036-6.551521H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	1.926734	-3.628602	-4.560252
H1.930484-4.157063-2.466220H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Н	1.830659	-2.803036	-6.551521
H2.199648-4.625321-4.898871C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Н	1.930484	-4.157063	-2.466220
C1.7983050.865386-0.353266C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Н	2.199648	-4.625321	-4.898871
C2.0473651.008609-1.673557C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	1.798305	0.865386	-0.353266
C3.4609011.220535-2.210616H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	2.047365	1.008609	-1.673557
H4.2172491.224410-1.418463H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	3.460901	1.220535	-2.210616
H3.7317790.437001-2.932112H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Н	4.217249	1.224410	-1.418463
H3.5355172.178374-2.743751C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Н	3.731779	0.437001	-2.932112
C2.7716180.8213530.661940F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Η	3.535517	2.178374	-2.743751
F1.6996240.8026142.355905F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	2.771618	0.821353	0.661940
F3.3870021.9607551.020479C3.517756-0.4040230.972552C4.871333-0.3314781.330068C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	F	1.699624	0.802614	2.355905
<ul> <li>C 3.517756 -0.404023 0.972552</li> <li>C 4.871333 -0.331478 1.330068</li> <li>C 2.908268 -1.659628 0.811094</li> <li>C 5.611334 -1.501508 1.500615</li> <li>H 5.337206 0.638706 1.461997</li> <li>C 3.650268 -2.822054 0.987196</li> <li>H 1.853293 -1.708170 0.567596</li> </ul>	F	3.387002	1.960755	1.020479
<ul> <li>C 4.871333 -0.331478 1.330068</li> <li>C 2.908268 -1.659628 0.811094</li> <li>C 5.611334 -1.501508 1.500615</li> <li>H 5.337206 0.638706 1.461997</li> <li>C 3.650268 -2.822054 0.987196</li> <li>H 1.853293 -1.708170 0.567596</li> </ul>	С	3.517756	-0.404023	0.972552
C2.908268-1.6596280.811094C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	4.871333	-0.331478	1.330068
C5.611334-1.5015081.500615H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	С	2.908268	-1.659628	0.811094
H5.3372060.6387061.461997C3.650268-2.8220540.987196H1.853293-1.7081700.567596	Ċ	5.611334	-1.501508	1.500615
C 3.650268 -2.822054 0.987196 H 1.853293 -1.708170 0.567596	Н	5.337206	0.638706	1.461997
Н 1.853293 -1.708170 0.567596	С	3.650268	-2.822054	0.987196
	Η	1.853293	-1.708170	0.567596

С	5.005615	-2.748177	1.329023
Η	6.661123	-1.438098	1.773044
Η	3.170824	-3.786772	0.857959
Η	5.582692	-3.658640	1.465924

TS-3c

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5216.56542305
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5215.16940005
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5215.38942705
M06 SCF energy (au):	-5215.02769007
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5213.63166707
M06 free energy (au):	-5213.85169407
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-5213.82952102

Cartesian coordinates

Ζ ATOM X Y Cu -0.397620 -1.406266 -0.110114 Fe -2.831938 2.283977 2.395132 P -2.302053 -2.216896 0.887030 P -0.800760 0.848817 -0.209618 C -2.365744 1.222060 0.661258 C -2.965340 0.354428 1.654770 C -4.267814 0.871588 1.931461 H -4.963524 0.466189 2.652599 C -4.473979 2.049739 1.155659 H -5.347910 2.687405 1.189706 C -3.299774 2.279336 0.385882 H -3.131344 3.099657 -0.298673 C -2.769103 2.420900 4.458134 Н -3.237558 1.706563 5.122184 C -3.394815 3.579930 3.906291 C -1.247621 3.459346 3.066971 H -0.356459 3.670554 2.498404 C -1.443499 2.341456 3.932978 Н -0.724820 1.554411 4.120326 C -1.082770 1.375766 -1.946395 C 0.031992 1.671413 -2.751445 H 1.021750 1.712639 -2.305744 C -0.119901 1.920814 -4.114459 H 0.752976 2.153840 -4.718766 C -1.386958 1.870892 -4.701256 C -2.497608 1.563957 -3.914336 H -3.485703 1.516379 -4.361644

C -2.348230 1.309500 -2.549107 H -3.216944 1.052591 -1.951955 С 0.435136 2.039150 0.445638 С 0.568655 3.354868 -0.022695 H -0.050664 3.708908 -0.841613 0.559708 С 1.502237 4.213999 Η 1.604058 5.231189 0.190025 С 2.295322 3.770131 1.622802 С 2.157354 2.463043 2.094962 H 2.781237 2.107744 2.909610 С 1.238669 1.592244 1.505830 1.156458 Η 0.560419 1.840282 C -2.450997 4.221137 3.047247 H -2.631175 5.107641 2.453040 C -2.354594 -0.886574 2.256707 Н -4.416797 3.892462 4.078235 C -2.985477 -1.302392 3.589374 Н -2.858919 -0.494948 4.318710 H -4.056604 -1.506945 3.502670 Н -2.500370 -2.200556 3.979957 Н -1.285176 -0.715919 2.431008 C -4.015686 -2.185829 0.231528 C -4.226432 -1.780690 -1.093172 C -5.131898 -2.458364 1.038839 C -5.522274 -1.649313 -1.626882 Н -3.357419 -1.565231 -1.709699 C -6.442144 -2.354844 0.552854 Н -4.973231 -2.759899 2.067850 C -6.605244 -1.950089 -0.783599 H -7.616331 -1.859262 -1.179356 C -2.087388 -3.789784 1.805494 C -3.056621 -4.788873 1.947073 C -0.819884 -3.978243 2.379330 C -2.797485 -5.957578 2.681617 H -4.015487 -4.674124 1.456488 C -0.515109 -5.134207 3.116437 Н -0.072664 -3.199941 2.242043 C -1.524826 -6.101494 3.262174 Н -1.311428 -6.999026 3.842830 H -1.506304 2.065518 -5.763461 Η 3.018745 4.441824 2.077695 Si 0.037295 -3.581072 -2.958566 C -0.676409 -1.940870 -3.564159 H 0.114918 -1.288655 -3.950430

Η	-1.406431	-2.092898	-4.367128
Η	-1.168734	-1.396439	-2.751810
С	0.704116	-4.536026	-4.456272
Η	1.497680	-3.975959	-4.966959
Η	1.116305	-5.508007	-4.161190
Η	-0.095893	-4.722642	-5.182691
С	-1.316392	-4.617473	-2.145921
С	-0.989491	-5.617630	-1.210841
С	-2.668016	-4.477133	-2.504638
С	-1.964733	-6.464368	-0.685049
Η	0.039617	-5.725604	-0.875224
С	-3.654216	-5.310208	-1.970636
Η	-2.962280	-3.700194	-3.204953
С	-3.299732	-6.315611	-1.070082
Η	-1.689816	-7.217942	0.047012
Η	-4.695086	-5.167904	-2.251201
Η	-4.062216	-6.970821	-0.657094
С	1.213363	-2.494056	-0.665686
С	1.435231	-3.305644	-1.720883
С	2.776260	-3.984891	-1.960211
Η	3.495922	-3.780234	-1.160107
Η	2.656647	-5.075012	-2.032279
Η	3.223775	-3.664778	-2.911402
С	2.095093	-2.170275	0.374368
F	2.474839	-3.157955	1.211545
F	0.866107	-1.436178	1.828234
С	3.005691	-1.019223	0.369570
С	2.999686	-0.129701	-0.716673
С	3.919216	-0.831074	1.417270
С	3.899345	0.931384	-0.755643
Η	2.279884	-0.280796	-1.514421
С	4.815906	0.233445	1.373276
Η	3.908564	-1.515957	2.257586
С	4.807306	1.117760	0.289960
Η	3.884065	1.622189	-1.594069
Η	5.520101	0.378617	2.188058
Η	5.501249	1.953411	0.264937
Si	-5.849008	-1.023020	-3.380770
Si	-7.932016	-2.732143	1.652227
Si	-4.105342	-7.301591	2.873608
Si	1.227853	-5.354819	3.818973
С	-4.388870	-1.424235	-4.509010
Η	-3.440649	-1.051048	-4.112272
Η	-4.294957	-2.507394	-4.650453

Η	-4.531325	-0.973096	-5.498958
С	-6.151712	0.847299	-3.304752
Η	-6.276476	1.277666	-4.306444
Η	-7.064369	1.059845	-2.734628
Н	-5.330211	1.374925	-2.807935
С	-7.402338	-1.862128	-4.064457
Η	-8.295774	-1.623045	-3.475661
Η	-7.592594	-1.534881	-5.094115
Η	-7.291439	-2.952894	-4.076064
С	-9.176325	-1.315023	1.489412
Η	-9.501092	-1.185223	0.449913
Η	-10.071743	-1.501172	2.095019
Η	-8.736999	-0.366115	1.819642
С	-8.736237	-4.351189	1.094668
Η	-8.035499	-5.189113	1.182359
Η	-9.620827	-4.585401	1.699908
Η	-9.054932	-4.290469	0.046926
С	-7.352870	-2.869723	3.448716
Η	-6.641079	-3.691524	3.590821
Η	-6.862892	-1.945965	3.780694
Η	-8.202992	-3.053061	4.116708
С	-5.744925	-6.694880	2.145694
Η	-6.106210	-5.808140	2.679574
Η	-5.647899	-6.426167	1.087386
Η	-6.518492	-7.468178	2.225197
С	-4.333741	-7.684270	4.713735
Η	-5.060108	-8.491897	4.867444
Η	-3.387982	-7.995126	5.173925
Η	-4.690226	-6.801235	5.257293
С	-3.545436	-8.877372	1.983210
Η	-2.571283	-9.212416	2.359946
Η	-4.260624	-9.695451	2.134606
Η	-3.443437	-8.716561	0.903913
С	2.324744	-6.132389	2.485009
Η	2.362714	-5.494300	1.596853
Η	3.351751	-6.275609	2.844460
Η	1.934049	-7.112398	2.184482
С	1.894870	-3.669447	4.356290
Η	2.961213	-3.735759	4.608373
Η	1.772736	-2.917455	3.569556
Η	1.363292	-3.313315	5.247682
С	1.150960	-6.525734	5.308457
Η	0.476419	-6.143392	6.083946
Η	0.801692	-7.526046	5.024359

# Н 2.144553 -6.642728 5.758704

TS-4c

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-5216.56411465
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-5215.16819565
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-5215.38942265
M06 SCF energy (au):	-5215.02663155
M06 enthalpy (au):	-5213.63071255
M06 free energy (au):	-5213.85193955
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-5213.82861790

AT	'OM X	Y Z	
Cu	-0.595051	-1.561646	-0.167220
Fe	-2.452622	2.551892	2.157260
Р	-2.375914	-2.106340	1.148546
Р	-0.733293	0.701186	-0.415217
С	-2.190887	1.319979	0.503499
С	-2.869184	0.613392	1.573805
С	-4.084108	1.321815	1.836751
Η	-4.805410	1.070944	2.601118
С	-4.155719	2.458828	0.981182
Η	-4.936642	3.207981	0.984357
С	-2.987677	2.469547	0.170946
Η	-2.737205	3.204371	-0.581572
С	-1.448591	2.462675	3.970876
Η	-1.228862	1.543346	4.497708
С	-2.639319	3.242759	4.094982
С	-1.291730	4.236432	2.502433
Η	-0.929956	4.894395	1.724233
С	-0.616798	3.078307	2.991037
Η	0.338733	2.709734	2.650620
С	-1.025007	1.286283	-2.134486
С	-2.312939	1.304864	-2.691723
Η	-3.173462	1.085699	-2.070203
С	-2.503905	1.602420	-4.041253
Η	-3.511436	1.614066	-4.447615
С	-1.408379	1.874487	-4.862317
С	-0.120141	1.842776	-4.322671
Η	0.740692	2.047770	-4.953708
С	0.071950	1.547310	-2.972637
Η	1.079554	1.520851	-2.568601
С	0.696482	1.702993	0.151135
С	0.822490	3.069016	-0.149217

Н	0.082703	3.557164	-0.777626
С	1.895139	3.801096	0.356605
Н	1.988145	4.858593	0.122664
С	2.848779	3.174585	1.167651
С	2.725738	1.816611	1.466166
Н	3.463706	1.327666	2.096722
С	1.654127	1.073120	0.959370
Η	1.533122	0.021603	1.212368
С	-2.541324	4.341048	3.186996
Η	-3.300780	5.093345	3.016876
С	-2.394669	-0.612331	2.326183
Η	-3.485988	3.017561	4.730696
С	-3.191298	-0.830723	3.619644
Η	-3.168772	0.078761	4.230090
Η	-4.238519	-1.068442	3.404138
Η	-2.778947	-1.651849	4.208762
Η	-1.330146	-0.487762	2.556415
С	-4.144719	-2.199515	0.670066
С	-4.525008	-1.538191	-0.503894
С	-5.132822	-2.842327	1.431564
С	-5.856531	-1.526254	-0.952649
Η	-3.751895	-1.036243	-1.083231
С	-6.474912	-2.869087	1.023034
Η	-4.842964	-3.342123	2.350096
С	-6.806833	-2.208883	-0.175637
Η	-7.841739	-2.227846	-0.514611
С	-2.077265	-3.545848	2.248720
С	-2.663261	-4.797188	2.009795
С	-1.169495	-3.417780	3.312293
С	-2.425816	-5.892608	2.860735
Η	-3.314076	-4.917646	1.147829
С	-0.925498	-4.472882	4.202273
Η	-0.625003	-2.487401	3.421226
С	-1.577892	-5.694437	3.963998
Η	-1.404809	-6.523729	4.647774
Η	-1.555827	2.104825	-5.913855
Η	3.683126	3.747569	1.563937
Si	-0.465241	-3.597192	-3.274319
С	-1.180385	-1.890584	-3.614637
Η	-0.414616	-1.201298	-3.984984
Η	-1.986761	-1.941906	-4.355137
Η	-1.587341	-1.445142	-2.702136
С	0.170320	-4.353855	-4.892436
Η	0.977407	-3.744549	-5.317852

Η	0.564864	-5.366260	-4.747130
Η	-0.633528	-4.413167	-5.635635
С	-1.851405	-4.707369	-2.610263
С	-3.032647	-4.151456	-2.089742
С	-1.745982	-6.111062	-2.615035
С	-4.071013	-4.948810	-1.599857
Η	-3.154263	-3.075438	-2.068769
С	-2.779402	-6.919418	-2.136726
Η	-0.849692	-6.586077	-3.010066
С	-3.946849	-6.339426	-1.629559
Η	-4.968173	-4.479949	-1.202814
Η	-2.679154	-8.001698	-2.163462
Η	-4.753318	-6.970445	-1.265841
С	0.821445	-2.819180	-0.886018
С	0.935668	-3.561107	-2.008916
С	2.124355	-4.478776	-2.269614
Η	2.867185	-4.442652	-1.465564
Η	1.800673	-5.524530	-2.377200
Η	2.630633	-4.215740	-3.208000
С	1.666640	-2.852944	0.237522
F	0.691199	-1.730292	1.628160
F	2.710289	-2.006221	0.261237
С	1.798153	-4.012656	1.123688
С	2.914435	-4.140057	1.964796
С	0.856434	-5.052851	1.052065
С	3.100036	-5.307582	2.702273
Η	3.632998	-3.330160	2.021230
С	1.046782	-6.213787	1.793508
Η	-0.016313	-4.940350	0.419355
С	2.171408	-6.348861	2.612747
Η	3.970091	-5.406289	3.345702
Η	0.311075	-7.008538	1.736746
Η	2.320835	-7.260972	3.184371
Si	-6.296709	-0.637527	-2.561333
Si	-7.788103	-3.783416	2.030676
Si	-3.216724	-7.569955	2.506396
Si	0.201101	-4.188173	5.692226
С	-5.031582	-1.139626	-3.873875
Η	-4.018020	-0.825011	-3.605198
Η	-5.013849	-2.228993	-3.997970
Η	-5.268130	-0.691692	-4.847158
С	-6.244978	1.233719	-2.266442
Η	-6.323365	1.793716	-3.206834
Η	-7.077600	1.542229	-1.622450

H -5.319902 1.539153 -1.764368 C -8.033761 -1.146268 -3.109602 Н -8.793982 -0.857044 -2.373975 H -8.294845 -0.662923 -4.058870 H -8.104634 -2.230334 -3.258070 C -9.296815 -2.657725 2.230598 Н -9.707299 -2.361288 1.257689 H -10.096099 -3.163267 2.786334 Н -9.036854 -1.741485 2.773854 C -8.293538 -5.356330 1.107552 H -8.671312 -5.119660 0.105396 H -7.441421 -6.035571 0.992758 Н -9.084024 -5.895954 1.643902 C -7.075624 -4.216029 3.728307 Н -6.188537 -4.854699 3.647583 Н -6.784916 -3.313931 4.280038 Н -7.815678 -4.752946 4.333933 C -4.984147 -7.294713 1.885140 Н -5.625197 -6.910275 2.686685 Н -5.006566 -6.571079 1.063450 Н -5.428717 -8.228933 1.520305 C -2.209568 -8.487170 1.191806 Н -1.230063 -8.786583 1.584332 Н -2.724453 -9.397162 0.858316 H -2.043665 -7.852851 0.314508 C -3.260435 -8.599596 4.094202 Н -3.767048 -9.556577 3.918638 H -2.251819 -8.825841 4.460490 Н -3.797858 -8.078362 4.895254 С 1.441345 -2.827475 5.266790 Н 1.911975 -3.018527 4.296903 Н 0.953178 -1.847596 5.203084 Н 2.227295 -2.757418 6.028880 С 1.090027 -5.793965 6.151124 Н 1.742628 -6.122518 5.336178 1.707531 -5.653289 Η 7.046827 H 0.381545 -6.603782 6.364094 C -0.869041 -3.636508 7.157831 Н -1.606590 -4.403744 7.422998 Н -0.257468 -3.436766 8.046779 H -1.418292 -2.718306 6.915590

**TS-7** 

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):

-3832.51522861

B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):-3831.57156161B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):-3831.73242961M06 SCF energy (au):-3831.25482743M06 enthalpy (au):-3830.31116043M06 free energy (au):-3830.47202843M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):-3830.45546982

Cartesian coordinates Ζ ATOM X Y Cu 0.340198 0.436495 -0.315440 P -1.481972 1.684122 0.354625 P -0.549825 -1.643851 -0.607220 O -4.575667 -0.751952 2.703348 O -3.688169 -1.990311 4.451663 O -5.127457 -2.075738 -0.365676 O -6.287812 -0.943115 -2.025820 C -1.531678 -1.894324 0.931625 C -2.754706 -1.169748 1.091491 C -3.379811 -1.307171 2.317338 C -2.849674 -2.052327 3.367540 C -1.661061 -2.736810 3.235960 C -1.013307 -2.644609 1.991325 C -4.718866 -1.059759 4.093989 C -3.029147 0.972476 -0.361267 C -3.748849 1.650928 -1.350878 C -4.872745 1.089797 -1.985162 C -5.248273 -0.170705 -1.575514 C -4.548949 -0.849890 -0.581159 C -3.423508 -0.341706 0.041511 C -6.208355 -2.176498 -1.297021 C -1.750251 -2.041777 -1.939726 C 0.729077 -2.964292 -0.644864 C -1.855707 1.719401 2.153732 C -3.110281 2.118985 2.644033 C -1.511030 3.449456 -0.172797 H -1.246124 -3.317340 4.052318 Н -0.072807 -3.166559 1.861036 H -4.597642 -0.141424 4.681402 Н -5.697723 -1.519698 4.263980 H -3.435807 2.645036 -1.649112 H -5.417106 1.622256 -2.757203 H -6.007769 -2.995830 -1.996797 H -7.145481 -2.338172 -0.751874 H -3.905611 2.381484 1.951899

С	1.748795	-4.984970	-1.519586
Η	1.699236	-5.851489	-2.174167
С	2.879409	-4.765204	-0.731204
Η	3.712990	-5.462007	-0.767807
С	2.939629	-3.639437	0.095090
Η	3.821956	-3.453692	0.702105
С	1.880187	-2.732958	0.133466
Η	1.933173	-1.837404	0.750951
С	0.676132	-4.091325	-1.476862
Η	-0.185731	-4.268184	-2.110847
С	-3.343168	2.164238	4.018143
Η	-4.311742	2.488153	4.391484
С	-2.335587	1.782520	4.911135
Η	-2.520211	1.811862	5.982264
С	-1.100439	1.352429	4.423621
Η	-0.322261	1.034470	5.112170
С	-0.853011	1.319407	3.048981
Η	0.089438	0.940101	2.662060
С	-1.957041	-1.072950	-2.930910
Η	-1.413008	-0.135919	-2.874365
С	-2.889132	-1.282935	-3.946592
Η	-3.053316	-0.512567	-4.695079
С	-3.622671	-2.470978	-3.984130
Η	-4.350990	-2.637105	-4.773327
С	-3.431052	-3.439162	-2.993393
Η	-4.006946	-4.361092	-3.014000
С	-2.510802	-3.220648	-1.966994
Η	-2.396789	-3.956258	-1.175915
С	-1.979812	4.497787	0.632201
Η	-2.382662	4.289905	1.616717
С	-1.905964	5.819968	0.189774
Η	-2.268085	6.620957	0.829391
С	-1.365175	6.111609	-1.063457
Η	-1.304041	7.141127	-1.406644
С	-0.894090	5.074263	-1.871878
Η	-0.465075	5.286748	-2.844099
С	-0.958043	3.752530	-1.429573
Η	-0.557080	2.957257	-2.054452
Si	2.428030	0.769722	-3.527970
С	3.912859	0.868182	-4.705716
Η	4.732199	0.220643	-4.369996
Η	3.621450	0.545544	-5.712276
Η	4.304775	1.889032	-4.784418
С	1.817966	-1.011845	-3.473983

Н 2.541486 -1.649796 -2.955297 Η 0.876276 -1.090538 -2.928545 Η 1.664660 -1.412749 -4.483384 С 1.079880 1.878521 -4.264748 С 1.276386 3.267853 -4.376584 C -0.111014 1.349272 -4.792954 С 0.332306 4.089194 -4.995357 H 2.185817 3.717851 -3.981833 C -1.076415 2.168959 -5.384767 Н -0.287939 0.278454 -4.753408 C -0.855966 3.542897 -5.489230 H 0.520188 5.156328 -5.090776 H -1.992891 1.732733 -5.775652 H -1.598130 4.183505 -5.958455 C 2.242153 1.115173 -0.718532 С 2.984040 1.358536 -1.819208 C 4.334159 2.062298 -1.728876 Η 4.618035 2.279191 -0.693670 Η 5.132936 1.459644 -2.180647 H 4.321508 3.014446 -2.279216 С 2.625867 1.239961 0.622347 F 1.336502 -0.081969 1.548672 F 3.660045 0.486948 1.039198 С 2.294243 2.344060 1.530833 С 1.649780 3.484948 1.033451 С 2.635210 2.271526 2.890483 С 1.334052 4.538692 1.889093 Η 1.387199 3.530978 -0.017158 С 2.319744 3.326659 3.740439 3.264848 Η 3.115090 1.374853 С 1.663524 4.459087 3.243948 H 0.816107 5.407968 1.496102 Η 2.573140 3.264189 4.795289 Η 1.407765 5.275091 3.914700

## TS-8

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-3832.52192731
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-3831.57817931
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-3831.73770231
M06 SCF energy (au):	-3831.25566456
M06 enthalpy (au):	-3830.31191656
M06 free energy (au):	-3830.47143956
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au)	: -3830.45558825

AТ	TOM X	Y Z	
Сı	ı 0.280380	0.346744	-0.213568
Р	-1.621212	1.560831	0.205166
Р	-0.488729	-1.811873	-0.310675
0	-4.968022	-0.766682	2.324871
0	-4.282788	-1.765708	4.304068
0	-5.043501	-2.373823	-0.657529
0	-5.890089	-1.496117	-2.632140
С	-1.660522	-1.911555	1.115827
С	-2.924218	-1.245183	1.031435
С	-3.711887	-1.297357	2.166029
С	-3.302907	-1.897583	3.354079
С	-2.077244	-2.517098	3.462046
С	-1.266071	-2.518194	2.312692
С	-5.322129	-0.988763	3.693997
С	-3.018691	0.725835	-0.658263
С	-3.535271	1.238235	-1.855184
С	-4.509511	0.560049	-2.610103
С	-4.953707	-0.643405	-2.107908
С	-4.444245	-1.167980	-0.922917
С	-3.451012	-0.552392	-0.183010
С	-5.957776	-2.611039	-1.732683
С	-1.463522	-2.523401	-1.696668
С	0.807059	-3.073619	0.048901
С	-2.155735	1.650253	1.964403
С	-3.444253	2.054986	2.343510
С	-1.662013	3.319966	-0.338103
Η	-1.755336	-2.982304	4.387019
Η	-0.297927	-3.002296	2.367521
Η	-5.400418	-0.024208	4.208265
Η	-6.265573	-1.544423	3.739037
Η	-3.172518	2.188820	-2.227783
Η	-4.893839	0.964782	-3.539704
Η	-5.661587	-3.521074	-2.265351
Η	-6.975250	-2.695645	-1.332483
Η	-4.186109	2.296651	1.588679
С	1.838169	-5.259573	-0.170593
Η	1.807149	-6.276097	-0.554877
С	2.938963	-4.823092	0.571270
Η	3.766935	-5.500265	0.765818
С	2.972565	-3.513809	1.056890
Η	3.827087	-3.158063	1.625584
С	1.916240	-2.639025	0.796271

Н	1.935994	-1.619445	1.174672
С	0.776332	-4.391141	-0.431478
Η	-0.058396	-4.737303	-1.031092
С	-3.789226	2.118116	3.692693
Η	-4.785831	2.444633	3.980531
С	-2.857737	1.755404	4.671600
Η	-3.132219	1.793436	5.722811
С	-1.578145	1.343746	4.295395
Η	-0.854693	1.052970	5.052433
С	-1.217612	1.295434	2.946130
Η	-0.223490	0.968178	2.646154
С	-1.357956	-1.933966	-2.962732
Η	-0.711801	-1.076697	-3.102203
С	-2.071785	-2.449296	-4.044916
Η	-1.975045	-1.981415	-5.020232
С	-2.894077	-3.564256	-3.873552
Η	-3.447755	-3.968919	-4.716788
С	-3.004395	-4.159748	-2.612984
Η	-3.640773	-5.030338	-2.473728
С	-2.303819	-3.635503	-1.526636
Η	-2.422987	-4.077385	-0.541712
С	-2.831624	4.090230	-0.444575
Η	-3.800241	3.639146	-0.252963
С	-2.761896	5.432133	-0.817301
Η	-3.674405	6.016649	-0.901764
С	-1.522697	6.024869	-1.078552
Η	-1.471066	7.071254	-1.367987
С	-0.354602	5.269782	-0.965592
Η	0.612492	5.723582	-1.165629
С	-0.422939	3.923404	-0.599930
Η	0.483263	3.331063	-0.522613
Si	1.590398	1.359636	-3.519063
С	-0.247587	1.795734	-3.431288
Η	-0.400465	2.860961	-3.227689
Η	-0.743598	1.546714	-4.378089
Η	-0.745632	1.232346	-2.636738
С	2.361696	2.341739	-4.945705
Η	2.268709	3.421089	-4.772601
Η	3.426106	2.111915	-5.068612
Η	1.861952	2.117542	-5.895734
С	1.739164	-0.489016	-3.906824
С	2.126990	-1.432260	-2.938303
С	1.392813	-0.973039	-5.182768
С	2.174374	-2.797946	-3.227747

Η	2.360425	-1.099343	-1.932512
С	1.425522	-2.337726	-5.477312
Η	1.086669	-0.277420	-5.962619
С	1.818985	-3.253566	-4.498237
Η	2.469349	-3.501184	-2.455067
Η	1.146702	-2.686373	-6.468987
Η	1.843016	-4.316758	-4.723891
С	2.040636	1.273066	-0.740334
С	2.514126	1.736670	-1.915970
С	3.814277	2.525183	-2.018208
Η	4.307056	2.637996	-1.046183
Η	4.524801	2.040360	-2.702521
Η	3.636514	3.530281	-2.425124
С	2.613308	1.336117	0.537576
F	1.353813	0.234333	1.661092
F	2.342035	2.430640	1.274868
С	3.776746	0.569615	1.006265
С	4.206513	0.691093	2.337908
С	4.475835	-0.267650	0.125186
С	5.322884	-0.012735	2.775941
Η	3.644312	1.322636	3.015675
С	5.592914	-0.973409	0.570221
Η	4.142424	-0.361670	-0.901742
С	6.018789	-0.849089	1.894385
Η	5.649594	0.081783	3.807903
Η	6.126447	-1.622947	-0.117968
Н	6.888813	-1.400572	2.240983

27a

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-585.499731839
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-585.337866839
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-585.386417839
M06 SCF energy (au):	-585.303574225
M06 enthalpy (au):	-585.141709225
M06 free energy (au):	-585.190260225
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-585.188560386

Cartesian coordinates

ATOMX Y Z C -2.594487 -0.492318 0.001057 F -3.062598 0.148538 -1.126105 F -3.067136 0.222717 1.080707 C -3.146369 -1.903774 0.047554 C -3.382911 -2.517981 1.280314 C -3.381278 -2.598766 -1.141856 C -3.856041 -3.829666 1.321511 H -3.204634 -1.964983 2.196611 C -3.854458 -3.910305 -1.096155 H -3.201707 -2.108070 -2.092716 C -4.091111 -4.527906 0.134462 H -4.044750 -4.304788 2.280278 H -4.041922 -4.448258 -2.021384 H -4.460225 -5.549407 0.168281 C -1.130646 -0.448314 0.002663 C 0.077198 -0.451344 0.005582 C 1.535622 -0.454387 0.009017 Н 1.928404 -1.000676 -0.856846 Н 1.934162 0.566448 -0.026994 Н 1.924318 -0.936440 0.914043

#### 27b

B3LYP-D3 SCF energy (au):	-1086.69602892
B3LYP-D3 enthalpy (au):	-1086.35859092
B3LYP-D3 free energy (au):	-1086.43297492
M06 SCF energy (au):	-1086.29973848
M06 enthalpy (au):	-1085.96230048
M06 free energy (au):	-1086.03668448
M06 free energy (quasi-harmonic) (au):	-1086.03073456

AT	'OM X	Y	Ζ	
С	-2.755101	0.23	31480	4.268541
С	-1.496225	0.47	4984	4.526942
С	-0.276434	0.72	6073	4.953766
F	0.764961	-0.04	5513	4.510503
С	0.114229	1.77	6123	5.905257
С	-0.834282	2.68	86704	6.407090
С	1.444076	1.86	8784	6.344594
С	-0.459990	3.65	64747	7.333864
Η	-1.863203	2.63	30281	6.064341
С	1.812916	2.84	4521	7.271606
Η	2.180410	1.17	2370	5.959838
С	0.866069	3.73	9098	7.772465
Η	-1.205241	4.34	19749	7.712056
Η	2.846192	2.90	2978	7.603610
Η	1.156421	4.49	6888	8.494954

С	-3.505392	0.847956	3.100662
Η	-3.879280	0.065119	2.428623
Η	-4.380075	1.403226	3.463887
Η	-2.874739	1.529863	2.522186
Si	-3.694990	-0.856034	5.519766
С	-4.816733	-2.053050	4.582878
Η	-4.218695	-2.744279	3.977567
Η	-5.422507	-2.650850	5.274190
Η	-5.500930	-1.526621	3.907372
С	-2.453842	-1.770087	6.601833
Η	-1.815292	-2.425803	5.999181
Η	-1.799089	-1.067669	7.128812
Η	-2.968476	-2.382765	7.350977
С	-4.725743	0.328399	6.566566
С	-6.122076	0.428652	6.438314
С	-4.089792	1.180771	7.490365
С	-6.856521	1.342865	7.198572
Η	-6.649929	-0.215525	5.738512
С	-4.816713	2.096088	8.251800
Η	-3.010048	1.136492	7.616361
С	-6.204376	2.179124	8.106204
Η	-7.935904	1.401423	7.082520
Η	-4.302394	2.742837	8.958347
Η	-6.773534	2.891561	8.697846

### 2.5.10 VCD Analysis

**VCD Measurements**: A 150uL solution containing 20mg of allene **10b** dissolved in CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was transferred to a BaF<sub>2</sub> IR cell with path length of 100 µm. Instrumentation was a BioTools (Jupiter, Florida) ChiralIR-2X DualPEM FT-VCD, resolution 4 cm<sup>-1</sup>, PEM maximum frequency 1400 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The sample was measured for 12 blocks of 1 hour each while purged with dry air to remove water vapor. The IR was processed by solvent subtraction and offset to zero at 2000cm<sup>-1</sup>. The VCD blocks were averaged, then subtracted using a baseline of the racemic allene measured at the same concentration to produce the final spectrum.

VCD Calculations: Allene 10b (S configuration) was subjected to a conformer search (GMMX, MMF94) using BioTools ComputeVOA software to find the lowest energy conformers in an 8 kcal/mol range. The geometries of a total of 46 conformers were optimized using Gaussian 09 at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) and B3PW91/6-31G(d) levels with CPCM solvent model in dichloromethane. IR and VCD were calculated at the same level, then duplicates were removed. The 35 lowest energy unique conformers were then recalculated at the B3LYP/cc-pVTZ and B3PW91/cc-pVTZ levels, and the resulting spectra were Boltzmann averaged and plotted with a line width of 5 cm<sup>-1</sup>. IR and VCD spectra were then frequency scaled and compared to the experimental data.



Allene 10B in CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>

# Measured and Calculated VCD and IR spectrum of 10b





RESULTS	
Absolute Configuration of Allene 12B is (S)	Confidence Level: 91%
MEASUREMENT PARAMETERS	
Concentration	12mg / 150uL
Solvent	CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>
Resolution	4 cm <sup>-1</sup>
PEM setting	1400 cm <sup>-1</sup>
Number of scans/Measurement time	22 hours enantiomer and solvent
Sample cell	BaF <sub>2</sub>
Path length	100 μm
CALCULATION DETAILS	
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field	MMFF94 (Compute VOA)
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 81 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP)
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum Methodology and basis sets for DFT calculations	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 81 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP) 6-31Gd / B3LYP, B3PW91 / CPCM (CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> )
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum Methodology and basis sets for DFT calculations Enantiomer used for calculation	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 81 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP) 6-31Gd / B3LYP, B3PW91 / CPCM (CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> ) S
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum Methodology and basis sets for DFT calculations Enantiomer used for calculation Total calculated conformers	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 81 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP) 6-31Gd / B3LYP, B3PW91 / CPCM (CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> ) S 214 (6-31Gd)
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum Methodology and basis sets for DFT calculations Enantiomer used for calculation Total calculated conformers Number of low-energy conformations shown in report	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 81 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP) 6-31Gd / B3LYP, B3PW91 / CPCM (CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> ) S 214 (6-31Gd) 4

The confidence level is a measure of the degree of congruence between a calculated and measured spectrum. If identical spectra are being compared the confidence level is 100%. The confidence level (CL) is not the likelihood that the assignment is correct. Rather it's a measure of quality or degree of agreement between calculated and measured spectra. With a CL of 91% for this molecule, the visual agreement between measured and calculated spectra is excellent – this is a very high confidence assignment. Two different calculations were performed, two functionals (B3LYP and B3PW91) each with the basis set 6-31G(d) – the CPCM solvent shell method was employed in both cases. While both methods indicated the same result for stereochemistry – the best overall match was 6-31G(d) / B3LYP. Of particular interest was the IR / VCD band observed at 1935 cm<sup>-1</sup> which appears to be the allene asymmetric stretching mode. This was in fact an important band in assigning the absolute configuration. The slightly lower confidence level for this molecule is due to some minor intensity and frequency mismatches between experimental and calculated spectra. The visual agreement is very strong, this assignment is unambiguous.



IR (lower frame) and VCD (upper frame) spectra of **Allene 12B** in CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>; 100um path-length cell with BaF<sub>2</sub> windows; 22 h collection for enantiomer and solvent; instrument optimized at 1400 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Solvent subtracted IR and racemic subtracted VCD spectra are shown. Uppermost trace is the VCD noise spectrum. The solvent absorbs strongly at and below 1000 cm<sup>-1</sup> so the spectra are cut off at this point.



IR (lower frame) and VCD (upper frame) spectra observed for Allene 12B (left axes) compared with Boltzmann-averaged spectra of the calculated conformations for the (S) configuration, (right axes). Note the band at 1935 cm<sup>-1</sup> in the experimental corresponding to the allene asymmetric stretch.

RESULTS	
Absolute Configuration of Allene 1B – SiEt <sub>3</sub> is (S)	Confidence Level: 94%
MEASUREMENT PARAMETERS	
Concentration	14mg / 150uL
Solvent	CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>
Resolution	4 cm <sup>-1</sup>
PEM setting	1400 cm <sup>-1</sup>
Number of scans/Measurement time	22 hours enantiomer and solvent
Sample cell	BaF <sub>2</sub>
Path length	100 µm
CALCULATION DETAILS	
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field	MMFF94 (Compute VOA)
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 382 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP)
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum Methodology and basis sets for DFT calculations	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 382 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP) 6-31Gd / B3LYP / CPCM (CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> )
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum Methodology and basis sets for DFT calculations Enantiomer used for calculation	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 382 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP) 6-31Gd / B3LYP / CPCM (CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> ) S
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum Methodology and basis sets for DFT calculations Enantiomer used for calculation Total calculated conformers	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 382 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP) 6-31Gd / B3LYP / CPCM (CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> ) S 558 (6-31Gd / B3LYP)
CALCULATION DETAILS Molecular Mechanics Force Field DFT Software version Number of conformers used for Boltzmann sum Methodology and basis sets for DFT calculations Enantiomer used for calculation Total calculated conformers Number of low-energy conformations shown in report	MMFF94 (Compute VOA) Gaussian '09 382 (6-31G(d) / B3LYP) 6-31Gd / B3LYP / CPCM (CD <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> ) S 558 (6-31Gd / B3LYP) 4

The confidence level is a measure of the degree of congruence between a calculated and measured spectrum. If identical spectra are being compared the confidence level is 100%. The confidence level (CL) is not the likelihood that the assignment is correct. Rather it's a measure of quality or degree of agreement between calculated and measured spectra. With a CL of 94% for this molecule, the visual agreement between measured and calculated spectra is excellent – this is a very high confidence assignment. Due to the large number of conformations, just one calculation was performed, using the B3LYP functional and the 6-31G(d) basis set – the CPCM solvent shell method was employed. Of particular interest was the IR / VCD band observed at 1938 cm<sup>-1</sup> which appears to be the allene asymmetric stretching mode. This was in fact an important band in assigning the absolute configuration. The overall agreement was very good, with just a couple of small frequency / intensity mismatches between the experimental and calculated. This was not deemed a good use of time to do so.


IR (lower frame) and VCD (upper frame) spectra of **Allene 1B – SiEt**<sub>3</sub> in CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>; 100um path-length cell with BaF<sub>2</sub> windows; 22 h collection for enantiomer and solvent; instrument optimized at 1400 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Solvent subtracted IR and racemic subtracted VCD spectra are shown. Uppermost trace is the VCD noise spectrum. The solvent absorbs strongly at and below 1000 cm<sup>-1</sup> so the spectra are cut off at this point.



IR (lower frame) and VCD (upper frame) spectra observed for Allene 1B – SiEt<sub>3</sub> (left axes) compared with Boltzmann-averaged spectra of the calculated conformations for the (S) configuration, (right axes). Note the band at 1938 cm<sup>-1</sup> in the experimental corresponding to the allene asymmetric stretch.









<sup>31</sup>P NMR (202 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – bis(2,2",4,4",6,6"-hexaisopropyl-[1,1':3',1"-terphenyl]-5'-yl)phosphine oxide

23.6 723.5 723.4 23.4 23.4 21.1 21.1 21.1 21.0 20.9









<sup>31</sup>P NMR (202 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – bis(3,5-bis(triethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine borane





 $^1H\,NMR\,(500\,\,\mathrm{MHz},\mathrm{CDCl}_3)-bis(\mathbf{2,2'',4,4'',6,6''-hexaisopropyl-[1,1':3',1''-terphenyl]-5'-yl}) phosphine\,borane$ 





<sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – bis(2,2",4,4",6,6"-hexaisopropyl-[1,1':3',1"-terphenyl]-5'-yl)phosphine borane





60 55 50 45 40 35 30 25 20 15 10 5 0 -5 -10 -15 -20 -25 -30 -35 -40 -45 -50 -55 -60 -65 -70 -75 -80 -85













## 





## <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – (*R*,*S*)-(3,5-TRIP)Josiphos











<sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – bis(3,5-bis(trimethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine borane







220 210 200 190 180 170 160 150 140 130 120 110 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 -20 ppm

<sup>31</sup>**P NMR** (203 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – bis(3,5-bis(trimethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine borane



105 100 95 90 85 80 75 70 65 60 55 50 45 40 35 30 25 20 15 10 5 0 -5 -10 -15 -20 -25 -30 -35 ppm



<sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – bis(3,5-bis(trimethylsilyl)phenyl)phosphine borane









 ${}^{1}\textbf{H}\,\textbf{NMR}\,(500~\text{MHz},\text{CDCl}_{3})-\textbf{bis}(\textbf{3,5-bis}(\textbf{perfluoropropan-2-yl})\textbf{phenyl})\textbf{phosphine borane}$ 



<sup>31</sup>P NMR (202 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – bis(3,5-bis(perfluoropropan-2-yl)phenyl)phosphine borane


















































0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -19(



















0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190 ppm







10 0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190 -200 -210 ppm









<sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) – 19a























<sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz,  $CDCl_3$ ) – 25a












## <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, $CD_2Cl_2$ ) – 2b- SiMe<sub>2</sub>Cy























-60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190 -200 -210 -220 -230 -24(



































-60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190 -200 -210 -220 -230 -240 ppm







-60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190 -200 -210 -220 -230 -240 ppm










## <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) – **22b**











<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ ) – **25b** 

88.84 88







<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ ) – **1**c



(3.58 (3.57 (3.56) (3.56) (3.56) (3.56) (3.56) (3.56) (1.77) (1.7











## 2.7 HPLC Spectra



**1b:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: 99.9:00.1 hexanes:iPrOH; 7.09 min (major) and 7.93 min (minor)











1b-SiMe<sub>2</sub>Bn: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: 99.95:00.05 hexanes:iPrOH; 19.77 min (major) and 22.96 min (minor)





1b-SiMe<sub>2</sub>Bn: IA column, 1.0 mL/min: 99.95:00.05 hexanes:iPrOH; 33.49 min (major) and 30.66 min (minor)





**2b:** OJ column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes; 7.97 min (major) and 7.30 min (minor)





**3b:** ADH column, 0.5 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 11.80 min (major) and 11.14 min (minor)





**4b:** IA column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:1; 9.84 min (major) and 9.14 min (minor)





**5b:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 8.53 min (major) and 9.25 min (minor)





**6b:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 27.75 min (major) and 26.25 min (minor)





7b: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 10.56 min (major) and 13.16 min (minor)





**8b:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 12.77 min (major) and 10.47 min (minor)





**9b:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 10.92 min (major) and 9.69 min (minor)





10b: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 15.62 min (major) and 20.56 min (minor)





11b: ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 17.68 min (major) and 16.52 min (minor)





12b: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 98:02; 10.13 min (major) and 7.89 min (minor)





13b: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 98:02; 16.79 min (major) and 13.73 min (minor)





14: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 70:30; 6.82 min (major) and 8.37 min (minor)





15b: OD column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 24.74 min (major) and 22.33 min (minor)





16b: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99:01; 12.25 min (major) and 15.84 min (minor)





17: ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 6.90 min (major) and 6.49 min (minor)





18b: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes: iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 8.26 min (major) and 7.43 min (minor)





19b: ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 9.14 min (major) and 8.34 min (minor)





**20b:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.95:00.05; 16.15 min (major) and 12.31 min (minor)





**21b:** ADH column, 0.2 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.85:00.15; 47.08 min (major) and 44.98 min (minor)





22b: OJ column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes; 32.66 min (major) and 44.41 min (minor)





**23b:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 21.14 min (major) and 13.25 min (minor)




**24b:** IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 18.33 min (major) and 13.83 min (minor)





**25b:** ADH column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.7:00.3; 23.83 min (major) and 21.98 min (minor)





1c: IB column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 95:05; 6.79 min (major) and 7.66 min (minor)





2c: OJ column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.9:00.1; 39.28 min (major) and 45.02 min (minor)



# 2.8 References

1.(a) Krause, N.; Hashmi, A. S. K., *Modern Allene Chemistry*. Wiley–VCH: 2004;(b) Rivera-Fuentes, P.; Diederich, F., Allenes in molecular materials. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2012**, *51* (12), 2818-28;(c) Hoffmann-Roder, A.; Krause, N., Synthesis and properties of allenic natural products and pharmaceuticals. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2004**, *43* (10), 1196-216;(d) Cai, F.; Pu, X.; Qi, X.; Lynch, V.; Radha, A.; Ready, J. M., Chiral allene-containing phosphines in asymmetric catalysis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (45), 18066-9.

2.(a) Allen, A. D.; Tidwell, T. T., Ketenes and other cumulenes as reactive intermediates. Chem. Rev. **2013**, *113* (9), 7287-342;(b) Sutherland, D. R.; Kinsman, L.; Angiolini, S. M.; Rosair, G. M.; Lee, A. L., Gold(I)-Catalysed Hydroarylation of 1,3-Disubstituted Allenes with Efficient Axial-to-Point Chirality Transfer. Chem. Eur. J. 2018, 24 (27), 7002-7009;(c) Ma, S., Electrophilic addition and cyclization reactions of allenes. Acc. Chem. Res. 2009, 42 (10), 1679-88;(d) Liu, L.; Ward, R. M.; Schomaker, J. M., Mechanistic Aspects and Synthetic Applications of Radical Additions to Allenes. Chem. Rev. 2019, 119 (24), 12422-12490; (e) Krause, N.; Winter, C., Gold-catalyzed nucleophilic cyclization of functionalized allenes: a powerful access to carbo- and heterocycles. Chem. Rev. 2011, 111 (3), 1994-2009; (f) Adams, C. S.; Weatherly, C. D.; Burke, E. G.; Schomaker, J. M., The conversion of allenes to strained threemembered heterocycles. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2014, 43 (9), 3136-63;(g) Yu, S.; Ma, S., Allenes in catalytic asymmetric synthesis and natural product syntheses. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2012, 51 (13), 3074-112. 3.(a) Yokobori, U.; Ohmiya, H.; Sawamura, M., Synthesis of Allenylsilanes through Copper-Catalyzed  $\gamma$ -Selective Coupling between  $\gamma$ -Silylated Propargylic Phosphates and Alkylboranes. Organometallics **2012**, 31 (22), 7909-7913;(b) Whitehead, D. C.; Yousefi, R.; Jaganathan, A.; Borhan, B., An organocatalytic asymmetric chlorolactonization. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132 (10), 3298-300; (c) Vaz, B.; Pereira, R.; Perez, M.; Alvarez, R.; de Lera, A. R., Stereoselective Stille coupling of enantiopure haloallenes and alkenylstannanes for the synthesis of allenyl carotenoids. Experimental and computational studies. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73 (17), 6534-41; (d) Schade, M. A.; Yamada, S.; Knochel, P., Synthesis of polyfunctional allenes by successive copper-mediated substitutions. Chem. Eur. J. 2011, 17 (15), 4232-7;(e) Ohno, H.; Ando, K.; Hamaguchi, H.; Takeoka, Y.; Tanaka, T., A highly cis-selective synthesis of 2-ethynylaziridines by intramolecular amination of chiral bromoallenes: improvement of stereoselectivity based on the computational investigation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124 (51), 15255-66; (f) Marshall, J. A.; Grant, C. M., Formation of Transient Chiral Allenylindium Reagents from Enantioenriched Propargylic Mesylates through Oxidative Transmetalation. Applications to the Synthesis of Enantioenriched Homopropargylic Alcohols. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64 (3), 696-697;(g) Li, H.; Grassi, D.; Guenee, L.; Burgi, T.; Alexakis, A., Copper-catalyzed propargylic substitution of dichloro substrates: enantioselective synthesis of trisubstituted allenes and formation of propargylic quaternary stereogenic centers. Chem. Eur. J. 2014, 20 (50), 16694-706;(h) Kim, M. J.; Sohn, T. I.; Kim, D.; Paton, R. S., Concise substrate-controlled asymmetric total syntheses of dioxabicyclic marine natural products with 2,10-dioxabicyclo-7.3.0 dodecene and 2,9-dioxabicyclo 6.3.0 undecene skeletons. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134 (49), 20178-88;(i) Evans, P. A.; Murthy, V. S.; Roseman, J. D.; Rheingold, A. L., Enantioselective Total Synthesis of the Nonisoprenoid Sesquiterpene (-)-Kumausallene. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38 (21), 3175-3177; (j) Caporusso, A. M.; Zampieri, A.; Aronica, L. A.; Banti, D., Stereoselective synthesis of chiral 3-aryl-1-alkynes from bromoallenes and heterocuprates. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71 (5), 1902-10;(k) Caporusso, A. M.; Filippi, S.; Barontini, F.; Salvadori, P., Coupling of chiral 1-bromo-1,2-dienes with zincbased cuprates: a new procedure for the regio and stereoselective synthesis of functionalized acetylenic compounds. *Tetrahedron Letters* **2000**, *41* (8), 1227-1230.

4.(a) Wang, X.; Wu, Z.; Wang, J., alpha-Fluoroallenoate Synthesis via N-Heterocyclic Carbene-Catalyzed Fluorination Reaction of Alkynals. Org. Lett. 2016, 18 (3), 576-9;(b) Mae, M.; Hong, J. A.; Xu, B.; Hammond, G. B., Highly regioselective synthesis of gem-difluoroallenes through magnesium organocuprate SN2' substitution. Org. Lett. 2006, 8 (3), 479-82;(c) Li, T.; Zhou, C.; Yan, X.; Wang, J., Solvent-Dependent Asymmetric Synthesis of Alkynyl and Monofluoroalkenyl Isoindolinones by CpRh(III) -Catalyzed C-H Activation. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2018, 57 (15), 4048-4052;(d) Hammond, G. B., Functionalized Fluorinated Allenes. In Fluorine-Containing Synthons, American Chemical Society: 2005; Vol. 911, pp 204-215; (e) Castelhano, A. L.; Krantz, A., A novel route to allenyl fluorides. Synthesis of 4-amino-7-fluorohepta-5,6-dienoic acid, the first fluoroallenyl amino acid. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109 (11), 3491-3493;(f) Lan, Y.; Hammond, G. B., Functionalization of monofluoroallene and the synthesis of aryl-substituted conjugated fluorodienes. Org. Lett. 2002, 4 (14), 2437-9;(g) Pacheco, M. C.; Purser, S.; Gouverneur, V., The chemistry of propargylic and allylic fluorides. Chem. Rev. 2008, 108 (6), 1943-81;(h) Zapata, A. J.; Gu, Y.; Hammond, G. B., The first alphafluoroallenylphosphonate, the synthesis of conjugated fluoroenynes, and the stereoselective synthesis of vinylfluorophosphonates using a new multifunctional fluorine-containing building block. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65 (1), 227-34.

5.(a) Neff, R. K.; Frantz, D. E., Recent Advances in the Catalytic Syntheses of Allenes: A Critical Assessment. *ACS Catal.* **2014**, *4* (2), 519-528;(b) Chu, W.-D.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, J., Recent advances in catalytic asymmetric synthesis of allenes. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *7* (20), 4570-4579;(c) Brummond, K.; DeForrest, J., Synthesizing Allenes Today (1982-2006). Synthesis **2007**, 2007 (6), 795-818;(d) Ogasawara, M., Catalytic enantioselective synthesis of axially chiral allenes. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2009**, 20 (3), 259-271.

6.(a) Wang, Y.; Zhang, W.; Ma, S., A room-temperature catalytic asymmetric synthesis of allenes with ECNU-Phos. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135 (31), 11517-20;(b) Trost, B. M.; Zell, D.; Hohn, C.; Mata, G.; Maruniak, A., Enantio- and Diastereoselective Synthesis of Chiral Allenes by Palladium-Catalyzed Asymmetric [3+2] Cycloaddition Reactions. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2018, 57 (39), 12916-12920;(c) Trost, B. M.; Schultz, J. E.; Chang, T.; Maduabum, M. R., Chemo-, Regio-, Diastereo-, and Enantioselective Palladium Allylic Alkylation of 1,3-Dioxaboroles as Synthetic Equivalents of alpha-Hydroxyketones. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141 (24), 9521-9526; (d) Liu, H.; Leow, D.; Huang, K. W.; Tan, C. H., Enantioselective synthesis of chiral allenoates by guanidine-catalyzed isomerization of 3alkynoates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131 (21), 7212-3;(e) Jiang, Y.; Diagne, A. B.; Thomson, R. J.; Schaus, S. E., Enantioselective Synthesis of Allenes by Catalytic Traceless Petasis Reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139 (5), 1998-2005; (f) Crouch, I. T.; Neff, R. K.; Frantz, D. E., Pd-catalyzed asymmetric betahydride elimination en route to chiral allenes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135 (13), 4970-3;(g) Chu, W. D.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, Z.; Zhou, Q.; Mo, F.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, J., Enantioselective Synthesis of Trisubstituted Allenes via Cu(I)-Catalyzed Coupling of Diazoalkanes with Terminal Alkynes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138 (44), 14558-14561;(h) Bayeh-Romero, L.; Buchwald, S. L., Copper Hydride Catalyzed Enantioselective Synthesis of Axially Chiral 1,3-Disubstituted Allenes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141 (35), 13788-13794; (i) Adamson, N. J.; Jeddi, H.; Malcolmson, S. J., Preparation of Chiral Allenes through Pd-Catalyzed Intermolecular Hydroamination of Conjugated Enynes: Enantioselective Synthesis Enabled by Catalyst Design. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141 (21), 8574-8583.

7.(a) Wu, S.; Huang, X.; Wu, W.; Li, P.; Fu, C.; Ma, S., A C-H bond activation-based catalytic approach to tetrasubstituted chiral allenes. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 7946;(b) Scheipers, I.; Muck-Lichtenfeld, C.; Studer, A., Palladium-Catalyzed Decarboxylative gamma-Arylation for the Synthesis of Tetrasubstituted Chiral Allenes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2019**, *58* (20), 6545-6548;(c) Qian, D.; Wu, L.; Lin, Z.; Sun, J., Organocatalytic synthesis of chiral tetrasubstituted allenes from racemic propargylic alcohols. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8* (1), 567;(d) Hayashi, T.; Tokunaga, N.; Inoue, K., Rhodium-catalyzed asymmetric 1,6-addition of aryltitanates to enynones giving axially chiral allenes. *Org. Lett.* **2004**, *6* (2), 305-7;(e) Hashimoto, T.; Sakata, K.; Tamakuni, F.; Dutton, M. J.; Maruoka, K., Phase-transfer-catalysed asymmetric synthesis of tetrasubstituted allenes. *Nat. Chem.* **2013**, *5* (3), 240-4;(f) Liao, Y.; Yin, X.; Wang, X.; Yu, W.; Fang, D.; Hu, L.; Wang, M.; Liao, J., Enantioselective Synthesis of Multisubstituted Allenes by Cooperative Cu/Pd-Catalyzed 1,4-Arylboration of 1,3-Enynes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2020**, *59* (3), 1176-1180;(g) Armstrong, R. J.; Nandakumar, M.; Dias, R. M. P.; Noble, A.; Myers, E. L.; Aggarwal, V. K., Enantiodivergent Synthesis of Allenes by Point-to-Axial Chirality Transfer. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2018**, *57* (27), 8203-8208.

8.(a) Sang, H. L.; Yu, S.; Ge, S., Copper-catalyzed asymmetric hydroboration of 1,3-enynes with pinacolborane to access chiral allenylboronates. *Org. Chem. Front.* **2018**, *5* (8), 1284-1287;(b) Huang, Y.; Del Pozo, J.; Torker, S.; Hoveyda, A. H., Enantioselective Synthesis of Trisubstituted Allenyl-B(pin) Compounds by Phosphine-Cu-Catalyzed 1,3-Enyne Hydroboration. Insights Regarding Stereochemical Integrity of Cu-Allenyl Intermediates. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (7), 2643-2655;(c) Gao, D. W.; Xiao, Y.; Liu, M.; Liu, Z.; Karunananda, M. K.; Chen, J. S.; Engle, K. M., Catalytic, Enantioselective Synthesis of Allenyl Boronates. *ACS Catal.* **2018**, *8* (4), 3650-3654.

9.(a) Wang, M.; Liu, Z. L.; Zhang, X.; Tian, P. P.; Xu, Y. H.; Loh, T. P., Synthesis of Highly Substituted Racemic and Enantioenriched Allenylsilanes via Copper-Catalyzed Hydrosilylation of (Z)-2-Alken-4ynoates with Silylboronate. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137* (47), 14830-3;(b) Nishimura, T.; Makino, H.; Nagaosa, M.; Hayashi, T., Rhodium-catalyzed enantioselective 1,6-addition of arylboronic acids to enynamides: asymmetric synthesis of axially chiral allenylsilanes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132* (37), 12865-7;(c) Liu, Z. L.; Yang, C.; Xue, Q. Y.; Zhao, M.; Shan, C. C.; Xu, Y. H.; Loh, T. P., Copper-Catalyzed Asymmetric Silylation of Propargyl Dichlorides: Access to Enantioenriched Functionalized Allenylsilanes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2019**, *58* (46), 16538-16542.

10.(a) Danheiser, R. L.; Carini, D. J.; Fink, D. M.; Basak, A., Scope and stereochemical course of the (trimethylsilyl)cyclopentene annulation. *Tetrahedron* **1983**, *39* (6), 935-947;(b) Brawn, R. A.; Panek, J. S., Preparation and use of enantioenriched allenylsilanes for the stereoselective synthesis of homopropargylic ethers. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9* (14), 2689-92;(c) Marshall, J. A.; Maxson, K., Stereoselective synthesis of stereotriad subunits of polyketides through additions of nonracemic allenylsilanes to (R)- and (S)-2-methyl-3-oxygenated propanals. *J. Org. Chem.* **2000**, *65* (2), 630-3;(d) Brawn, R. A.; Panek, J. S., Synthesis of enantioenriched homopropargylic sulfonamides by a three component reaction of aldehydes, sulfonamides, and chiral allenylsilanes. *Org. Lett.* **2009**, *11* (19), 4362-5;(e) Danheiser, R. L.; Kwasigroch, C. A.; Tsai, Y. M., Application of allenylsilanes in [3+2] annulation approaches to oxygen and nitrogen heterocycles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1985**, *107* (24), 7233-7235;(f) Masse, C. E.; Panek, J. S., Diastereoselective Reactions of Chiral Allyl and Allenyl Silanes with Activated C:X. pi.-Bonds. *Chem. Rev.* **1995**, *95* (5), 1293-1316;(g) Fleming, I.; Terrett, N. K., Stereospecific syntheses and reactions of allyl- and allenyl-silanes. *Journal of Organometallic Chemistry* **1984**, *264* (1-2), 99-118;(h) Danheiser, R. L.; Carini, D. J., (Trimethylsilyl)allenes as propargylic anion equivalents: synthesis of homopropargylic alcohols and ethers. *J. Org. Chem.* **1980**, *45* (19), 3925-3927;(i) Brawn, R. A.; Panek, J. S., Stereoselective

C-glycosidations with achiral and enantioenriched allenylsilanes. Org. Lett. 2010, 12 (20), 4624-7;(j) Danheiser, R. L.; Carini, D. J.; Basak, A., (Trimethylsilyl)cyclopentene annulation: a regiocontrolled approach to the synthesis of five-membered rings. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103 (6), 1604-1606; (k) Spiteri, C.; Moses, J. E., Copper-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition: regioselective synthesis of 1,4,5trisubstituted 1,2,3-triazoles. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2010, 49 (1), 31-3;(1) Cai, B.; Evans, R. W.; Wu, J.; Panek, J. S., Total Synthesis of Nuclear Factor of Activated T-Cells-68 (NFAT-68): Sequential Use of Chiral Allenylsilane and Titanium Alkoxide-Mediated Reductive Coupling Bond Construction. Org. Lett. 2016, 18 (17), 4304-7; (m) Danheiser, R. L.; Carini, D. J.; Kwasigroch, C. A., Scope and stereochemical course of the addition of (trimethylsilyl)allenes to ketones and aldehydes. A regiocontrolled synthesis of homopropargylic alcohols. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51 (20), 3870-3878;(n) Weinreb, S. M., Thermal and Lewis Acid Catalyzed Intramolecular Ene Reactions of Allenylsilanes. Synthesis 1998, 1998 (S1), 509-521;(o) Ohmiya, H.; Ito, H.; Sawamura, M., General and functional group-tolerable approach to allenylsilanes by rhodium-catalyzed coupling between propargylic carbonates and a silylboronate. Org. Lett. 2009, 11 (24), 5618-20; (p) Curtis-Long, M. J.; Aye, Y., Vinyl-, propargyl-, and allenylsilicon reagents in asymmetric synthesis: a relatively untapped resource of environmentally benign reagents. Chem. Eur. J. **2009,** 15 (22), 5402-16.

11.(a) Wang, H.; Jui, N. T., Catalytic Defluoroalkylation of Trifluoromethylaromatics with Unactivated Alkenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (1), 163-166;(b) Vogt, D. B.; Seath, C. P.; Wang, H.; Jui, N. T., Selective C-F Functionalization of Unactivated Trifluoromethylarenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141* (33), 13203-13211;(c) Richard T, T.; F. Dean, T., Palladium-Catalyzed Defluorinative Coupling of 1-Aryl-2,2-Difluoroalkenes and Boronic Acids: Stereoselective Synthesis of Monofluorostilbenes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55* (38), 11629-11632.

12.(a) Hu, J.; Zhao, Y.; Shi, Z., Highly tunable multi-borylation of gem-difluoroalkenes via copper catalysis. *Nature Catalysis* **2018**, *1* (11), 860-869;(b) Zhang, J.; Dai, W.; Liu, Q.; Cao, S., Cu-Catalyzed Stereoselective Borylation of gem-Difluoroalkenes with B2pin2. *Org. Lett.* **2017**, *19* (12), 3283-3286;(c) Tan, D.-H.; Lin, E.; Ji, W.-W.; Zeng, Y.-F.; Fan, W.-X.; Li, Q.; Gao, H.; Wang, H., Copper-Catalyzed Stereoselective Defluorinative Borylation and Silylation of gem

-Difluoroalkenes. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2018**, *360* (5), 1032-1037;(d) Sakaguchi, H.; Uetake, Y.; Ohashi, M.; Niwa, T.; Ogoshi, S.; Hosoya, T., Copper-Catalyzed Regioselective Monodefluoroborylation of Polyfluoroalkenes en Route to Diverse Fluoroalkenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139* (36), 12855-12862;(e) Sakaguchi, H.; Ohashi, M.; Ogoshi, S., Fluorinated Vinylsilanes from the Copper-Catalyzed Defluorosilylation of Fluoroalkene Feedstocks. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2018**, *57* (1), 328-332;(f) Niwa, T.; Ochiai, H.; Hosoya, T., Copper-Catalyzed ipso-Borylation of Fluoroarenes. *ACS Catal.* **2017**, *7* (7), 4535-4541;(g) Hu, J.; Han, X.; Yuan, Y.; Shi, Z., Stereoselective Synthesis of Z Fluoroalkenes through Copper-Catalyzed Hydrodefluorination of gem-Difluoroalkenes with Water. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2017**, *56* (43), 13342-13346;(h) Andrella, N. O.; Xu, N.; Gabidullin, B. M.; Ehm, C.; Baker, R. T., Selective Copper Complex-Catalyzed Hydrodefluorination of Fluoroalkenes and Allyl Fluorides: A Tale of Two Mechanisms. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141* (29), 11506-11521;(i) Kojima, R.; Kubota, K.; Ito, H., Stereodivergent hydrodefluorination of gem-difluoroalkenes: selective synthesis of (Z)- and (E)monofluoroalkenes. *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, *53* (77), 10688-10691.

13.(a) Wang, M.; Pu, X.; Zhao, Y.; Wang, P.; Li, Z.; Zhu, C.; Shi, Z., Enantioselective Copper-Catalyzed Defluoroalkylation Using Arylboronate-Activated Alkyl Grignard Reagents. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (29), 9061-9065; (b) Paioti, P. H. S.; Del Pozo, J.; Mikus, M. S.; Lee, J.; Koh, M. J.; Romiti, F.; Torker, S.; Hoveyda, A. H., Catalytic Enantioselective Boryl and Silyl Substitution with Trifluoromethyl Alkenes:

Scope, Utility, and Mechanistic Nuances of Cu-F beta-Elimination. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2019**, *141* (50), 19917-19934; (c) Kojima, R.; Akiyama, S.; Ito, H., A Copper(I)-Catalyzed Enantioselective gamma-Boryl Substitution of Trifluoromethyl-Substituted Alkenes: Synthesis of Enantioenriched gamma,gamma-gem-Difluoroallylboronates. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. **2018**, *57* (24), 7196-7199; (d) Jang, Y. J.; Rose, D.; Mirabi, B.; Lautens, M., Rhodium-Catalyzed Enantioselective Defluorinative alpha-Arylation of Secondary Amides. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. **2018**, *57* (49), 16147-16151; (e) Huang, Y.; Hayashi, T., Rhodium-Catalyzed Asymmetric Arylation/Defluorination of 1-(Trifluoromethyl)alkenes Forming Enantioenriched 1,1-Difluoroalkenes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2016**, *138* (38), 12340-3; (f) Gao, P.; Yuan, C.; Zhao, Y.; Shi, Z., Copper-Catalyzed Asymmetric Defluoroborylation of 1-(Trifluoromethyl)Alkenes. Chem **2018**, *4* (9), 2201-2211; (g) Akiyama, S.; Kubota, K.; Mikus, M. S.; Paioti, P. H. S.; Romiti, F.; Liu, Q.; Zhou, Y.; Hoveyda, A. H.; Ito, H., Catalytic Enantioselective Synthesis of Allylic Boronates Bearing a Trisubstituted Alkenyl Fluoride and Related Derivatives. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. **2019**, *58* (35), 11998-12003.

14.Butcher, T. W.; Yang, J. L.; Amberg, W. M.; Watkins, N. B.; Wilkinson, N. D.; Hartwig, J. F., Desymmetrization of difluoromethylene groups by C-F bond activation. *Nature* **2020**, *583* (7817), 548-553.

15.(a) Garcia-Rubia, A.; Romero-Revilla, J. A.; Mauleon, P.; Gomez Arrayas, R.; Carretero, J. C., Cucatalyzed silylation of alkynes: a traceless 2-pyridylsulfonyl controller allows access to either regioisomer on demand. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2015**, 137 (21), 6857-65;(b) Hazra, C. K.; Fopp, C.; Oestreich, M., Copper(I)-catalyzed regioselective addition of nucleophilic silicon across terminal and internal carboncarbon triple bonds. Chem. Asian J. **2014**, 9 (10), 3005-10;(c) Zhao, M.; Shan, C. C.; Wang, Z. L.; Yang, C.; Fu, Y.; Xu, Y. H., Ligand-Dependent-Controlled Copper-Catalyzed Regio- and Stereoselective Silaboration of Alkynes. Org. Lett. **2019**, 21 (15), 6016-6020;(d) Meng, F.; Jang, H.; Hoveyda, A. H., Exceptionally E- and beta-selective NHC-Cu-catalyzed proto-silyl additions to terminal alkynes and siteand enantioselective proto-boryl additions to the resulting vinylsilanes: synthesis of enantiomerically enriched vicinal and geminal borosilanes. Chem. Eur. J. **2013**, 19 (9), 3204-14;(e) Fujihara, T.; Tani, Y.; Semba, K.; Terao, J.; Tsuji, Y., Copper-catalyzed silacarboxylation of internal alkynes by employing carbon dioxide and silylboranes. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. **2012**, 51 (46), 11487-90;(f) Wang, P.; Yeo, X. L.; Loh, T. P., Copper-catalyzed highly regioselective silylcupration of terminal alkynes to form alphavinylsilanes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2011**, 133 (5), 1254-6.

16.(a) Uehling, M. R.; Suess, A. M.; Lalic, G., Copper-catalyzed hydroalkylation of terminal alkynes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137* (4), 1424-7;(b) Uehling, M. R.; Rucker, R. P.; Lalic, G., Catalytic anti-Markovnikov hydrobromination of alkynes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (24), 8799-803;(c) Shi, S. L.; Buchwald, S. L., Copper-catalysed selective hydroamination reactions of alkynes. *Nat. Chem.* **2015**, *7* (1), 38-44;(d) Mailig, M.; Hazra, A.; Armstrong, M. K.; Lalic, G., Catalytic Anti-Markovnikov Hydroallylation of Terminal and Functionalized Internal Alkynes: Synthesis of Skipped Dienes and Trisubstituted Alkenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139* (20), 6969-6977;(e) Chemla, F.; Ferreira, F., Carbocupration of Alkynes. In PATAI'S Chemistry of Functional Groups, 2011;(f) Whittaker, A. M.; Lalic, G., Monophasic catalytic system for the selective semireduction of alkynes. *Org. Lett.* **2013**, *15* (5), 1112-5;(g) Barbero, A.; Pulido, F. J., Allylsilanes and vinylsilanes from silylcupration of carbon-carbon multiple bonds: scope and synthetic applications. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2004**, *37* (10), 817-25.

17.(a) Yoshida, H.; Hayashi, Y.; Ito, Y.; Takaki, K., Inverse regioselectivity in the silylstannylation of alkynes and allenes: copper-catalyzed three-component coupling with a silylborane and a tin alkoxide. *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51* (46), 9440-2;(b) Xu, Y. H.; Wu, L. H.; Wang, J.; Loh, T. P., Synthesis of multi-

substituted vinylsilanes via copper(I)-catalyzed hydrosilylation reactions of allenes and propiolate derivatives with silylboronates. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50* (54), 7195-7;(c) Tani, Y.; Yamaguchi, T.; Fujihara, T.; Terao, J.; Tsuji, Y., Copper-catalyzed Silylative Allylation of Ketones and Aldehydes Employing Allenes and Silylboranes. *Chem. Lett.* **2015**, *44* (3), 271-273;(d) Tani, Y.; Fujihara, T.; Terao, J.; Tsuji, Y., Copper-catalyzed regiodivergent silacarboxylation of allenes with carbon dioxide and a silylborane. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (51), 17706-9;(e) He, Z. T.; Tang, X. Q.; Xie, L. B.; Cheng, M.; Tian, P.; Lin, G. Q., Efficient Access to Bicyclo[4.3.0]nonanes: Copper-Catalyzed Asymmetric Silylative Cyclization of Cyclohexadienone-Tethered Allenes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2015**, *54* (49), 14815-8;(f) Fujihara, T.; Sawada, A.; Yamaguchi, T.; Tani, Y.; Terao, J.; Tsuji, Y., Boraformylation and Silaformylation of Allenes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2015**, *54* (49), 14815-8;(f) Fujihara, C.; Liu, X. W.; Da, B. C.; Li, J. J.; Ahmad, T.; Loh, T. P.; Xu, Y. H., Copper-catalyzed silylation reactions of propargyl epoxides: easy access to 2,3-allenols and stereodefined alkenes. *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, *53* (67), 9344-9347.

18.(a) Romanov-Michailidis, F.; Ravetz, B. D.; Paley, D. W.; Rovis, T., Ir(III)-Catalyzed Carbocarbation of Alkynes through Undirected Double C-H Bond Activation of Anisoles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (16), 5370-5374;(b) Hamel, J. D.; Hayashi, T.; Cloutier, M.; Savoie, P. R.; Thibeault, O.; Beaudoin, M.; Paquin, J. F., Highly regioselective gold-catalyzed formal hydration of propargylic gem-difluorides. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2017**, *15* (46), 9830-9836;(c) Hachem, A.; Grée, R.; Hariss, L.; Bouhadir, K.; Roisnel, T., Synthesis of Novel Fluorinated Benzofurans and Dihydrobenzofurans. *Synlett* **2016**, *28* (02), 195-200.

19.Yu, Y. B.; He, G. Z.; Zhang, X., Synthesis of alpha,alpha-difluoromethylene alkynes by palladiumcatalyzed gem-difluoropropargylation of aryl and alkenyl boron reagents. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2014**, *53* (39), 10457-61.

20.(a) An, L.; Xu, C.; Zhang, X., Highly selective nickel-catalyzed gem-difluoropropargylation of unactivated alkylzinc reagents. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8* (1), 1460;(b) Feng, Z.; Xiao, Y. L.; Zhang, X., Transition-Metal (Cu, Pd, Ni)-Catalyzed Difluoroalkylation via Cross-Coupling with Difluoroalkyl Halides. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2018**, *51* (9), 2264-2278.

21.(a) Hazra, A.; Lee, M. T.; Chiu, J. F.; Lalic, G., Photoinduced Copper-Catalyzed Coupling of Terminal Alkynes and Alkyl Iodides. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57* (19), 5492-5496; (b) Dong, X. Y.; Zhang, Y. F.; Ma, C. L.; Gu, Q. S.; Wang, F. L.; Li, Z. L.; Jiang, S. P.; Liu, X. Y., A general asymmetric copper-catalysed Sonogashira C(sp(3))-C(sp) coupling. *Nat. Chem.* **2019**, *11* (12), 1158-1166.

22.Lee, J.; Radomkit, S.; Torker, S.; Del Pozo, J.; Hoveyda, A. H., Mechanism-based enhancement of scope and enantioselectivity for reactions involving a copper-substituted stereogenic carbon centre. *Nat. Chem.* **2018**, *10* (1), 99-108.

23.Tian, Y. M.; Guo, X. N.; Kuntze-Fechner, M. W.; Krummenacher, I.; Braunschweig, H.; Radius, U.; Steffen, A.; Marder, T. B., Selective Photocatalytic C-F Borylation of Polyfluoroarenes by Rh/Ni Dual Catalysis Providing Valuable Fluorinated Arylboronate Esters. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (50), 17612-17623.

24.Somerville, R. J.; Hale, L. V. A.; Gomez-Bengoa, E.; Bures, J.; Martin, R., Intermediacy of Ni-Ni Species in sp(2) C-O Bond Cleavage of Aryl Esters: Relevance in Catalytic C-Si Bond Formation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (28), 8771-8780.

25.Dang, H.; Mailig, M.; Lalic, G., Mild copper-catalyzed fluorination of alkyl triflates with potassium fluoride. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2014**, *53* (25), 6473-6.

26.(a) He, Y.; Wang, B.; Dukor, R. K.; Nafie, L. A., Determination of absolute configuration of chiral molecules using vibrational optical activity: a review. *Applied Spectroscopy* **2011**, 65 (7), 699-723;(b)

Merten, C.; Golub, T. P.; Kreienborg, N. M., Absolute Configurations of Synthetic Molecular Scaffolds from Vibrational CD Spectroscopy. *J. Org. Chem.* **2019**, *84* (14), 8797-8814;(c) Polavarapu, P. L.; Santoro, E., Vibrational optical activity for structural characterization of natural products. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2020**, *37* (12), 1661-1699;(d) Chamberlain, B. T.; Vincent, M.; Nafie, J.; Muller, P.; Greka, A.; Wagner, F. F., Multigram Preparation of BRD4780 Enantiomers and Assignment of Absolute Stereochemistry. J. Org. Chem. **2021**, *86* (5), 4281-4289.

27.Devlin, F. J.; Stephens, P. J.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Frisch, M. J., Ab InitioPrediction of Vibrational Absorption and Circular Dichroism Spectra of Chiral Natural Products Using Density Functional Theory: Camphor and Fenchone. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **1997**, *101* (35), 6322-6333.

28.(a) Polavarapu, P. L.; Covington, C. L., Comparison of experimental and calculated chiroptical spectra for chiral molecular structure determination. *Chirality* **2014**, *26* (9), 539-52;(b) Debie, E.; De Gussem, E.; Dukor, R. K.; Herrebout, W.; Nafie, L. A.; Bultinck, P., A confidence level algorithm for the determination of absolute configuration using vibrational circular dichroism or Raman optical activity. *ChemPhysChem* **2011**, *12* (8), 1542-1549.

29.(a) Cirriez, V.; Rasson, C.; Hermant, T.; Petrignet, J.; Diaz Alvarez, J.; Robeyns, K.; Riant, O., Coppercatalyzed addition of nucleophilic silicon to aldehydes. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2013, 52 (6), 1785-8;(b) Gibbons, S. K.; Hughes, R. P.; Glueck, D. S.; Royappa, A. T.; Rheingold, A. L.; Arthur, R. B.; Nicholas, A. D.; Patterson, H. H., Synthesis, Structure, and Luminescence of Copper(I) Halide Complexes of Chiral Bis(phosphines). Inorg. Chem. 2017, 56 (21), 12809-12820;(c) Gurung, S. K.; Thapa, S.; Kafle, A.; Dickie, D. A.; Giri, R., Copper-catalyzed Suzuki-Miyaura coupling of arylboronate esters: transmetalation with (PN)CuF and identification of intermediates. Org. Lett. 2014, 16 (4), 1264-7;(d) Lee, M.; Nguyen, M.; Brandt, C.; Kaminsky, W.; Lalic, G., Catalytic Hydroalkylation of Allenes. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2017, 56 (49), 15703-15707; (e) Mita, T.; Chen, J.; Sugawara, M.; Sato, Y., One-Pot Synthesis of a-Amino Acids from CO2 Using a Bismetal Reagent with Si-B Bond. Org. Lett. **2012,** 14 (24), 6202-6205; (f) Shibasaki, M.; Kanai, M., Copper(I) Fluoride and Copper(II) Fluoride. In Encyclopedia of Reagents for Organic Synthesis, American Cancer Society: 2007;(g) Suess, A. M.; Uehling, M. R.; Kaminsky, W.; Lalic, G., Mechanism of Copper-Catalyzed Hydroalkylation of Alkynes: An Unexpected Role of Dinuclear Copper Complexes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (24), 7747-53;(h) Wyss, C. M.; Tate, B. K.; Bacsa, J.; Wieliczko, M.; Sadighi, J. P., Dinuclear µ-fluoro cations of copper, silver and gold. Polyhedron 2014, 84, 87-95.

30.(a) Meng, F.-F.; Xie, J.-H.; Xu, Y.-H.; Loh, T.-P., Catalytically Asymmetric Synthesis of 1,3-Bis(silyl)propenes via Copper-Catalyzed Double Proto-Silylations of Polar Enynes. *ACS Catal.* **2018**, 8 (6), 5306-5312;(b) Plotzitzka, J.; Kleeberg, C., [(NHC)Cu(I)-ER3] Complexes (ER3 = SiMe2Ph, SiPh3, SnMe3): From Linear, Mononuclear Complexes to Polynuclear Complexes with Ultrashort Cu(I)...Cu(I) Distances. *Inorg. Chem.* **2016**, 55 (10), 4813-23;(c) Plotzitzka, J.; Kleeberg, C., [(18-C-6)K][(N identical withC)Cu(I)-SiMe2Ph], a Potassium Silylcyanocuprate as a Catalyst Model for Silylation Reactions with Silylboranes: Syntheses, Structures, and Catalytic Properties. *Inorg. Chem.* **2017**, 56 (11), 6671-6680.

31.(a) Ohmiya, H.; Yokobori, U.; Makida, Y.; Sawamura, M., General approach to allenes through copper-catalyzed gamma-selective and stereospecific coupling between propargylic phosphates and alkylboranes. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13* (23), 6312-5;(b) Zhong, C.; Sasaki, Y.; Ito, H.; Sawamura, M., The synthesis of allenes by Cu(I)-catalyzed regio- and stereoselective reduction of propargylic carbonates with hydrosilanes. *Chem. Commun.* **2009**, (39), 5850-2.

32.(a) Kuehn, L.; Stang, M.; Wurtemberger-Pietsch, S.; Friedrich, A.; Schneider, H.; Radius, U.; Marder, T. B., FBpin and its adducts and their role in catalytic borylations. *Faraday Discuss.* **2019**, *220* (0), 350-363;(b) Pietsch, S.; Neeve, E. C.; Apperley, D. C.; Bertermann, R.; Mo, F.; Qiu, D.; Cheung, M. S.; Dang, L.; Wang, J.; Radius, U.; Lin, Z.; Kleeberg, C.; Marder, T. B., Synthesis, Structure, and Reactivity of Anionic sp(2) -sp(3) Diboron Compounds: Readily Accessible Boryl Nucleophiles. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2015**, *21* (19), 7082-98.

33.A Lewis base-promoted anti-elimination pathway, proposed in Ref. 13b, is unlikely in the present system because a Lewis base will not be able to coordinate to the highly sterically encumbered Cu in 31.

34.(a) Kobayashi, K.; Yamamoto, Y.; Miyaura, N., Pd/Josiphos-Catalyzed Enantioselective α-Arylation of Silyl Ketene Acetals and Mechanistic Studies on Transmetalation and Enantioselection. *Organometallics* **2011**, *30* (22), 6323-6327;(b) Li, C.; Liu, R. Y.; Jesikiewicz, L. T.; Yang, Y.; Liu, P.; Buchwald, S. L., CuH-Catalyzed Enantioselective Ketone Allylation with 1,3-Dienes: Scope, Mechanism, and Applications. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2019**, *141* (12), 5062-5070.

35.(a) Lu, G.; Liu, R. Y.; Yang, Y.; Fang, C.; Lambrecht, D. S.; Buchwald, S. L.; Liu, P., Ligand-Substrate Dispersion Facilitates the Copper-Catalyzed Hydroamination of Unactivated Olefins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139* (46), 16548-16555; (b) Kang, T.; Erbay, T. G.; Xu, K. L.; Gallego, G. M.; Burtea, A.; Nair, S. K.; Patman, R. L.; Zhou, R.; Sutton, S. C.; McAlpine, I. J.; Liu, P.; Engle, K. M., Multifaceted Substrate-Ligand Interactions Promote the Copper-Catalyzed Hydroboration of Benzylidenecyclobutanes and Related Compounds. *ACS Catal.* **2020**, *10* (21), 13075-13083; (c) Xi, Y.; Su, B.; Qi, X.; Pedram, S.; Liu, P.; Hartwig, J. F., Application of Trimethylgermanyl-Substituted Bisphosphine Ligands with Enhanced Dispersion Interactions to Copper-Catalyzed Hydroboration of Disubstituted Alkenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2020**, *142* (42), 18213-18222.

36.Zhu, Y.; Han, J.; Wang, J.; Shibata, N.; Sodeoka, M.; Soloshonok, V. A.; Coelho, J. A. S.; Toste, F. D., Modern Approaches for Asymmetric Construction of Carbon-Fluorine Quaternary Stereogenic Centers: Synthetic Challenges and Pharmaceutical Needs. *Chem. Rev.* **2018**, *118* (7), 3887-3964.

37.(a) Ritleng, V.; Yandulov, D. V.; Weare, W. W.; Schrock, R. R.; Hock, A. S.; Davis, W. M., Molybdenum triamidoamine complexes that contain hexa-tert-butylterphenyl, hexamethylterphenyl, or pbromohexaisopropylterphenyl substituents. An examination of some catalyst variations for the catalytic reduction of dinitrogen. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126* (19), 6150-63;(b) Franke, S. M.; Tran, B. L.; Heinemann, F. W.; Hieringer, W.; Mindiola, D. J.; Meyer, K., Uranium(III) complexes with bulky aryloxide ligands featuring metal-arene interactions and their reactivity toward nitrous oxide. *Inorg. Chem.* **2013**, *52* (18), 10552-8.

38.Sevov, C. S.; Hartwig, J. F., Iridium-catalyzed oxidative olefination of furans with unactivated alkenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (30), 10625-31.

39.Busacca, C. A.; Lorenz, J. C.; Grinberg, N.; Haddad, N.; Hrapchak, M.; Latli, B.; Lee, H.; Sabila, P.; Saha, A.; Sarvestani, M.; Shen, S.; Varsolona, R.; Wei, X.; Senanayake, C. H., A superior method for the reduction of secondary phosphine oxides. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7* (19), 4277-80.

40.Casalnuovo, A. L.; RajanBabu, T. V.; Ayers, T. A.; Warren, T. H., Ligand Electronic Effects in Asymmetric Catalysis: Enhanced Enantioselectivity in the Asymmetric Hydrocyanation of Vinylarenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116* (22), 9869-9882.

41.Li, Y.; Das, S.; Zhou, S.; Junge, K.; Beller, M., General and selective copper-catalyzed reduction of tertiary and secondary phosphine oxides: convenient synthesis of phosphines. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134* (23), 9727-32.

42.(a) Petit, C.; Favre-Réguillon, A.; Mignani, G.; Lemaire, M., A straightforward synthesis of unsymmetrical secondary phosphine boranes. *Green Chemistry* **2010**, *12* (2);(b) Petit, C.; Favre-Reguillon, A.; Albela, B. l.; Bonneviot, L.; Mignani, G.; Lemaire, M., Mechanistic Insight into the Reduction of Tertiary Phosphine Oxides by Ti(OiPr)4/TMDS. *Organometallics* **2009**, *28* (22), 6379-6382.

43.Arab, G., E. Studies Toward the Synthesis of FK-506. University of Rochester, Rochester, New York, 2013.

44.Mejía, E.; Aardoom, R.; Togni, A., Asymmetric Transfer Hydrogenation of Ketones Catalyzed by Rhenium Complexes with Chiral Ferrocenylphosphane Ligands. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2012**, 2012 (31), 5021-5032.

45.Jung, B.; Hoveyda, A. H., Site- and enantioselective formation of allene-bearing tertiary or quaternary carbon stereogenic centers through NHC-Cu-catalyzed allylic substitution. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134* (3), 1490-3.

46.Hatano, M.; Mizuno, T.; Ishihara, K., Catalytic enantioselective synthesis of sterically demanding alcohols using di(2 degrees -alkyl)zinc prepared by the refined Charette's method. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, 46 (30), 5443-5.

47.(a) Thomas, A. A.; Speck, K.; Kevlishvili, I.; Lu, Z.; Liu, P.; Buchwald, S. L., Mechanistically Guided Design of Ligands That Significantly Improve the Efficiency of CuH-Catalyzed Hydroamination Reactions. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (42), 13976-13984;(b) Guin, J.; Rabalakos, C.; List, B., Highly enantioselective hetero-Diels-Alder reaction of 1,3-bis(silyloxy)-1,3-dienes with aldehydes catalyzed by chiral disulfonimide. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2012**, *51* (35), 8859-63.

48.Imamoto, T.; Kusumoto, T.; Suzuki, N.; Sato, K., Phosphine oxides and lithium aluminum hydridesodium borohydride-cerium(III) chloride: synthesis and reactions of phosphine-boranes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1985**, *107* (18), 5301-5303.

49.Rinehart, N. I.; Kendall, A. J.; Tyler, D. R., A Universally Applicable Methodology for the Gram-Scale Synthesis of Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary Phosphines. *Organometallics* **2018**, *37* (2), 182-190.

50.(a) Qin, L.; Ren, X.; Lu, Y.; Li, Y.; Zhou, J., Intermolecular Mizoroki-Heck reaction of aliphatic olefins with high selectivity for substitution at the internal position. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2012**, *51* (24), 5915-9;(b) Gillon, B. H.; Noonan, K. J. T.; Feldscher, B.; Wissenz, J. M.; Kam, Z. M.; Hsieh, T.; Kingsley, J. J.; Bates, J. I.; Gates, D. P., Molecular studies of the initiation and termination steps of the anionic polymerization of P=C bonds. *Can. J. Chem.* **2007**, *85* (12), 1045-1052.

51.(a) Suginome, M.; Matsuda, T.; Ito, Y., Convenient Preparation of Silylboranes. *Organometallics* **2000**, *19* (22), 4647-4649;(b) Cirriez, V.; Rasson, C.; Riant, O., Synthesis of Acylsilanes by Copper(I)-Catalyzed Addition of Silicon Nucleophiles onto Acid Derivatives. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2013**, 355 (16), 3137-3140.

52.Lee, S. Y.; Neufeind, S.; Fu, G. C., Enantioselective nucleophile-catalyzed synthesis of tertiary alkyl fluorides via the alpha-fluorination of ketenes: synthetic and mechanistic studies. *J Am Chem Soc* **2014**, *136* (25), 8899-902.

53.(a) Hammond, G. B.; Xu, B.; Mae, M.; Hong, J. A.; Li, Y., An Efficient Synthesis of Difluoropropargyl Bromides. *Synthesis* **2006**, 2006 (05), 803-806;(b) Xu, B.; Mashuta, M. S.; Hammond, G. B., Crystallographic characterization of difluoropropargyl indium bromide, a reactive fluoroorganometallic reagent. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2006**, 45 (43), 7265-7.

54.Mizuta, S.; Stenhagen, I. S.; O'Duill, M.; Wolstenhulme, J.; Kirjavainen, A. K.; Forsback, S. J.; Tredwell, M.; Sandford, G.; Moore, P. R.; Huiban, M.; Luthra, S. K.; Passchier, J.; Solin, O.; Gouverneur, V.,

Catalytic decarboxylative fluorination for the synthesis of tri- and difluoromethyl arenes. *Org Lett* **2013**, *15* (11), 2648-51.

55.(a) Li, X.; Li, S.; Sun, S.; Yang, F.; Zhu, W.; Zhu, Y.; Wu, Y.; Wu, Y., Direct Decarboxylative Alkynylation of *α*,*α*-Difluoroarylacetic Acids under Transition Metal-Free Conditions. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2016**, 358 (10), 1699-1704;(b) Tan, X.; Song, T.; Wang, Z.; Chen, H.; Cui, L.; Li, C., Silver-Catalyzed Decarboxylative Bromination of Aliphatic Carboxylic Acids. *Org. Lett.* **2017**, *19* (7), 1634-1637.

56.Geri, J. B.; Wade Wolfe, M. M.; Szymczak, N. K., The Difluoromethyl Group as a Masked Nucleophile: A Lewis Acid/Base Approach. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (30), 9404-9408.

57.Bermejo Góme, A.; González, M. A. C.; Lübcke, M.; Johansson, M. J.; Schou, M.; Szabó, K. J., Synthesis of trifluoromethyl moieties by late-stage copper (I) mediated nucleophilic fluorination. *J. Fluor. Chem.* **2017**, *194*, 51-57.

58.Gouverneur, V.; Verhoog, S.; Pfeifer, L.; Khotavivattana, T.; Calderwood, S.; Collier, T.; Wheelhouse, K.; Tredwell, M., Silver-Mediated 18F-Labeling of Aryl-CF3 and Aryl-CHF2 with 18F-Fluoride. *Synlett* **2015**, *27* (01), 25-28.

59.Haas, A.; Spitzer, M.; Lieb, M., Synthese seitenkettenfluorierter aromatischer Verbindungen und deren chemische Reaktivität. *Chem. Ber.* **1988**, *121* (7), 1329-1340.

60. Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Scalmani, G.; Barone, V.; Petersson, G. A.; Nakatsuji, H.; Li, X.; Caricato, M.; Marenich, A. V.; Bloino, J.; Janesko, B. G.; Gomperts, R.; Mennucci, B.; Hratchian, H. P.; Ortiz, J. V.; Izmaylov, A. F.; Sonnenberg, J. L.; Williams; Ding, F.; Lipparini, F.; Egidi, F.; Goings, J.; Peng, B.; Petrone, A.; Henderson, T.; Ranasinghe, D.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Gao, J.; Rega, N.; Zheng, G.; Liang, W.; Hada, M.; Ehara, M.; Toyota, K.; Fukuda, R.; Hasegawa, J.; Ishida, M.; Nakajima, T.; Honda, Y.; Kitao, O.; Nakai, H.; Vreven, T.; Throssell, K.; Montgomery Jr., J. A.; Peralta, J. E.; Ogliaro, F.; Bearpark, M. J.; Heyd, J. J.; Brothers, E. N.; Kudin, K. N.; Staroverov, V. N.; Keith, T. A.; Kobayashi, R.; Normand, J.; Raghavachari, K.; Rendell, A. P.; Burant, J. C.; Iyengar, S. S.; Tomasi, J.; Cossi, M.; Millam, J. M.; Klene, M.; Adamo, C.; Cammi, R.; Ochterski, J. W.; Martin, R. L.; Morokuma, K.; Farkas, O.; Foresman, J. B.; Fox, D. J., *Gaussian 16 Rev. C.01*, Wallingford, CT, 2016.

61. Towns, J.; Cockerill, T.; Dahan, M.; Foster, I.; Gaither, K.; Grimshaw, A.; Hazlewood, V.; Lathrop, S.; Lifka, D.; Peterson, G. D.; Roskies, R.; Scott, J. R.; Wilkins-Diehr, N. XSEDE: Accelerating Scientific Discovery. *Comput. Sci. Eng.* **2014**, *16*, 62-74.

62. Grimme, S.; Antony, J.; Ehrlich, S.; Krieg, H. A consistent and accurate ab initio parametrization of density functional dispersion correction (DFT-D) for the 94 elements H-Pu. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *132*, 154104.

63. (a) Lee, C.; Yang, W.; Parr, R. G. Development of the Colle-Salvetti correlation-energy formula into a functional of the electron density. *Phys. Rev. B* **1988**, *37*, 785-789; (b) Becke, A. D. Density-functional thermochemistry. III. The role of exact exchange. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1993**, *98*, 5648-5652.

64. Ribeiro, R. F.; Marenich, A. V.; Cramer, C. J.; Truhlar, D. G. Use of Solution-Phase Vibrational Frequencies in Continuum Models for the Free Energy of Solvation. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2011**, *115*, 14556-14562. 65. Luchini, G.; Alegre-Requena, J. V.; Fuenes-Ardoiz, I.; Paton, R. S. *F1000 Research*, **2020**, *9*, 291.

66. Zhao, Y.; Truhlar, D. G. The M06 suite of density functionals for main group thermochemistry, thermochemical kinetics, noncovalent interactions, excited states, and transition elements: two new functionals and systematic testing of four M06-class functionals and 12 other functionals. *Theor. Chem. Acc.* **2008**, *120*, 215-241.

67. Marenich, A. V.; Cramer, C. J.; Truhlar, D. G. Universal Solvation Model Based on Solute Electron Density and on a Continuum Model of the Solvent Defined by the Bulk Dielectric Constant and Atomic Surface Tensions. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2009**, *113*, 6378-6396.

68. (a) Horn, P. R.; Mao, Y.; Head-Gordon, M. Defining the contributions of permanent electrostatics, Pauli repulsion, and dispersion in density functional theory calculations of intermolecular interaction energies. J. Chem. Phys. 2016, 144, 114107; (b) Horn, P. R.; Mao, Y.; Head-Gordon, M. Probing non-covalent interactions with a second generation energy decomposition analysis using absolutely localized molecular orbitals. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2016, 18, 23067-23079; (c) Mao, Y.; Demerdash, O.; Head-Gordon, M.; Head-Gordon, T. Assessing Ion-Water Interactions in the AMOEBA Force Field Using Energy Decomposition Analysis of Electronic Structure Calculations. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 2016, 12, 5422-5437. 69. Shao, Y.; Gan, Z.; Epifanovsky, E.; Gilbert, A. T. B.; Wormit, M.; Kussmann, J.; Lange, A. W.; Behn, A.; Deng, J.; Feng, X.; Ghosh, D.; Goldey, M.; Horn, P. R.; Jacobson, L. D.; Kaliman, I.; Khaliullin, R. Z.; Kuś, T.; Landau, A.; Liu, J.; Proynov, E. I.; Rhee, Y. M.; Richard, R. M.; Rohrdanz, M. A.; Steele, R. P.; Sundstrom, E. J.; Woodcock, H. L.; Zimmerman, P. M.; Zuev, D.; Albrecht, B.; Alguire, E.; Austin, B.; Beran, G. J. O.; Bernard, Y. A.; Berquist, E.; Brandhorst, K.; Bravaya, K. B.; Brown, S. T.; Casanova, D.; Chang, C.-M.; Chen, Y.; Chien, S. H.; Closser, K. D.; Crittenden, D. L.; Diedenhofen, M.; DiStasio, R. A.; Do, H.; Dutoi, A. D.; Edgar, R. G.; Fatehi, S.; Fusti-Molnar, L.; Ghysels, A.; Golubeva-Zadorozhnaya, A.; Gomes, J.; Hanson-Heine, M. W. D.; Harbach, P. H. P.; Hauser, A. W.; Hohenstein, E. G.; Holden, Z. C.; Jagau, T.-C.; Ji, H.; Kaduk, B.; Khistyaev, K.; Kim, J.; Kim, J.; King, R. A.; Klunzinger, P.; Kosenkov, D.; Kowalczyk, T.; Krauter, C. M.; Lao, K. U.; Laurent, A. D.; Lawler, K. V.; Levchenko, S. V.; Lin, C. Y.; Liu, F.; Livshits, E.; Lochan, R. C.; Luenser, A.; Manohar, P.; Manzer, S. F.; Mao, S.-P.; Mardirossian, N.; Marenich, A. V.; Maurer, S. A.; Mayhall, N. J.; Neuscamman, E.; Oana, C. M.; Olivares-Amaya, R.; O'Neill, D. P.; Parkhill, J. A.; Perrine, T. M.; Peverati, R.; Prociuk, A.; Rehn, D. R.; Rosta, E.; Russ, N. J.; Sharada, S. M.; Sharma, S.; Small, D. W.; Sodt, A.; Stein, T.; Stück, D.; Su, Y.-C.; Thom, A. J. W.; Tsuchimochi, T.; Vanovschi, V.; Vogt, L.; Vydrov, O.; Wang, T.; Watson, M. A.; Wenzel, J.; White, A.; Williams, C. F.; Yang, J.; Yeganeh, S.; Yost, S. R.; You, Z.-Q.; Zhang, I. Y.; Zhang, X.; Zhao, Y.; Brooks, B. R.; Chan, G. K. L.; Chipman, D. M.; Cramer, C. J.; Goddard, W. A.; Gordon, M. S.; Hehre, W. J.; Klamt, A.; Schaefer, H. F.; Schmidt, M. W.; Sherrill, C. D.; Truhlar, D. G.; Warshel, A.; Xu, X.; Aspuru-Guzik, A.; Baer, R.; Bell, A. T.; Besley, N. A.; Chai, J.-D.; Dreuw, A.; Dunietz, B. D.; Furlani, T. R.; Gwaltney, S. R.; Hsu, C.-P.; Jung, Y.; Kong, J.; Lambrecht, D. S.; Liang, W.; Ochsenfeld, C.; Rassolov, V. A.; Slipchenko, L. V.; Subotnik, J. E.; Van Voorhis, T.; Herbert, J. M.; Krylov, A. I.; Gill, P. M. W.; Head-Gordon, M. Advances in molecular quantum chemistry contained in the Q-Chem 4 program package. Mol. Phys. 2015, 113, 184-215.

70. Lu, G.; Liu, R. Y.; Yang, Y.; Fang, C.; Lambrecht, D. S.; Buchwald, S. L.; Liu, P. Ligand–Substrate Dispersion Facilitates the Copper-Catalyzed Hydroamination of Unactivated Olefins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 16548-16555.

# Chapter 3

Creation of Fluorine-Containing Quaternary Centers: Copper-Catalzyed Kinetic Resolution of Tetrasubstituted Monofluoro, Allenylsilanes

This chapter describes unpublished results and current research efforts are ongoing.

# **3.1 Introduction**

#### 3.1.1 Creation of Fluorine-Containing Stereocenters from Fluorine-Containing Building Blocks

As the applications of fluorinated molecules in both agrochemical and pharmaceutical industries have grown, improved methods to synthesize existing and new fluorinated motifs have become desirable.<sup>1</sup> Specifically, in the development of therapeutics the iterative process of synthesis, biological assays, and molecular redesign of target compounds has become a fundamental technique in drug discovery. The selective incorporation of fluorine into a compound of interest can alter its pharmacokinetics in dramatic ways, as the introduction of fluorine is known to change a molecule's bioavailability, lipophilicity, and oxidative stability.<sup>1c,2</sup> Thus, the introduction of fluorine to increase a drug's potency against and selectivity for target enzymes is a popular strategy employed by medicinal chemists. Although less than 10 fluorine-containing natural products have been isolated, approximately 35% of agrochemicals and 20% pharmaceuticals contain a fluorine.<sup>3</sup> Since there is a dearth of chiral fluorinated building blocks from nature and given the benefits of fluorine incorporation into organic molecules, there has been drive toward developing stereoselective methods to create fluorine-containing stereocenters.

There are two complimentary strategies for the creation of fluorine-containing stereocenters (Scheme 3.1). The first strategy utilizes nonfluorinated starting material and creates a C–F bond in an enantioselective manner. Enantioselective fluorination has been achieved with both nucleophilic (Scheme 3.1A)<sup>4</sup> and electrophilic (Scheme 3.1B)<sup>5</sup> fluorination reagents. These methods typically employ chiral auxiliaries, stoichiometric chiral reagents, or, ideally, chiral metal or organic catalysts to set the new stereocenter.<sup>1a,1b</sup> The second approach employs fluorinated building blocks and creates C–C or C–X (X = H, Cl, N, S, and C) bonds to set a fluorine-containing stereocenter (Scheme 3.2).<sup>6</sup> This strategy has become popular as achiral fluorinated building blocks are readily available and allows the valorization of prochiral fluorine-containing molecules.<sup>1d</sup>



Scheme 3.1 Enantioselective Nucleophilic and Electrophilic Fluorination

The most well-established fluorinated precursor used to create C–F stereocenters are *a*-fluorocarbonyl compounds (Scheme 3.2A). Methods that utilize these precursors often leverage the reactivity of fluoroenolates and their synthetic equivalents. One of first reports that highlighted this strategy was of the enantioselective aldol reaction where bromofluoroketene silyl acetals were utilized by Kobayashi and coworkers in 1999.<sup>7</sup> Since then, numerous reports of transition metal catalyzed and organocatalyzed transformations have expanded upon this initial discovery by either changing the identity of the carbonyl moiety, moving to less acidic esters and amides from aldehydes and ketones precursors, or by introducing a new electrophile forming C–C, C–H, C–Cl, C–Cl, or C–S bonds.<sup>8,9</sup> New approaches have also been applied to create chiral alkyl fluorides from *a*-fluorocarbonyl compounds such as electrochemistry<sup>9q</sup> and visible light catalysis<sup>9p</sup> (Scheme 3.2B and C). In addition to *a*-fluorocarbonyl

compounds, the [4+2] and [3+3] cycloaddition<sup>10</sup>, cyclopopanation<sup>11</sup>, epoxidation<sup>12</sup> as well as reduction<sup>13,14</sup> of fluoroalkenes has generated both secondary and tertiary fluorine stereocenters (Scheme 3.2D and E).



Scheme 3.2 Fluorine-containing Stereocenters from Fluorinated Building Blocks

Although a majority of the aforementioned reports that generate fluorine stereocenters focus on a-fluorocarbonyl precursors, recent publications have leveraged alternative strategies to utilize noncarbonyl-based fluorinated building blocks. Expanding upon the work from the Fu lab who reported the nickel-catalyzed Negishi cross-coupling of *a*-bromo, *a*-fluoro ketones with aryl zinc nucleophiles that generated chiral tertiary alkyl fluorides,<sup>15</sup> Gandelman and Jiang achieved the Suzuki cross-coupling of unactivated 1-fluoro-1-haloalkanes with alkyl-9BBN reagents (Scheme 3.3A).<sup>16</sup> Compared to earlier work, the creation of chiral secondary fluorides was achieved in positions remote from directing groups. The creation of fluorine-containing quaternary centers is a challenging endeavor, especially distal from a carbonyl-based directing group, but Gandelman's and Jiang's efforts have generated a new strategy to access this motif.<sup>1a,1b</sup> The iridium-catalyzed allylic fluoroalkylation reported by Butcher and Hartwig created fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenters from trisubstituted monofluoroalkenes. This transformation highlights that asymmetric addition of nucleophilic reagents to monofluoroalkenes could circumvent undesired defluorination pathways (Scheme 3.3B).<sup>17</sup> A complementary approach was presented by Toste and Sigman where a palladium-catalyzed arylation of trisubstituted monofluoroalkenes and subsequent chain-walking process furnished alcohols bearing a chiral tertiary fluoride (Scheme 3.3C).<sup>18</sup> A new approach to the creation of fluorine stereocenters was presented by Butcher and Hartwig through the desymmetrization of difluoromethylene groups by an iridium catalyzed allylic substitution of difluoroallylic electrophiles (Scheme 3.3D). This method highlighted that the selective replacement of one of the two enantiotopic C-F bonds was a viable strategy to create fluorinecontaining quaternary stereocenters. Rather than point chirality, O'Connor and Toste demonstrated that axial chirality could be achieved via a copper-catalyzed enantioselective  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination from an alkenyl copper intermediate, generating tetrasubstituted monofluoroallenes (Scheme 3.3E). Not only did this report achieve the desymmetrization of propargylic difluorides, but it also demonstrated for the first time that alkenyl copper species can undergo  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination and that this elimination could be achieved in an enantioselective fashion.



Scheme 3.3 New Approaches toward the Generation of Fluorine-containing Stereocenters

Despite these advancements, the pool of achiral fluorinated building blocks that can be used to create C–F stereocenters is still limited. For instance, the creation of chiral fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenters is still largely limited to *a*-fluorocarbonyl compounds. One way to address this shortcoming would be the employment of tetrasubstituted monofluoroallenes. It was hypothesized that allenyl copper species could be accessed from monofluoroallenyl silanes and that the resulting organocopper species could be trapped by a suitable electrophile, generating a fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenter (Scheme 3.4). Furthermore, since attempts at achieving chirality transfer of this fluorinated substrate were previously unsuccessful, as detailed in chapter 2, it was envisioned that a dynamic kinetic resolution could be achieved provided that a suitable electrophile was selected.<sup>19</sup>



Scheme 3.4 Proposed Reactivity of Chiral, Monofluoroallenyl Copper Complexes

# 3.2 Kinetic Resolution of Tetrasubstituted Monofluoro, Allenylsilanes: Copper-Catalyzed Acylation

# 3.2.1 Results and Discussion

Although propargylations of **1b** did not proceed under Lewis acidic conditions, it was hypothesized that by utilizing racemic **1b** in the presence of a chiral copper fluoride catalyst that a chiral allenyl copper species could be generated (Scheme 3.4). Allenyl copper species are known to react with electrophiles and that the product distributions (allenylation vs propargylation) are dictated by both the ligand and the electrophile (Scheme 3.5).<sup>20</sup> It was envisioned that by employing acyl fluorides and analogs as an electrophile that propargylation would be the dominant pathway for the allenyl copper species and that in the presence of a suitable chiral ligand that the acylation of racemic monofluoro, allenylsilanes

would generated fluorine-containing quaternary stereocenters. Several potential obstacles toward achieving this transformation included controlling the regioselectivity of addition (propargylation or allenylation), preventing unproductive protodesilylation of the starting material, and avoiding defluorination of the product. Herein, the kinetic resolution of tetrasubstituted, monofluoro allenylsilanes via copper-catalyzed acylation is demonstrated. Ongoing studies are aimed at achieving dynamic kinetic resolution through both ligand design and tuning the electrophilicity of the fluoroelectrophile.



Scheme 3.5 Reported Reactivity Trends of Allenylcopper Species

The investigation began by determining if a LCuF species could undergo transmetallation with  $\pm 1b$ . Initial experiments revealed that bidentate phosphine ligands and CuF, generated *in situ* from CsF and LCuOTf, could not only desilylate  $\pm 1b$  but also afforded the desired propargylation product in modest yields (Table 3.1 entries 1-3, 7). By decreasing the concentration of the reaction (entry 5) the mass balance of the reaction improved, but increasing the equivalents of benzoyl fluoride had a negative effect on the yield of  $\pm 1d$  (entry 6). Ultimately, employing 1,2-bis(dicyclohexylphosphino)ethane (dcype) and a solvent combination of MTBE and PhMe generated  $\pm 1d$  in 73% yield (entry 9).

Table 3.1 Optimization of Copper-Catalyzed Desilylative Acylation<sup>a</sup>

Ph SiMe <sub>2</sub> Ph OPiv	+ (2 equiv)		CuOTf•1/2C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>6</sub> L (6 mol <sup>6</sup> CsF (x eq Solvent [0.1 M], 3	(5 mol%) <u>%)</u> uiv) 30°C, 24 h	Ph F Ph	
110		(z oquit)			2.4	
	Entry	L	Solvent	CsF (equiv)	<sup>19</sup> F NMR yield (SM)	
	1	dppBz <sup>b</sup>	PhMe	1.5	47% (0)	
	2	XantPhos <sup>b</sup>	PhMe	1.5	34% (32)	
	3	PCy3 <sup>b</sup>	PhMe	1.5	7% (84)	
	4	dppBz	PhMe	1.0	49% (0)	
	5	dppBz <sup>c</sup>	PhMe	0.25	48% (13)	
	6	dppBz <sup>d</sup>	PhMe	0.25	35% (32)	
	7	dcype	PhMe	1.0	30% (62)	
	8	dcype	MTBE	1.0	33% (0)	
	9	dcype	9:1 PhMe:MTBE	1.0	73% (0)	
	10	dcype	9:1 PhMe:MTBE	2.0	53% (23)	

<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions: ±1b (0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv), PhC(O)F (0.20 mmol, 2.0 equiv), CuOTf·1/2C6H6 (5 mol%), L (6 mol%), solvent (1.0 mL), 30°C, 24 h. 19F NMR yields were determined using PhF as an internal standard; b 40°C; c 0.07 M; d PhC(O)F (4 equiv)

With suitable conditions for the racemic transformation in hand, an initial survey of Josiphos ligands was conducted to ascertain if a similar 3,5-substituent trend that was observed in chapter 2 would emerge with this new transformation (Table 3.2). Although sterically more demanding 3,5-substituents were more effective with respect the enantiomeric excess of **1d**, the trend was not as strong as observed in

the copper-catalyzed, asymmetric  $\beta$ -fluoride elimination reaction. Other suitable chiral ligands were examined under the optimized reaction conditions to determine if another chiral ligand structure would prove more suitable for the asymmetric acylation of allenylsilane **1b** (Table 3.3). Although **1d** was observed in the presence of all of the ligands examined, the class of ligands that generated **1d** in the greatest enantiomeric excess were pyridine-oxazoline (PyOx) ligands (Table 3.3, last row) where 'Bu-PyOx-CF<sub>3</sub> generated **1d** in 74% *ee*.



Table 3.2 Enantioselective Copper-Catalyzed Desilylative Acylation – Josiphos<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions:  $\pm 1b$  (0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv), PhC(O)F (0.20 mmol, 2.0 equiv), CuOTf·1/2C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (5 mol%), L (6 mol%), solvent (1.5 mL), 24 h; 19F NMR yields were determined using PhF as an internal standard; enantiomeric excess determined by HPLC with a chiral stationary phase; <sup>b</sup>(PPh3)<sub>3</sub>CuF·2MeOH (6 mol%)



Table 3.3 The Effect of Chiral Ligand on Copper-Catalyzed Desilylative Acylation<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Standard conditions:  $\pm 1b$  (0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv), PhC(O)F (0.20 mmol, 2.0 equiv), CuOTf·1/2C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (6 mol%), L (7 mol%), solvent (1.5 mL), 24 h; <sup>19</sup>F NMR yields were determined using PhF as an internal standard; enantiomeric excess determined by HPLC with a chiral stationary phase.

Further optimization with the PyrOx ligands led to enhancements to both the chemical yield and enantiomeric excess of 1d (Table 3.4). Increasing the catalyst loading of the ligand and copper had a positive effect on the *ee* % of 1d (entries 1-3). The transformation was found to be very sensitive to solvent effects, suggesting that in more polar solvents that an uncatalyzed pathway mediated by CsF becomes operative (entries 4-10). Ultimately with both 'Bu-PyOx-CF<sub>3</sub> and 'Bu-PyOx as the ligand and cyclohexane as the solvent 1b could be obtained in 88–90% *ee* and 39–62% yield (entries 11 and 14). The allenyl TES,

 $\pm 1d$ -Et<sub>3</sub>Si, was subjected to similar conditions, but gave inferior results compared to  $\pm 1d$  (See Table S1 and S2).

Ph ±1b	iiMe <sub>2</sub> Ph	iv	CuOTf+1/2C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>6</sub> (x mol%) <u>L (x mol%), PhCOF</u> (2.0 equiv) CsF(25%)-CaF <sub>2</sub> (1 equiv) Solvent [0.067 M] 25 °C, 24–25 h			Ph F Ph 1d	OPiv
	entry	Cu (%)	L (%)	Solvent	yield (SM) <sup>a</sup>	ee (%) <sup>b</sup>	
	1	6	A (7)	PhMe:MTBE 9:1	11% (54)	-45	F <sub>3</sub> C-
	2	6	A (12)	PhMe:MTBE 9:1	13% (50)	-62	
	3	10	A (12)	PhMe:MTBE 9:1	23% (37)	-75	A
	4	6	A (7)	DCM	24% (32)	-4	
	5	6	A (7)	1,2-DCE	20% (39)	+2	
	6	6	A (7)	Et <sub>2</sub> O	11% (40)	-46	
	7	6	A (7)	MTBE	12% (38)	-57	
	8	6	A (7)	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub>	39% (28)	-90	D
	9	6	A (7)	1,4-Dioxane	27% (0)	0	
	10	10	A (12)	PhMe	27% (34)	-82	
	11	10	A (12)	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub>	44% (17)	-88	
	12	10	A (20)	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub>	36% (24)	-84	
	12 <sup>c</sup>	10	A (12)	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub>	28% (35)	-74	
	13	10	B (12)	PhMe	27% (34)	-60	
	14	10	B (12)	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub>	62% (3)	-88	

Table 3.4 PyOx-Copper-Catalyzed Desilylative Acylation<sup>a</sup>

At this point it was unclear if the current reaction was a kinetic resolution or a dynamic kinetic resolution. When the reaction was quenched at 90% conversion of  $\pm 1b$ , the unreacted 1b was recovered and analyzed by chiral HPLC. The enantiomeric excess of the unreacted allene was determined to be 98% (Equation 3.1). Interestingly, the recovered allene was the (R) enantiomer, suggesting that the (S)-PyOx copper catalyst reacts preferentially or productively with the (S) enantiomer of the allene. Although there a several reports of allenyl copper species, there has been only one study that examined the configurational stability of these species.<sup>20</sup> DFT calculations by Hovedya and coworkers indicated that the 1,3 isomerization of the allenyl copper species to the propargyl copper species is stereospecific.<sup>20f</sup> However, these calculations were only performed with bidentate phosphine ligands. Other reports in the literature suggest that copper species can racemization chiral allenes.<sup>20f,21</sup> Currently, other electrophiles are being explored that would alter the energy landscape of the current transformation. Several alternative electrophiles would be sulfonyl fluorides, fluoroformates, and carbamoyl fluorides (Figure 3.1). If there is a viable pathway for racemization, then by decreasing the electrophilicity of the electrophile the relative rates of electrophile trapping and racemization could become competitive, allowing for dynamic kinetic resolution to become operative. However, changing the electrophilicity of the electrophile could also influence the  $\alpha$ : $\gamma$  ratio.<sup>20</sup> Provided that a copper catalyzed racemization could be realized, it would highlight a new mechanism for the dynamic kinetic resolution of internal allenes, which is largely limited to the generation of allyl metal intermediates resulting from the addition of metal hydrides into allenes or displacement of allenyl electrophiles.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Standard conditions:  $\pm 1b$  (0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv), PhC(O)F (0.20 mmol, 2.0 equiv), CuOTf·1/2C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (6 mol%), L (7 mol%), solvent (1.5 mL), 24 h; <sup>19</sup>F NMR yields were determined using PhF as an internal standard; enantiomeric excess determined by HPLC with a chiral stationary phase.



# **3.3 Conclusion**

In conclusion, attempts at product diversification of the monofluoroallenes described in chapter 2 led to the discovery of the kinetic resolution of tetrasubstituted, monofluoro allenyl silanes *via* coppercatalyzed acylation. The resulting propargyl, fluorine-containing quaternary centers are highly desirable and cannot be obtained with current technologies. Ongoing research include optimization of the kinetic resolution by machine learning in collaboration with the Sigman Group at Utah and examining if dynamic kinetic resolution can be achieved by rationally tuning the electrophile (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Potential Fluoroelectrophiles with Differing Electrophilicities

#### 3.4 Supporting Information

# 3.4.1 General Information

All air-sensitive manipulations were conducted under an inert atmosphere in a nitrogen-filled glovebox or by standard Schlenk techniques. Vessels used in air-free reactions were oven-dried and cooled under dynamic vacuum (once at ambient temperature, vessels were refilled with nitrogen and evacuated two more times) prior to use. Unless otherwise noted, reagents were purchased from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Column chromatography was performed using ICN SiliTech 32-63D 60Å silica gel. Commercial grade solvents were used for reactions without further purification except as indicated below. Dichloromethane ( $CH_2Cl_2$ ), acetonitrile ( $CH_3CN$ ), toluene (PhMe), benzene ( $C_6H_6$ ), diethyl ether (Et<sub>2</sub>O), dimethyl formamide (DMF), triethylamine (Et<sub>3</sub>N) and tetrahydrofuran (THF) were dried by passing commerically available pre-dried, oxygen-free formulations through activated alumina columns under argon. Trifluorotoluene (PhCF<sub>3</sub>), cyclohexane ( $C_6H_{12}$ ), methyl tert-butyl ether (MBTE), acetic acid (AcOH), trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), pyridine, diethylamine ( $Et_2NH$ ) and 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE) were distilled under a nitrogen atmosphere from either CaH<sub>2</sub> or P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> as described in literature. All solvents employed in alkyne silvlation reactions were degassed by freeze-pump-thaw cycles (three cycles) using liquid nitrogen and stored over activated 3 Å molecular sieves. Thin layer chromatography analysis was performed using Merck 60 pre-coated silica gel plates with F254 indicator. Visualization was accomplished by iodine, panisaldehyde, potassium permanganate, Dragendorff-Munier, cerium ammonium molybdate, and/or UV light (254 nm). Proton nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker AVQ-400, DRX-500, Neo-500 and AV-600 instruments with 400, 500 and 600 MHz frequencies. Carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>13</sup>C NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker DRX-500, Neo-500, and AV-600 instruments with a <sup>13</sup>C operating frequency of 126 and 150 MHz. Fluorine-19 nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>19</sup>F NMR) spectra were recorded on Bruker AVQ-400, DRX-500, Neo-500, and AV-600 instruments with 376, 471, and 565 MHz frequencies. The proton signal for the residual non-deuterated solvent ( $\delta$  7.26 for CHCl<sub>3</sub>,  $\delta$  5.32 for CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) was used as an internal reference for <sup>1</sup>H spectra. For <sup>13</sup>C spectra, chemical shifts are reported relative to the  $\delta$  77.16 resonance of CDCl<sub>3</sub> and relative to the  $\delta$  53.84 for CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>. For <sup>19</sup>F spectra, chemical shifts are reported in relative to the  $\delta$  -113.15 resonance of PhF. Coupling constants are reported in Hz. Mass spectral data were obtained from either the UC-Berkeley Catalysis Center operated by usage of an Agilent Time of Flight (Q-TOF) mass spectrometer in ESI (or APCI) mode or the QB3/Chemistry Mass Spectrometry Facility at UC-Berkeley. Monofluoroallenes were synthesized as described in chapter 2. Acyl fluorides were prepared according to literature procedures and their spectra match those reported in the literature.23

#### 3.4.2 Substrate Synthesis

Fluoroformates

To a cycled 3-neck round bottom flask equipped with an additional funnel, triphosgene (0.5 equiv) was added followed by  $CH_2Cl_2$  [0.57 M]. Once the solid was dissolved, the flask was placed in a -78°C bath. Pyridine (1.0 equiv) was added dropwise and after 30 minutes a solution of phenol (1.0 equiv) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [0.92 M] was added dropwise. After 12 hours, the reaction was removed from the warmed cooling bath and allowed to stir at room temperature. The reaction was monitored (by GC-MS) until full consumption of the phenol. Once the phenol was completely consumed, the reaction was poured onto water, diluted with EtOAc and Et<sub>2</sub>O, and shaken vigorously in a fumehood. The aqueous layer was disposed of (neutralize with NaOH before disposing into aqueous waste container), and the organic phase was washed with brine, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude mixture was transferred with anhydrous CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [1.25 M] to a cycled round bottom flask equipped with an addition funnel and cooled to 0°C. Spray dried KF (1.6 equiv) was weighed in a glovebox and added to the solution. 18-c-6 (15 mol%) was charged to the additional funnel and dissolved in  $CH_2Cl_2$  [0.75 M wrt 18-c-6], which was added dropwise to the 0°C slurry. The reaction was stirred vigorously and was allowed to reach ambient temperate overnight. Once full conversion of the chloroformate had been achieved (monitored by GC-MS), the reaction was filtered over a short pad of SiO<sub>2</sub> and concentrated. The crude mixture was purified by distillation. Note: Fluoroformates streak on SiO2 and could not be successfully purified by column chromatography.



# [1,1'-biphenyl]-4-yl carbonofluoridate

Utilizing 4-phenylphenol (35.2 g, 207 mmol, 1 equiv) triphosgene (30.69 g, 103 mmol, 0.5 equiv), pyridine (17.0 mL, 207 mmol, 1.0 equiv), KF (18.6 g, 320 mmol, 1.6 equiv), and 18c-6 (8.0 g, 15 mol%), the fluoroformate was isolated by distillation (140-143 °C, 400 mtorr). Upon reaching room temperature, the oil solidified to a colorless solid. Yield 41% (18.0 g) over two-steps. The major byproduct was the carbonate (from the first step in the sequence).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.72–7.65 (m, 2H), 7.61 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 7.51 (q, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.48–7.42 (m, 1H), 7.38 (dd, *J* = 8.6, 3.6 Hz, 2H). <sup>19</sup>**F** NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -15.20 (s, 1F). <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  150.0, 143.9 (dd, *J* = 286.5, 2.4 Hz), 140.6, 139.8, 129.0, 128.6, 127.9, 127.3, 120.4.



naphthalen-1-yl carbonofluoridate

Utilizing 1-naphthalenol (18.5 g, 127 mmol, 1 equiv), triphosgene (15.5 g, 51 mmol, 0.5 equiv), pyridine (10.2 mL, 127 mmol, 1.0 equiv), KF (8.8 g, 152 mmol, 1.6 equiv), and 18c-6 (5.0 g, 20 mol%), the fluoroformate was isolated by distillation (88-91°C, 110 mtorr) as a colorless oil. Yield 59% (11.4 g) over two-steps. The major byproduct was the carbonate (from the first step in the sequence).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.04 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 7.92 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.85–7.80 (m, 1H), 7.65–7.56 (m, 2H), 7.50 (d, *J* = 5.0 Hz, 2H). <sup>19</sup>**F** NMR (565 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -15.40 (s, 1F). <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  146.3, 145.3–142.6 (m), 134.7, 128.2, 127.5, 127.3, 127.1, 125.5, 125.2, 120.3, 116.7.

**Carbamoyl Fluorides** 

$$NHR_{2} \begin{array}{c} 1) \text{ Triphosgene } (0.5 \text{ equiv}) \\ \text{ pyridine } (1.0 \text{ equiv}) \\ CH_{2}CI_{2}, -78^{\circ}C, 30 \text{ min} \\ 2) R_{2}NH (1.0 \text{ equiv}) \\ -78^{\circ}C \text{ to } RT \\ \hline 3) 18\text{-}c\text{-}6 (15 \text{ mol}\%) \\ \text{KF } (1.6 \text{ equiv}) \\ CH_{2}CI_{2}, 0^{\circ}C \text{ to } rt \end{array} \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ R_{2}N \\ \hline \end{array} \end{array}$$

To a cycled 3-neck round bottom flask equipped with an additional funnel, triphosgene (0.5 equiv) was added followed by CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [0.4 M]. Once the solid was dissolved, the flask was placed in a -78°C bath. Pyridine (1.0 equiv) was added dropwise and after 30 minutes a solution of amine (1.0 equiv) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> [2.0 M] was added dropwise. After 12 hours, the reaction was removed from the warmed cooling bath and allowed to stir at room temperature. The reaction was monitored (by GC-MS) until full consumption of the amine. The temperature was raised to 40 °C to achieve full conversion. Once the amine was completely consumed, the reaction was poured onto water, diluted with EtOAc and Et2O, and shaken vigorously in a fumehood. The aqueous layer was disposed of (neutralize with NaOH before disposing into aqueous waste container), and the organic phase was washed with brine, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude mixture was transferred with anhydrous  $CH_2Cl_2$  [0.85 M] to a cycled round bottom flask and cooled to 0°C. Spray dried KF (2.0 equiv) was weighed in a glovebox and added to the solution followed by 18-c-6 (20 mol%). The reaction was stirred vigorously and was allowed to reach ambient temperate overnight. Once full conversion of the carbamoyl chloride had been achieved (monitored by GC-MS), the reaction was filtered over a short pad of SiO<sub>2</sub> and concentrated. The crude mixture was purified by distillation or column chromatography. Note: Carbamoyl fluorides based on heterocycles streak on SiO<sub>2</sub> and could not be successfully purified by column chromatography.



3,5-dimethyl-1H-pyrazole-1-carbonyl fluoride

Utilizing 3,5-dimethylpyrazole (19.4 g, 200 mmol, 1 equiv), triphosgene (30.0 g, 100 mmol, 0.5 equiv), pyridine (20.0 mL, 200 mmol, 1.0 equiv), KF (21.4 g, 368 mmol, 1.6 equiv), and 18c-6 (9.7 g, 20 mol%), the carbamoyl fluoride was isolated by distillation (50-70°C, 110 mtorr)as a colorless solid that was subsequentially recrystallized from  $Et_2O$  and pentane at -20°C to remove residual 18-c-6. Yield 16% (4.5 g) over two-steps. The major byproduct was the urea (from the first step in the sequence). The reaction had to be heated at 40°C for the formation of the carbamoyl chloride to occur.

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  6.03 (s, 1H), 2.45 (s, 3H), 2.26–2.13 (m, 3H). <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz,  $CDCl_3$ )  $\delta$  -4.97 (s, 1F). <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz,  $CDCl_3$ )  $\delta$  155.4, 146.1, 140.2 (d, *J* = 307.1 Hz), 112.6 (d, *J* = 5.2 Hz), 13.8 (d, *J* = 3.3 Hz), 13.4.



methoxy(naphthalen-1-ylmethyl)carbamic fluoride

Utilizing *O*-methyl-*N*-(naphthalen-1-ylmethyl)hydroxylamine (18.0 g, 96 mmol, 1 equiv), triphosgene (14.24 g, 48 mmol, 0.5 equiv), pyridine (8.0 mL, 96 mmol, 1.0 equiv), KF (6.2 g, 103 mmol, 1.07 equiv), and 18c-6 (2.53 g, 10 mol%), the carbamoyl fluoride was purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:13 to 1:9 EtOAc:Hexanes) to afford the desired carbamoyl fluoride as a colorless oil that turned orange over time (14.32 g, 64%).

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 8.11 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.99–7.90 (m, 2H), 7.66–7.62 (m, 1H), 7.61–7.50 (m, 3H), 5.17 (s, 2H), 3.49 (s, 3H). <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ -24.82 (s, 1F). <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 147.2 (d, *J* = 295.0 Hz), 134.4, 132.0, 130.6, 129.9, 129.4, 128.4, 127.4, 126.7, 125.9, 123.6, 63.6, 51.6.



1H-indole-1-carbonyl fluoride

To a cycled 3-neck round bottom flask equipped with an additional funnel, indole (11.7 g, 100 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added followed by THF [0.3 M]. Once the solid was dissolved, the flask was placed in a 0°C ice bath. "BuLi (42ml, 105mmol, 1.05 equiv; 2.5 M in Hexanes) was added dropwise over 10 minutes and after an additional 60 minutes of stirring,  $CO_2$  (generated from dry ice and passed through a drying column) was sparged through the solution for 30 minutes. After an addition hour under a  $CO_2$  atmosphere, DAST(13.5 ml, 100 mmol, 1 equiv) was added. The reaction was allowed to reach room temperate overnight (12 hours). The reaction was poured onto NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (sat.), diluted with EtOAc and Et<sub>2</sub>O (1:1, 1000 mL total), and shaken vigorously. The aqueous layer was disposed of and the organic phase was washed with brine, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The crude mixture was quickly purified by silica gel column chromatography (1:15 to 1:10 EtOAc:Hexanes) to afford the desired carbamoyl fluoride as a colorless solid that was subsequently recrystallized from pentane at -20°C (3.3 g, 20%). Note: The carbamoyl fluoride appears pone to hydrolysis (observed decomposition when dissolved in old, wet bottles of CDCl<sub>3</sub>). By NMR a mixture of rotamers is present.

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>) δ 8.13 (s, 1H), 7.22 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.12 – 7.03 (m, 2.5H), 6.64 (s, 1H), 6.07 (s, 1H). <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (565 MHz, C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>) δ -5.29 (s, 1F), -7.22 (s, 0.25F). <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>) δ 140.1 (d, J = 301.3 Hz), 135.6, 130.9 (d, J = 3.8 Hz), 128.4, 125.7, 124.7, 124.5, 121.6, 115.0 (d, J = 7.6 Hz), 111.4, 110.5.

# 3.4.3 General Procedure for Copper-Catalyzed Kinetic Resolution: Screening Tables



In a nitrogen filled glovebox, a stir bar, CuX (x mol%), and ligand (x +1 mol%) were charged to a 1dram vial. Solvent (1.5 mL) was added and the mixture was stirred at ambient temperature for 45–60 minutes. (If the ligand was an oil, then a 0.2 M solution in PhMe was prepared and x + 1 mol% was added dropwise to a stirring solution (1.4 mL) of the copper salt.) Then racemic allenylsilane (0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and acyl fluoride (0.2 mmol, 2.0 equiv) were added. The mixture was stirred for 2–4 minutes before the addition of CsF(25%)–CaF<sub>2</sub> (38 mg, 0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv). The vial was sealed with a ptfe-lined, thermal-rated cap, secured with electrical tape, removed from the glovebox, and placed in a preheated, heating block set at 900 rpm. After 24–25 h, the reaction was removed to ambient temperature, diluted with EtOAc (500  $\mu$ L) and PhF (9.5  $\mu$ L, 0.1 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and the NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1 mL) were added. The contents were vigorously stirred for 4 minutes and the layers were allowed to separate. An <sup>19</sup>F NMR was acquired. The organic phase was diluted with EtOAc (4 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, concentrated, and purified by preparative TLC. The enantiomeric excess was determined by a chiral HPLC.

Table S1.	Utilization	of Alleny	d TES Precursors
-----------	-------------	-----------	------------------

Ph ±1b	SiEt <sub>3</sub> OPiv SEt <sub>3</sub> OPiv S		1/2C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>6</sub> (10 mol% 1%), <u>PhCOF</u> (2.0 e %)–CaF <sub>2</sub> (1 equiv) vent [0.067 M] 5°C, 24–25 h	) <mark>q)</mark> → Ph	Ph F Ph 1d		Ph Ph OPiv 1f
	entry	Solvent	1d yield (SM) <sup>a</sup>	1d ee (%) <sup>b</sup>	1b ee (%) <sup>b</sup>	1f yield(ee) <sup>a</sup>	- 
	1	MTBE	15% (69)	+59	+1	0%	
	2	3:1 PhMe:MTBE	9% (83)	+62	+2	0%	-in in Bu
	3	3:1 C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub> :MTBE	8% (92)	+17	-5	0%	
	4	dioxane	12% (61)	nd	nd	6%	
	5	EtOAc	28% (0)	+2	nd	26%(2)	

<sup>a</sup>Yield was determined by 19F NMR of crude reaction mixture, using PhF as an

internal standard.

<sup>b</sup>Determined by HPLC analysis using a chiral stationary phase

# Table S2. Solvent Effect for Allenyl TES



<sup>a</sup>Yield was determined by 19F NMR of crude reaction mixture, using PhF as an internal standard.

<sup>b</sup>Determined by HPLC analysis using a chiral stationary phase <sup>c</sup> KF (1 equiv)

# 3.4.4 Characterized Alkynes

6-fluoro-7-oxo-6,7-diphenylhept-4-yn-1-yl pivalate (**1d**)(purity ≥95%):

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 8.00 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.5 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (ddd, J = 6.8, 3.7, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 7.53 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (dd, J = 5.0, 2.0 Hz, 3H), 7.39 (t, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 4.07 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.49 (q, J = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 1.93–1.85 (m, 2H), 1.18 (s, 9H). <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ -124.19 (t, J = 5.2 Hz, 1F). <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 191.2 (d, *J* = 27.1 Hz), 178.0, 136.7 (d, *J* = 23.9 Hz), 133.4, 133.0 (d, *J* = 1.5 Hz), 130.2 (d, *J* = 2.4 Hz), 129.8 (d, *J* = 2.7 Hz), 128.8, 128.2, 126.8 (d, *J* = 4.0 Hz), 94.7 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz), 93.7 (d, *J* = 182.9 Hz), 76.0 (d, *J* = 29.0 Hz), 62.5, 38.6, 27.2 (d, *J* = 2.5 Hz), 26.9, 15.78 (d, *J* = 2.9 Hz).

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IA column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 99.5:0.5; 13.94 min (major) and 17.66 min (minor)

6-fluoro-7-(4-methoxyphenyl)-7-oxo-6-phenylhept-4-yn-1-yl pivalate (**2d**):

<sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  8.01 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.65–7.61 (m, 2H), 7.43 (dd, *J* = 5.1, 2.0 Hz, 3H), 6.87 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 2H), 4.08 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 2.49 (q, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 1.93–1.85 (m, 2H), 1.18 (s, 9H).

<sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (470 MHz,  $CD_2Cl_2$ )  $\delta$  -123.45 (t, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 1F).

<sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CD<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) δ 190.0 (d, J = 26.5 Hz), 178.6, 164.3, 137.6 (d, J = 23.8 Hz), 133.3, 133.3, 130.2 (d, J = 2.8 Hz), 129.3, 127.4, 127.4, 126.1 (d, J = 2.0 Hz), 114.0, 94.9, 94.1 (d, J = 173.1 Hz), 76.8 (d, J = 29.0 Hz), 63.1, 56.1, 39.2, 27.8 (d, J = 2.2 Hz), 27.5, 16.3 (d, J = 2.9 Hz).

**Determination of enantiomeric ratio by HPLC analysis:** IA column, 1.0 mL/min: hexanes:iPrOH 97:03; 14.21 min and 15.38 min












10 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -16 ppm

















## 3.4.6 HPLC Spectra









MeO



## **3.5 References**

1.(a) Zhu, Y.; Han, J.; Wang, J.; Shibata, N.; Sodeoka, M.; Soloshonok, V. A.; Coelho, J. A. S.; Toste, F. D., Modern Approaches for Asymmetric Construction of Carbon-Fluorine Quaternary Stereogenic Centers: Synthetic Challenges and Pharmaceutical Needs. *Chem. Rev.* **2018**, *118* (7), 3887-3964;(b) Yang, X.; Wu, T.; Phipps, R. J.; Toste, F. D., Advances in catalytic enantioselective fluorination, mono-, di-, and trifluoromethylation, and trifluoromethylthiolation reactions. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115* (2), 826-70;(c) Meanwell, N. A., Fluorine and Fluorinated Motifs in the Design and Application of Bioisosteres for Drug Design. *J. Med. Chem.* **2018**, *61* (14), 5822-5880;(d) Ahrens, T.; Kohlmann, J.; Ahrens, M.; Braun, T., Functionalization of fluorinated molecules by transition-metal-mediated C-F bond activation to access fluorinated building blocks. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115* (2), 931-72.

2.(a) Takashi, Y.; Takeo, T.; Iwao, O., Unique Properties of Fluorine and their Relevance to Medicinal Chemistry and Chemical Biology. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: Chichester, UK, 2009; p 3-46;(b) Wang, J.; Sanchez-Rosello, M.; Acena, J. L.; del Pozo, C.; Sorochinsky, A. E.; Fustero, S.; Soloshonok, V. A.; Liu, H., Fluorine in pharmaceutical industry: fluorine-containing drugs introduced to the market in the last decade (2001-2011). Chem. Rev. **2014**, *114* (4), 2432-506;(c) Yamazaki, T.; Taguchi, T.; Ojima, I., Fluorine in Medicinal Chemistry and Chemical Biology. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: Chichester, UK, 2009;(d) Purser, S.; Moore, P. R.; Swallow, S.; Gouverneur, V., Fluorine in medicinal chemistry. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2008**, *37* (2), 320-30;(e) Gillis, E. P.; Eastman, K. J.; Hill, M. D.; Donnelly, D. J.; Meanwell, N. A., Applications of Fluorine in Medicinal Chemistry. J Med Chem **2015**, *58* (21), 8315-59.

3.Miller, E.; Toste, F. D., Asymmetric Fluorination Reactions. In Organofluorine Chemistry: Synthesis, Modeling, and Applications, 2021; pp 241-280.

4.Katcher, M. H.; Sha, A.; Doyle, A. G., Palladium-catalyzed regio- and enantioselective fluorination of acyclic allylic halides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (40), 15902-5.

5.Zi, W.; Wang, Y. M.; Toste, F. D., An in situ directing group strategy for chiral anion phase-transfer fluorination of allylic alcohols. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (37), 12864-7.

6.(a) Shibatomi, K., Alternative Synthetic Strategies for Enantioselective Construction of Halogenated Chiral Carbon Centers. *Synthesis* **2010**, *2010* (16), 2679-2702;(b) Cahard, D.; Xu, X.; Couve-Bonnaire, S.; Pannecoucke, X., Fluorine & chirality: how to create a nonracemic stereogenic carbon-fluorine centre? *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2010**, *39* (2), 558-68.

7.Iseki, K.; Kuroki, Y.; Kobayashi, Y., Enantioselective aldol reaction with bromofluoroketene silyl acetals. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55* (8), 2225-2236.

8.(a) Mohr, J. T.; Behenna, D. C.; Harned, A. M.; Stoltz, B. M., Deracemization of quaternary stereocenters by Pd-catalyzed enantioconvergent decarboxylative allylation of racemic beta-ketoesters. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44* (42), 6924-7;(b) Nakamura, M.; Hajra, A.; Endo, K.; Nakamura, E., Synthesis of chiral alpha-fluoroketones through catalytic enantioselective decarboxylation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44* (44), 7248-51;(c) Tunge, J.; Burger, E.; Barron, B., Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis of Cyclic a-Allylated a-Fluoroketones. *Synlett* **2006**, *2006* (17), 2824-2826;(d) Belanger, E.; Cantin, K.; Messe, O.; Tremblay, M.; Paquin, J. F., Enantioselective Pd-catalyzed allylation reaction of fluorinated silyl enol ethers. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129* (5), 1034-5;(e) Belanger, E.; Houze, C.; Guimond, N.; Cantin, K.; Paquin, J. F., Unexpected effect of the fluorine atom on the optimal ligand-to-palladium ratio in the enantioselective Pd-catalyzed allylation reaction of fluorinated enol carbonates. *Chem. Commun.* **2008**, (28), 3251-3;(f) Belanger, E.; Pouliot, M. F.; Paquin, J. F., Use of 5,5-(dimethyl)-i-Pr-PHOX as a practical equivalent to t-Bu-PHOX in asymmetric catalysis. *Org. Lett.* **2009**, *11* (10), 2201-4;(g) Kang, Y. K.; Kim, D. Y., Catalytic asymmetric Mannich-type reactions of fluorinated ketoesters with N-Boc

aldimines in the presence of chiral palladium complexes. Tetrahedron Letters 2011, 52 (18), 2356-2358;(h) Brewitz, L.; Arteaga, F. A.; Yin, L.; Alagiri, K.; Kumagai, N.; Shibasaki, M., Direct Catalytic Asymmetric Mannich-Type Reaction of alpha- and beta-Fluorinated Amides. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (50), 15929-39;(i) Arteaga, F. A.; Liu, Z.; Brewitz, L.; Chen, J.; Sun, B.; Kumagai, N.; Shibasaki, M., Direct Catalytic Asymmetric Mannich-Type Reaction of Alkylamides. Org. Lett. 2016, 18 (10), 2391-4; (j) Trost, B. M.; Saget, T.; Lerchen, A.; Hung, C. I., Catalytic Asymmetric Mannich Reactions with Fluorinated Aromatic Ketones: Efficient Access to Chiral beta-Fluoroamines. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2016, 55 (2), 781-4;(k) Lu, Y.; Goldstein, E. L.; Stoltz, B. M., Palladium-Catalyzed Enantioselective Csp(3)-Csp(3) Cross-Coupling for the Synthesis of (Poly)fluorinated Chiral Building Blocks. Org. Lett. 2018, 20 (18), 5657-5660;(1) Balaji, P. V.; Brewitz, L.; Kumagai, N.; Shibasaki, M., Achiral Trisubstituted Thioureas as Secondary Ligands to Cu(I) Catalysts: Direct Catalytic Asymmetric Addition of alpha-Fluoronitriles to Imines. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2019, 58 (9), 2644-2648;(m) Ding, R.; De Los Santos, Z. A.; Wolf, C., Catalytic Asymmetric Mannich Reaction of alpha-Fluoronitriles with Ketimines: Enantioselective and Diastereodivergent Construction of Vicinal Tetrasubstituted Stereocenters. ACS Catal. 2019, 9 (3), 2169-2176;(n) He, Z. T.; Jiang, X.; Hartwig, J. F., Stereodivergent Construction of Tertiary Fluorides in Vicinal Stereogenic Pairs by Allylic Substitution with Iridium and Copper Catalysts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141 (33), 13066-13073;(o) Sercel, Z. P.; Sun, A. W.; Stoltz, B. M., Palladium-Catalyzed Decarboxylative Asymmetric Allylic Alkylation of 1,4-Diazepan-5-ones. Org. Lett. 2019, 21 (22), 9158-9161;(p) Liu, X. J.; Jin, S.; Zhang, W. Y.; Liu, Q. Q.; Zheng, C.; You, S. L., Sequence-Dependent Stereodivergent Allylic Alkylation/Fluorination of Acyclic Ketones. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 59 (5), 2039-2043;(q) Trost, B. M.; Tracy, J. S.; Yusoontorn, T.; Hung, C. J., Acyclic Branched alpha-Fluoro Ketones for the Direct Asymmetric Mannich Reaction Leading to the Synthesis of beta-Tetrasubstituted beta-Fluoro Amines. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 59 (6), 2370-2374;(r) Wu, L.; Falivene, L.; Drinkel, E.; Grant, S.; Linden, A.; Cavallo, L.; Dorta, R., Synthesis of 3-fluoro-3-aryl oxindoles: direct enantioselective alpha arylation of amides. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51 (12), 2870-3;(s) Jiao, Z.; Beiger, J. J.; Jin, Y.; Ge, S.; Zhou, J. S.; Hartwig, J. F., Palladium-Catalyzed Enantioselective alpha-Arylation of alpha-Fluoroketones. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138 (49), 15980-15986;(t) Nakamura, S.; Kaneeda, M.; Ishihara, K.; Yamamoto, H., Enantioselective Protonation of Silyl Enol Ethers and Ketene Disilyl Acetals with Lewis Acid-Assisted Chiral Brønsted Acids: Reaction Scope and Mechanistic Insights. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122 (34), 8120-8130;(u) Mohr, J. T.; Nishimata, T.; Behenna, D. C.; Stoltz, B. M., Catalytic enantioselective decarboxylative protonation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128 (35), 11348-9;(v) Huber, D. P.; Stanek, K.; Togni, A., Consecutive catalytic electrophilic fluorination/amination of β-keto esters: toward α-fluoro-α-amino acids? Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2006**, 17 (4), 658-664; (w) Mang, J. Y.; Kwon, D. G.; Kim, D. Y., Enantioselective a-hydrazination of a-fluoro-\beta-ketoesters catalyzed by chiral nickel complexes. J. Fluorine Chem. 2009, 130 (2), 259-262;(x) Granados, A.; Olmo, A. D.; Peccati, F.; Billard, T.; Sodupe, M.; Vallribera, A., Fluorous l-Carbidopa Precursors: Highly Enantioselective Synthesis and Computational Prediction of Bioactivity. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 83 (1), 303-313;(y) Jereb, M.; Togni, A., Ti(IV)-catalyzed asymmetric sulfenylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13 (33), 9384-92;(z) Frantz, R.; Hintermann, L.; Perseghini, M.; Broggini, D.; Togni, A., Titanium-catalyzed stereoselective geminal heterodihalogenation of beta-ketoesters. Org. Lett. 2003, 5 (10), 1709-12;(aa) Shibatomi, K.; Yamamoto, H., Stereoselective synthesis of alpha, alpha-chlorofluoro carbonyl compounds leading to the construction of fluorinated chiral quaternary carbon centers. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47 (31), 5796-8.

9.(a) Zhao, J.; Li, Y.; Chen, L. Y.; Ren, X., Enantioselective Mannich Reactions of 3-Fluorooxindoles with Cyclic N-Sulfamidate Aldimines. J. Org. Chem. 2019, 84 (9), 5099-5108;(b) You, Y.; Zhang, L.; Cui, L.; Mi, X.; Luo, S., Catalytic Asymmetric Mannich Reaction with N-Carbamoyl Imine Surrogates of Formaldehyde and Glyoxylate. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2017, 56 (44), 13814-13818;(c) Vaithiyanathan, V.; Kim, M. J.; Liu, Y.; Yan, H.; Song, C. E., Direct Access to Chiral beta-Fluoroamines with Quaternary Stereogenic Center through Cooperative Cation-Binding Catalysis. Chem. Eur. J. 2017, 23 (6), 1268-1272;(d) Pan, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Ma, T.; Yang, Y.; Liu, H.; Jiang, Z.; Tan, C. H., Enantioselective synthesis of alpha-fluorinated beta-amino acid derivatives by an asymmetric mannich reaction and selective deacylation/decarboxylation reactions. Chem. Eur. J. 2010, 16 (3), 779-82;(e) Li, H.; Zhang, S.; Yu, C.; Song, X.; Wang, W., Organocatalytic asymmetric synthesis of chiral fluorinated quaternary carbon containing beta-ketoesters. Chem. Commun. 2009, (16), 2136-8;(f) Li, B. Y.; Lin, Y.; Du, D. M., Organocatalytic Asymmetric Mannich Addition of 3-Fluorooxindoles to Dibenzo [b,f][1,4] oxazepines: Highly Enantioselective Construction of Tetrasubstituted C-F Stereocenters. J. Org. Chem. 2019, 84 (18), 11752-11762;(g) Kamlar, M.; Bravo, N.; Alba, A.-N. R.; Hybelbauerová, S.; Císařová, I.; Veselý, J.; Moyano, A.; Rios, R., Highly Enantioselective Addition of 1-Fluoro-1-nitro(phenylsulfonyl)methane to α,β-Unsaturated Aldehydes. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 2010 (28), 5464-5470;(h) Jiang, Z.; Pan, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Ma, T.; Lee, R.; Yang, Y.; Huang, K. W.; Wong, M. W.; Tan, C. H., Synthesis of a chiral quaternary carbon center bearing a fluorine atom: enantio- and diastereoselective guanidine-catalyzed addition of fluorocarbon nucleophiles. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48 (20), 3627-31;(i) Howard, J. K.; Muller, M.; Berry, A.; Nelson, A., An Enantio- and Diastereoselective Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of alpha-Fluoro beta-Hydroxy Carboxylic Esters. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2016, 55 (23), 6767-70;(j) Han, X.; Luo, J.; Liu, C.; Lu, Y., Asymmetric generation of fluorine-containing quaternary carbons adjacent to tertiary stereocenters: uses of fluorinated methines as nucleophiles. Chem. Commun. 2009, (15), 2044-6;(k) Han, X.; Kwiatkowski, J.; Xue, F.; Huang, K. W.; Lu, Y., Asymmetric Mannich reaction of fluorinated ketoesters with a tryptophan-derived bifunctional thiourea catalyst. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48 (41), 7604-7;(1) Cui, H. F.; Yang, Y. Q.; Chai, Z.; Li, P.; Zheng, C. W.; Zhu, S. Z.; Zhao, G., Enantioselective synthesis of functionalized fluorinated cyclohexenones via robinson annulation catalyzed by primary-secondary diamines. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 75 (1), 117-22;(m) Cuadros, S.; Dell'Amico, L.; Melchiorre, P., Forging Fluorine-Containing Quaternary Stereocenters by a Light-Driven Organocatalytic Aldol Desymmetrization Process. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2017, 56 (39), 11875-11879;(n) Cosimi, E.; Engl, O. D.; Saadi, J.; Ebert, M. O.; Wennemers, H., Stereoselective Organocatalyzed Synthesis of alpha-Fluorinated beta-Amino Thioesters and Their Application in Peptide Synthesis. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2016, 55 (42), 13127-13131;(o) Chen, X. H.; Luo, S. W.; Tang, Z.; Cun, L. F.; Mi, A. Q.; Jiang, Y. Z.; Gong, L. Z., Organocatalyzed highly enantioselective direct aldol reactions of aldehydes with hydroxyacetone and fluoroacetone in aqueous media: the use of water to control regioselectivity. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13 (2), 689-701;(p) Che, C.; Li, Y. N.; Cheng, X.; Lu, Y. N.; Wang, C. J., Visible-Light-Enabled Enantioconvergent Synthesis of alpha-Amino Acid Derivatives via Synergistic Bronsted Acid/Photoredox Catalysis. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2021, 60 (9), 4698-4704;(q) Chang, X.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, Q.; Guo, C., Merging Electrosynthesis and Bifunctional Squaramide Catalysis in the Asymmetric Detrifluoroacetylative Alkylation Reactions. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 59 (42), 18500-18504; (r) Chan, J. Z.; Yao, W.; Hastings, B. T.; Lok, C. K.; Wasa, M., Direct Mannich-Type Reactions Promoted by Frustrated Lewis Acid/Bronsted Base Catalysts. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2016, 55 (44), 13877-13881;(s) Guillena, G.; Hita Mdel, C.; Najera, C.; Viozquez, S. F., A highly efficient solvent-free asymmetric direct aldol reaction organocatalyzed by recoverable (S)-binam-L-prolinamides. ESI-MS evidence of the

enamine-iminium formation. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73 (15), 5933-43;(t) Kim, D.; Yoon, S.; Kang, Y., Organocatalytic Enantioselective Mannich-Type Reactions of Fluorinated Keto Esters with N-Boc-Aldimines. Synlett 2011, 2011 (03), 420-424;(u) Xu, X. Y.; Wang, Y. Z.; Gong, L. Z., Design of organocatalysts for asymmetric direct syn-aldol reactions. Org. Lett. 2007, 9 (21), 4247-9;(v) Maruoka, K.; Ding, C., Enantioselective Alkylation of  $\alpha$ -Fluoro- $\beta$ -Keto Esters by Asymmetric Phase-Transfer Catalysis. Synlett 2009, 2009 (04), 664-666; (w) Hoffmann, T.; Zhong, G.; List, B.; Shabat, D.; Anderson, J.; Gramatikova, S.; Lerner, R. A.; Barbas, C. F., Aldolase Antibodies of Remarkable Scope. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120 (12), 2768-2779; (x) Baur, M. A.; Riahi, A.; Hénin, F.; Muzart, J., Catalytic asymmetric protonation of fluoro-enolic species: access to optically active 2-fluoro-1-tetralone. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14 (18), 2755-2761; (y) Arai, S.; Oku, M.; Ishida, T.; Shioiri, T., Asymmetric alkylation reaction of a-fluorotetralone under phase-transfer catalyzed conditions. Tetrahedron Letters 1999, 40 (37), 6785-6789;(z) Zhong, G.; Fan, J.; Barbas, C. F., Amino alcohol catalyzed direct asymmetric aldol reactions: enantioselective synthesis of anti - $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\beta$ -hydroxy ketones. *Tetrahedron Letters* **2004**, 45 (29), 5681-5684; (aa) Xu, X.-Y.; Wang, Y.-Z.; Cun, L.-F.; Gong, L.-Z., l-Proline amides catalyze direct asymmetric aldol reactions of aldehydes with methylthioacetone and fluoroacetone. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2007, 18 (2), 237-242; (ab) Oh, Y.; Kim, S. M.; Kim, D. Y., Organocatalytic synthesis of quaternary stereocenter bearing a fluorine atom: enantioselective conjugate addition of  $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\beta$ ketoesters to nitroalkenes. Tetrahedron Letters 2009, 50 (32), 4674-4676; (ac) Kang, Y.-K.; Yoon, S.-J.; Kim, D.-Y., Asymmetric Mannich-type Reactions of Fluorinated Ketoesters with Binaphthyl-Modified Thiourea Catalysts. Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society 2011, 32 (4), 1195-1200; (ad) Wheeler, P.; Vora, H. U.; Rovis, T., Asymmetric NHC-catalyzed synthesis of alpha-fluoroamides from readily accessible alpha-fluoroenals. Chem. Sci. 2013, 4 (4), 1674-1679; (ae) Vora, H. U.; Rovis, T., N-Heterocyclic carbene catalyzed asymmetric hydration: direct synthesis of alpha-protio and alpha-deuterio alpha-chloro and alpha-fluoro carboxylic acids. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132 (9), 2860-1;(af) Uraguchi, D.; Kizu, T.; Ohira, Y.; Ooi, T., Enantioselective protonation of alpha-hetero carboxylic acid-derived ketene disilyl acetals under chiral ionic Bronsted acid catalysis. Chem. Commun. 2014, 50 (88), 13489-91;(ag) Fukuyama, Y.; Matoishi, K.; Iwasaki, M.; Takizawa, E.; Miyazaki, M.; Ohta, H.; Hanzawa, S.; Kakidani, H.; Sugai, T., Preparative-scale Enzyme-catalyzed Synthesis of (R)-alpha-Fluorophenylacetic Acid. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 1999, 63 (9), 1664-6; (ah) Zhao, Y.; Pan, Y.; Liu, H.; Yang, Y.; Jiang, Z.; Tan, C. H., Fluorinated aromatic ketones as nucleophiles in the asymmetric organocatalytic formation of C-C and C-N bonds: a facile route to the construction of fluorinated quaternary stereogenic centers. Chem. Eur. J. 2011, 17 (13), 3571-4; (ai) He, R.; Wang, X.; Hashimoto, T.; Maruoka, K., Binaphthylmodified quaternary phosphonium salts as chiral phase-transfer catalysts: asymmetric amination of betaketo esters. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47 (49), 9466-8;(aj) Kitahara, K.; Mizutani, H.; Iwasa, S.; Shibatomi, K., Asymmetric Synthesis of a-Chloro-a-halo Ketones by Decarboxylative Chlorination of a-Halo-β-ketocarboxylic Acids. Synthesis 2019, 51 (23), 4385-4392.

10.(a) Essers, M.; Ernet, T.; Haufe, G., Enantioselective Diels–Alder reactions of  $\alpha$ -fluorinated  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ unsaturated carbonyl compounds. *J. Fluorine Chem.* **2003**, *121* (2), 163-170;(b) Kikuchi, J.; Ye, H.; Terada, M., Chiral Phosphoric Acid Catalyzed Enantioselective [4 + 2] Cycloaddition Reaction of alpha-Fluorostyrenes with Imines. *Org. Lett.* **2020**, *22* (22), 8957-8961.

11.(a) Meyer, O. G. J.; Fröhlich, R.; Haufe, G., Asymmetric Cyclopropanation of Vinyl Fluorides: Access to Enantiopure Monofluorinated Cyclopropane Carboxylates. *Synthesis* **2000**, *2000* (10), 1479-1490;(b) Hruschka, S.; Fröhlich, R.; Kirsch, P.; Haufe, G., Synthesis of New Enantiopure Fluorinated Phenylcyclopropanecarboxylates – Potential Chiral Dopants for Liquid-Crystal Compositions. *Eur. J.* 

*Org. Chem.* **2007**, 2007 (1), 141-148;(c) Shen, X.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, L.; Luo, T.; Wan, X.; Gu, Y.; Hu, J., Enantioselective synthesis of cyclopropanes that contain fluorinated tertiary stereogenic carbon centers: a chiral alpha-fluoro carbanion strategy. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51* (28), 6966-70;(d) Su, Y.; Bai, M.; Qiao, J.-B.; Li, X.-J.; Li, R.; Tu, Y.-Q.; Gu, P., Diastereo- and enantioselective cyclopropanation of alkyenyl fluorides with benzyl diazoarylacetates. *Tetrahedron Letters* **2015**, *56* (14), 1805-1807;(e) Pons, A.; Ivashkin, P.; Poisson, T.; Charette, A. B.; Pannecoucke, X.; Jubault, P., Catalytic Enantioselective Synthesis of Halocyclopropanes. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2016**, *22* (18), *6*239-42;(f) Pons, A.; Tognetti, V.; Joubert, L.; Poisson, T.; Pannecoucke, X.; Charette, A. B.; Jubault, P., Catalytic Enantioselective Cyclopropanation of α-Fluoroacrylates: An Experimental and Theoretical Study. *ACS Catal.* **2019**, *9* (3), 2594-2598;(g) Zhang, G.; McCorvy, J. D.; Shen, S.; Cheng, J.; Roth, B. L.; Kozikowski, A. P., Design of fluorinated cyclopropane derivatives of 2-phenylcyclopropylmethylamine leading to identification of a selective serotonin 2C (5-HT2C) receptor agonist without 5-HT2B agonism. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2019**, *182*, 111626;(h) Delion, L.; Poisson, T.; Jubault, P.; Pannecoucke, X.; Charette, A. B., Synthesis of fluorocyclopropanes via the enantioselective cyclopropanation of fluoro-substituted allylic alcohols using zinc carbenoids. *Can. J. Chem.* **2020**, *98* (9), 516-523.

12.(a) Gosmini, C.; Dubuffet, T.; Sauvêtre, R.; Normant, J. F., Asymmetric epoxidation of fluorinated allylic alcohols. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1991**, *2* (3), 223-230;(b) Wong, O. A.; Shi, Y., Asymmetric epoxidation of fluoroolefins by chiral dioxirane. Fluorine effect on enantioselectivity. J. Org. Chem. **2009**, 74 (21), 8377-80.

13.(a) Saburi, M.; Shao, L.; Sakurai, T.; Uchida, Y., Asymmetric hydrogenation of 2-fluoro-2-alkenoic acids catalyzed by Ru-binap complexes: A convenient access to optically active 2-fluoroalkanoic acids. *Tetrahedron Letters* **1992**, *33* (51), 7877-7880;(b) Engman, M.; Diesen, J. S.; Paptchikhine, A.; Andersson, P. G., Iridium-catalyzed asymmetric hydrogenation of fluorinated olefins using N,P-ligands: a struggle with hydrogenolysis and selectivity. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129* (15), 4536-7;(c) Kaukoranta, P.; Engman, M.; Hedberg, C.; Bergquist, J.; Andersson, P. G., Iridium Catalysts with Chiral Imidazole-Phosphine Ligands for Asymmetric Hydrogenation of Vinyl Fluorides and other Olefins. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2008**, *350* (7-8), 1168-1176;(d) Ponra, S.; Rabten, W.; Yang, J.; Wu, H.; Kerdphon, S.; Andersson, P. G., Diastereo- and Enantioselective Synthesis of Fluorine Motifs with Two Contiguous Stereogenic Centers. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (42), 13878-13883;(e) Ponra, S.; Yang, J.; Kerdphon, S.; Andersson, P. G., Asymmetric Synthesis of Alkyl Fluorides: Hydrogenation of Fluorinated Olefins. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58* (27), 9282-9287.

14.(a) Kitazume, T.; Ishikawa, N., Asymmetrical Reduction of Perfluoroalkylated Ketones, Ketoesters and Vinyl Compounds with Baker's Yeast. *Chemistry Letters* **1983**, *12* (2), 237-238;(b) Luo, F.; Wang, P.; Gong, Y., Highly enantioselective bioreduction of 2-fluorocinnamyl alcohols mediated by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Tetrahedron Letters* **2010**, *51* (13), 1693-1695;(c) Luo, F.; Lu, D.; Gong, Y., Enantioselective bioreduction of 2-fluorocincated by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic* **2011**, *70* (3-4), 101-107.

15.Liang, Y.; Fu, G. C., Catalytic asymmetric synthesis of tertiary alkyl fluorides: Negishi cross-couplings of racemic alpha, alpha-dihaloketones. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (14), 5520-4.

16.Jiang, X.; Gandelman, M., Enantioselective Suzuki cross-couplings of unactivated 1-fluoro-1-haloalkanes: synthesis of chiral beta-, gamma-, delta-, and epsilon-fluoroalkanes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, 137 (7), 2542-7.

17.Butcher, T. W.; Hartwig, J. F., Enantioselective Synthesis of Tertiary Allylic Fluorides by Iridium-Catalyzed Allylic Fluoroalkylation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57* (40), 13125-13129.

18.Liu, J.; Yuan, Q.; Toste, F. D.; Sigman, M. S., Enantioselective construction of remote tertiary carbon-fluorine bonds. *Nat. Chem.* **2019**, *11* (8), 710-715.

19.Bejjani, J.; Botuha, C.; Chemla, F.; Ferreira, F.; Magnus, S.; Pérez-Luna, A., Metallotropic Equilibrium and Configurational Stability of 3-Chloro-1-(trimethylsilyl)propargyl and -allenyl Metals: Comparative Study among Lithium, Titanium, and Zinc. *Organometallics* **2012**, *31* (13), 4876-4885.

20.(a) Vrancken, E.; Gerard, H.; Linder, D.; Ouizem, S.; Alouane, N.; Roubineau, E.; Bentayeb, K.; Marrot, J.; Mangeney, P., Diastereodivergent behavior of alkyl versus cyano allenylcuprates toward aldehydes: a key role for lithium. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133 (28), 10790-802;(b) Meng, F.; Haeffner, F.; Hoveyda, A. H., Diastereo- and enantioselective reactions of bis(pinacolato)diboron, 1,3-enynes, and aldehydes catalyzed by an easily accessible bisphosphine-Cu complex. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136 (32), 11304-7; (c) Yang, Y.; Perry, I. B.; Lu, G.; Liu, P.; Buchwald, S. L., Copper-catalyzed asymmetric addition of olefin-derived nucleophiles to ketones. Science 2016, 353 (6295), 144-50;(d) Gan, X. C.; Zhang, O.; Jia, X. S.; Yin, L., Asymmetric Construction of Fluoroalkyl Tertiary Alcohols through a Three-Component Reaction of (Bpin)2, 1,3-Enynes, and Fluoroalkyl Ketones Catalyzed by a Copper(I) Complex. Org. Lett. 2018, 20 (4), 1070-1073; (e) Gao, D. W.; Xiao, Y.; Liu, M.; Liu, Z.; Karunananda, M. K.; Chen, J. S.; Engle, K. M., Catalytic, Enantioselective Synthesis of Allenyl Boronates. ACS Catal. 2018, 8 (4), 3650-3654; (f) Huang, Y.; Del Pozo, J.; Torker, S.; Hoveyda, A. H., Enantioselective Synthesis of Trisubstituted Allenyl-B(pin) Compounds by Phosphine-Cu-Catalyzed 1,3-Enyne Hydroboration. Insights Regarding Stereochemical Integrity of Cu-Allenyl Intermediates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2018, 140 (7), 2643-2655;(g) Sang, H. L.; Yu, S.; Ge, S., Copper-catalyzed asymmetric hydroboration of 1,3-enynes with pinacolborane to access chiral allenylboronates. Org. Chem. Front. 2018, 5 (8), 1284-1287;(h) Yu, S.; Sang, H. L.; Zhang, S.-Q.; Hong, X.; Ge, S., Catalytic asymmetric synthesis of chiral trisubstituted heteroaromatic allenes from 1,3-enynes. Commun. Chem. 2018, 1 (1);(i) Bayeh-Romero, L.; Buchwald, S. L., Copper Hydride Catalyzed Enantioselective Synthesis of Axially Chiral 1,3-Disubstituted Allenes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141 (35), 13788-13794;(j) Gan, X. C.; Yin, L., Asymmetric Borylative Propargylation of Ketones Catalyzed by a Copper(I) Complex. Org. Lett. 2019, 21 (4), 931-936;(k) Ishizawa, K.; Majima, S.; Wei, X. F.; Mitsunuma, H.; Shimizu, Y.; Kanai, M., Copper(I)-Catalyzed Stereodivergent Propargylation of N-Acetyl Mannosamine for Protecting Group Minimal Synthesis of C3-Substituted Sialic Acids. J. Org. Chem. 2019, 84 (17), 10615-10628;(1) Liao, Y.; Yin, X.; Wang, X.; Yu, W.; Fang, D.; Hu, L.; Wang, M.; Liao, J., Enantioselective Synthesis of Multisubstituted Allenes by Cooperative Cu/Pd-Catalyzed 1,4-Arylboration of 1,3-Enynes. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 59 (3), 1176-1180.

21.Ye, J.; Ma, S., Conquering three-carbon axial chirality of allenes. *Org. Chem. Front.* **2014**, *1* (10), 1210-1224.

22.(a) Imada, Y.; Ueno, K.; Kutsuwa, K.; Murahashi, S.-I., Palladium-Catalyzed Asymmetric Alkylation of 2,3-Alkadienyl Phosphates. Synthesis of Optically Active 2-(2,3-Alkadienyl)malonates. *Chemistry Letters* **2002**, *31* (2), 140-141;(b) Imada, Y.; Nishida, M.; Kutsuwa, K.; Murahashi, S.; Naota, T., Palladium-catalyzed asymmetric amination and imidation of 2,3-allenyl phosphates. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7* (26), 5837-9;(c) Trost, B. M.; Fandrick, D. R.; Dinh, D. C., Dynamic kinetic asymmetric allylic alkylations of allenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127* (41), 14186-7;(d) Imada, Y.; Nishida, M.; Naota, T., Sequential asymmetric homoallenylation of primary amines with a palladium catalyst. *Tetrahedron Letters* **2008**, *49* (33), 4915-4917;(e) Ogasawara, M., Catalytic enantioselective synthesis of axially chiral allenes. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2009**, *20* (3), 259-271;(f) Deska, J.; del Pozo Ochoa, C.; Backvall, J. E., Chemoenzymatic dynamic kinetic resolution of axially chiral allenes. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2010**, *16* (15), 4447-51;(g) Boutier, A.; Kammerer-Pentier, C.; Krause, N.; Prestat, G.; Poli, G., Pd-catalyzed asymmetric synthesis of N-allenyl

amides and their Au-catalyzed cycloisomerizative hydroalkylation: a new route toward enantioenriched pyrrolidones. Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18 (13), 3840-4;(h) Pritzius, A. B.; Breit, B., Z-Selective Hydrothiolation of Racemic 1,3-Disubstituted Allenes: An Atom-Economic Rhodium-Catalyzed Dynamic Kinetic Resolution. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, 54 (52), 15818-22;(i) Yao, W.; Dou, X.; Wen, S.; Wu, J.; Vittal, J. J.; Lu, Y., Enantioselective desymmetrization of cyclohexadienones via an intramolecular Rauhut-Currier reaction of allenoates. Nat. Commun. 2016, 7, 13024;(j) Burrows, L. C.; Jesikiewicz, L. T.; Lu, G.; Geib, S. J.; Liu, P.; Brummond, K. M., Computationally Guided Catalyst Design in the Type I Dynamic Kinetic Asymmetric Pauson-Khand Reaction of Allenyl Acetates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139 (42), 15022-15032;(k) Trost, B. M.; Zell, D.; Hohn, C.; Mata, G.; Maruniak, A., Enantio- and Diastereoselective Synthesis of Chiral Allenes by Palladium-Catalyzed Asymmetric [3+2] Cycloaddition Reactions. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2018, 57 (39), 12916-12920;(1) Uraguchi, D.; Kawai, Y.; Sasaki, H.; Yamada, K.; Ooi, T., Allenedicarboxylate as a Stereochemically Labile Electrophile for Chiral Organic Base-catalyzed Stereoselective Michael Addition. Chemistry Letters 2018, 47 (4), 594-597; (m) Hilpert, L. J.; Sieger, S. V.; Haydl, A. M.; Breit, B., Palladium- and Rhodium-Catalyzed Dynamic Kinetic Resolution of Racemic Internal Allenes Towards Chiral Pyrazoles. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2019, 58 (11), 3378-3381;(n) Oonishi, Y.; Hosotani, A.; Yokoe, T.; Sato, Y., Rhodium(I)-Catalyzed Enantioselective Hydroacylation of Racemic Allenals via Dynamic Kinetic Resolution. Org. Lett. 2019, 21 (11), 4120-4123; (o) Song, S.; Zhou, J.; Fu, C.; Ma, S., Catalytic enantioselective construction of axial chirality in 1,3disubstituted allenes. Nat. Commun. 2019, 10 (1), 507;(p) Trost, B. M.; Schultz, J. E.; Chang, T.; Maduabum, M. R., Chemo-, Regio-, Diastereo-, and Enantioselective Palladium Allylic Alkylation of 1,3-Dioxaboroles as Synthetic Equivalents of alpha-Hydroxyketones. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141 (24), 9521-9526.

23.(a) Liang, Y.; Zhao, Z.; Taya, A.; Shibata, N., Acyl Fluorides from Carboxylic Acids, Aldehydes, or Alcohols under Oxidative Fluorination. *Org. Lett.* **2021**, *23* (3), 847-852;(b) Zheng, Q.; Dong, J.; Sharpless, K. B., Ethenesulfonyl Fluoride (ESF): An On-Water Procedure for the Kilogram-Scale Preparation. *J. Org. Chem.* **2016**, *81* (22), 11360-11362;(c) Munoz, S. B.; Dang, H.; Ispizua-Rodriguez, X.; Mathew, T.; Prakash, G. K. S., Direct Access to Acyl Fluorides from Carboxylic Acids Using a Phosphine/Fluoride Deoxyfluorination Reagent System. *Org. Lett.* **2019**, *21* (6), 1659-1663.